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INTRODUCTION
The plaintiffs in the DOGS case
 are weary of half-truths and official histories XE "official histories" \b . They have views about the difference between those who make history and those who write it. They have requested me to write the unofficial history of the DOGS High Court case through their voices. They keep their documents safe for future reference, and I have been asked to wipe off the dust and bring them back to life.

The story I have been asked to tell has been consistently written out of the mainstream media. It should be told, if only to put the record straight. Some plaintiffs have died. Those remaining want to leave a signpost for the next generation who pass this way. 

I have accepted the challenge and decided to write this story from the ‘side’. Instead of tiptoeing through the minefields of recent Australian history, I am diving head first into the thoughts and actions of my characters. I am attempting to create a narrative that brings back to life the experience of participants in this drama.
It would be pretentious and wrong to present the story as an objective historical account. There are enough ‘official’ accounts masquerading under the banner of objectivity already. For example, in 2007 the Howard Government commissioned and published A History of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to Non-Government Schools in Australia.
 This official account is an interpretation particularly distinguished by what remains unspoken. 

In the Memoirs of Kim E. Beazley XE "Kim E. Beazley" \b , he alleged that the DOGS (Defense of Government Schools XE "Defence of Government Schools:DOGS" \b ) organisation was started by Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b , a one-time Secretary of the Victorian branch of the Labor Party. Beazley also held Hartley responsible for the High Court case.
 Hartley was a plaintiff on the High Court writ. He was never a member of the DOGS. Nor was he closely involved in the case itself. In this instance, Beazley’s account is incorrect.
The ‘State Aid XE "State Aid" \b ’ XE "‘State Aid’" \b  case dealt with the validity of Commonwealth aid to religious schools under the establishment clause of Section 116 of the Australian Constitution XE "Section 116 of the Australian Constitution" \b : 

The Commonwealth shall not make any law for establishing any religion XE "establishing any religion" \b , or for imposing any religious observance, or for prohibiting the free exercise of any religion, and no religious tests shall be required as a qualification for any office or public trust under the Commonwealth.

The major issue was entanglement of religious bodies and the Commonwealth through endowment XE "endowment" \b  of church institutions with taxpayers’ money. Ancillary issues were the standing of citizens to sue in the High Court on constitutional matters, and the powers of the Commonwealth Government under Section 96 XE "Section 96:Australian Constitution" \b  of the Constitution. The plaintiffs lost on the Section 116 challenge, won on the Section 96 XE "Section 96:Australian Constitution" \b  issue, and were sent away on the issue of standing. 

A constitutional challenge in the High Court to Commonwealth aid to Church schools was first mooted in 1956, but not heard by the full court until March 1980. In this 24 year obstacle race, the applicants were denied standing as citizens. They required an Attorney-General to give them this right to stand in the High Court before they could commence proceedings. They only gained entry when the Hon. Vernon Wilcox XE "Wilcox:Vernon, Attorney-General Victoria" , Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  for the Liberal Government in Victoria agreed to act on their behalf and granted fiat on 28 November 1973.
 This fiat or permission had stringent conditions attached to it
 and the plaintiffs were under constant threat of its withdrawal. It took almost seven years for the case to be heard before the full court of seven judges. 

Attorneys-General XE "Attorneys-General" \b  from the other five States and the Federal Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  denied fiat to the plaintiffs. Even after fiat was granted, the religious or Church school interest attempted to have it withdrawn. When it continued, Chief Justice Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  allowed the Church school interests to join the action as the ‘real defendant in every sense of the word’. The plaintiffs were then forced into what the lawyers called a ‘Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b ’. During this protracted Trial, the religious school interests represented their educational institutions as little different to State schools. Years of preparation and After years of preparation, the plaintiffs spent 26 days of court time examining and cross-examining witnesses on questions of fact rather than law.

When the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  was completed, on 10 October 1979, senior Counsel for the religious school interest told the presiding judge:


We, [the religious school interest] say that the facts do not matter at all.

Even at the hearing by the full High Court on March 24 1980, the Church school interests opposed the right of the citizens to be heard in the court as either citizens/taxpayers or as relators. Yet, after it was all over, the spokesman for the Roman Catholic Church said on 8 March 1981, 

We acknowledge the right of members of the community to challenge the correctness of government actions and although this High Court Case has been both costly and time-consuming we are happy that the matter has been finally clarified. 

Along the way the plaintiffs and their supporters in the case lost much of their faith in the legal system. 
There would be few ideologically driven court cases if foolhardy citizens did not believe in the Rule of Law. The following stories are subsumed in court documents and judgments printed in official law reports. My characters were and still are a foolhardy group with ideals planted in enlightenment XE "enlightenment" \b  and dissenting traditions of the last four hundred years. As survivors of world wars and a depression, their feet were firmly planted in the twentieth century. Some had fought in wars against totalitarian regimes and were aware of the part played by a public education system in an open society. 

They believed, in the enlightenment XE "enlightenment" \b  tradition, that reality and truth were independent and knowable. They opposed excesses of fascism and communism, favouring an open democratic society similar to that espoused by Karl Popper XE "Karl Popper" \b  
  after the Second World War. What they didn’t realise was the extent to which reality and truth could be manipulated in the open, democratic Australian society they inherited. They discovered that neither political nor legal discourse was necessarily directed at the pursuit of truth. Then, at the administrative and academic level, they became enmeshed in a relativist-type attitude towards reality which legitimated manipulation of both truth and reality, allowing that manipulation to go unhindered.
  In this world, pursuit of truth tended to be displaced by management of rhetoric and statistics as a superior political approach. They discovered that, for the Australian religious and legal establishments in the 1970’s and 1980’s the pursuit of power took precedence over principle, as well as truth. In the process, Australian society lost checks and balances on those in power. 

Members of DOGS have always held to the view that pursuit of truth and reality is never futile. Their experience proves that its manipulation places basic human liberties at peril. They wait for Australian citizens to wake, as if from a bad dream, as they discover that reality is a hard task master. The financial system is not the only victim of unregulated schemes and the fantasies of market fundamentalism XE "market fundamentalism" \b . In the field of education reality has also been manipulated. It has become the plaything of religious and market fundamentalists. In the process we have put the inheritance of our children and our children’s children in peril.

DOGS people discovered that they made a mistake when they took the pursuit of truth for granted. Yet they have never abandoned the concept of an open society with public education as a fundamental cornerstone. Their experience in the High Court of Australia only reinforced their commitment to insisting on standards of honesty and truthfulness in political and legal discourse.  

The task I have set myself is difficult, if not impossible. I run the risk of being neither fish nor fowl; historian nor litterateur. I am a house divided: passionate about both this Good Old Cause and genuine historical enquiry. Historical study requires both attachment and detachment in order to reach what H.K. Hancock called span—understanding. This work merely attempts to let voices that refuse to be silenced articulate their thoughts and tell their saga. 

If there is an overarching theme in the following account, it is the freedom and responsibility given to every person to make choices, along with their acceptance of the consequences—intended or unintended. Moralising is easy, understanding difficult. People make choices and for many, choices are often between bad and lousy. I have to admit that some of my characters allowed themselves the luxury of moralising as they made hard choices. This was both their strength and weakness. 

With two exceptions the characters are called by their own names. For reasons of privacy Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  is the second given name of that character and Graham Wilde is a composite character based upon several members of the DOGS in different States who were less than committed to the DOGS legal battle.
This story centres on a High Court case. Judges make choices, otherwise published as judgments. My characters decided to put the judges to the test. Against the odds, they persisted and put religious men and High Court Judges in a position where they chose a narrow interpretation of Section 116 of the Australian Constitution XE "Section 116 of the Australian Constitution" \b . Plaintiffs in the DOGS case believed that during the conduct of the case itself, and since 1981, many religious men in Australia proved in effect that entanglement with religion is bad for the State. Church dependence upon the State has proved even worse for religion. In the 1979 Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  only one man subpoenaed to give evidence used the box to witness for his particular beliefs. He was an embarrassment for the religious school lawyers.

According to their background, any reader comes with their own views and predilections on issues of religion, the State and control of education. After 1981, religion in Australia gained endowment from and dependence upon State treasuries to the tune of ever increasing billions of dollars per annum. In the last forty years, the denominational XE "Denominational" \b  systems of education have been favoured at the expense of public systems. If present trends continue, public systems are in danger of passing into the mists of time as brave educational experiments which offered educational opportunities to all, not only  some Australian children.

Whatever the future, I invite readers in this generation to meet a group of unusual people who believed that a strong public education system with its corollary of freedom of religion of and from the State 
was essential to the maintenance of an Australian democracy. 

DRAMATIS PERSONAE:

Raymond Norman Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen: 
President DOGS Victoria, and co-coordinator of the High Court Challenge to State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  Nilsen:
Twin sisters of Ray Nilsen
Dorothy Hawthorn née Nilsen: 
Missionary Sister of Ray Nilsen
Richard Hawthorn: 
Missionary husband of Dorothy Hawthorn (née Nilsen).

Henry Nilsen:
Brother of Ray Nilsen
Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  Nilsen: 
Mother of Ray Nilsen
Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b : 
Secretary DOGS Victoria.

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  Child: 
Husband of Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  Nilsen.

Mange Norberg, Chris Selnes,  
Bent Brodersen:
 One of the Boarders in the Nilsen household.

John Singleton:
Member of DOGS Victoria 1980-

Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b  Kemm:
Member of DOGS Victoria 1969-2008

Bruce Jager:
Member of DOGS Victoria 1969-

Graham Wilde:
Composite character of three less committed DOGS  
Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b : 
QC in the DOGS case.

Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b : 
Secretary DOGS New South Wales 1969-1973.

Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b :
Husband of Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b , DOGS New South Wales.

Ernie Tucker XE "Ernie Tucker" \b : 
President DOGS New South Wales 1973-1978.

Joyce Jones XE "Joyce Jones" : 
Secretary DOGS New South Wales 1974-1984.

Stella Bath XE "Stella Bath" \b : 
President DOGS New South Wales 1978-1989.

Esther Corkish XE "Esther Corkish" \b :
Member DOGS 1969-2009.

Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b :
President DOGS Tasmania 1976-1989.

Andrew Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b : 
Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b , Tasmania, 1891; Judge of the Tasmanian Supreme Court 1898-1907.

Henry Bournes Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" : 
Victorian delegate to the Constitutional Convention, 1898. 

Richard Ely XE "Richard Ely" \b : 
Historian.

Margaret Ely:
Narrator

CHRONOLOGICAL TABLE

	Date
	Event
	Main Characters

	1872-1895
	Free secular and universal public systems of education established and State Aid withdrawn from religious schools by colonial governments. 
	Sir Henry Parkes in New South Wales 

	1891
	Andrew Inglis Clark inserts Section 109, the ‘freedom of and from religion’ clause based on First Amendment of the American Constitution in his draft of the Australian Constitution for the Australian Constitutional Convention 

	Andrew Inglis Clark and his wife, Grace Inglis Clark

	Feb- March 1898 
	Final Australian Constitutional Convention held in Melbourne 

	

	2 March 1898
	Insertion of Section 109, later Section 116 , into the Australian Constitution 
	Henry Bournes Higgins, 

George Reid, Bernhard Wise, Edmund Barton.

	October 1906
	Inglis Clark passed over for High Court appointment. Higgins appointed

	A. Inglis Clark, H. Higgins

	1956
	Attempt to obtain fiat for High Court Challenge to indirect aid to religious schools in ACT failed.

	Public Education Action groups Victoria

	1964
	Direct State Aid to religious schools: Science and Library Grants

	Public Education Action Groups established.

	May 1967
	Victorian DOGS established 
	J.T. Dunn, VICCSO



	10 August 1969
	Sydney Town Hall meeting against direct per capita grants to religious schools

	NSW Teachers Federation

and P & Cs, G. Whitlam.

	Dec 1969
	New South Wales DOGS established after federal election 

	Alan Horton, Kathleen Taylor, Ernie Tucker.

	14 September 1970
	Federal intervention in Victorian ALP and formation of Socialist Left faction.
	W. Hartley, K. Healy,

 J. Coxsedge 

	19 September 1970


	Frank Costigan attempts to obtain a Supreme Court injunction against R. Nilsen, DOGS candidate in Chisholm state by-election, Victoria

	F. Costigan, R. Nilsen, 

H. Nilsen

	1969-1972
	DOGS contest federal and state elections often gaining more votes than the DLP 

	DOGS members in NSW, Victoria, and W.A.

	1969-1972
	DOGS NSW hold many demonstrations outside wealthy religious schools and poor public schools
	Kathleen and Reg Taylor

Ernie and Colette Tucker

Stella Bath and Joyce Jones etc.

	21 September 1971
	Legal Challenge launched in Dallas Brooks Hall
	R. Nilsen

C. Stanley Lowell from America

	22 October 1971
	Kath Taylor, Secretary NSW DOGS threatened

	Kathleen Taylor and Senator Lionel Murphy

	31 September 

1972
	Inglis Clark Memorial Service

Hobart, Tasmania

	George Wilson, B. Ross, Tasmanian DOGS

	1972-1973
	Members of Victorian DOGS approached by opponents of Ustasha  activities supported by religious interests 

	R. Nilsen 

Marjan Jurjevic

	21 March 1973
	DOGS meet the Karmel Committee 

( Interim Schools Commission) 
	E. Tucker, M. Ely, R. Nilsen, M. Sturges, G. Wilson, P. Carmel, J. Blackburn

	May 1973
	R. Ely researching American Congressional Records discovers that H.B. Higgins was there before him on 20 January 1898

	R. Ely

H.B. Higgins

	Oct/Nov 1973
	Establishment of Schools Commission 

	K. Beazley (Snr),  J. Kirner

	28 November

1973
	Fiat granted for High Court legal challenge by Victorian Attorney-General

	The Hon. V. Wilcox, A.G.

J. Zigouras, pro bono Solicitor 

	3 September 1978
	DOGS object to Justice AickIn’s conflict of interest

	N. McPhee QC

DOGS Committee 

	26 September 1978
	Subpoenas issued from High Court registry for representatives of religious school interests

	J. Zigouras

R. Nilsen

	20 November 1978
	Religious school interest admitted to case as ‘friends of the court’. Standing of taxpayers to sue proposed.

	Chief Justice Barwick

	6 March 1979
	Commencement of 26 day Trial of Facts

Kirner Seeking removal from writ.

	Justice Murphy

Bishop Stewart

	15 March 1979
	Trial of Facts continuing
	Archbishop Little

	16 May 1979
	Trial of Facts continuing
	Mr. Albert Miller

Donvale Christian School

	24 – 25 March 1980


	Full Court Hearing on the Law commenced
	N. McPhee, QC , 

J. Fajgenbaum, J. Zigouras, R. Nilsen, 

	10 February 1981
	Judgment Day 
	R. Nilsen, Justice Murphy, Father Doyle, Bro. A. Carmody

	24 February 1981
	Payment of DOGS final legal account, and jail rather than pay costs
	Lance Hutchinson, Secretary Victorian DOGS


CHAPTER ONE: PLACING A FREEDOM OF AND FROM RELIGION CLAUSE IN THE AUSTRALIAN CONSTITUTION 

Andrew Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b : 

The 2001 Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b  Conference: University of Tasmania

Margaret looked around the musty bricked-in lecture hall. The noise of lowered seats, sinking bottoms, rustling skirts, and chattered greeting subsided. Sir Guy Green, Governor of Tasmania took the podium for the Introductory Lecture of the 2001 Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b  Conference in the Stanley Burbury Theatre, University of Tasmania.  A tall, unassuming, man in sober suit, he was determined to do justice to his Tasmanian Supreme Court predecessor, Mr. Justice Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b . 
The Tasmanian Governor was chief spokesman for the Conference quest: the resurrection of Tasmania’s famous son.
 He listed Clark’s many and varied contributions: the draft Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b ; the electoral “Hare-Clark” system of voting; Vice-Chancellor of the University of Tasmania; patron of the literary life of Hobart, and reform of many aspects of the Tasmanian legal system. 

He felt very strongly that historians had denied Clark his place in history after 1898 when the Tasmanian Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  left colonial politics to join the judges on the Supreme Court. Governor Green argued that Clark’s time on the bench after 1898 represented the culmination of his career. Clark’s dissenting judgment in Pedder v D’Emden was upheld by the High Court. This case established the principle that the judiciary had the power to determine the limits of the powers of the Commonwealth under the Constitution. Clark may not have reached the High Court in 1903 or later, but Green implied—island style—that omission was their loss, not Tasmania’s!

Clark’s descendants resurrected the extended family, basking in their famous ancestor. The Adelaide and Queensland academics presented evidence of his basic draftsmanship in the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b  and his liberal ideas XE "ideas" \b , mentioning their respective constitutional Fathers, Kingston and Griffith in the process. At the end of the first day, Conference delegates adjourned to the ultimate respectability of a government house reception.

The Governor’s wife was an accomplished hostess. With every hair laid immaculately to rest, and, clad in designer dress of electric yellow, she stood proudly on the floor of the huon pine ballroom floor. Pointing up to the curved ceiling, papered in startling geometric patterns with Byzantine echoes, she said that she regarded herself as the trustee of these rooms and wished to share them with her visitors.  Hors d’oeuvres were served in the conservatory as the visitors wandered from room to room, fraternising with guarded acquaintances of career choice—or the occasional open, friendly face. 

On the evening of the second day, Clark, supporter of suffragettes, would have been amused by his Conference dinner in the strictly male Tasmania Club. An ancient, immaculately tweeded widow of a midland pastoralist grabbed the opportunity to enter through the hallowed doors of the plain sandstone- fronted club. She touched Margaret gently on the arm and pointed to the colonial masterpieces on the walls of the reception rooms. She claimed they were ‘wired’ against burglars. She grinned gleefully and said she had been trying to get into the hallowed male precincts of the Tasmania Club since she was a girl.

On the final day dedicated visitors thumped around Clark’s old home, Rosebank in Hampden Road, Battery Point. They noted recent Victorian amendments to the Georgian library fireplace and looked for the vent he inserted for smokers in his Minerva Club. Then, suddenly it was all over. The academics, retired judges, professional and amateur historians departed. Clark’s ghost was laid back to rest in his tiny homeland State.  

Margaret noted that hardly a mention had been made about Clark’s republicanism during the Conference. Nor was there mention of his Constitutional contributions to religious liberty alongside his opposition to State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  for denominational schools. Margaret was aware that passionate commitment to these principles had been the mainspring of his hard-headed liberalism.   

In 2001 these subjects were no longer politically correct. Silence can be deafening. Margaret’s mind broke free from academic restraints to roam through less inhibiting channels.

Andrew Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b :
Upon hearing about new High Court appointments: October 1906

Andrew Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b  looked out the window, feeling like a passenger broken down on the slope of life, waiting for someone to crank up the engine. Perhaps the stoker and driver had gone, and the steam dispersed forever. His lifeblood, his obsession, had passed him by. 

It was then that he realised that the polished Tasmanian Blackwood bookcases were buckling, about to fall on top of him while his leather bound books in neat rows stayed still. The tight lips in the large portrait of the Italian republican, Mazzini
 turned upwards and were sneering at him, while the silk stars and stripes draped over the portrait of the anti-slaver, Charles Sumner, rippled into concentric circles. He tried to focus his eyes on the card from the American Supreme Court judge, Oliver Wendell Holmes.  

Andrew Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b ’s son, Carrel, had just left the room. He said he was sorry about the news and would tell his mother in the kitchen. Her knuckles were kneading bread on the huon pine table. Thrum-bump! Thrum-bump! Andrew tugged at the bottom of his beard, scratched his chin and moustache, then stroked them both downwards. How would he keep up appearances when the library door opened?  

He wished those servile letters had not been written to Alfred Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b . His fingers stretched over his eyes and mouth. It would have been better if he had not asked his old friend, Edwards, to lobby on his behalf for a position on the High Court.

What if Edwards had shown Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b  the evidence of his overwhelming desire, cheapening his coinage? Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b  knew what his friend from Tasmania really thought of his political compromises—like Cromwell XE "Cromwell:Oliver" \b  Deakin had betrayed the Commonwealth—their Australian Commonwealth. Clark had been unable to suspend his conscience. His mistake was to place all his hopes into the one basket: the pinnacle of a legal career. Well, the eggs in that basket were all broken now. 

He was crawling off the upholstered chaise longue under the window looking out over the side footpath. He didn’t want the Hampden Road neighbours to find him at home. When the news broke, he did not want to drown in outraged parochialism. He had his hard-won international reputation of stoicism, principled action, and intellectual integrity to consider. He hoped his political friends stayed in Melbourne till the news of the High Court appointments blew over. 

His objective was the large chesterfield leather chair past the plain wooden mantle over the fireplace. As his eyes skimmed the firebox filled with pinecones, he wondered at the lead poker that felt embedded in his chest and wondered if he had strength to pull the chair up to the table. His notebook was open and he took up his pencil, flexing his fingers for battle. He had had his successes. Nobody could take away his friends from the Minerva Club or the memories of their meetings in this room. He should never have touched the law or politics. He should have stayed with his father in the foundry and spent leisurely hours with his poetic muse.

His head was swimming and his heart sore. The doctor had said it was nervous exhaustion. A phantom had invaded his chest with the pain which becomes unbearable: the memory of pain…the pain of what he had lost. The doorknob turned and the heavy library door was pushed ajar by strong, fingers wrinkled from the kitchen sink. 

Would you like to come for a walk to the docks dear? Carrell tells me one of father’s ships from his Secheron Point slips is in port.  I would like to call down to see it for old times’ sake.

Grace Clark XE "Grace Clark:wife of Andrew Inglis Clark" \b ’s bright black, sharp, Ross eyes were wide open, the turn upward in the left eye giving her that permanent quizzical look.  Nor did they blink. They sat squarely, framed by curved black brows, under the severe central parting of her dark, grey-edged wavy hair. She had pulled it tight over the high forehead. You had to look from behind to find the substantial bun set carefully into the nape of her long neck. 

This was some lady, this wife of his: the daughter of a local shipbuilder who was in and out of debt to the Bank of New South Wales. After the death of her mother, she raised eight siblings. At the age of 29, she transferred ownership of Rosebank to her newly-wed husband, then reared another seven children of her own. The couple added a second storey to accommodate the expanding family. At the same time Grace made herself a useful sounding board for her husband in his various careers as lawyer, Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b , and now—Supreme Court judge. 

Her eyes gave him no choice. Stoic black highland Scots confronted the world in good times and bad with head held high. So did the lowland variety. Grace wore a high-necked white lace collar. If you looked carefully you could see that the matching cuffs at the wrists were odd. Nor did the pattern of either match her loose, hand crochet black top and long black skirt. The practical, wide-brimmed hat lay concealed, behind her back. Eight pregnancies and seven children later, she was reluctant to exhibit her teeth, or lack of them, but for her husband, there was always the ironic, half upturned lip. 

 I’ll go and fetch my cap Grace, but I would like a cup of coffee and slice of that fresh bread before we go.

I was preparing for our dinner with Mr. Taylor tonight, but there are a few fresh scones which Esma has made.

Inner man securely warmed, Andrew with his wife Grace née Ross, went through their homely kitchen into the back garden. Linked arm-in-arm, they walked sedately down the side driveway of their two storied Georgian home into Hampden Road. They noticed that the Butler XE "Butler:Ross, Tasmanian DOGS" \b  girls were sunning themselves on the cast iron verandah of their rambling mansion—giggling. Their father, one of the partners from Butler XE "Butler:Ross, Tasmanian DOGS" \b  Nutt and Butler XE "Butler:Ross, Tasmanian DOGS" \b  was to the side, admiring his views of the Derwent. He stepped back into the shadows, watching his neighbours thoughtfully. He didn’t know how to take the news yet. He had little time for either Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b  or Clark, but the rejection of Clark for the High Court would offend some members in the Tasmania Club. 

Grace gave the girls a nod of recognition, then looked straight ahead, balancing her hat with straight well-corseted back and shoulders. Girls who turned up in bright red to Sunday service at St. Georges in Battery Point had problems. That kind of gossip didn’t matter much in the Clark family. They were Unitarian with few Establishment pretensions, and their own daughter, Esma, was no fashion expert. Her enormous ribboned bell-bottom hats were a subject of amusement for her five brothers. But if those Butler XE "Butler:Ross, Tasmanian DOGS" \b  girls were interested in her boys, she might have to think again. 

The Butlers were one of the wealthiest and best-established legal families of Hobart, but not always friendly to her husband. Grace quietly calculated that their walk to the docks would be down past the wharf labourers’ cottages in Montpellier Retreat rather than through Stowell Street, and Gamaliel, home to the first Butler XE "Butler:Ross, Tasmanian DOGS" \b . He had prospered mightily in the early 19thcentury. The story was that, as Governor Arthur’s favoured law agent, he had land banked to his profit.

Back in the early 1850s when their fathers, John Ross and Alexander Clark, had joined the anti-transportation battle, old man Butler XE "Butler:Ross, Tasmanian DOGS" \b  did not take kindly to loss of cheap labour. Memories ran deep in this small town. All the same, that was half a century ago, old man Butler XE "Butler:Ross, Tasmanian DOGS" \b  had been on the National Education Board, and you never knew which way people would jump these days. 

As they crossed South Street and Arthur’s Circus, Andrew secretly wished he could go down through the small workmen’s cottages with their low scullion roofs to Macgregor Street and Kelly’s Steps. Any lay-about larrikins who did not have casual work down at the docks would neither know nor care about recent high court appointments. Andrew had always been on friendly terms with the lads. He knew their talk, having defended members of their families in court while building up his criminal law practice. 

He had quietly instructed Carrell about avoiding his local playmates up the road in Battery Point, however. So he could hardly take his wife in this direction. He was pleasantly surprised when Grace indicated that she intended to stop by the corner shop in Montpellier Retreat. He glanced up the road to St. David’s cemetery, overgrown while the Hobart City Council and State legislature quarreled over responsibility for its upkeep. He congratulated himself for arranging for his own burial next to his infant son Mervyn in the Queensberry cemetery down in Sandy Bay. His mind’s eye followed the road up the hill to West Hobart, vividly conjuring the old Harrington Street Baptist Chapel and Sunday school he attended as boy. 

Why was he preparing for burial and returning to his spiritual past today? Was it because tomorrow had forgotten him? 

There was no one in the garden of St. Georges Rectory on the corner of De Witt Street, although he suspected a twitched curtain. The tenor bell at St George’s rang, so he assumed the rector was occupied with a church service. He took a deep breath. People were about their everyday business. His disappointment should be put in perspective. There were smiles of recognition in the corner shop, but Grace’s purposeful stance and definite requests avoided more than civil pleasantries.

He knew that they knew. There were twists and turnings of embarrassment in the looks exchanged between the other local customers. He also assumed that they knew that he knew that they knew. His shoulders drooped, his already sparse figure diminishing into his dull boots.  

Let’s go straight down Montpellier Retreat rather than past St. David’s cemetery, Andrew,
Far preferable, I agree.

Outside the shop, he realised that he still felt lightheaded. Grace was no longer young and was walking carefully. Her veins were tangling like whip snakes up her legs. Her sensible looking shoes were new and unforgiving. Andrew tried to tell himself that, slight as he was, he was supporting her. He wondered whether she realised how grateful he really was for the security of her matronly form. As he tried to focus on the tall masts of the ships at the bottom of the hill, he looked straight ahead, feeling as if his own mother’s placid square face, large straight mouth, and substantial skirts were reassuring him of her certainty of God’s presence with her. There he was again—back in the past.

The couple ambled, arm in arm, slowly downward, past the small brick terrace houses in front of the quarry, to the sandstone warehouses in Salamanca Place. 

Oh look Andrew, there she is—Cosmopolite herself moored off the Elizabeth Street pier. She looks just as she did when she came off father’s slips down at the Point. Remember? Didn’t your father’s foundry do some of the iron work for it?’

Yes dear, she looks fine. I don’t know about Dad’s foundry contracts. I had left the business by then I think.

Father gave me the plate with that brig portrayed on it. It was presented to him when they launched the ship. I haven’t used it since. I must try and find it when I get home. 

Grace squeezed his arm

Do you remember?
No, not really dear. It must have been before we married. 

Andrew turned and gave a half smile. 


Get the plate out and show the children. Esma might be interested. 

Grace smiled inwardly. She was getting a response. Both her father and her husband were men of principle. Some preferred stubborn. She had early learnt to protect them, fronting the world when they were under pressure. 

The Cosmopolite and other Ross ships were built with free, not prison labour. John Ross had lived in workmen’s cottages before and after he built Rosebank. His son Hector was still living in the workman’s cottage next door where he moved after her marriage to Andrew in 1878. She would not be surprised if her brother was there to see the Cosmopolite for old times’ sake. 

The local lads playing truant were following the noisy Jessop and Appleby steam crane as it traveled backwards and forwards along the Elizabeth Street pier. It was loading the ship with tinned fruit from the Henry Jones IXL factory today. Grace wondered about the activities at the factory end of the docks, and Andrew, peering ahead, suggested they were using the tramway, getting goods ready to transport to the ships.

Grace lapsed into silence, satisfied that Andrew was less withdrawn. She was remembering the 1890s fire which had wiped out the fishermen’s cottages in Wapping, the area at the end of the convict built stone causeway. Their husbands were at sea, and the women and children sat on their few possessions, loudly wailing. That night Grace sat alone, up on the hill, with her children. The sound of the Wapping womens’ desolation carried up to the Point. Their charred houses were never re-built. Sixteen years later, factories were steadily taking over at the north eastern end of the wharves. She wondered where the fishermen’s wives were now: Jones’ female factory workers? Were their husbands on the horse drawn trams and steam engines trundling goods to and from the wharves or were they still working the fishing boats in Constitution dock? Not a good topic of conversation for Andrew in his present state, she decided. 

Grace and Andrew walked over Salamanca Place, passing Princes Wharf towards the Elizabeth Street pier and Cosmopolite. The waterman’s dock fitted under their gaze with the small boats used to taxi Hobart residents to and from the eastern shore. Some were securely fastened to the wooden ramp, others rocked invitingly, tethered to the posts rammed deep into dolorite rocks under water, shallow at low tide. Their owners lounged on the pathway above them, feet dangling. Some watched quietly, pipe in mouth, for the next customer. Others exchanged the latest news. 

Grace was engaged in a hat-balancing act, and Andrew’s inverted eyes seemed transfixed by hazy outlines of Bellerive on the eastern shore. He could not cope with bonhomie today. But there, near the steam crane was Alfred Taylor, his closest friend. He had walked down to the docks from the library behind the Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b  where he worked, craving the busyness of the waterfront on his lunch break. He could observe a fair cross section of Hobart society at work and play. It was a shorthand way of catching up on local gossip that mattered.  

Grace relaxed. Providence was on her side today. She hoped Alfred had not forgotten he was coming to dinner tonight.  Their friend fell into step with their leisurely pace. He was exuberant. How fortunate! He was wondering how to let them know he might be a bit late for dinner that night. He had an urgent meeting with the Hobart Councilors about the new library in Argyle Street. Clark was interested in the progress of the new library and Alfred was only too happy to share his frustrations. 

Here we have a donation of thousands of pounds from Mr. Carnegie, the Edinburgh gentleman who is giving money through his trust for these public libraries in the Home Country, here, America…and the Council is still penny-pinching. I have the evidence. The people want it. There were more than 100,000 loans to my library patrons last year and, as you know Andrew, Hobart has a population of 40,000.

Andrew reacted: 

What more do they want?
God only knows. I don’t. But take heart Andrew, people are reading and we are getting the books into Hobart. I am still in there battling to bring your Scottish Enlightenment to Hobart.

Andrew looked hard at Alfred, eyes squinting in a grimace. Alfred persisted. 

He had sent for a book for Padre Clark of the Minerva Club, and it had arrived, especially bound to Andrew’s own library’s standard. Alfred thought he might like it on his shelves, if only to criticise it. ‘

Andrew’s eyes reverted to his boots.

Very kind.

Grace gave Alfred a knowing look, but he rushed on. 
Look Andrew, I’m really sorry about the news. I know you really wanted that High Court appointment. But I think you ought to know. Your friends are relieved. We don’t want to lose you to Melbourne or Sydney. 

Grace grabbed his cue. She was also relieved. She liked to visit her relations in Melbourne, but living there was another matter. All the children regarded Hobart as home. So did she. Andrew took a step backwards and looked at her in amazement. They had traveled widely together, although now he came to think of it, she had sometimes stayed at home—by choice. 

Grace raised her voice and spoke quickly. Yes, she really was annoyed that he hadn’t been offered the High Court appointment and she could speak her mind whereas Andrew was more reticent. The northern islanders could do as they please. All right—they were all supposed to be Australian now. But the Clarks didn’t vote for Federation, and neither did the Tasmanians. She was getting too old for change and couldn’t be anything other than Tasmanian. She would be more at home in Europe, America, or Nova Scotia, than Melbourne—with friends who were no friends.

Andrew said nothing: Grace said friends. That word resonated. He was back twenty years in his library, with Alfred and other members of his Minerva Club. How free they had felt to explore the world of ideas XE "ideas" \b . His mind had wandered as his pen took on a life of its own with excursions on ideas translated into action in Italy and the America. How carefully he had laboured to put some of those ideas into practice in Australia. Had he failed? Was he now consigned XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b  to the dustbin of history? His shoulders slumped and his eyelids drooped. 

Grace persisted with the present. She was starting to feel hot and bothered and Andrew seemed to be swiftly retreating into himself. 

Alfred, you know you are welcome whenever you arrive tonight. But we must get home. I can see my brother Hector out on the dock.  The way home is uphill whichever way we go. I’ll go and ask him to take us in his sulky.

***

The Library at Rosebank
That evening, Alfred joined Andrew in his library. The curtains were half drawn and he was facing the window, slumped in the bell-backed chesterfield, arms hanging loosely. Alfred wondered if he was asleep. 

Blurp de Boom. Phlup! 
That’s young Andrew practicing his new trombone.

The voice came from the chesterfield chair, and a disembodied hand turned up the warm yellow gaslight. 

Where is this new book you are promising me? 

Alfred placed a leather-bound copy of Quick and Garran XE "Quick and Garran" \b ’s Annotated Constitution of the Australian Commonwealth which had been published in 1901 on the highly polished cedar table. Andrew reacted
 What use is that to me now?
He already had the book, but as his fingers caressed the soft leather binding, he felt ungracious. 

Alfred walked over, picked up a straight-backed chair, and sat near his friend. He wondered what he should do or say to this person spiraling downwards into the slough of despondency. He understood what it was like to confront failure, or at least the fear of it He did it every day in his library. But in his case there was hope to counter fear, and the knowledge that he had done his best. Andrew had set his heart on the High Court appointment and, now, given his age and health, believed his future was closing down. 

Alfred decided he would make a positive noise then say nothing. He would just be a friendly presence for a friend in mourning. So the librarian-friend shrugged and said it was just a text book really. When Andrew had time, Alfred thought he might like to see if Quick and Garran XE "Quick and Garran" \b  have done justice to Andrew’s draft of the Constitution. He had glanced at it himself and wondered whether they were imposing their own views on the intentions of others at the Convention. 

He thought it best to leave Chief Justice Griffiths and the newly appointed Justice Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  out of the conversation. After all everyone—or everyone in Tasmania—knew that Andrew provided the original blueprint for the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b  and, since the publication of his book on the Australian Constitution in 1902, was an acknowledged expert in Constitutional Law. 

Alfred relaxed into the mellow gaslight, remembering. How often had he sat in this room, Andrew Clark’s library, drinking coffee and smoking with the self-styled literati of Hobart. They may have been a century out of date, but they tried to make it the ‘Capital of the Mind’ as Andrew’s Scottish forebears had done in Edinburgh of the 1790s. They had given papers, argued, discussed, disagreed, and even agreed to disagree. They published their efforts in The Quadrilateral .
 Andrew had presided over it all good-humouredly. They had kept the faith. They believed that they could make a difference. Alfred, in his library, was still doing his bit. Where was Andrew?

After Andrew had experienced the rough and tumble of Tasmanian politics for more than a decade, he laid down his Credo, admitting to being ‘a democrat by despair’.
 He had shown this Credo to his friend. He was passionate about the fundamental rights of man, and a republican admirer of the United States Declaration of Independence. He believed in the ‘good old cause’ of the English Commonwealth. His heroes were the regicides, Pym, Marten, Ireton and Vane. Cromwell XE "Cromwell:Oliver" \b  might be Carlyle’s hero, but for Clark, he was the great betrayer. He betrayed the English Common Weal when he used his soldiers to dismiss Parliament. 

Alfred recalled Andrew’s performance that night in 1874 at the debating society at St. Johns. He had lost, of course, but he had given them something to think about. Andrew always had another point of view to set you thinking. But his republican beliefs could not endear him to members of the monarchists like Barton, Deakin or Higgins in Melbourne. Nor would he fit easily with the Irish republicans. He was not Irish and distrusted Rome.

Andrew’s Baptist and Unitarian background, his sense of history and strong belief in free education, meant he wanted protections for liberty of conscience. He had been constant and fearless in his opposition to any form of clerical control of education. He had long standing enemies in the religious establishments, although he attempted to deal with policies rather than personalities. Cardinal Moran, prominent in promoting the federal cause in Sydney was diametrically opposed on matters of Church and State XE "Church and State"  to Clark.  As a member of the Tasmanian Parliament, Clark had opposed the ‘payment by results’ system. He argued that this could open Treasury coffers to the clerical hierarchies in Denominational XE "Denominational" \b  education. He believed that religion was outside the business of any legislature. Giving state aid XE "State Aid" \b  to religious schools involved the recognition of an imperium in imperio, a State within a State.
 Divided sovereignty was political emasculation of the State. The clerics were constantly pushing on the edges. He believed they had not gone away.

Had this affected Clark’s chances for the High Court appointment? 

How successful had Andrew, Alfred and their friends been, as colonial liberals of different and differing hues,  putting their ideas XE "ideas" \b  into practice in the Constitution of the new Federation? He knew that Clark had grave doubts. He had been active in 1890 and 1891, but preferred his trip to America and Oliver Wendell Holmes to the 1897 elections for delegates to the Constitutional Convention. By 1898, he had resigned his Tasmanian Attorney-Generalship over a Cabinet plan to build a railway line on the west coast. He refused to be implicated in allegations of conflict of interest. The blaze of publicity was good for his reputation as a man of principle, but not a politician who could compromise. Had this affected his chances for the High Court? 

By 1898 Clark had left his political career behind for the Supreme Court bench. The Bill that survived the Constitutional Convention of 1897-98 was so little to his liking that he refused to speak in favour of it. Tasmania stood to lose too much financially, so he effectively boycotted the poll. He was annoyed that his religious liberty clause, Section 109, had been dropped at the Adelaide Convention, but a version of it was there in the final Bill that went to Referendum. Alfred heard that Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  had slipped through an amended version at the last minute,  applying to the Commonwealth but not the States. 

If Clark had gone to the 1897-98 Constitutional Conventions would Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b  have given him the High Court prize? Maybe. But Andrew was a hard liberal whereas Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b  was more pragmatic. There were concessions the Tasmanian would not make. In any case, he came from a small island that sometimes fell off the Australian maps.

Initially Alfred sat still, arm relaxed on the table. As he speculated his hand rose automatically to cover his eyes, then slid down over his clean shaven face. Andrew stirred. His fist struck the table. 

I knew that Parkes was a humbug, even if his humbuggery was sometimes to my inclination. But Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b —I expected more Alfred.

Alfred’s decision to be quiet was forgotten. He could not resist the interchange. 

Do you think it would have been better if you had gone to the 1898 Convention, Andrew?
I doubt it. Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b  and his friends were always soft at the edges, always looking sideways at Syme and The Age. I was  disinclined to accommodate their plans.

‘Remember too Andrew, you were always a Tasmanian—from the smallest State. And you refused to accept the final document as a poor deal for Tasmania financially. Do you think that mattered?’

Probably.

They paused, looking at each other as the grandfather clock in the hallway chimed the hour for dinner. 

Andrew?... I wonder whether we have only succeeded as far as we have in this fluid society because we came from this provincial outpost. Nobody cared what happened here or what we thought about. We could always write or visit our friends in Europe, America or the Home Country anyway.

Andrew looked startled, then thoughtful. Alfred had his attention. He raised his eyebrows, encouraging his friend to continue. Alfred obliged:

Once we launched our ideas XE "ideas" \b  on the broader political canvas it was a different matter. I’ve often wondered whether we, sorry, you Andrew, should have put forward an American style Bill of Rights in your first draft.

Andrew gesticulated with his palms turned upwards.

And lose the lot? A few rights are tucked away in that Constitution Act waiting for the right judges. That is why it was important that I be there— now— to interpret them.

Alfred was in the middle of argument and rushed ahead like a runaway train. He said that he was aware that Andrew was upset that Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  was preferred to him in the latest High Court appointments, but in 1898 his rival had been responsible for the re-instatement in the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b  of a version of the American First Amendment, the religious liberty clause first introduced by Andrew in 1891. Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  was an eccentric party of one, but the newly formed Labor party was supporting him in mainland politics. Perhaps for his own political comfort, Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b  was kicking him upstairs.  

The library door creaked and Grace put her head through the door. Dinner was ready.

Henry Bournes Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" 
Richard’s discovery: May 1973

Richard, the historian, didn’t like heights. He looked up at the ornate white marble tiers looking down at him from the white octagon. This reference was essential. He had heard that the State Library of Victoria had it. The more he read of Quick and Garran XE "Quick and Garran" \b ’s Constitutional Commentary,
 the more he doubted their objectivity in this matter. He knew he was on to something through the way they were fudging, or at least giving their readers a misleading impression about the American influence. They had no reason to agree with Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  on the arguments in support of Section 116. Quick had been on the opposite side in the original debates and voted against the inclusion of Section 116 in the Australian Constitution. His supporter, Glynn, had put forward the recognition of God clause at the Adelaide Convention and was licking his wounds after its initial rejection. He was successful in getting the ‘recognition of God’ clause in the Preamble at the 1898 Constitutional Convention, but at a price. Insertion of Section 116 in the Constitution was that price. Richard had come to Melbourne to continue his research into what had really happened in 1898. He wanted to look at the American Congressional debates that Higgins had referred to at the Constitutional Convention. Richard knew that Inglis Clark was aware of these documents and he had already sighted them at the British Museum. His historical instincts were leading him to an American connection, whatever Quick and Garran said to the contrary.
His training made Richard aware that most people wanted future generations to see history from their point of view, particularly when they were the losers. History was usually written by the winners, unless the losers got on top later. Caesar didn’t outlive Suetonius, and immigrant Irish Catholics survived the famine to write new Establishment histories in the Antipodes. 

Richard didn’t play those games although he excelled at chess. As an historian, his attention became hooked on questions he discovered in dialogue with his documents. He followed the questions wherever they led him and soon lost interest in Establishment histories of any kind. He had accepted himself as incapable of a character refit modeled on parental hopes and fears. His diplomatic mother despaired of his truthful propositions, taking cold comfort in her son’s chess prowess. ‘Good with people’ Granny Lomax tried, unsuccessfully, to situate him, but she enjoyed a good argument on the way. Nanna Maria Jane just quietly noted, and approved, his inability to tell it as it wasn’t.  

He had been reading in the dome room of the State Library of Victoria all day. As he looked up from the bottom of the library his eyes stared myopically, unfocussed from close reading under the soft yellow reading light. He tried to concentrate on the long desks radiating outward like spokes in the wheel of a bicycle. The desks themselves were ingrained with decades of sweat and polish. He lowered the collapsible bookstand, and fitted it into the desk top. The chair gave a loud squeak as he swiveled around to look at the glass panes far above him. The rays of the late afternoon filled the octagonal dome above him: a 19thcentury basilica dedicated to secular learning. Its treasures were meticulously arrayed in tier upon marble tier of books. Finally, the ornamentation on the balustrades protecting both books and searchers registered. His chair scraped as he pushed it back and turned towards the card catalogue.

The reader in the next chair stirred. He coughed sedately, then, looking at his watch, picked up his papers and left. His neat pile of library books remained on the long desk along from Richard’s papers. Apart from Richard, the library was deserted. 

He had been told that the catalogue cards survived even if the books had been sold or pulped. He could be almost 80 years too late. A lone reader, he walked towards the rows of wooden catalogue boxes. Richard’s stomach rumbled. Should he call it a day and go back to the dining table in West Melbourne where he and his wife Margaret were staying? 

He was caught up in a detective story, and wanted to find out what the majority had in mind when they voted to place Section 116 into the Constitution. What did Higgins and the other Convention delegates who voted for separation of religion and the State XE "Church and State"  believe they were doing—or not doing for that matter. His discovery of Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" ’s relationship with minority religious groups like the Seventh Day Adventists XE "Seventh Day Adventists" \b  had led him to throw a plumb line into unexplored waters.

Quick and Garran XE "Quick and Garran" \b  had managed to obscure the American connection when they described what Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  had argued at the 1898 Constitutional Convention. Yet Richard was aware that this American connection not only existed, but might have legal ramifications for the pending State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  case.

He found the American Congressional Records XE "American Congressional Records" \b  for the 1890s in the catalogue. If they had not been sent out to store or pulp they should be up in the shelves. The catalogue reference led him high up into the dome, but he was determined. He clenched his teeth and climbed the stairs, looking upward, never down into the abyss. He squatted down to see if the reference had led him to the right place.

It was not there. Richard picked his way gingerly down the staircase, step by step. But he did not give up. He wandered over to the information desk and had a chat to the librarian on duty. He waited while she disappeared , then lumbered back to the main desk and placed the relevant volumes before him.

It was many years since anyone had disturbed these tomes. Richard’s  handkerchief was all he had to clean off the decades of dust. He luxuriated, leaning back comfortably into the round back of the squeaking swivel chair; expanding his tools of trade across and along the leather top and wooden edges of the Victorian desk. 

He listed page numbers from the index volume in his notebook, then, going to Volume 23, he turned over the pages to find the American Senate debates on religion and the State XE "Church and State"  for 1892. Richard suddenly realised that someone had been along this track before him, marking the relevant passages.
The dust settled. The years collided. Little slips of an envelope marked those sections of the American Congressional debates in which references were made to ‘religious aspects’. Those portions in which the relation of reigion and the State XE "Church and State"  was being discussed were underlined. Richard was sitting in the State Library of Victoria in May 1973. Who had passed this way before him and when? 

He copied the relevant sections, arranged for photo-copying with the librarian at the desk, and returned to contemplate his discovery. The slips of yellowed paper used as markers lay casually over the desk. He idled over them with fingers released from note taking, fitting them together.  A pattern took shape. 

It was an envelope, or part of one  and about half of the postmark remained. 

“FIT……..TH VIC” and “ JA…..20….98”. 

This was not evidence of the past. It was the past. 

Richard took notes and returned the envelope fragments to the volume.

***

Richard, Margaret, together with Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen, the President of DOGS Victoria, enjoyed a late night supper at the dinner table in West Melbourne. They were excited at Richard’s find, and tried to arrange the fragments, piecing them this way and that. They were agreed. It was “Fitzroy North, Victoria, January 20, 1898.” The address of the Victorian headquarters of the Seventh Day Adventists XE "Seventh Day Adventists" \b  at this time was 251 St. Georges Road, North Fitzroy. 

Richard knew that in 1898, Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b , the Adventist’s religious liberty secretary, was corresponding with Henry Bournes Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" . Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  was an American mindful of the battle in relation to separation of religion and the state XE "separation of church and state" \b  in the United States. Richard also knew from what Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  had said at the Constitutional Convention on 7 and 8 February and 2 March 1898 that he was familiar with the events relating to the controversy surrounding demands by Sunday observance agitators for Sabbath closing of the 1892 Chicago Exposition. The Seventh Day Adventists XE "Seventh Day Adventists" \b , who celebrated the Sabbath on a Saturday, and sometimes worked on Sundays, opposed the legislation. 

Richard felt that there was a strong likelihood that the reader who underlined relevant sections of the American Congressional Records XE "American Congressional Records" \b , was Henry Bournes Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  sitting in the parliamentary library up in Spring Street decades before. He was probably preparing his speech in support of a version of what had been Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b ’s religious liberty clause for the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b  on 2 March 1898.

What kind of a man was Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  and why did he take up the religious liberty cause where Andrew Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b  had left it?

Henry Bournes Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" :

Reminiscing at Dromana, 1920.

Straight-backed on his haunches, the elderly man in the Dromana cemetery overlooking Port Phillip Bay, rose, and stood back looking at the grave with its high Celtic cross. There was a burial place on either side for himself and his wife. But no body lay there. Mervyn of the 8th Light Horse, unmounted, doing infantry duty, took trenches at the point of a bayonet. But a sniper’s shot, just above the left eye at Magdhaba: that was all it took. And he had survived Gallipoli and The Nek. They dug his grave in Egypt on Christmas Eve, 1916. He was not alone, of course. 

They said they had helped forge a nation, but so many of the next generation were stripped to bones in foreign soil. Well, the nation had been blooded. Henry Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" , High Court Judge, would help plant a grove, if not an avenue of elms. Even if he didn’t agree with the spiritualists, he understood the them. 

He wished he had his father’s simple Christian faith. If John Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  was here he would sing about crossing Jordan, and gathering at the river. The river that had taken his son was the cursed Nile. Simple faith was long gone for Henry, alchemised in the crucible of his academic dreaming, his constant questions, reaction against his father’s spiritual demands, and his mother’s ambition and needs. He had been a good provider for all his family. But now, with him, his line stopped—dead. 

His mother had had eight, and lost three but for him there was but one. Heronswood at Dromana was bought for Mervyn. His wife, Mary Alice presided over games for her son’s private school friends. They imagined themselves as larrikins: The Heronswood Push. Mervyn had the best: Melbourne Grammar, Oxford graduate; Associate to his father, the High Court Judge; the pearl in his oyster. He was only twenty nine.

Henry’s mother had survived little Charlie’s coffin slipping over the side of the ship. Henry and Alice survived the loss of Mervyn. Well, he and his wife were still here, in the Dromana country residence. His niece Nettie was left. She thought his way but her volatile brother, Esmonde had told Henry he must be left out of the Will. A communist did not believe in private property. 

Nettie was down from Queensland with her husband, Vance Palmer. Vance said he wished to write the great Australian novel. Henry had overheard his wife suggesting that Nettie write her Henry’s biography. Nettie needed the money, but he wondered how much would be left out to please Mary Alice and his sister Ina. His chuckle caught in the back of his throat, descending into a dry cough. Nettie herself had once announced that she found it hard to distinguish Uncle Henry from God. 

He knew he was getting old. He had to concentrate on the practicalities of the present while the past kept flooding in. He walked, step by careful step, up through the spindly untidy eucalypts, triangular conifers and well-kept lawns. The grass was unevenly spotted with gum leaves and twigs wrenched off by screaming cockies. 

He was tired. His friends in the Wallaby Club no longer asked him out on their bushwalks. He had given up his early morning dips in the freezing Dromana beach a few winters ago. The warm waves of summer were a different matter. His old horse still grazed in the bottom paddock. Henry stayed a while, resting his back against a peppermint gum, looking out to the bay. Where else could he quietly watch the wind ploughing furrows in the sand and harrowing the waves, like this?

He struggled on to the verandah and sank into his old deck chair. It was weather stained and out of place against the neat granite blocks, limestone trimmings and polished wooden floors of his gothic mansion. Mary Alice left this oddity well alone. It was his, a memento from steamer travel up and down the eastern coast on Arbitration and High Court duties. 

If he was writing his own biography, where would he start? Time had laid layer upon layer but what it covered he could recover through slits cut into his  memory: his mother rising at dawn to take what little food her family had to starving people in the Irish famine; her fears of falling into abject penury and failure when his father was disinherited. He was God’s man, an itinerant preacher about his Father’s business: saving souls. Henry remembered his mother’s hopes for her second son, as saviour of her family in the promised land; her satisfaction in his ‘performances’ as equity lawyer, politician, and judge: and all this accomplished in spite of his curse—the stammer. 

The images of his many lives flooded thick and fast: his fling with Labor, his Harvester judgment, 
his feeling for the underclass. Nettie and Vance, not to mention Esmonde would look after that. But that was not the other memory surfacing in his mind.  

He could see the slivers of blue green through the pines and gums. He assumed the sun was out and beating down on the waters of the bay. He was cool enough. He wiggled his bottom around, plumping it deeper, luxuriating in the sagging canvas of his old chair. He stroked the long hairs of his drooping moustache automatically. It hid his mother’s pursed lips and made him look more manly. He had never grown a beard to hide the dimple in his chin. The only thing he had inherited from his father were the big eyes contemplating eternity. His hair was long gone.

If he had time to write for himself, it would be the memories of the odd ones he himself could not resist. That was what had set him apart. Not the people and places he had chosen for safety’s sake: not Professor WilliamHearn; Alfred Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b ; Mary Alice Morrison; Doona at Malvern, and now Heronswood near Arthur’s seat. His mother and he had wanted to survive and prosper, so appearances and networks with their respectabilities mattered in this rumbustious light filled country. They were never sufficient. There were always other values which beckoned on the peripheries. Even now  he was  in danger of falling off the edge into oblivion. 

Alfred Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b  was the chosen one for Higinbotham, the political patron, and Syme, the media magnate. Alfred was the evanescent liberal who could weave through principle, avoiding the appearance of pragmatics. But he was always the boss’s man. Well, always Syme’s man. Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b ? Toby Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  kept the show on the road. He was the one who, with Garran, stayed up all night at the Constitutional Convention, determining what went into the small print. Edmund Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  always knew where he, New South Wales, and the show, were going. He knew that the real power lay with those who put the devil in the detail. Or did it?

Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b ’s eyes were always on the immediate pitfalls in the road—not the longer term cave-ins. So he, the ever-eccentric Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  had turned around, after the Convention, and campaigned against the Federation on the terms stipulated. He lost of course. He had lost count of his losses, and dissenting judgments. Yet he had always survived. The Anglo-Irish in Australia had established their own bush telegraph. Sometimes he sent the message for assistance deeper, down the Roman Catholic tracks.

He was always saddened that he and Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b  had walked on parallel lines—apart. The Tasmanian had not been part of Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" ’ mainland world after 1891, although they kept in touch. Henry had heard that Clark went into sharp decline after Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  got what Clark himself had coveted: the High Court appointment. 

No, it was the outsiders, the ones who had chosen Henry—the odd ones that now filled the memories that mattered. He could not resist them because he felt it was God, not his father’s or mother’s God, but his own—wherever or whoever he was—imposing an obligation upon him, to be at one with them for a moment in time. Perhaps it was the only way to keep at bay the fear of falling over the threshold. 

Perhaps it had something to with the freedom in his mind. Some called it conscience, but it was in his mind. His older, tear-away brother had died of consumption in Ireland, but his own delicate body had craved and gloried in the bright sky, summer warmth, long bush walks and steaming sweat on horse flanks in the land where his mother and he prospered. But the brashness of his adopted country was never enough. Perhaps it had something to do with the Huguenot blood which entered his father’s Gaelic stream some generations ago. He loved Australia, yet the country of his birth and ghosts from outside the pale, haunted him.

There was the idiot boy, the saintly imbecile of his closeted Irish Methodist childhood. He appeared at the door of their house. Henry and the boy communed, silently, until the adults took the boy away. Then, the Carmelite nun, looking at him silently, but smiling with her hazel eyes, behind the iron grate in the convent. 

Finally, there was the blessing of the eccentric, dirty drunkard, the English aristocrat, a remittance man from the Lewis family, who disrupted his swearing in as a High Court Judge. Chief Justice Griffith had him removed, but for Henry it was as if the heavens had opened. The voice came down from the gallery 

‘this is a man of fine dialectic habit of mind’.

He accepted the blessing and burden. 

But he was no prophet. Who could have foretold the barbarity kindred spirits had endured in the last decade. Yet they had set out, liberals all, to civilise this New World. Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  believed they had succeeded and it could only get better. They were naïve believers in ‘progress’ and the cleverness of man. What clever invention of man had killed his son?

His own days were numbered, and he had tried to fill the hungry with good things and exalt the humble and meek—without scattering the proud in the imagination of their hearts.
 He had tried to protect his inner sanctum, the inheritance from his father, his conscience. That was why he understood Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  and the need for the freedom of and from religion clause. He had succeeded in getting Section 116 into the Constitution. He could not foretell the future but only hope that future colleagues on the High Court would protect it.

Constitutional Convention, 2 March 1898

Lunch Time:

The debate: afternoon of 2 March, 1898.

An energetic gentleman in dark worsted suit hurried around the corner of William Street, past the two-storey bluestone buildings, down to Equity Chambers in Bourke Street. His head went down as he skirted up the steps and hurried into the sterilised lift with its cast iron grilling. His vowels sounded off-key, a mixture of American and Australian overtones. He took out his handkerchief, mopped his brow, and blew his nose into it. 

First Floor, Mr. Hansen.

Yes Mr. Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b , Sir. Mr. Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  has recently moved to the front of the building. Room No. 105.

The lift doors clicked shut, then opened as the counterweights clunked and wheels turned over. The wires hummed dumb music as it ascended. William Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  knocked on the door of Room 105 and opened it cautiously. Mr. Henry Bournes Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  raised his head, then lowered his eyes and said he was sorry. He was referring to the recent insertion of the ‘Recognition of God’ into the Preamble of the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b . Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  exploded into his room.

It’s a disaster! We won the Sabbath closure in Chicago and kept out the recognition of God clause, but here … Mr. Glynn has beaten us. Once you let any kind of religious reference into your Constitution you let the State into religious affairs. We don’t want to be forced to work on Sundays.

Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  waved him into a leather-covered armchair, and attempted to ameliorate the situation. He complimented Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  on the magnificent job his Seventh Days Adventists had done with the petitions against the insertion of the recognition of God clause, but pointed out that the Protestant XE "Protestant" \b  churches as well as Roman, wanted status. He was sympathetic of course. 

‘My father, gentle saver of souls, was always for the City of God but God did not pay my mother’s bills. I am a secularist, but God save us from religious men demanding power and privilege. I doubt the Constitution will’. 

Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  responded: 

‘We want protection from what happened in Sydney—putting us sabbath breakers in the stocks. Mediaeval! They think it won’t happen again?’ 

Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  explained that Edmund Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b , the New South Wales Premier, believed that the battle for separation of religion and the State XE "Church and State"  had been fought and won with the withdrawal of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to both churches and their religious schools. 


That is Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b ’s position and I cannot move him from it. 

Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  was not convinced.

Priests have been in this game for thousands of years. The battle is never won when they believe they have the absolute truth and want to impose it on everyone else.

Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  fired up:


You all believe you have the truth. God Botherers! Look at you lot on Saturday sabbaths.  

Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  shifted uneasily forward on his seat, then stood up and went over towards Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" ’ desk as Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  continued his outburst, raising his right handas his father had done in the pulpit:
I believe in truth, but only the truth in the matter I can see in hand. When my conscience cannot breathe, I ask why? You never step into the same river twice with human rights. They aren’t laid up in heaven you know. We have to work them out ourselves, then fight for them in the here and now. 

He paused, lowered his hand, and, placing his elbow on the desk, cupped his chin with it. He looked up at Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  and said quietly:

This business of writing Constitutions is only a century old. You should know. It started with the Americans in 1789.

Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  didn’t want an argument, so, changing the subject he glanced over at the papers on Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  desk, 

Do you still have the arguments I put together in that letter I sent you on 10 February?
Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  patted an open folder on his desk. He hadn’t given up. They had lost Section 109 on 8 February, but he had placed an amended version of Inglis Clark’s religious liberty clause back on the Notice Paper. The Convention delegates had knocked it off in the February session because it referred to the States. Higgins had re-phrased it so that it only applied to the Commonwealth. Glynn and other representatives of the churches had got their ‘Humbly Relying on Almighty God’ in the Preamble that morning. Higgins looked up with a calculating smile on h is face:

 Something for Something. Since it is based on the American First Amendment ….

Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b ’s face was transformed into a cheeky grin as he showed a full mouth of teeth, and took a piece of paper from his pocket.

Tell them - Free trade in ideas XE "ideas" \b . A journalist from The Bulletin gave me this. Here I am, in tandem with Australian heathens—in a good cause.

He read from the slip of paper. 

The politicians grave, who nod,

Assembled in convention

Have voted in the Most High God-

An Honorable Mention. 

Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  laughed, then gave a sigh. The game of politics compromised them all, especially when they were in the middle of it. It was always a matter of how far. You should have heard Reid XE "Reid:Sir George" \b  that morning say that he was happy to get on with churchmen so long as it cost him nothing! When did a compromise with religious men ever cost nothing?

Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  tried to warn Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  that the politician he had chosen to champion the cause of religious liberty had the reputation of being an eccentric party of one. Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b  and Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  were aware that Higgins was becoming disaffected and might even campaign against their Federation. Nevertheless, he was hopeful of some support on the reinstatement of the religious liberty clause. He believed Wise XE "Wise:Bernhard" \b  was with him and Isaacs had a Jewish background. They appeared to have some understanding of the need to protect minorities. The Churches had won the first round. He would do his best to win the second. 

The Victorian politician combed his drooping moustache with his ink stained fingers as he contemplated the trams clunking down Bourke Street from his window in Equity Chambers. 

We are but tenants for life in the great freehold of rights. 

He poured water from a jug and washed his face and hands at the bath-stand in the corner of his room. Then, gathering his papers he turned with a grin to Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  

‘There is always their need for votes if they want to push their Federation through. We

had 38,000 distinct signatures—why not satisfy both parties?’

Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  gave a beatific smile and lifted his hand in benediction.

‘I am glad and thankful to my God, whom I serve night and day, that there is even one man in the Convention who will stand up for principles. May God bless you, and the peace of Heaven rest rightly upon you’. 

They parted company. Colcord XE "Colcord:Seventh Day Adventist leader" \b  went down the stairs. Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  shut and locked his office door. As he entered the lift, he informed Hansen that he was going back to Parliament House for the afternoon. 

The heat of the late summer enveloped him as he strolled down the steps of Equity Chambers. A few token raindrops spat in his face as he climbed on to the cable tram in the middle of Bourke Street. He stood near the driver and the enormous levers and brakes in the exposed front section of the tram. He was hoping for a little breeze on his face as the tram moved, pulled by its series of underground cables and pulleys. He was sweltering in his black waistcoat, suit coat and starched collar. He looked up at the cloudless sky: no comfort there. He tried to be positive by wondering about the temperatures in the terminals where the magnified clockwork of wheels and pulleys operating miles of cables throughout Melbourne, were powered by steam. Those workmen were well acquainted with the fires of Hell today. 

That diversion didn’t work. It only made him remember the humidity of Queens Hall filled with Constitutional Convention delegates in the above century temperatures of the February sittings.  The smoke from the bush fires surrounding Melbourne, penetrating through the Parliament House colonnades and the doors of the Hall itself, had given the delegates their own taste of  Dante’s inferno. 

The Churchmen had taken responsibility for the rains which had broken the long drought, but increased its humidity. What was going on in secularist Melbourne? They had defeated the Recognition of God clause in the Adelaide Convention, and Adelaide was the city of churches. But here in Melbourne the Churches had successfully flexed their muscles. Look at what had happened that morning. He was surprised at the way committed secularists had rolled over.

He would try and get down to the beach after this afternoon’s session. 

Business first: that was the best diversion from the heat. Barton was XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  coming across from the Grand Hotel with Garran and Wise XE "Wise:Bernhard" \b  not far behind. The interstate delegates were living and working, but not necessarily playing together in the confines of that hotel.They were elected delegates, but faction politics was starting to surface on some issues. Higgins’  religious liberty clause might get a different hearing this last time. 

The open ploughboy face of Edmund Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b ’s was pale grey, and his wide mouth unsmiling. Henry had heard he was working on the printer’s copies into the morning hours. He waylaid the New South Wales Premier on the footpath: 

Edmund. 

Henry … persistent aren’t you? I see you have put an amendment to Section 109 on the Notice Paper. We have decided to put it on this afternoon and if necessary extend our business into the evening’.

Higgins was startled. Did Barton hope to ambush  him? 

Unexpected, but I’ll do my best.  I only hope that you will give up your opposition this time Edmund.

Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  quickened his step, dismissing Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  with a shake of his head.

I still hold to the opinion that we just don’t need it. This problem of state aid to religion has been solved in this country, once and for all. 

Henry matched his stride.

With God looming large in the preamble? As I said this morning, religious observance is no good if it is enforced by law’.

Edmund Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  ignored him as he bounded up the parliament house steps, so Henry gave him a parting shot. 

‘Proud men in their theological halls, and their supporters Glynn and Garran didn’t give up. Why should I?’

***

Constitutional Convention, 2 March 1898

Lunch Time:

The debate: afternoon of 2 March , 1898.

The Delegates took their seats on either side of Queens hall in the Victorian Parliament. The noise level rose, especially around the New South Wales delegation. Wise XE "Wise:Bernhard" \b  and Reid XE "Reid:Sir George" \b  were arguing energetically with Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b . The baritone hum of male voices gradually subsided. The Chairman sat on a dais at the far end of the hall. He rammed the desk with his gavel once—twice. On the third strike the voices faded. The incalcitrants were identifiable. They stopped—abruptly. 

 Chairman: The next question is Mr. Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" ’ proposed new clause in lieu of clause 109, which was struck out. 

Mr Higgins ( XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" :Victoria) – I was not aware that this clause would come on so soon; but, inasmuch as I have spoken to the words in the preamble so recently, I think I shall be able to save honorable members the infliction of a long speech on this subject. My idea is to make it clear beyond doubt that the powers which the states individually have of making such laws as they like with regard to religion shall remain undisturbed and unbroken, and to make it clear that in framing this Constitution there is no intention whatever to give to the Federal parliament the power to interfere in these matters…..I am only going to the extent of making it clear that the Commonwealth Parliament is to have no such power. I went too far on my former amendment, inasmuch as I said that neither a state nor the Commonwealth was to have this power. I beg to move the insertion of the following new clause to replace clause 109 already struck out. 

The Commonwealth shall not make any law prohibiting the free exercise of any religion, or for the establishment of any religion, or imposing any religious observance, and no religious test shall be required as a qualification for any office or public trust under the Commonwealth. 
I may state that most of this clause, with regard to the making of laws, is already in the American Constitution. The only difference is… these words about imposing religious observances, and that part, as I have already indicated this morning is rendered necessary to the inclusion in the preamble of our Constitution of words which they have not got in the American Constitution. But in consequence of a decision of the United States in 1892, which went to the effect that the United States of America form a Christian nation, the courts have held that the United States are able to make laws for the purpose of imposing Sunday observance all over the Commonwealth. ..

Mr. Reid: XE "Reid:Sir George" \b  
( New South Wales): If my honorable friend could point out in the Bill any subject allied with religion which would make it necessary to put such a clause as this in the Bill, I would vote with him. 

Mr. Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" :
The Preamble.

Mr Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b : 
I feel some hesitation about voting for this proposed new clause… Clause 109 was struck out on the solid ground that there was no likelihood of any state ever prohibiting the free exercise of any religion – that there had been nothing of the kind in the past, and that there was not the slightest reason to expect the occurrence of any such thing in the future; that the more the institutions under which we live expanded, the less likelihood there was of any religious persecution of any kind. Now, if we hold that view with regard to the states, why should we not hold it in regard to the Commonwealth? …Why should we entertain the same fear with regard to the Commonwealth any more than we entertain it in regard to the states?

Mr Wise XE "Wise:Bernhard" \b : 
You might say the same thing as to Congress.

Mr Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b :
Certainly there is a decision in the United States to the effect that it is a Christian nation. What does that decision amount to? Is it not really a decision based on the fact that the institutions of England, under the common law, are Christian institutions? But I do not see any danger … to be anticipated. I think that because we are a Christian community we ought to have advanced so much since the days of State aid and the days of making a law for the establishment of a religion, since the days for imposing religious observances or exacting a religious test as a qualification for any office of the State, as to render any such dangers practically impossible, and we will be going a little too far if we attempt to load this Constitution with a provision for dangers which are practically  non-existent. 

Mr Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" : 
That is the question—are those dangers non-existent? 

Mr.Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b :
I do not think the fact that we may be held by law to be a Christian community is any reason for us to anticipate that there will be any longer any fear of a reign of Christian persecution—any fear that there will be any remnant of the old ideas XE "ideas" \b  which have caused so much trouble in other ages. …In Australia we have abolished state religion in all these colonies; we have wiped out every religious test, and we propose now to establish a Government and a parliament which will be at least as enlightened as the Governments and Parliaments which prevail in various states; therefore, what is the practical fear against which we are fighting? That is the difficulty I have in relation to this proposed clause. If I thought there was any—the least—probability or possibility, taking into consideration the advancement of liberal and tolerant ideas that is constantly going on of any of these various communities utterly and entirely re-tracing its steps, I might be with the honorable member. 

When Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  finished, Sir George Reid XE "Reid:Sir George" \b  from the New South Wales delegation, asked Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  whether money could be paid to any church under the Constitution? Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  replied that the Commonwealth had only two powers of spending money, and a church could not receive the funds of the Commonwealth under either of them. 

Bernhard Wise XE "Wise:Bernhard" \b  wished that he could share Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b ’s optimism as to the death of religious persecution. He believed it an evil demon that was scotched and not killed. He knew of a large body of New South Wales people, who were alarmed at the insertion of a “recognition” clause in the Preamble. At this point Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  interjected:

Mr Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" :
We had 38,000 signatures to a petition from the people in Victoria against the inclusion of these words in the preamble.

Mr Wise XE "Wise:Bernhard" \b : 
I am very glad to hear it. That strengthens my argument. If 38,000 citizens of Victoria sent a petition against the inclusion of these words, not because they disapproved of the words in themselves, but because I suppose they were afraid that the inclusion of them would confer upon the Commonwealth some power to legislate with regard to religious observances, I say that fears of that sort should be respected. I know of a considerable body of people in New South Wales, who, perhaps, have not made themselves heard in this Convention by petitions, who are actuated by the same alarms. Now, why should we not meet the scruples of these gentlemen as we met the scruples and feelings of another class of the community, when we put the words to which I have alluded into the preamble? We none of us here believe in our hearts that these words added much to the preamble, but we put them in, as we thought, because they were a just satisfaction of a certain sentiment. May we not support this on the same ground? …Is the fear which is expressed groundless? ...when we have the example of the United States, not six years old, I do not think the leader of the Convention can carry the force of conviction to us here, when he asks us to believe that there is no fear whatever of the Commonwealth exercising a power which we cannot believe would be exercised by any state?

The debate went back and forth, with the canvassing of many issues: the rights of minorities against the majority; the possibility of theatres and music hall in Australia open on Sundays because an infinitesimal minority indulge in extraordinary Sabbath practices; the danger of any prohibitive clause when, on the face of the Constitution, the Commonwealth had no power whatever to deal with religion. In his final speech Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  hinted that, if Section 109 was rejected again, he might oppose the passing of the Federation Bill. 

Higgins’s XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  clause survived amendment and was passed, by 25 votes to 16. After drafting amendments and a change in number it became Section 116 of the Australian Constitution XE "Section 116 of the Australian Constitution" \b . 

The above excerpt from the Constitutional convention debates 
 was discovered more than seven decades later by Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b , the Secretary of the Victorian Council for the Defence of Government Schools. He read it in the library of the Australian Natives Association in Elizabeth Street, Melbourne in 1970, and reproduced on his printing press. The convention debates were also the evidence that was largely ignored by six Judges of the Australian High Court in the DOGS High Court challenge to State Aid for religious schools in 1981. They were able to do so because, in 1980, the debates referring to the original intention of the framers of the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b  did not merit consideration and was no longer admissible in the High Court of Australia.  

The seventh judge on the High Court, Justice Lionel Kieth Murphy, referred to these debates in his dissenting judgement.  

Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  

Finding the Constitutional Convention Debates XE "Constitutional Convention Debates:1898" \b : 1970

The Australian Natives Society Building at the lower end of Elizabeth Street Melbourne, had accumulated more than half a century of grime from the trains, trams and cars passing the Flinders Street Station. Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  studied the large framed photograph of the fiercely nationalistic members of the mutual society. Like the society itself, it was fading, although the sickness, medical and funeral benefits were ripe for corporate mergers and listings on the share market. The Association had been founded in Melbourne in April 1871. By 1900 it had a membership of 17,000 native born Australians actively involved in the cause of Australian federation in the period 1880 to 1901. 

Lance Hutchinson, the Secretary of the Victorian DOGS (Defence of Government Schools organization)  XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  was in the library, looking at the photograph of a banquet held in 1901 to honour Prime Minister Edmund Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b . The first Australian P.M. had just returned from Westminster, with legislative approval for the new nation. He sat at the head of the high table in the chair of honour. There were rows of men with George V beards or moustaches flanking two long tables in cane-backed chairs. They wore black suits, white shirts and bow ties. The photo was taken before the banquet commenced and Lance thought his wife would be interested in the large white napkins folded into the wine glasses. The tables looked as if a flock of white cabbage butterflies had alighted in front of each serious looking gentleman. He wondered whether the banqueting hall with its high ceilings and stained glass windows was now the library. 

Lance had been told by a fellow member of the Henry George Society that the records of the Constitutional Convention Debates XE "Constitutional Convention Debates:1898" \b  were held in this library. His friend was correct. He sat down at the wooden desk, and was soon lost in the records of the 1898 Convention Debates. His calloused palms and fingers had slivers of red roofing paint impregnated in their deep folds. But he turned the pages as carefully as he had taken the hands of his six children on their way to school.  

Lance was at home in libraries. He had fought many battles at the local level, and was proud of his achievement in the establishment of the Sam Merriefield library at Moonee Ponds. It mattered that the people had access to knowledge. Lance loved knowledge. He could not resist words when they fitted together and he could create a logical argument. 

He stopped turning the pages. He had found what he was looking for: the final debate on 2 March 1898. The delegates were debating the inclusion of Section 109, (later Section 116) in the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b . Lance went back a few pages. He read it again, and then kept going. Even Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b , who opposed the insertion of Section 116 into the Constitution believed that, by abolishing State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to religion and religious schools in the second half of the 19thcentury, the Australian States had solved the problem of religion and the state for good. Lance clasped his work-chapped hands and shook them quietly.

He followed the debate between Henry Bournes Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  from Victoria and Edmund Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  from New South Wales. Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  attempted to reinstate a version of the United States First Amendment, previously introduced in the 1891 Convention by Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b  as Section 109. Clark wanted to ensure that the separation of state and religion asserted by the withdrawal of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  in the second half of the 19thcentury would be protected in the future. Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b  did not disagree in principle. He was merely confident that the Australian States had already solved the problem. He saw no reason to load the Constitution with a provision for dangers which were practically non-existent.  

Hutchy wanted to grab the staid lady librarian and do a gleeful quickstep around the room. Instead he grabbed the documents and rushed to arrange a book loan. He believed that if the DOGS  could get into the High Court and show the religious institutions, including their schools. He would produce copies on his new printing press—and distribute them like confetti. 

CHAPTER TWO: FREEDOM OF AND FROM RELIGION READ DOWN AND OUT OF THE  AUSTRALIAN CONSTITUTION 
Tuesday, 10  February, 1981

Margaret Gets the News

The battle had lasted for 25 years and the DOGS case was lost. The ABC newsreader said so. The High Court had decreed that the words ‘establishing any religion XE "establishing any religion" \b ’ in Section 116 of the Australian Constitution XE "Section 116 of the Australian Constitution" \b  really meant ‘establishment of a particular religion’.
  The Church school men were the victors and the plaintiffs had to pay their costs. They said that they would go to jail first. 

Lectures were done for the day, and Margaret picked up her son, Andrew James. He had been playing in the sand pit and the stale smell of the university crèche mingled with sweat and urine-filled nappy. The keys around her neck jangled as she pushed the stroller into the little housing commission cottage at 44 Dunbar Avenue, Churchill. There was a musty smell of burnt briquettes from the hot water service mingled with the sulphur fumes that had crawled across the lawn from the paper works at four o’clock that morning. Jamie was sleepy, so she sponged and laid him on her bed before switching on the radio in the kitchen to listen to the news.  The decision was not unexpected but she sat like a stunned mullet on the easy chair in front of the broken oil heater. Her fingers clenched the collapsed springs in the stuffing.  She was angry and disillusioned, wanting to shout that Australia had lost a basic human right in a day, but might not discover it for a century. 
She wanted to say that her country had been put back four hundred years, and men of the Enlightenment like Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b  and Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" 
 tossed into the dustbin of history. She wanted to sound a warning that the education system would fragment into schools offering the first-class ticket to heaven and the good job, and the rest—God help the rest. The religious and legal establishment would not! She knew her words would sound academic, rhetorical. If she tried to write them down she would be confronted with stretches of English code in thickened sentences. 

Words: the men who put them into the Constitution, Clark and Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" , knew what they meant. The evidence was in the 1898 debates. Their ideas XE "ideas" \b  had now been forced into an upside-down mould, the language stiffened, and settled into concrete. Arthritic hands had grabbed them and the original intention was gone. 

Perhaps the English language itself, pushed into latter-day rhythms of political rhetoric had become an unfit medium for abstract ideas XE "ideas" \b  like liberty. The language of Anglo-Saxon peasants might not have fitted anyway. 

Yet ideas XE "ideas" \b  came alive around the Nilsen dinner table, expressed in phrases of simple people. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen was captured in the expressions of 18th century writers like Paine, Jefferson and Madison. ‘You must avoid the consequences by denying the principle of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to religion,’
 he said; and, preparing them for this result, ‘A noble idea might be trampled in the dust, but we accepted the sacrifices, fought a good fight, and did our best’.  Margaret wanted to call Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen  pompous,  but his slow Australian accent made this difficult.

Perhaps they took themselves too seriously, but were unable to give in. They had taken action in good faith, determined to make rather than be broken by history. 

Forget the language. That episode was over. Actions had always spoken louder than words, and their story belonged to them. But no-one wanted to hear their story, least of all now. The victors would issue press releases in the corridors of power and publish official histories XE "official histories" \b .  Margaret’s academic colleagues laughed at her as a hopeless idealist and told her to get real with the mainstream— or think of another career. 

They were right about the career. As for the mainstream, she was not made of jelly. Yet her muscles were wobbling and she was shivering. She was shivering in the heat of February.  Her head, lighter than the fly-casing in the spider web across the roses outside the front door, was floating away. 

Perhaps she should get up and put on the kettle. She stayed put, staring into space as anger subsided into lament. She had tears for anger, but they had turned to salt on her cheek. The lament was something else. She heard it. It was outside her, a soft keening, ululating around top C then freefalling to G. Was it coming from her throat or was it something else?

The baby screamed from the bedroom. She roused herself and wandered up the passage. When she saw what had happened she sprang onto the bed. The old family photograph in its heavy frame had fallen onto the mattress. Its sharp edge lay three centimeters from the baby’s head. 

With Jamie clutched in her arms she rushed out to her car and strapped him in his seat. She turned the key in the ignition. She must keep calm and think of small things, little bits at a time, and in order, if only for the baby’s sake. She would drive carefully to Melbourne to be with the others. It was not good to mourn alone, and the baby would force practicalities upon them all. 

She felt as if she was driving an old steel tank as she edged the 1972 two-door volvo out of the suburban streets, turned left at the ridiculous ‘cigar’ obelisk near the Churchill shopping centre, and made her way to the Morwell turn-off. Once Margaret was on the Princes Highway the car seemed programmed for the drive into Melbourne. Jamie finished his carnation milk, and slept. One good thing: she could have the other two children with her permanently again. Now the opposition had won, there would be no more threats. 

Everything went smoothly until Bunyip. Margaret wondered whether they should stop for a cup of tea at the half-way house but was unable to pull into the car park. A big oil truck was hunting her, pushing aggressively at the rear of her car.  She wondered whether she should pull over, but looked at the large eucalypts lining the road and discarded that option. 

The anger started to rise into her gullet, anger at the world in general, and High Court Justices in particular. And now she had to put up with this stupid truckie. Damn them! Damn, Damn, Damn him! Arsehole to appetite! 

Was an accident worth his job? She feathered the brake. When he pulled back she took paper and pen from the front seat and waved them at him. At the Garfield lights she indicated that she was taking his registration number. She revved but did not hurry when the traffic lights turned green. It worked. The truckie kept a reasonable distance behind her car until he turned off at Pakenham. Jamie woke up and she slipped his favorite song tape into the slot. They entered the urban streets singing lustily. He sang la-la-la and she mouthed unmentionables.

In the big Victorian house in West Melbourne Nanna Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  Nilsen was standing in front of the kitchen sink, peeling vegetables for tea. The dining room table XE "dining room table" \b  was stripped down to the embroidered cloth under its thick layer of protective plastic. The well-worn cutlery, table mats and coasters were stacked near the vase of roses in the centre. This was the dining table where it had all started. While people gathered around this table, the battles would continue. They would fail again, try harder and fail better.

Margaret burst in the back door with the baby in her arms.  

I’m so sorry!

Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  concentrated on her knife and the carrot in her furrowed hands. 

I just keep working. Never knew any other way.
Finally, the old Norwegian grandmother looked up. Jamie stretched out his arms. She wiped her hands on the faded apron, held him into her breasts, and hid her face in his curls.

The dinner table

Tea was laid for at least twenty people. Friends and members called in to discuss the High Court decision, but the most important man was missing. Raymond Norman Ray Ungel  XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b 
 Nilsen, was obtaining a lot of publicity on the case and had been flown to Sydney. That day the Australian newspaper editors were finally prepared to give him coverage. He appeared to have lost his cause.

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  Nilsen flung the dining room door open. She was home from work. Her voice soon dominated the various discussions around the table. When things were bad, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  let it all out in front, but that did not mean she got depressed. Her twin sister Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  was crying quietly but not Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b . She might upset everyone else with tales of disaster, but she was always on with the next battle, sorting out the crooks from those who could be trusted.  The day had been a busy one for her and she had lots of news, disastrous and otherwise. She was the keeper of the genealogies, networks and newspaper cuttings. Today had provided her with a windfall.

Early in the morning she went down to the newsagent at Flinders Street and collected the interstate papers. She had been wielding her scissors in the lunch break at work. There were plenty of cut-outs for her scrap books. She had a wad of late afternoon papers which she flung on a chair. She would work on those late into the night and early morning. 

She started her account from the Sydney papers to those gathered around the table, eating their meat cakes and vegetables: 

Tuesday, February 10, 1981 was described as ‘A busy Bench for Sir Garfield’s Swan Song,’ by the Sydney Morning Herald.
  This was date on which the High Court of the retiring Chief Justice was due to bring down a spate of judgments on tax, marriage, the extent of Federal Courts’ powers and the division between religion and the State. 

The paper provided a list of cases alongside photographs of the judges. It exchanged the faces of Sir Keith Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  and Sir Ronald Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b . Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  had the eager chubby face of a young man while Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  had a sad twisted nose and bright eyes in an emaciated face. The newspaper report also provided flattering photos of both Sir Garfield Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  and Mr. Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b . Features of the remainder were masked by black-rimmed glasses.

In another Sydney Morning Herald article, the Legal Correspondent, John Slee, commented on the limitations of the one case view of Mr. Ray Nilsen, the ‘dogged’ member of the DOGS. His case was merely one of a dozen. The reporter made fun of a woman’s voice on the phone from Melbourne telling him about material circulated on the case. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  recognised herself, but noted with satisfaction that he had still used the material. The major part of his article consisted of quotations from a transcript of exchanges between Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  and Mr. B.J. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  QC, who was representing the Church schools in the 1979 Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b , under questioning, had said that there was simply nothing in Section 116 to suggest that the Commonwealth Government was commanded not to get entangled with religion either a lot or a little bit. Under questioning from Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  he said that a law providing for publication and circulation of tracts of a particular religion could be published at Commonwealth expense; and Commonwealth payment of the stipends of ministers of religion did not contravene Section 116. 

Mr. Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  said that if what Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  said was so, the parliamentary draftsman must have been ‘very wide of the mark’ when he put as a marginal note to Section 116, ‘Commonwealth not to legislate with respect to religion’. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b : 

Your Honour, that would not be the first time in this Constitution.

Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b : 
Unusual to have him put the exact opposite of what it means, though.

John Slee remarked that most lawyers expected the narrow interpretation of Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  to be accepted by the majority of the judges. Ray Nilsen, however, was unwilling to consider any possibility but victory. Slee quoted him as saying:
This is a live issue. It is not just for 1981, but is an issue with a history of thousands of years—or, in Australia, 100 years. 

In history the Church has always tried to ride the State and there has always been a struggle in the opposite direction. 

In the short term, you may be able to argue that State-Aid XE "State-Aid"  is politically dead as an issue, but not in the long term. We are on the side of history, the winners. 
The High Court, Canberra

‘Bars Mahal,’ the new High Court edifice erected in the capital city under the watchful eye of the Chief Justice himself, was the scene for his departure as top judge on February 10, 1981. Sullen streaks of dirty white clouds curdled in the rectangular glass windows and concrete boxes crowded forty metres above the long entrance ramp all set about with baby eucalypts. The water feature was working and tiny rivulets ran down the sides of the ramp. On the lakeside, walkers were strolling past the pseudo-Grecian columns of the National Library, the grey boxes of the High Court, and the native garden in front of the Art Gallery. Tourists were watching birds and windsurfers catching the breeze. It was blowing at seven and a half knots, but the moving scenery hardly registered in Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen’s consciousness. The carillon was chiming twelve noon and he found himself counting the strokes. 

 He had travelled from the airport in a taxi along Parkes Way on the other side of the lake, and was coming across the bridge on Commonwealth Avenue to meet the barristers at the court. It was late morning on a balmy summer day. He was not hot, yet felt sweaty in his new suit.

Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  QC, was also approaching the court in the back of his taxi. He watched intently as a yacht pulled out into the lake from the club at Yarralumla and spread its sails. His eyes fixed on the water sliding down her side in a long curve, drawing a clean, straight wake. He knew where he would rather be today. He hoped they would be in time to have a bite of lunch in the High Court restaurant. When this matter was done he needed to set up a conference with Mr. Norris from Corr and Corr, the Solicitors for the Church schools. This firm of solicitors had briefed him for his next commercial case. McPhee, ex-army man, and self-styled hired gun, shrugged his shoulders: enemies today, allies tomorrow.

The public entrance hall of the High Court was packed with spectators and representatives from the press gallery, voices rising and reverberating around the concrete pillars. The dull cacophonous hum was muted by rust coloured carpet and lino tiles. Sunlight through the upper windows surrounded a concrete box with an orange light. It was a courtroom suspended from the ceiling. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s eyes followed circular columns holding up a myriad of square boxes in the beehive ceiling down to the entrance to Courtroom One.  Then he saw the QC, Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  together with his junior, Jack Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack" , beckoning him down the ramp towards the restaurant overlooking Lake Burley Griffin. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was not one for dining out. His taste-buds preferred his mother’s plain cooking, and reacted adversely to any variation from his norm. McPhee and Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  were cheery, enjoying their smoked salmon and salad, but Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  announced that his ancestors had eaten all the fish he was going to consume. He ordered sweets. Jack Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  said,  

On the way up one of my colleagues shouted over the din that he had heard we were going to win today.
McPhee put his wine glass down, and narrowed his eyes under bushy black eyebrows.  

Hah! Hah!

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  concentrated on his ice cream. Did they think he was stupid? He knew the difference between a genuinely amused ‘Ha!’ and the falsetto ‘Hah!’

McPhee and Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  sauntered up the red-tiled ramp from the restaurant, with Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  two or three steps behind them.  The barristers had paid for an expensive lunch and were relaxed—urbane amongst their peers. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  felt his face tighten.  The words ‘last supper’ intruded upon the sentences he was crafting for the reporters outside the court when the decision was handed down. 

The ushers opened the doors to Courtroom Number One. The laminated glass and handles featured a silvered grid with a shield, symbolising the court’s function as a protector of the Constitution and the liberties of the citizen. 

The crowd in the entrance foyer gradually dispersed. The persistent hum subsided, moving gradually into Courtroom One. The overwhelming space measuring 17½ metres from floor to ceiling dwarfed the occupants. It was designed for a public sitting of the full bench of seven Justices. Like the old Melbourne court it was decorated and furnished in wood—red tulip oak, jarrah and blackwood.  Any resemblance ended there. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  refused to feel diminished, but missed the warmth and smell of decades of polish and sweat rubbed into wood. During the 1979 hearings he had felt part of the furniture in the art deco intimacy and ivy-covered brickwork behind the Melbourne court entrance. The smell of fresh paint and industrial cleaning fluid in the new court reminded him of the 16-bed dormitory in the institution where he spent his childhood. 

He wondered where the others would be sitting. They were driving to Canberra from Melbourne and Sydney.

The two public galleries suspended over the side of the court were reminiscent of a modern concert hall or gospel church. But the space was wide rather than long. There was no sniff of the Gothic or Victorian. The performance from the raised dais was also minimal. What mattered were the printed judgments handed down and distributed to the relevant parties. 

The seven justices filed in and sat in mediaeval robes with long horsehair wigs on a raised dais. Their heads looked like rectangular shoeboxes with bubble-wrap escaping around the edges. One step beneath them sat the barristers. There was competition for seats on the defendant’s side of the bar table. McPhee and Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  sat on the side allotted to the plaintiffs. 

Immediately behind the long bar table were two separate tables, parallel to the bar table. They were for the solicitors.  There were also seats for the plaintiffs or defendants.  The seats in the recessed part of the court catered for the audience. There were few seats left for the movable audience of tourists and school parties. 

The defendants’ table was full of representatives for the Church school interest, alongside lawyers for the Commonwealth and State governments. 
There was only one figure at the plaintiffs’ table behind Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  and Jack Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack" —Ray Nilsen XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . His hands rested in his lap. His shoulders were hunched over with his chin facing down to his chest, but his light blue eyes looked upward at the judges. Was he down and out, or ready to pounce? 

It was over in a few minutes.The judgments were passed down to the Bar Table. There was a flurry of gowns and rustling paper as hands outstretched to grab the printed judgments from the arms of the officer of the court. The lawyers’ networks had not been mistaken. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  announced that the court ruled 6-1 against the plaintiffs in favour of a narrow interpretation of Section 116. State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to Church schools was constitutional. The six judges in the majority were the Chief Justice, Sir Garfield Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice" , Mr. Justice Gibbs XE "Gibbs:Justice" \b , Mr. Justice Stephen XE "Stephen:Justice" \b , Mr. Justice Mason XE "Mason:Justice" , Mr. Justice Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  and Mr. Justice Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b . The dissenter was Mr. Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b . 

That was that. Next came the question of costs. The legal representatives left the court to confer. As he rose to leave, Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  looked positively wicked. He learnt over towards Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , flicking a copy of the judgments to him across the visitors’ desk:   

At least on this one we have them covered?
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s mind was in full gear. He and McPhee would enjoy a chance to expose the hypocrisy of religious leaders further.  His shoulders straightened as his lips relaxed into a grim smile. Pressure was fine.  He took to the judgments with a red pen.   

First: Chief Justice Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice" . The others appeared to be followers. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  was only interested in ‘The Law’. The twenty-six day Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  from 1979 was largely ignored. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s eyes switched down to paragraph 25: 

I consider that the words ‘The Commonwealth shall not make any law for establishing any religion XE "establishing any religion" \b ’, where they appear in s.116, mean that the Commonwealth Parliament shall not make any law for conferring on a particular religion or religious body the position of a state (or national) religion or church.
The words meant what Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  said they meant, and since he considered them ‘unambiguous’ the Chief Justice felt no need to consider historical material or American precedent. ‘Any religion XE "Any religion" \b ’ meant ‘a state (or national) religion or church’.
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  made the mental note that if the words ‘any religion’ were changed to ‘a state (or national) religion or church’ then the remainder of Section 116, the prohibition of the free exercise of religion, and religious tests for public office, along with the establishment clause, would be turned on their head. The Commonwealth could prohibit the free exercise of religion so long as it was not a state (or national) religion or church and a religious test could be applied for public office so long as it was not one for a state (or national) religion or church. So long as there was no law specifically establishing a state religion or church, then there was no longer any freedom of religion in Australia. 

Section 116 

The Commonwealth shall not make any law for establishing any religion XE "establishing any religion" \b , or for imposing any religious observance, or for prohibiting the free exercise of any religion, and no religious tests shall be required as a qualification for any office or public trust under the Commonwealth
had been read down and out of the Constitution. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  had melted the shield and forged it into a sword. 

Next: Justice Stephen XE "Stephen:Justice" \b . He said that Section 116 was a constitutional provision of high importance, yet followed Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  on the narrow state church interpretation. Unlike Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice" , he actually mentioned the issue of Standing XE "Standing:Issue of Standing" \b  of citizen/taxpayers to sue in constitutional matters in a final, throw-away sentence 

These are major questions which are better resolved in a case which requires their determination.
Justice Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b ’s judgment had pages of facts, but appeared to be following Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  and Stephen XE "Stephen:Justice" \b . Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  merely concurred in two sentences. He had read the majority judgments and there was nothing he could usefully add.

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  looked at his watch. The barristers appeared to be winding down their discussion. He noted that in his judgment Justice Mason XE "Mason:Justice"  was complaining that the plaintiffs had been unable to discover an instance in which the provision of financial assistance to churches to be spent on education was described as ‘establishing religion’ or ‘establishing a church’. He could accommodate Mason XE "Mason:Justice"  next time round. 

He finally got to Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b ’s decision.The precisionist prose of the dissenting justice mirrored Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s mind set. He marked the relevant paragraphs. Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  said that his fellow judges had ‘trivialised’ the section. On the grounds of constitutional principles of interpretation, if not historical and American precedent, a broad approach should be taken to constitutional guarantees of freedom: 

39.
The purpose of our establishment clause is the same as that in the United States’ Constitution. There does not seem to be any real doubt that if the establishment clause is construed in Australia as it is in the United States ( and if the Commonwealth’s argument about the non-applicability of s. 116 to financial appropriations and s. 96 grants is rejected) then the challenged laws are unconstitutional. Section 116 of the Constitution does not assert or deny the value of religion (including religious teaching). It secures its free exercise, but denies that the Commonwealth can support religion in any way whatsoever. The Commonwealth cannot be concerned with religious teaching—that is entirely private. Section 116 recognises that an essential condition of religious liberty is that religion be unaided by the Commonwealth. 

40.
The argument that the aid to Church schools is only of minor assistance to the religious aspect of the schools and its major impact is to aid the secular aspects is no answer to the plaintiffs’ challenge. In his famous Virginia Memorial and Remonstrance against Religious Assessment, Madison tellingly explained ‘That the same authority which can force a citizen to contribute three pence only of his property for the support of any one establishment, may force him to conform to any other establishment in all cases whatsoever’. (In the Mind of the Founders, ed. Marvin Meyers).’
Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  upheld the standing of the Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  as relator which to the very last had been questioned by the defendants. He also granted standing to the group of persons who were taxpayers and parents of children at government schools. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  looked up. The barristers were returning to the bar table. McPhee passed him a note. The Commonwealth, the original defendants, had waived costs. The other defendants, the ones who had muscled in on the case as ‘friends of the court XE "friends of the court:amicus curiae" \b ’ wanted costs paid by the plaintiffs. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , together with the Secretary and Treasurer of DOGS, was ready for this. The Chief Justice made the Order.

Judgment for the defendants.
The plaintiffs to pay the costs XE "the costs" \b  of the defendants the National Council of Independent Schools XE "National Council of Independent Schools" \b  and Reverend Father Francis Michael Martin (representing the non-government schools in the Commonwealth of Australia). 

No other order.
***

Fronting the Media 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  pushed through the revolving door, strode out on to the front tarmac, and stood tall, looking straight ahead. Reporters were milling around the parties outside the entrance to the court. The legal representatives had quietly drifted into the closed private rooms and corridors on the national gallery side of the cavernous structure. Representatives of the religious defendants came out through the circular doors onto the tarmac diagonally opposite to the white Parliamentary buildings on the hill. 

Brother Aloysius Carmody, executive secretary of the National Catholic Education Commission XE "Catholic Education Commission" \b , brother to the then Secretary of the Prime Minister’s Department, stood with a benign smile accentuating his flesh-filled lower lip. His scrupulously scraped round face and shining bald top with its natural tonsure of side hair completed a jolly Friar Tuck image. He was gracious in victory, releasing the following prepared statement: 

We acknowledge the right of members of the community to challenge the correctness of government actions, and although this High Court case has been both costly and time-consuming, we are happy that the matter has been clarified.

Father Tom Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b , the star witness from the 1979 Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b , now Director of the Melbourne Catholic Education Office, met the members of the press with a fixed, official smile as the eyes behind the hexagonal rims of his glasses relaxed into certainties of control. 

We are pleased that our schools can now proceed with their basic task of educating children in a context and ethos which the Catholic community asks of its schools.
and 

We acknowledge people’s rights to question the validity of particular acts of parliament..

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  looked down at them disdainfully and said, very loudly: 

‘Ichabod!’ 

The religious men’s faces chiseled to nonchalance as they ignored him, turned, and walked away into the crowd.

Some members of the Press looked startled, and then approached the tall man with broad shoulders towering over them at the top of the ramp. He did not have a statement to distribute but he had three things to say: 

First, the High Court was a mausoleum of justice and civil liberty.

Second, he would go to jail rather than pay the $500,000 costs incurred by the National Council of Independent Schools XE "National Council of Independent Schools" \b  and the Catholic Education Commission XE "Catholic Education Commission" \b  as co-defendants with the Federal Government. They were forced on the plaintiffs by the court and did everything to prevent them getting to the court. 

Third, The DOGS would publish a pamphlet on the history of the long legal wrangle which had been a terrible ordeal and they would continue the battle against State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . 

He would try again, fail again. Fail better.

***

Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  

Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  returned to his room, took off his robes and shook himself into his civilian clothes. He hardly glanced in the mirror. Here was a man contented within his own skin. He wondered about the lone plaintiff sitting in the seat behind the bar table in the DOGS case. There were at least twenty-eight plaintiffs behind the Victorian Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b ’s fiat. There were a similar number of plaintiffs in the parallel taxpayer’s case. Apart from a few well known Labor Party figures, like William Hartley, Wally Curran, and John Halfpenny, they were just names, faceless people to him. Most came from Victoria. Why did only one of them sit prominently in the court? He knew him by sight, if only from the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b , but he had never spoken to Ray Nilsen. The DOGS spokesman was from Melbourne and Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  had heard about him when, as Attorney-General, he was investigating the Croatian Nationalists throwing bombs at the Yugoslav embassy. 

Then he remembered Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b , the Secretary of the DOGS in Sydney. She had rung him about the threats to her children in Sydney in 1970. 
Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  knew about those kinds of threats, and he knew what it was like to be out front. Ah—Yes. The man sitting at that table was protecting all the others. Well, anyway, they had done their best and exposed a few hypocrites. He could only dissent—again. 
Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  went home to Ingrid and his boys in the suburban home in Forrest— the warm house with shrubs, a cut lawn and no fence. The judge who had left his mark was himself a marked man. His trial was yet to come. 

His dissent in the DOGS case is one of his few judgements that were not influential. The full text is resurrected in Appendix One for those concerned that entanglement between religion and and the State in Australia has reached the point that Inglis Clark referred to as an imperium in imperio.
Back to the Beginning
In 1981 the plaintiffs believed that a crucial battle was lost, but the case was proved. Entanglement XE "Entanglement:State with religion"  of the State with religion proved injurious to both. The democratic State suffered erosion of the three arms of government: the parliamentary, executive and judicial process while the religious leaders chose Mammon.  Meanwhile the public system of education lay exposed to the old denominational enemy. 

What kind of people took on the forces of the Australian State, Church, and Legal fraternity to prove a point? Were they courageous, naïve, mad, or all three? They will tell you they were ordinary Australians with strong beliefs, and, for them at least, talk was not cheap. Such people are rare in Australian history.
The plaintiffs themselves came from all walks of life and ideological backgrounds.Their front man, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen, together with his siblings, might tell you that their background and early experiences influenced their unswerving commitment to the cause. They were not alone in this. And Margaret knew teachers in the DOGS who would go to the end of the world fighting for the disadvantaged children in their leaking public school classrooms. They were driven by the smiles on the faces of their students when the world of learning opened up before them, and glimpsed the power, potential and freedom in their questioning minds. 

Those educators were prepared to take the battle for public education to the end of the world—and discovered it was the High Court of Australia. The conduct of the court case itself is found in the Chapters Seven to Ten. But if you just keep reading, you may hear the voices of the people themselves.
CHAPTER THREE: THE DINING TABLES
Sydney 11 July 2007

A mutilated marble forearm and hand lay on the step. Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b  pointed to it. 

From Parkes’ statue in Centennial Park.
 We retrieved it after it was blown up by vandals. 

On the street Margaret turned, back to the wind, vainly seeking protection with hunched shoulders and folded arms as her sister opened the doors of her small Toyota. 

Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b  stood tall, outside his suburban house on the crest of the Bellevue Hill. He was pushing 80 yet appeared as he had nearly 40 years before. 

He waved, but he wasn’t shouting ‘goodbye’ through the drizzle. She heard it clearly. He said

‘We were a select group!’ 

***

Melbourne 13 July 2007

Margaret reported back to the West Melbourne group as they sat around the dining table on 13 July 2007. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  sat at the head of the table where his mother, Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  had sat until her death in 1988. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b , his twin sisters, were bringing in the vegetables, while the visitors, John, Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b , Richard and Margaret were eating their soup. John and Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b  who were there for a DOGS meeting concentrated on their food while keeping their ears wide open. They were both happy for a free feed, but they had a personal interest in Margaret’s story.

There was always a sideways list to John’s skinny body as if he had been knocked off-centre and remained at an angle until somebody told him to straighten up. They never did. He was struggling with multiple sclerosis. His shoulders were finely balanced over his knife and fork, while, under the table, he jiggled the toes on his right leg to keep it comfortable.  Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b , a chunky acrobat pushing eighty-eight was chomping with his one remaining tooth. He was frugal to a fault, looking shaggy and unkempt in the clothes Margaret had given him. But his never-failing geniality, exhibited with his one tooth smile, took the heat out of disagreements.

Richard, Margaret’s husband, sat solid and square on his steel -backed chair. He was concentrating on his soup. He was a good tucker man and dinner was a ritual.  

 Arranging his face into that of a seer, squinting blue eyes into the distance, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  brandished a piece of meatcake skewed on his fork, and exclaimed: 

Of course we were a select group. In illustrious company too: Madison, Jefferson, Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b , Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" , Parkes, Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b . Better than Howard, Rudd XE "Rudd:Kevin" \b , or Cardinal  Pell.
Margaret interrupted:

Humility was never your thing Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . Were we selected or elected?
She was showing off too. Her questions were academic. She knew that, in heroic mode, the pagan Viking blood ran strong in Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s veins. He was born to poor Norwegian immigrants in Melbourne, and Australians called him bloody-minded.

His sister, Nellie, XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  felt left out. She knew as much as anybody. So she cut across their table talk. 

On the BBC last night I heard that Churchill said that history would treat him kindly because he was going to write it himself!
To cope at this table Margaret had to be able to follow at least three conversations at once and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  set the rules in this game. On her mind’s road, the mouth was always in a hurry. Her conclusion left several thought processes out. Where was this one going? 

Richard was feeling irritated. He wondered whether he should demand some logic. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s expostulation was beyond him. The rest watched Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . He was up with his older sister and translated her meaning. 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  is saying that there is an official history of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  commissioned by the federal government. Politicians, career bureaucrats and tame academics think that they can control the present and future by selecting their past. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  is telling Margaret that it is time we wrote our own history. 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  forgot about her guests sitting around the table and the stewed apples, custard and cream waiting in the kitchen. 

Those documents are ours. The religious time-servers, the compromisers, the academics, I tell them what I think of them. I tell the parsons running after money and property. I tell them that we will write our own history,  tell them who put their money where their mouth was… 

Margaret felt pressured. 

You are a push-me, pull-you, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b . I’ll have to think about it.
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  joined the interchange with Margaret :

Such a noble idea – fallen amongst thieves!
Margaret took him on:

Is that a lament Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ?
No—never. I’m not a quitter. When I win ten million I’ll be back in the court—putting religious men and their High Court to the test—again. I’ll force them to consider taxpayers’ standing. Next time we can use the Constitutional debates. I won’t trust any QC. I’ll do it myself.
‘You’ve been promising us that for over 20 years. When are you going to win Tattslotto?’
I live in hope.
Make sure we don’t die in despair.
When in doubt Margaret comforted herself with platitudes. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  was diverted by a guest demanding milk for his tea. Margaret was left to ruminate over her vegetables.

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was right of course. The ideas XE "ideas" \b  inherited from the past: freedom of conscience; separation of religion and the State, with its corollary of free, secular, universal education. They mattered. 

Like the men responsible for placing Section 116 in the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b , Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b  and Henry Bournes Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" , 
 members of the DOGS group were driven by their belief in the importance of these ideas XE "ideas" \b . They took themselves seriously. Perhaps, in retrospect, it would have been better if they had just gone with the flow, looking after their own best interests. They had lost the case. Margaret pinched herself. They had lost the legal battle, but had they lost the war? They proved the point, and there was always the future and Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b ’s dissent.

They had done something else. It had taken Margaret a long time to realise it. As a practising lawyer she discovered that you do not always go to court to win. In the long term, exposure of the opposition is better. This is what the DOGS had succeeded in doing. In a Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  lasting 26 days in the period March to May 1979, they had exposed the religious men in all their hypocrisy. Those tongues should be given an airing too. 

Between 1825 and 1979
most Australian Church school apologists had insisted that the inculcation of their particular religious doctrines in the minds of children could only be done properly in schools owned and controlled by separate church hierarchies. Religious tests were placed upon employment of teachers and enrolment of pupils. Curricula were ‘permeated’ with religious beliefs.  More than a quarter of the nation’s children were separated out from the public system on this basis.
 Above all, church leaders expected the State Treasury to pay for their denominational system.

In early 1979, with the exception of the actual payments of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , all of the above claims were called into question. In order to gain constitutional legitimacy for their hundreds of millions of State Aid, religious leaders demanded a ‘Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b ’. This trial forced upon the DOGS plaintiffs, lasted twenty-six days. Then, at the completion of the case the religious school defendants announced that the facts did not matter and claimed their legal costs for the charade. 

Alongside others, Margaret had collected religious school documents full of pious objectives. Sitting in the court during the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b , she watched the skilfull manipulation of reality by the defendants. She wondered whether, even in academia, truth was reduced to political appeals to the baser nostrums of religious establishments, an aspirational electorate, fears of insecure parents, and careers of collaborators sitting on administrative committees. 

Margaret shook her head. That way led to enhancement of the powers and prerogatives of Church as well as State; the restriction of liberties; and unintended consequences that could be disastrous. Like the other members of the DOGS, Margaret realised that the reality of the Church’s relationship with the State and the survival of the Australian public education system had become more complicated and might never be fully known. But through it all, DOGS members held to their belief in their constitutional case and continued the pursuit of their objectives. 

After the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b , Margaret had promised her friend, Pop Salter that she would put the record straight. He was a veteran stretcher bearer from the First World War, anti-vivisectionist, Christian pastor and anti-State Aider who always said there was no discharge from the service. On his deathbed in 1979 he refused to go to hospital when the doctor called. Instead he dragged himself up from the pillow, declaiming from his final pulpit:

I’m ready to meet my Maker, Doctor. Are you?
She owed him. She owed the others too, to tell their saga.  It was too important a story to be censored by the mainstream media and re-written by courtiers in designer suits and ties—weathervane men half-way up their greasy poles. 

The members of the DOGS had been systematically kept out of the official story. That was no loss. They didn’t want to be there. Their story lived on around the dining tables. But the people were ageing and some were already gone. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  wanted it on paper.

Since the 1970’s, Margaret had been too busy living to write history. Where would she start? Their history might be another chapter in the history of ideas XE "ideas" \b , it might even be that very grand idea —‘History as the Story of Liberty’.
 But grand notions are not laid up in heaven. Margaret believed that ideas lived through words and action. In the 1960’s the conceptual frameworks linking religious freedom and free secular and universal education enlivened members of the DOGS organisations. Individuals articulated them in words they understood. When they decided, against their own best interests, to engage in political and legal challenges, they entered into a story. They built castles in the air that sustained them beyond their mundane mortgages and the banalities of evil encountered on their journey. By the early twenty first century their fears for religious liberty and the Australian public education systems were being realised. 

Where was Margaret to start? With ideas XE "ideas" \b , places, people—or all three?  Where and how did they fit together? She could not pretend to write an even-handed narrative on this issue. Nor did she feel any inclination to do so. Yet, she wanted the voices discarded by official historians to be heard. 
Ideas
The ideas XE "ideas" \b : they were were inherited, yet timeless. The concept of separation of religion from the State was as old as religion, witchdoctors, priests and parsons. Members of the DOGS usually started with Constantine the Great and his decision to join ranks with the Christian Bishops in 325 A.D. By comparison, the idea of a free, secular and universal public system of education, accessible to all children, was a mere infant. It was a fragile inheritance from men of the Scottish, Irish, and English Enlightenment in 19th century Australia. It was a dissenting, then liberal, and finally an egalitarian ideal, the handmaid of universal suffrage and representative government.  But a free, secular and universal public system had never been accepted by the Roman Catholic Church. Nor was it the preferred option of other mainstream churches if and when State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  became available. A system open to all children also worried parents seeking a first-class ticket to heaven and/or the good job for their offspring. When the DOGS attempted to communicate their ideals, they were vilified as ‘sectarian XE "sectarian" \b ’ by the sectarians. 

Politicians and administrators who established public systems in the 19th century Australian colonies, protected their schools with centralised bureaucracies and sole public funding. Their successors in the DOGS knew that if the bureaucracies were undermined or taken over by religious school sympathisers, or, if the public system no longer enjoyed sole public funding, its life span would be severely limited. By 2007 their calculations proved correct.

Men of the Australian Enlightenment had confronted the Roman Catholic Church in the second half of the 19th century, demanding accountability for public funding; control of secular curricula; and inspection of teachers. The bishops wanted control as well as funding. They withdrew their schools from State control and support, expecting to eventually receive funding on their terms. It took approximately ninety years, but their calculations also proved correct. 

The Roman Catholic Bishops obtained the return of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to Church schools, on their own terms in the period 1956-1964. The Protestant XE "Protestant" \b  churches scrambled on to the gravy train. Members of the DOGS in that generation started searching the historical documents. From their schooldays, they knew their British and European history and the principles behind the Cromwellian and French Revolutions. They were less aware of Scottish, American and Australian precedents, but there were humanists and rationalists like Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  in Victoria and Joyce Duncan in Sydney who sought legal advice on Section 116 of the Australian Constitution XE "Section 116 of the Australian Constitution" \b  and did their own research. There were also men and women in the Protestant dissenting tradition who understood from their church history the protection of freedom of conscience offered by separation of religion from the State. One of these was the Baptist Pastor and World War One veteran, Pop Salter. He remembered the fate of Anabaptists and realised in the 1960’s that he was a fighter in this cause. Individual members from other minority religious groups—the Quakers, Seventh-Day Adventists and Unitarians—also remembered the persecutions scattered down the centuries, together with the solutions hammered out during the British, French and American Revolutions.  

In the 1960’s and 1970’s a number of historical accounts of 19th century Australian education history were published.
 These works traced the battles confronting 19th century men who established the public system. Fogarty’s work emphasised the Roman Catholic defence and continued adherence to the denominational system. There was a great deal of documentation of church arguments that only a system controlled and owned by a church hierarchy could communicate their particular system of beliefs. 

Members of the DOGS were aware of these historical works, but it was Margaret’s husband, Richard, who discovered the man largely responsible, not only for the first draft of the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b , but Section 116 of that document. This was Andrew Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b , the Tasmanian Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  and Supreme Court judge. Clark placed a version of the American Constitution’s First Amendment as a religious liberty clause in his 1891 draft of the Australian Constitution. He was an admirer of the American Republic and understood the connection between the protection of the public system through sole public funding, alongside his religious liberty clause. During the 1970’s Richard burrowed away in the Tasmanian and Constitutional Convention documents and found that, in 1898, Henry Bournes Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  managed to reinstate the religious liberty clause in the Constitution itself. This became Section 116. In 1976, Richard’s discoveries were published by Melbourne University Press in a book called Unto God and Caesar. 

Meanwhile in Melbourne, Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b , the Secretary of the DOGS, discovered the original Constitutional Convention Debates XE "Constitutional Convention Debates:1898" \b  of 1898 in the library of the Australian Natives Association. He bought a printing press, installed it in an extension to his house, learnt printing skills, and published the relevant pages of the debates. If the High Court of Australia followed the original intention of the Australian Founding Fathers, members of the Victorian DOGS believed that federal State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  would be declared unconstitutional. 

Idealistically, they believed that the only problem was to get into the High court. Once there, they believed that the wise men on the highest court in the land would apply the power of reason and adhere to the intention of the Founding Fathers. That was the sad, sorry saga that Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  wanted Margaret to tell.

Sitting at the Nilsen’s dining table, tabulating her book learning, Margaret realised that she was accepting the burden Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  was placing upon her. In 1961, she had identified with the 19thcentury men of the Enlightenment when confronted with children in the dilapidated public schools in the Western suburbs of Sydney. She read the 19th century histories of Australian education while she did postgraduate study in the 1963-1967. She also discovered that the Church or religious schools had received State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  since 1899 in Queensland. This occurred through the extension of the grammar school ‘scholarship’ system to Church schools. These scholarships permitted only those who received them a secondary education. There were very few State High Schools built between the two world wars so, through the protection of their ‘scholarship’ State Aid, religious schools succeeded in denying universal secondary education to a large proportion of the children of Queensland until 1961. These findings outraged Margaret and led her into the teacher strikes and DOGS demonstrations in Sydney in 1968 and 1969. 

As a result of her experiences in academia and the public service Margaret knew that even if she used anaesthetized prose, once she articulated the ideas XE "ideas" \b  which drove members of the DOGS in the public arena, the words would be taken from her grasp: ignored or trivialised in official histories XE "official histories" \b . They would return, homeless, to her, or be turned upside down in political or legal rhetoric.  

Church school representatives had spent more than 100 years claiming that their children should only attend school with curricula ‘permeated’ with their particular religious beliefs. They also applied religious critieria in selection of teachers and pupils. For more than 100 years their apologists claimed that public and private were different and never the twain could meet. 
Yet for 26 days in the High Court they spun words attempting to prove the opposite. 
If their own values meant so little when they were confronted with the loss of taxpayer millions, how thoroughly would they attempt to emasculate and vilify the ideals of their public schools opponents?

Margaret felt weary with the thought of her task, until Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s insistent voice drew her back to the table. Her mind fled into particulars. She could hear the echoes of other voices circulating around tables: dining room tables.  

The dining room tables

She was supposed to be thinking about ideals and an event: a court case with bar tables in court rooms, surrounded by plaintiffs and defendants, heroes, heroines and hypocrites. But here she sat, sipping tea at a dining table in West Melbourne, thinking about suburban tables on Persian carpets or boot-pitted lino. 

The first table she had met was the dining table in the house behind a brick fence in Bondi, Sydney. That was during the federal election XE "federal election:1969" \b  in 1969. Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b , the Secretary of the New South Wales DOGS, presided at this shiny, modern dining table on mustard-coloured carpet. Sitting at the head of her table in a pastel pink blouse buttoned up to the neck, tossing her wavy grey hair, she entertained a group of DOGS election candidates and protesters. A carefully prepared floral decoration sat in the centre of the highly polished surface, and over well-filled plates on starched table mats, people from all ends of the city of Sydney linked telephone voices to faces. Kath’s husband, Reg, walked casually through to the backyard. He had been surfing, and trailed a large towel over his sunburned shoulders as he went to paint posters for the next demonstration.

From late 1969 -1973, Kath sat at this table when she collated press cuttings on the exploits of the DOGS; wrote press releases, and calculated facts and figures of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to Church schools. The faces and voices at her table were those of middle-class mothers and fathers turning radical. There was also an articulate single parent, a brilliant organiser who stood out in any group. She was a girl with stylish auburn hair called Libby. 

Kath and her table were long gone and almost 40 later, on 11 July, 2007, on his lounge room floor in Bellevue Hill, Reg had laid out Kath’s books of newspaper cuttings. The DOGS New South Wales voices were still speaking in Kath’s meticulously-kept records. Margaret resolved to resurrect the voices of those who remained via the telephone and email. 

There was another table. This was the dining room in an Edwardian house in Battery Point, Hobart, Tasmania. It was a cedar table, a bargain acquired from a local auction before antiques became fashionable. It had fat legs tapered down onto castors, sat on a Persian carpet, and took up most of the room. Those sitting at the table looked through a large window over the River Derwent. The house itself was not far from ‘Rosebank’, the residence of Andrew Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b  where, in 1891, he drafted the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b . George Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b , a loquacious university history lecturer, then later, Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b , a regional director from the Tasmanian Education Department, presided at this table in the early 1970’s. Elbows outstretched, members attended meetings of the Tasmanian DOGS, prepared submissions to government bodies, and penned letters to local newspapers. The table was still there. The only thing that had changed in the room was the wallpaper. 

The third dining table was the crucial one. It was the pivotal point for the DOGS High Court saga. Margaret was sitting at it. She looked around the room. It had hardly changed since the 1960’s. It might be more cluttered, with faces faded or gone, and voices stilled, but the essentials were still there. She looked through the 40-year-old lace curtains on the bay window to the brick wall of the factory next door, then back to the marble fireplace and mantlepiece. The art deco clock was still waking up members of the family during the night, and two little flags were hanging limp beside it. One was Norwegian, the other an Australian flag.
A dust-laden picture of the Three Graces hung above the door leading to the kitchen; a photograph of the northern lights hung over the mantlepiece, and a picture of Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s much-loved nephew Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b , stood above the piano at the far end of the room. Margaret’s chair and feet stood on speckled green lino laid in 1946 when the Nilsen family first moved in. A home-made settee fitted into the bay window, and a side board at the other end of the table was laden with family photos, papers, and knick knacks. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  were currently collecting china figures of cats and dogs. 

The dining table and chairs could seat 20 people easily enough, and had been known to accommodate thirty five. In the past, Scandinavian faces of travellers had mixed with those from the family and DOGS organisation. Travellers’ faces were now more likely to be those of lonely Asian students lost but found in nearby streets by Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  or Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b . The Nilsen dining table was permanently covered with an embroidered cloth and plastic covering. It was seldom if ever free of mugs, an aluminium tea pot, and cut-glass vase of flowers. It communicated hospitality unstinted and talk unending. 

Margaret knew that if she lifted up the plastic cover and cloth she would see letters of the alphabet etched into the wood. These marks were evidence of the mailouts organised around the table in the 1960’s and 1970’s when DOGS stood candidates in elections. People from all walks of life and ideological backgrounds sat at this table. Even members of the DOGS agreed on only two objectives: the welfare of the public school system and separation of religion and the State. It was a powerhouse of discussion and debate. There was only one rule, usually honoured in the breach. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  liked to have the last say. 

There were 12 other people sitting there on the night Margaret was asked to write the unofficial history. She had opted out of the various conversations floating around the table. Like Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , she was sitting quietly, watching them all. Bruce Jager, a late-comer, was helping himself to soup. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  was fussing over Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b  who had recently been to hospital and was too weak to return home and look after himself; Richard was arguing with Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b , demanding evidence for one of her provocative generalizations; John was recommending vegetable stalls at the Victoria market to some of the Asian visitors; and Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  was teaching basic English words to a Korean girl with a healthy appetite at the far end of the table. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  went to the kitchen for more hot water. On his return he measured out two spoonfuls of Twinings Orange Pekoe to every one of Darjeeling into the aluminium teapot. He sat with his mother’s silver tea strainer at the head of the table and poured second mugs of tea for everyone. Not a drop went astray. 

When Margaret looked again Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had disappeared. She had some memory of him muttering that he had work to do. 

CHAPTER FOUR: THE PEOPLE

Margaret realised that one of the main people in her story had just left the West Melbourne dining room table XE "dining room table" \b . His absence bought her to the crux of the matter. She had been up in the clouds thinking about the ideas XE "ideas" \b , then ratcheted down to four-legged tables. But she had really been thinking about the people all the time hadn’t she? She had been remembering Joyce Duncan, and Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b , Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b , George Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  and Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b . But she had been sitting with Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b , Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and Richard who sat beside her. 

Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b  and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  were right about her DOGS people. They were a ‘select group’. So she would start the story with the main player. That had to be Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . There were others, many others, behind, beside, or even in front of Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . There were Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b , Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and her husband Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b , and Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b .They had put their money and lives on the line. Then there were the many footsoldiers and the groups in Sydney, Melbourne and Hobart who contributed funds and time to the cause.There were also members in Queensland, Western Australia and South Australia. They had worked from their own homes, met in hired halls, developed telephone trees and raised funds. Many had drifted at some time or another ino the inner circle set up to conduct the court case around the West Melbourne dinner table. When the battle lines were drawn the central command kept things tight, and the main decisions were made at this table.  
Raymond Norman Ungel Nilsen, together with Lance Hutchinson XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  went out in front in the legal challenge. Ray was still there. Ungel was his third name. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  said it was the Ibsen name on the father’s side of the family. It was the only one of his names that really made sense of his past and present in relation to this story. Margaret searched and found his personality in Ibsen’s plays. 
 Once Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  committed himself to the cause, there was no giving up: definitely bloody-minded.

His surname meant he was the son of Nils. But all the sons and daughters of Nils—and there were six of them—were unusual. The nightwatchman father, Nils Nilsen XE "Nils Nilsen" \b , was beaten up on the Melbourne wharves in February 1957, and later died in Prince Henry’s hospital. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  took over the father’s responsibilities in the family. But his mother sat at the head of the table, discreet husmor (house-mother), and matriarch. 

If she was going to give an historical account, Margaret decided that Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s contribution to the DOGS High Court case was a necessary but not sufficient condition. Without him, it would not have happened. The plaintiffs would not have got to the High Court. They would not have asserted the ideas XE "ideas" \b  or exposed the rottenness at the political and religious core for their generation.

Margaret did not pretend to understand Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , but she decided to write down what she knew, and let him say what he did and why he was able to do it. 
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen 1951

The twelve-year-old boy ran in and out the trees on the edges of the orphanage. He looked carefully at the tall ageing cypress tree but selected the peppermint gum with low branches and dense foliage. The bark would be softer on his backside. He shinned up into the fork nearest the high wire fence with its sharp twisted spikes and disappeared behind the long leaves. His nose nestled into their sweet pungent smell as he released one hand to pick a stem, crushing the leaves with his fingers. He chewed them contentedly. They would never find him here. He was free in his mind anywhere, but it was always easier here. 

He had learned to run faster than the others from the age of six, after he came here from Kildonnan Childrens’ Home. He wished the twins, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b , were helping in the laundry here as they had at Kildonnan. 

He had got used to climbing into the trees and enjoying his own company. It was no longer a question of his needing to hide from being bashed up or punished for defending his little brother. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was now at Box Hill High School, growing stronger every day. He had a good friend, John Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b . John’s parents owned an orchard and John worked afternoons in his parents’ fish and chip shop. The boys kicked the football together at school, and laughed at the history teacher who thought that the Irish famine was the beginning, middle and end of British history. Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b  knew his Macedonian as well as his British history. He had no reason to identify with the English or the Irish.

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s older brother and friends were finally developing a grudging respect for his prowess. Funny thing. He hated the Mackechnie boy who bullied him, but now he was beginning to feel sorry for him. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  always knew that he would survive, but he was not so sure about the others. He felt responsible for them somehow. He wished he didn’t, but he did, so that was that.

He didn’t know why, but schoolwork came easily to him. At the Burwood Boys Home School he had been asked to teach the younger ones. He attracted the attention of the administrators. They categorized him as strong and clever. But he calculated that in an unfair world he could be kind when nobody was looking. 
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was certain of one thing. When he got out of this place he would never come back. He would be free. He knew all about freedom because he had been put behind this fence. His brother Henry put his running shoes on when he wanted ‘out’. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was different.  He would not run away.  He would wait patiently. He was known for his patience. His eldest sister Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  said he sat for hours feeding his mother’s cow on the Mount Evelyn farm and he never stopped work on the potato patch until his father put down his spade. That was when he was four years old, before the Childrens’ Home. 

He had something many of the other children did not have. He still had parents. He would trust them. Above all he would wait and hope. They had promised that one day he would leave this place and go home. When that happened he would never, never, never let anyone fence him in again. 

Young Ray  had something else to wait for. During his occasional weekend visits home to the boarding house in West Melbourne, painter Chris would take him out on the town. Chris said he was his kid brother. Chris was the brother he could choose. Once a month, the young man and the boy climbed the peppercorn tree on Windy Hill, pushing their rumps against the forks in the trunk. They joined in the oscillating roar of the crowd, watching Coleman kick goals for Essendon. Chris in his gentle Norwegian accent, said Coleman was ‘poetry in motion’—like uncle Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s kelpie cattle dog. 

Chris liked boxing and wrestling best. Next time, he had promised they would go to see Chief Little Wolf and Dutch Hafner. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  sniffed in expectation, calling up through his nose the ghosts in the old West Melbourne stadium. That peculiar smell—generations of linament, lint, oil and sweat mixed with roll-your-own-Camel tobacco. Or was it the smell of the dry, hard, wooden seats? The whole stadium was made of wood; Chris said it was like a tinder box. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  hoped he was at home if and when it went up in flames. He liked leaping flames and the jangle of the fire engines. 

Chris said not to worry if the wrestlers looked like they were hurting each other. It was bad business to harm the bodies that earned the money. The wrestlers should join the actors’ union. 

The clanging of a bell left a harsh echo in Ray’s ear.  He climbed down from his perch in the tree and ran over the lawns towards the orphanage kitchen. He was on the duty roster and had to peel the potatoes. He had worked out long ago that they might find him silent to the point of labelling him sullen, but if he notched up enough points with the odd jobs, he would get to the matinee on Friday nights. He might be quiet, but he was always watchful.  

He had discovered two things about himself in this glorified boarding school, otherwise known as the Burwood Boys’ Home. Firstly, he valued his freedom above all else. Secondly, he always had to be one step ahead. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Aged Seventeen : 
February 1957

Magne ,
 one of the Nilsen boarders, was given leave to return to the West Melbourne boarding house when he received a phone call that confirmed his worst fears. He was a heavy vodka drinker, but a swift accurate worker on impossible jobs, so the foreman made allowances. 

When he reported for work as a rigger on an industrial chimney near the Melbourne docks Magne had been attracted by the circle of men on the wharves standing around the red pool of blood on the concrete. An ambulance siren was screaming in the distance. Some of the wharfies had worked with him on the Tasmanian ships.They recognised his strong shoulders, slanted blue eyes, and acne-pitted face as he strode past the factories leading to Number Fifteen, South Dock. He approached one of the workers: 

What’s happened? 

The  murder two weeks ago. Now this.
Who was it?
Some poor blighter. Night-watchman who either knew or saw too much, I suppose. The police are making enquiries. Took his things.
But what happened?
Anyone’s guess. Slipped, jumped or pushed. Take your pick. Pretty bad. Ambulance came and took him to Prince Henry’s Hospital.
Magne wondered. His Norwegian mate, Pieter Ergesvic had been missing—on a bender probably. And Nils Nilsen XE "Nils Nilsen" \b  had refused company when he walked down to his watchman’s job on the docks last night. They had all been enjoying a roast dinner cooked by Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  Nilsen in honour of Chris Selnes’ engagement to Joan, a country girl from Rupanyup. The older men and the Nilsen boys were excited about a trip to the hot rod race in Maribynong afterwards, but their host seemed preoccupied and worried. Magne was more observant than the other Scandinavian boarders and asked if Nils wanted company. He had heard that there was trouble on the docks. Nils had refused. He wanted to walk quietly down and think about a few things.

The older man had plenty to think about. He was over 60, with white spindly hair, thin-to-bald on top. That morning he and his wife had made the final payment on their house loan. The banks had sent him packing when they discovered his age, injured back, and ulcerated stomach. Adams, the cake people and the family butcher in the Victoria market had trusted him. They had lent the money when they discovered Nils’ need to buy the boarding house years ago. He had worked when and where he could and the debt was almost paid.

He felt sad that his wife, Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  had to work long hours cooking for the Scandinavian sailors who occupied the upstairs rooms of the big rambling Victorian mansion. His children slept in the third floor attics. 

His eldest son was away, labouring on the Snowy Mountain scheme, saving money to put himself through Dookie Agricultural College. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was in his final year at University High School, Henry was at Collingwood Tech, the older twins were working several jobs at once, and Dorothy was nursing at Prince Henry’s hospital. Perhaps they could relax a little bit—a family without the boarders?

He had proudly given Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  the money for his new commerce schoolbooks that morning and watched as he went off with Chris into town. Chris treated Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  like a kid brother, and the lad would miss him when he went north with Joan. Still, the break might not be a bad thing for Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . 

In many ways Chris had become one of his brood. The young man had arrived, like so many sailors off the ships, in search of a home. The Willhelmsen Line didn’t let its sailors go easily. But the word had got around the docks as well as the Melbourne police, about the Nilsen boarding house. The police came barging in, no please or thank you, wanting to collar sailors gone AWOL, especially if they had jumped ship. 

The old splintered palings on the back fence could tell their stories. The sailors were aware of the big drop onto stones over this infamous fence. Most of them were agile after years of practice in the dark holds of ships. They considered the police ignorant bastards. If the cops weren’t quick enough to find their quarry and drag them out from under the beds, the sailors, with hunters in hot pursuit, ran out the wash-house door, through the obstacles in the back-yard, and over the fence.The twins, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b , would hide in the outhouse to hear the police reaction to a hard landing. Dorothy stayed inside helping her mother with the washing up. They all laughed as the latest police chase episode was embroidered into the family saga. 

Back in the 1950’s, Scandinavian sailors like Chris Selnes, voluntarily grounded in Melbourne, were involved in the 1951 Communist Referendum and became acquainted with refugees from the Roman Cathoic ‘slave laundries’ in Melbourne and Sydney. These laundries were modelled on the Magdalene laundries of Southern Ireland. Members of the National Civic Council XE "National Civic Council" \b  organised by Archbishop Mannix and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b , known as ‘Groupers’ had managed to break up a few meetings of women who had escaped from these Roman Catholic laundries. The groupers wrecked the piano or the hall itself before the meetings began. The intimidation often worked—on the women at any rate. They didn’t impress Scandinavian sailors who knew how to stick together on land and sea. 

Chris Selnes, an experienced house painter, was a broad-shouldered hotheaded Viking, active on the edges of the Eureka Youth, and quick with his fists in a pub brawl if and when the Groupers from the Democratic Labour Party were aggressive. He had been happy to distribute copies of Hardy’s ‘Power Without Glory’ around the Melbourne streets when it was banned. In this book Frank Hardy wrote about the relationship between an illegal bookmaker, corrupt police, the liquor industry and the hierarchy of the Catholic Church. The hero of his tale was a thinly-veiled version of a prominent Melbourne businessman who left his mansion, Raheen, to the Archibishop. Hardy became involved in a criminal libel case initiated by members of the bookmaker’s family. During the following decades, defenders of the faith continued to argue the case against Hardy.

Now Chris, tall, sandy-haired Chris, who could talk like a squeaking door and was a ladies man; Chris, who had taken Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  on his country paint jobs after he left the orphanage, was marrying Joan from Rapunyip. Nils noted that another boarder, Bent the round-faced Dane, was a favourite with his twins. Magne had found Bent a job on a local chimney as a rigger and he was proud of his prowess on the structure. He, too, was a ladies’ man. There was no love lost between Bent and Chris who called the twins’ favoured Dane ‘The Cavalier’. Nils’ wife, Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b , sat at the head of her table watching them all. She understood much and said little. 

The morning after the night before, only Magne was up and about early. The twins were sleeping in the room over the kitchen when they heard their mother’s shoes, clogging down the steep, narrow, wooden stairs to the old Victorian kitchen. They heard her open the wood stove door, rustling the paper and pine cones. It was summer, but porridge had to be cooked and a full breakfast laid for Nils when he came off night shift. 

The phone rang. 

Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  took it off the hook, gave a gasp, and sat down.

Og Herr Gud!
The last thing Nils had said to her as he walked out the front door had been: 

Keep your chin up!
 Her head was in her hands. How could she ever keep her chin up again if he was not there to tell her? 

Magne’s big boots clumped along the uneven bricks in the lane, permanently cool in the shadow of the high brick factory wall. He stood at the door of the close, humid kitchen. His eyes were red as he confronted Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b . He didn’t need to tell her—thank goodness. She was calm but the twins were starting to wail. Magne said:

I have the car. I’ll take you to the hospital. 

Dorothy was sitting, small and forlorn, in the corridor outside the intensive care ward. Her dark hair fitted neatly under her nurse’s cap, but the high colour in her cheeks had fled. She had just come off night duty: 

The doctor said that any other man would have been dead long ago. They said he is a fighter—a true Viking.
Nils Nilsen XE "Nils Nilsen" \b  died that night. His funeral at the Swedish Lutheran Church in Toorak was attended by his immediate family and friends. He and his wife had left family behind when they migrated to Australia in the 1920s. His friends were many and varied. His generosity was beyond compare. 

The coroner made an open finding. 

Magne and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  went down to the police station to collect his effects. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  picked up his father’s old leather Gladstone bag, prised it open and peered inside. A stale smell met him as he felt around the side, plucked out the contents and lined them up on the table. His father was a collector. Couldn’t waste a thing. He kept his money in the hidden pocket of the bag or his smelly socks. Scandinavian sailors knew how to protect themselves from the police. 

Some of his things are missing. We know what he took down that night.
The police looked at the 17 year-old boy, son of a dead wharf labourer: a broad-shouldered lad, with tousled hair, dressed like a wharfie. They sneered at him. 

That’s all there is, so we can’t give you any more, can we?
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had always had doubts about authority in uniform.  He knew what these men thought of him, a mere working-class stripling. He didn’t care. That was their problem. He was old beyond their years and despised their need to lie to him. 

In time people would learn that he was not what he appeared.

Ray: XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Aged twenty five: 
Warragul Trots 1964

Archie McArdle had had a good night at the Warragul trots. They all had. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s system had worked. He really was a wizard with figures. Still, he was right when he said that at the end of the day only the gee-gees knew who was hot-to-trot. Archie lay in the back seat, pleasantly tipsy. Temperance man Ray  was driving. What would Archie do without him? He wanted to take him back to the United States. Together they would be invincible. 

Ford management didn’t know what to make of their meteoric rise: Arch, youthful manager on the move ,and his mate Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , just out from Melbourne University. The plodders believed these two were brilliant because they could predict future trends in Ford’s production and sales. The other managers had waited like powerful owls for them to get it wrong. No luck so far. 

It was Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  really. He could get a handle on the figures. No-one else could match him. It wasn’t mathematics. It was financial analysis. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  would stay up all night and come in the next morning with the big as well as the little pictures. Then Arch and his batman Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  sat together and worked out all the questions the big boys could or would ask. They would call the larger team together and discuss all possible issues. They managed to be always ready with the answers.

Togged out in their crisp white shirts, tailor-made suits and latest fashion ties, Archie and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  launched themselves into the meetings. Arch was tall and slim. No matter what he ate he would never fill out. His suits hung on him like a loose merino wool bag. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was different. He did weight-lifting and wasn’t a bad clothes-horse when it suited him. 

Thanks to Arch, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was in a favoured position. His immediate boss believed Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  indispensable. He probably was. He had his own big office; window looking on to the gardens; leather-topped desk that was wider than most; comfortable high-back swivel chair—no worries.

The other blokes didn’t know what to make of Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s hand-tailored slim silk ties, but they knew better than to tease him. He wouldn’t respond of course, but you never knew whether he might remember. Loose lips might not be wise in the fluid hierarchy as Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  wandered through the Ford factory at Geelong or the Shell building in the city. His fellow workers talked about him over morning tea, but Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  himself was left well alone. 

Arch was a lad. He might even put his feet on the boss’s table when he felt like it. Yet quickly and quietly the two of them would get the initiative in any meeting. At the end of the day you could have all the managerial spin you liked, the figures and prepared answers told the story and they hadn’t been wrong yet. 

Archie propped himself up on the back seat of the six-cylinder Ford sedan. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , I’ve been offered a top job in the United States. Like to come with me? I can arrange it. Top dollars.
Thanks—but no thanks. If and when you go, I’ll be leaving too. I’ve decided to go back to University.
You’re joking. Whatever for?
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  explained that it was no reflection on Arch. He had enjoyed his time at Ford, partly because he believed that he would never get such a position. He remembered how, when he went for another job, Pastor Salter had written him a reference that would have got him into heaven, but lost him the job. 

Did he write the reference for Ford?
What do you think?
Well anyway, you’re a good man, but not ready for heaven yet. But why backwards? Why not forward with me?
In his own way, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was following Pastor Salter’s way of the spirit. He had decided that he didn’t want to be a clever ant surviving a bit better than all the poor blokes grabbing around, looking over their shoulder, backstabbing each other, in their over-determined mind space. He wanted to be free and gain an understanding of people. He had decided to enrol for an Arts degree in Psychology when Arch left for America.

Archie McCardle went on within a few years to become the top man in a large American corporation. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen went back to University. He got his Masters in psychology with a thesis on gambling. Then he went on to get several more degrees. 

 XE "State Aid" \b  Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  enrolled for a Monash law degree after he decided to become involved in the DOGS High Court challenge to State Aid He was sometimes found chatting with the lads under the clocks in the Law School, but rarely in lectures. The lecturers found it difficult to identify him. He read the books and could enter the interstices of legal reasoning as easily as he followed figures.

After he completed the Moot Court exercise at Monash, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was asked to argue off for the Supreme Court prize. He declined, claiming that he was too busy working on the High Court case. He completed his Law degree in 1980, but had been involved with the Defence of Government Schools XE "Defence of Government Schools:DOGS" \b  since the late 1960’s.
People had been attempting to get into the High Court to test the constitutionality of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  since 1956, but it was not until 1973 that the Victorian Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  gave fiat 
to a group of plaintiffs in a case coordinated by Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b .When asked why he had become involved in the DOGS case he said, simply, that he had wanted to fight for ideas XE "ideas" \b  of freedom since he was a little boy in the orphanage. But it was Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  who got Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and the other members of her family involved in the DOGS. 

Ray Nilsen
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Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b 
The Formation of the Defence of Government Schools XE "Defence of Government Schools:DOGS" \b  Victoria: 16 July 1968:

Room 416 of the Nicholas Building in Swanston Street Melbourne, looked over the Flinders Street station and the train yards on the other side of the bridge. The brown waters of the Yarra, flowing upside down, lapped up the planks of private school boatyards on the opposite bank. 

After the meeting in Room 416 was over Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  didn’t get the lift down from the fourth floor. Instead she walked quickly down the wide staircase encircling the lift well, watching her step, oblivious to the ornate metal work and patterned tiling. While the others were only just getting into the wrought iron lift upstairs, she strode into the Cathedral Arcade. Its ceiling of art deco glass shadowed her, but she didn’t notice it. She had to get home to feed little Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b . She would tuck him into bed beside her and feed him tidbits during the night. Then she would be off on her dawn raid as a city cleaner: her second job taken to pay off the mortgage. 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  was quick in every way. She was neither small nor tall, but slight. Some would call her skinny. But she had a healthy appetite and loved cream on her dessert. As a girl, she had been proud of her 21-inch waist. Her hair was light, silky and bobbed. She didn’t care much about clothes. If necessary she would wear the same dress all week—but never slacks. At Christmas she liked to dress up in her Norwegian costumes, and attend events at the Swedish Church in Toorak. She disguised her inner self with friendly chatter but a flush passed over her pale face like a dying rash when she felt vulnerable.

Her reflexes were swift, especially when she wore skis or skates. On her visit to her mother’s people in Norway she was told she could have been a champion on either. She and her twin sister Sofie had enjoyed the companyof their cousins who were fishermen and sailors. Nellie liked to wander, and discover the gossip of the city streets.  She had no intention of marrying, so in earlier days she would have been called a spinster. It was not because she didn’t have a choice, but she had decided, and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  didn’t change her mind. 

She belonged to the past as much as the present. In a previous century, she would have been keeper of all the genealogies. The photos of family histories were imprinted on her brain. She had an eye for oddities, a memory like a 12 volume lexicon, and an intuition for cobbling together extraneous pieces of information. 

Her mind darted this way and that, leaving her speech behind. But wild horses wouldn’t drag information out of the corner she had labelled ‘confidential’. She had left school at 15, but accepted no smart academic as her superior. One weakness was her unquestioning loyalty to whoever gained her confidence. Another was her bottomless generosity to the underdog. 

Her brother Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  said she was a know-all and arrogant. He had several university degrees so she supposed he could afford to know everything.  She was ambivalent about what anyone thought of her, claiming that she didn’t care; but sometimes she hurt—a lot. She had two voices. The English telephonist voice, and the broad Australian voice which could not tolerate a vacuum. She had definite likes and dislikes. She did not like ‘la de das’, or dolly sweet girls—but she found genuine ‘sweeties’ attractive. 

Whatever their background or preferences, if someone was in trouble and asked for her help, she gave it. The eccentrics about town found her irresistible. She was unbelievably patient with them all, and identified with their inner tragedies.
When Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  took something on she was like a terrier. It was impossible to get her teeth out of it and she never gave up, even when she was being battered black and blue. Family sagas made the point. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  would be copping a beating from school bullies while twin sister Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  was kicking in the spokes on their bikes. If, during the war years, the children in the Mount Evelyn State School accused them of being Nazis and laughed at the big boots their father bought them, what else did they expect? 

When she and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  went to the children’s home they were older and tougher and tried to keep an eye on their three brothers. They were a good tag team, and yes!—together they were tough. At the home she was told she was good at washing, and now she washed and ironed for anyone and everyone. The kitchen was her mother’s domain. 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  was not silly. She knew the men in that meeting weren’t interested in what she had to say. They wanted her secretarial skills, honed up at her day job in the solicitor’s office. Bill Berry, from the Unitarian Church had asked her to be the Assistant Secretary to the Council for the Defence of Government Schools XE "Defence of Government Schools:DOGS" \b . So she had come to Room 416, into the inner circle at the Victorian Council of State School Organisations (VICCSO) Office in the Nicholas Building on Swanston Street. It was 16 July 1968.

It was more an office than a meeting room. It contained a desk, chairs, bookshelves and filing cabinets. The daytime occupant was the Honorary Secretary of VICSSO, John Wood. There had been a general meeting on 26 April 1967 called by a smaller group of men representing various organisations concerned about the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  being given to Church schools by the Menzies Government. There had been meetings and concerns expressed by some of these organisations since the late 1950’s. The rise of the Democratic Labor Party, after the split in the Labor Party; the activities of Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b ’s ‘Movement’; the aggressive demands for State Aid from the Roman Catholic sector—Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  knew all about it. It had been the talk around the West Melbourne dinner table even before the death of her father on the wharves. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  knew about a lot of things. 

The Committee had been meeting for almost a year before they approached her to assist them. She knew Dick Norris who lived up the road in Parkville—when he was at home. He was a wanderer, making regular trips into the desert. Jack Morris—she knew him too. He was a wily old Protestant XE "Protestant" \b , stooped and dry-witted with an acid tongue. He was a member of the Liberal Party, but a Henry George Society man as well. She assumed that if he belonged to the News Boys’ club he had struggled as a lad and was streetwise. Bill Berry, the young accountant, was politically active. She was half aware of his interest in her, so she took him home to meet her sisters. He played with little Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  and invited Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  to visit his mother and aunt. She was thinking about it.

Then there was Jack Dunn XE "Jack Dunn:VICCSO" \b  who was an old acquaintance. He had chatted with Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  about his niece who had become a nun. He had laughed, telling Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  there were good-humoured discussions between himself, a humanist, and his niece, a Roman Catholic. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  liked Jack Dunn XE "Jack Dunn:VICCSO" \b . He was an energetic, short, dark-haired, dapper little fellow. He was always polite, and quite certain where he stood on the Church-State separation issue. His work for the State Electricity Commission (SEC) took him interstate. He said he was in contact with a public school organisation in Sydney. The committee there was getting advice on a constitutional challenge to State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . The name Joyce Duncan came up. Dunn said she was a member of the New South Wales Liberal Party. She was involved with the DOGS because Jack Dunn XE "Jack Dunn:VICCSO" \b  had asked her to come and help him. 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  was less certain of the remaining members of the Committee meeting in Room 416: Mrs. Thomas and Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b . She instinctively liked short for Lancelot Lance. There was nothing romantic about him. He painted roofs. He was a man who was sure of himself, and she never felt she was treading on eggshells with him. He was a Henry George man too.  

A few of them seemed to be Henry George men. She knew something about that organisation too: ‘Tax the land, not the labour’ men. They believed a single tax on land would lead to greater productivity with less poverty. They had mentioned Henry Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins" , one of the Founding Fathers who had put Section 116 into the Constitution. He was a Henry George man. The Henry George Society’s building was down in Hardware Lane. The next meeting might be there. She put that bit of information into a file in her brain. She possessed a formidable ability to extract information with incessant verbal interchange followed by the innocuous question. She filed numerous people and places under her straw-coloured hair. Mention a name and she had instant recall.

Some of the people sitting in that meeting came from State School organisations XE "State School organisations" \b , others from an activist, dissenting or socialist background, but the majority had connections with the humanists,  rationalists and of course, the Henry George Society. She wondered how many of them would be talkers, how many activists, and—important in Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s estimation—how many would put their money where their mouth was. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  put her money where her mouth was. That was why she never had any and had to start saving—again. That was usually easy. Her wants were few, her energy high, and she was a good, hard worker. 

She knew that taking on the Roman Catholic Church took either courage or foolhardiness. She knew a lot more than her prayers about the women who had escaped from the convent laundries in Melbourne. Her mother had fed them at the West Melbourne dining table. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  had been following the various Church school networks in the public service and legal fraternity. A secretary-cleaner was invisible to people in power when they were gossiping. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  knew how to make herself invisible. She had learnt that in the orphanage. Cleaners also saw what was thrown into the rubbish bins.

She ignored the hank of hair hanging across her cheek as she propelled her buttoned-down, prim little body along Swanston Street and turned west into Collins Street on her way home. She was planning her evening. As Assistant Secretary Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  had taken the minutes of that night’s meeting by hand. She would take them home and write them up before the next monthly meeting. She trusted her big round script rather than typed notes pasted into the official looking buff-coloured book with the red binding. 

The Defence of Government Schools XE "Defence of Government Schools:DOGS" \b  (DOGS) Committee had made a few decisions tonight. They were going to produce a pamphlet; investigate standing candidates for the election in 1969, and get their own advice on a High Court Challenge. She wondered if they knew about her brother’s school friend, John Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b . She would tell Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and Henry about it all.  They were at the public meeting. They should be involved and not leave it all to her. 

Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b :
The death of Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  Child 24 July 2004

The sun came gliding over the ridge of cypress trees with a fan of life. What was left of the fog above the Yan Yean reservoir melted. There was a yellowish light over the sheoak forest behind the little stone pump house perched with moss-covered base above the low-lying water. It looked as if someone had been raking the sky. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  wondered whether Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was at work with his sixteen-pronged hay fork.

The sheoaks stirred. She watched the shape of the wind on the water as she sat on the cushion of soft needles under the windbreak. The sun was caught by dew on the end of sheoak spears hanging nearby. Her eyes were stinging dry. She wondered whether they were tears searching for her face. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s dog, Girlie, crouched beside her. With her hands cupped into her chin, Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  looked back to the mud brick sides of Bear’s Castle. Ghosts of gun-toting settlers and Aboriginals wisped away into the gorse-infested neighbour’s paddock .

Her sister Dorothy would be wondering where she was. She could not quite remember getting here. But her legs were aching from an early morning run up the hill. 
Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  was good at running away. She had run away from school; away from the piecework sewing factory; away from home to the Northern Territory and back again. She had travelled across Australia to her sister Dorothy and her sick children on the Aboriginal mission and then, with her identical twin Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b , she had worked her way on the ship to Norway. In Norway they wandered through their family tree, beside the fjords, ocean fishing boats, and mountains. 

But Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  had also run to Art and Craft Colleges. Deep down she knew her place in folk art, whether it was drawing, stained glass, pottery, weaving, photography or jewellery. She went with her parents’ boarder Bent Brodersen to these classes. Bent was the cavalier—Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b ’s cavalier. Son of a Danish gentleman composer, he had been ignored by his father’s family and reared by a gregarious divorcée. Bent danced with his mother in between her various husbands, then left Copenhagen for good.

Bent was more than a cavalier. He never spoke about it, but he had been in the Danish underground during the Second World War. His king put a star on his arm, mounted his white horse and rode through the streets of the capital city when the Nazis decreed that his Jewish subjects be branded. The Danish king knew about choices. So did Bent. His open boyish look changed in an instant when there was mention of Quislings or Croatian Nazi collaborators, the Ustasha, in Melbourne. 

He had married another Norwegian girl while the twins were overseas. There were problems with his wife, but he let it be known that he had had enough of divorces to last his lifetime. So the twins consoled him and he assisted Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  as she put up the stained glass window she created in the West Melbourne verandah. It was an on-going local joke that tourist guides pointed to the saintly girl in the window as a piece of pure Victoriana. No-one disabused them. 

The one thing Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  had never run from was the job her mother showed her as a young girl. She learned to sit with the dying, entering the last few moments as pain fell away and they went into the light. It exhausted her a bit more every time, but she had always accepted the burden that had been placed upon her and could not understand why nobody wanted to know what she had learned.  

Meanwhile, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  did the washing, darning and sewing of buttons, and kept down several jobs, while Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  ran, up the Plenty Road to Cades Lane, the ancient river red guns, and to Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b . That was in 1975, when the whole Nilsen family were involved in the High Court case. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was not Bent. He was not young, fair, tall, or handsome with a mass of floppy hair. He was short, watchful, and kind. Children loved him when he took them on hay rides. He was a butcher who became a gentleman farmer when he inherited his mother’s farm. An old socialist who changed a few of his views when he became a property owner himself, Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  still had his own definite ideas XE "ideas" \b  on a range of subjects. He had been watching Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  for some years, and when she visited him, took her down by the Plenty River with the cows. He was fond of his shorthorn cows and nursed his heifers through their first calves. But Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s bulls and their progeny had a special place for both Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  and other farmers in the local district. The current bull was always called Norman. 

Down by the river Plenty, Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  had introduced Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  to the little waterfall where the water running over the willow branches sang a sweet, romantic song. He was 60, and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  was 45. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s bulls knew a thing or two. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was not silly either. There was also money set aside for a dream home on the farm. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  thought the hill going up to the Yan Yean Reservoir Park was the closest thing to Paradise. She said ‘Yes’.
They were not the usual run of couples, and their marriage celebrations were memorable. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  turned up at the door of Pop Salter’s little wooden church in Preston, looking stunning in an op-shop creation. The Lucia crown, a wreath with candles borrowed from the Swedish church in Toorak, sat on her head. 

At the reception, the officiating Minister, Pop Salter, gaily told misogynist jokes and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b —well Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was the Master of Ceremonies. He was looking resplendent—‘heufli’—in a suit, but he was never one for ceremony. His speech was not blatant, but he let you get the gist. It turned out that Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  had told very few people about their plans, and some members of both families considered the match inauspicious. 
The Nilsen family and friends went home to supper. Ragnhild the husmor
  XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  sat at the head of the long dining room table XE "dining room table" \b  in West Melbourne as conversations eddied and flowed around her. Her head was lowered but she missed nothing. Finally she opened her mouth to speak—a rare occurrence. When the others grew still, she said slowly, in her heavy Norwegian accent. 

The person who will benefit most from that marriage is Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b .
The marriage of Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was punctuated by struggles against State authorities. The State Electricity Commission forced an easement on Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s land so Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  went solar; Melbourne Water and the Department of Lands failed to look after the Plenty River, so Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  cut down the basket willows clogging up the flow of water. But the cause that was closest to Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s heart was the DOGS High Court case. 

Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  never got the dream home. She and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  finally moved into the old weatherboard farmhouse known as Coolamert. Their water came from a creaking pump in a tin shed by the channel. Solar energy came intermittently through batteries in an outhouse, and there was always plenty of wood for an open fire. 

The money set aside for the new home was given to pay the QC for the court case. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  said it was the best decision he had ever made. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  agreed. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  died on July 24 2004. The family had persuaded Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  in the last weeks to give in and approach the local nursing home. She held his hand as his spirit left her. The family would not let her bury him on the property between his ancient river red gums, but insisted on the plot in the Yan Yean cemetery on the other side of the Plenty Road.  She felt she was failing him, but she had run out of fight. 

Exhausted, she had laid down on Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s mother’s lounge, beside the dining room fire. But the fires of her childhood had come to get her, and she had run up the Yan Yean hill in bottomless air, her life flashing past, faint images in review. Finally, somewhere near the top of the hill, and over the cyclone fence with the kangaroos, she realised that Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was cold and ashen, but she was bleeding from blackberry thorns, sniffing the sweat from his old cattle dog, Girlie. She became  aware of the sharp odour of something greater than herself, beyond her comprehension. 

Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b ’s nose twitched as she looked down at the eucalypts, the black wattle paddock and heard the high pitched call of Norman the bull. She must get back to give Norman his carrots and check the heifers. She shivered. It was mid-winter. She had four layers of clothes between herself and the pre-dawn chill, but if she stayed on the dank ground any longer, it would enter her bones and invite her downward to Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b . She jumped up in fright. Girlie stretched her arthritic paws as Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  rose, propelling her slim girlish figure with a dowager’s hump through the trees. The widow would get on with living, looking after Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s trees, his river and his cows. She would also tend his ideas XE "ideas" \b . 

***
Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s funeral: 28 July 2004

Everyone loved Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b . The little bluestone church at Mernda was full to overflowing and the minister thought he knew the right things to say. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s niece had given him the details. He didn’t know the half of it. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  stood up and made sure the other half was told. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was not perfect, but he was a fighter. Even the Melbourne Vikings had to admit that Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was always there when the going got tough, calm as his old bull. At those times he had a very peculiar smile. He hadn’t talked until he was five and ready to go to school. He didn’t need to. He was the youngest son of the family with a doting older sister. A free spirit, watching carefully, he was merely deciding which way he would jump. 

Like Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , he ploughed his own furrow. Unlike Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  he owned a field of wheat. As he tilled it he contemplated big questions. He decided that he could never tolerate putting his life in the hands of any authority. When the military police visited he was always in the far paddock with the horses and plough. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  liked getting dressed up for the girls at local dances, but proved reluctant to get tied down. He was more interested in making contact with his socialist friends and wandering down to the Yarra Bank to think about the world of ideas XE "ideas" \b  outside Whittlesea.

When his father died he looked after the farm and his mother. When his mother died, he inherited the farm. The family had always saved money, so there was also cash on interest and a healthy income. He bought a big, comfortable American Rambler. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  sat in the back like the Queen, and everyone else enjoyed a ride in the front. Another treat for children was a ride on the back of Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s old ammunition truck from the Second World War, feeding hay out to Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s cows.   

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  felt intense personal ownership of his acreage and objected to any infringements on his property rights by government authorities. When the State Electricity Commission (SEC) men first came to put an easement through his property and attack his gum trees he met them at the gate, a one-man barricade, perched on his tractor, with his shotgun in his hands. He felt akin to his land, and graduated from socialism to dissent. He embraced the environmentalist creed long before it was invented. Above all he cherished his gum trees, particularly the ones with the bark canoe markings from Aboriginal days. 

When the SEC ran the lines through the easement of his property, their friends went down to support Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  outside the city headquarters of the State Electricity Commission in William Street. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  talked her way into the Commissioner’s office and gave him a piece of her mind. When the SEC insisted, Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  cut off the electricity and rigged up a solar system in a small room at the end of the verandah. When the SEC was threatening to run lines through a tree on Cades Lane, Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  entered the act. The electricity line still crosses the road at that point. When Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  was on the warpath, her husband’s smile was sweetest of all. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was urbane, civility itself, especially when he was dealing with the ladies. But when his mind was made up no-one could change it. He was one degree worse than the Norwegian family he had married into. 

His parents introduced him to hard, repetitive, sometimes appalling farm work, in which the body is worn out, mind sunk, and the spirit marvellously light. After the physical toil of his days he read widely and thought about the big things. He decided that Hell only existed in this life, and men and women were responsible for creating their own. He also decided that young people should not be concerned about such ideas XE "ideas" \b . Children know their own. Any child who came in contact with Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  returned his affection. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  had a firm belief in God and, wandering through his acres, cutting willows out of the river, and assisting heifers in their calving, he felt close to his Creator. He composed and wrote down his own prayers. They turned up in poetic form. 

Given his unorthodox turn of mind it was not surprising that, as he studied British and Australian history, he decided that priests and parsons were members of a mendacious, dangerous profession who should be subjected to checks and balances. He instinctively understood the principles of separation of religion and the State and was in the High Court Challenge hook, line and sinker with Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . If the old time martyrs had given their bodies then, at the crucial point, he, along with others, would lay whatever he had on the line. When the QC’s bills came in he and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  had cash for their dream home. He withdrew it from the bank and gave it to Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  painted another roof and signed the next cheque. The Nilsens and others mortgaged their property and turned around to pay it back—again. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b  from the National Civic Council XE "National Civic Council" \b  and others in the Church school opposition couldn’t believe such a thing possible. How could a group of Australian public school supporters pay for an expensive High Court case?  Although the NSW Teachers’ Federation never wavered in their support, the funding from some State School organisations XE "State School organisations" \b  petered out when their representatives adopted the position of the Schools Commission. XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  

The Church school supporters found an explanation for the payment of legal bills amounting to half a million dollars in the period 1973-1981. They invented the face of the Devil—wouldn’t-hurt-a fly Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b , and the petro-dollars XE "petro-dollars" \b  he was rumoured to have collected from his Middle Eastern friends. Baghdad Bill and his Iraqi millions was a figment of Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b ’s imagination. Every time the left-wing conspiracy story was wheeled out for an airing,
 Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  chuckled, and all the members of the DOGS Victorian executive followed his example as they sat around the West Melbourne dining table. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b , Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and others also gathered around the kitchen table at Coolamert, sipping a cup of tea while Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  passed forbidden chocolates to Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b . Later, they wandered off up the paddock to contemplate river red gums, shorthorn cows—and the next step in the never-ending battle to separate religion from the State. 

***
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Sofie and Bob 

Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b 
DOGS Meeting, Tuesday 24 February 1981

Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b , or Hutchy to his friends, sat in the driver’s seat of his battered Holden station wagon. His lips were stretched sideways as his breath hissed through false teeth. The fingers of his right hand combed his moustache, then wandered to investigate the length of bristles on his chin. He didn’t worry about the red paint spots on the back of his balding head. What he couldn’t see in the rear vision mirror didn’t matter, and he could keep his bald pate covered with his English felt hat if he wanted. The dust-filled globules of water on the windscreen started to run as an intermittent shower turned into driving rain. If this kept up he wouldn’t be working tomorrow. Once the evening’s business was over he might celebrate with a drive to Hepburn Springs and fill his bottles with spring water. He was over three score and ten, but a drink of that water always envigorated, rejuvenated him. 

The Secretary of DOGS Victoria was parked outside the Nilsen house in West Melbourne, gathering his materials for an executive meeting around the dining table. He had called members together for a Special Meeting on this night, 24 February 1981. He picked up the two exercise books hiding the slits in the passenger seat and opened the larger one. The mottled green cover and tape on the spine had a few spots of white undercoat, and smelt of turpentine, but the pages were clean enough. They were covered in Lance’s copper-plate writing. There were jottings from the book on Japanese education that he had been reading. He flicked those over and found the notes taken at the last DOGS Executive meeting and tore them out. He would give them to Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  to write up in the leather-covered official minute books for the next monthly meeting.  

He was more interested in the second exercise book. It had columns of figures. On one page were names, payments, and totals from customers in Brunswick and Coburg. He had recently painted their roofs. These people were his major source of income. Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  was a methodical businessman who had acquired skills selling insurance during the Great Depression. He would persuade one resident in a street to let him climb the roof with his ladders, ropes and spray gun, then use that performance to persuade the next customer along the line. In some cases he had found whole streets with rusted tin roofs and left them bright red from his spray gun. Hutchy would look sideways and up at Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b , baring his teeth in a smile, explaining that he had given the customer a ‘burn’ along the way. A ‘burn’ was Hutchy’s code for a political discussion. 

Hutchy was a man of many parts and causes. He was a family man with an understanding wife and six children. His wife Dorrie was active in the Country Women’s Association, crocheting and knitting while he studied books; talked at her; and played with his printing press that lived in the extension on the back of his Essendon residence. His children had been State school educated and the majority were established in their own homes and businesses on the proceeds of his one-man painting business. The youngest boy, David was still at home and sometimes helped him on the suburban roofs.

Any money left over, and it was substantial, went to his causes. His first passion was the Henry George Society. He believed that taxes should be paid on land, not the product of labour. He was against rates on the basis of capital improvements to property, and stood as an Independent member of Parliament on the issue.  His brother, Alan was the editor of the of the Henry George Society magazine and, when money was needed there, Hutchy climbed a few more roofs and provided it. 

His next passion was education. He read widely, and early in life became enamoured with libraries. He tramped the streets letter boxing on the rainy days when painting roofs was impossible, and was largely responsible for the establishment of the local library. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  felt aggrieved on his behalf that he did not get the credit, but Hutchy merely shrugged his shoulders and got on with the next battle. That had been the DOGS political activities and the High Court case. The legal battle was now over but Hutchy was still game for politics, even if he went it alone. 

He had called this Special Meeting of the DOGS on 24 February 1981 to conclude the court case business. He toted up the amounts in the payments column in the front page of his exercise book, nodded to himself, then opened the glove box and took out his most recent bank statement and cheque book. 

He gathered all those materials together, leaned over to get an umbrella lying near a large tin of paint, and opened the car door. The umbrella was old and disinclined to open, so he cast it aside and struggled into his gabardine coat. It flapped into a gust of summer wind as he ran to the back door of his station wagon. He ducked automatically to avoid the triple extension ladder lashed on to the luggage rack. He was returning it to the Nilsen boys who had loaned it to him when he was painting the roof of a large factory. 

What he was after was a big pile of booklets, fresh from his printing press. He took a bundle of two hundred and added them to the exercise books, bank statement and cheque book. Grabbing the materials to his chest with his left arm, he banged the wagon door shut and ran between the raindrops to the polished walnut door of the Victorian residence. He pulled the copper bell and could hear 19th century servants’ bells tinkling. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  opened the door and accompanied him down the dark hallway into the dining room. 

They were all there, grim-faced but friendly. Hutchy dumped the 200 booklets on the table with a loud thump, announcing that he had been busy on his printing press. The booklets were copies of Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b ’s dissenting judgment.The members grabbed multiple copies and the pile dissipated. 

Hutchy then lowered himself into the steel-framed seat next to Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  at the head of the table and started noting those present in the fat exercise book. The agenda flowed through to correspondence. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  passed the Secretary the final account from the barristers. Hutchy announced that the rest of the bills were paid and the final account amounted to $28,110. 

One of the other men on the executive studied space through his glasses. His property was never on the line. He left that to others if they were silly enough. Margaret looked at Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  who was looking at Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . Margaret turned back to Hutchy. His widely spaced bright blue eyes looked fierce, but his top lip curled back in a shark-tooth smile, and his nose hooked over his moustache. He scratched the lobe of his ear. She blinked as his right eye lowered in a cheeky wink.  

Hutchy reached for his cheque book, made out a cheque for the exact amount, and signed it with a flourish. He tore it out and placed it on the table. His paint ingrained, thick-tipped fingers spreadeagled over it. 

The legal bills are paid. We owe nobody. I will go to jail before I pay a penny of the Church schools costs.
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  and Hutchy locked eyes in agreement. 

Everyone talked at once, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s agitated voice riding the hubbub like a flute. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , as chairman, let them go until the noise subsided a little. At 9.03 p.m. Margaret moved the following motion: 

‘Thanks to Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  for a contingent loan of twenty eight thousand one hundred and ten dollars which was handed over to pay all outstanding barristers’ legal accounts including Mr. J.I. Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack" .’ 

Mr. Hutchinson responded: 

  I trust this will enable us to judge the judges.

The meeting concluded, and they sat at the dining table waiting for their cups of tea out of Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s aluminium tea-pot together with jam and scones from Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b ’s oven. 

The possibility of that spell in jail has never been resolved. 

Lance Hutcheson
CHAPTER FIVE: POLITICAL GAMES

DOGS. Sydney 1968-1972

Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b , Secretary of the DOGS New South Wales,

 22 October 1971

The following is a copy of the telegram sent to the Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b , the Hon. Ivor Greenwood, Parliament House Canberra, at 2.50 p.m. 22 October 1971. 

I have received by phone to-day threats directed against my children unless I cease activity against State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . 

I request that you institute enquiries and take steps to see that the threats to my children are not carried out. 

SIGNED: Kathleen Taylor
***

KathleenTaylor sat at her dining room table XE "dining room table" \b , looking out the window at her husband’s manicured lawn. She was surrounded by newspaper cuttings, minute books, reports, press releases and handwritten notes. She stretched her arms, and luxuriated in her space. It was so much better than the card table in the children’s ping pong room or her bureau in the lounge. 

The washing up was done and her kitchen spick and span. She would try and do the windows this afternoon. They were covered in salt from the Bondi surf. Women involved in elections should have clean windows. She smiled to herself. The journalist who interviewed her caught that line and ran with it. 
 
She had put a protective covering on her table and moved the bowl of November lilies to the chiffonier. The Ancol school scrap books with their floral borders and animal emblems were placed in a pile at the end of the table—color-coded for dates. She was playing a tape of Bruckner’s music. She had to get material together for a Sun Herald journalist, and the DOGS President wanted information for an academic article.

There were some other matters. A member had rung suggesting another tilt at the Christian Brothers College at Waverley before the 1972 federal election XE "federal election:1969" \b . The College had a new Olympic-standard swimming pool. Since taxpayers had helped pay for it, they should be able to use it. Kath calculated that the College received the annual equivalent of two Olympic swimming pools in direct aid alone. 

The idea had definite possibilities. 

As she snipped her scissors and pasted in her material, words for a media release and slogans came sauntering around her head: Give us this day our daily dip? Schools with the Pools? She smiled wickedly. The honey-coloured Labrador sprawled at her feet raised her head, trying to catch her mistress’ eye. Lunch time? 

Brunch and lunch came and went, but Kath was lost in her documents. She sorted through the newspaper clippings and reports for details of the earlier demonstration. Here it was. The last visit to Waverley XE "Waverley:College" \b  College had caught Prime Minister Gorton when he opened the new wing on 15 February 1970.
 It had been announced that the wing had been financed by an overdraft to be covered by state aid payments. The DOGS scored good press publicity that time, and all the TV channels covered it. 

The warm season swimmers were already visiting Bondi, but the old swimming pool was closed for renovation, and the surf contaminated with sewerage. Yes—a ‘Waverley XE "Waverley:College" \b  College Dip In’ was a good idea. They had got the moral initiative on the wealthy schools during the 1970 Senate election; put a dent in the State Liberal Government’s majority; and made public education and State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to Church schools an election issue. But they had to keep up the pressure for the 1972 federal election XE "federal election:1969" \b . 

She took off her dark-rimmed glasses, tossed her thick hair into shape, and cupped her chin in her hand. She could just see her husband Reg smiling sweetly to himself as he wielded his spray cans on the swimming pool posters. At heart he was an artist. They might have struggled through dentistry, child-rearing and puppy training together, but perhaps this was the side of him she loved best. 

She had sorted out the cuttings for most of the 1970 year. DOGS New South Wales had been very active, exposing neglected State schools
, and shadowing Mr. Gorton when he visited wealthy private schools, conferences, or Liberal Party meetings.
 There was a report from August when they picketed Mr. Gorton at the International Teachers Conference.
And here were two pictures and a report on his arrival at the Liberal Party banquet at Squires Hall, Bondi.
  Reg’s posters and pictures looked good in all the newspaper photos. As the report said: some serious, some satirical.
 There was Sandy, ‘an accusing looking dog’ confronting the Prime Minister as he arrived at the banquet. 
 Kath slipped her hand down and patted Sandy’s head.  Her dog accepted affection any time, but would have appreciated a little snack with it.

In November Sandy and Kath had co-starred at the local cinema in the Senate election campaign. Some members were outside the Wintergarden Theatre, waving their placards, but she joined the others in the cavernous theatre itself. The hall was full to overflowing, as she walked as regally as she could the full length of the centre aisle, then up on to the stage. She carried a little school case with a ‘Stop State Aid XE "State Aid" \b ’ placard pasted on it, and Sandy padded sedately along beside her. The meeting organisers thought she was blind. The press camera flashlights were blinding. 

Sandy became their mascot. She featured in Candid Comment in the Sun Herald with the picture of their logo—the dog on the ballot box. There was a sting in the tail of the report on the ‘canine acronym’. Kath’s family were offended, on behalf of their beloved, at the reference to Sandy being a trifle overweight for a ‘watchdoggish connotation’.

Although DOGS New South Wales did not field Senate candidates in 1970, some journalists admitted that ‘for a group of rank amateurs the DOGS had shown they were no poor performers’.
 The media had pushed Kath herself into the front line.
 She was getting used to sitting demurely on her sofa for photographs. She sometimes felt as if she was caught up in a media maelstrom. But she had come to the conclusion that the mainstream Sydney press took an issue, blew it up, then, when it suited them, killed it. 

Journalists were puzzled. Editors talked about bark without bite, then bark with bite. Kath told them. She was the front for a group of active parents, teachers, and grandparents who had been politicised during the Vietnam war years. They had put themselves into training as middle class demonstrators. They had been involved in parents clubs, the Guides, and even tennis clubs, but drew the line at card tables. They saw themselves as middle-aged, bourgeois citizens who liked to be respectable. Yet they had decided to be out and about, carrying banners. 

They were fired up with an old cause: a cause which for some went back two thousand years, for others a century or more. They all had a sense of history and of their place in it. 

Politicians, religious leaders, and police didn’t know what to do about them. Political invective and verballing didn’t seem to work. Proud leaders walking tall in corridors of Church and State XE "Church and State"  found it difficult to deal with innocuous protesters who got the laughing initiative on this touchy issue, then disappeared behind respectable suburban fences. Kath and Reg’s fence was a tall brick one in Bondi. There were many similar picket, brick and cast iron fences—all over Sydney and further afield. New chums in the press were taking the bait and even if their editorials were abusive, news was news. Barton XE "Barton:Edmund" \b ’s National Times and even the Financial Review and Bulletin provided favourable coverage. 

Kath, together with her growing circle of friends had learnt a great deal about politics in the past two years. They were making waves. Only this morning the Sun Herald had contacted her and she didn’t want to miss an opportunity. She juggled the phone, frying pan, Megan’s and Mark’s lunch boxes, but she took the call. Reg was out the door, on the road to his surgery at Merrylands, and their elder daughter Kathy had left early for university.

Kath promised to get back to the journalist at lunchtime with the facts and figures she was collecting on taxation expenditures enjoyed by private but not public schools. She was working on the Scots College ‘charitable’ exemptions for stamp duty, land tax and rates. She started to sort through the research one of the members had sent her about local council rates. She found what she wanted, got up from her chair in the dining room, and placed the material next to the phone in the kitchen. That was sorted. She turned over the tape recording of Megan playing the cello on the kitchen work bench, keeping the volume low, and went back to her dining table. 

She turned over the pages of the 1970 and 1971 scrapbooks as she considered the academic paper for the President, Alan Horton XE "Horton:Alan, President DOGS NSW" \b . What had they done and where were they at?

Federal electioneering was heating up already, and she had been contacted by a number of people asking about the allocation of DOGS voting preferences. The Labor Party backbenchers were determined to come in from the cold, if necessary with the Roman Catholic vote. Every vote counted. Given the stance of the Victorian ALP left on State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , the issue was not closed. But then, issues of Church and State XE "Church and State"  were never closed: only fluid—here and there—more or less. 

Nor was the Liberal Party entirely unified on the issue. In recent weeks a well-known member, Mr. D. Abbott of the Mosman branch of the Liberal party, had indicated his willingness to stand as a DOGS Candidate in the 1972 federal election XE "federal election:1969" \b . The Daily Mirror had been interested in that.
 There had been ambiguity amongst a number of Liberal Party members. When the DOGS had demonstrated outside the meeting addressed by John Gorton at the Double Bay Wintergarden threatre, one dapper gentleman had walked up and down looking at their placards, then turned to Reg and said: 

You’re right you know.

The DOGS had marshalled the State School vote in the 1969 election
 to counteract the Church school pressure groups. There were DLP XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  candidates in 10 of the 12 federal seats they had contested but DOGS had outpolled Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b ’s party, namely he Democratic Labor Party or DLP,  XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  in six of these ten seats. 

In September 1970 they had taken to the polling booths again and made their mark in the Georges River by-election. Once again they had outpolled the DLP XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  and their preference distribution had put the Liberal member out. On 13 February 1971 they again stood candidates in the State election.
 They polled 6.7% of the vote, and in the three seats contested by both the DLP XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  and the DOGS, they obtained more votes than the DLP.
In between their electioneering efforts they had tried to expose government neglect of State schools in the poorer suburbs. There had been the barbecue followed by an inspection of the tumbledown Kogarah High School XE "Kogarah High School" \b . The children themselves had gone on strike at this school and Doug Arnold, a parent, became the DOGS Treasurer. Shadow Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  Lionel Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  turned up with his daughter to encourage them. The State and Federal Ministers for Education were conspicuous by their absence but Kath realised that they were having an effect when the DOGS attempted to inspect the run-down facilities at the Redfern Public School on Education Day, 1970. DOGS President, Alan Horton XE "Horton:Alan, President DOGS NSW" \b  had been ‘blooded’ as a middle class protester in this exercise. The Principal closed the school for Education Open Day and the Minister sent the police. 

It was a gruelling life, not only for Kath and her family, but for the faithful band turning up on a regular basis for demonstrations, meetings, letter-boxing, and letter-writing. Most of the members worked during the day, then appeared when Kath called them out for the night. Some came from as far away as the Blue Mountains. 

She needed to concentrate on Horton XE "Horton:Alan, President DOGS NSW" \b ’s article. Alan was the principal librarian at the University of New South Wales and academic recognition, if not respectability, mattered to him. She needed to sort through the documentation for his article. There were still some newspaper reports to paste in her scrap books. She skimmed through the minute books for relevant material and took notes in neutralised prose.
The organisation initially commenced in 1965 when Jack Dunn XE "Jack Dunn:VICCSO" \b  from the Victorian Council of State School organisations XE "State School organisations" \b  visited Sydney. Later, in November 1969 a New South Wales executive had been placed on a more formal footing after candidates had made a splash in the 1969 election. It was not a large core group, but they had increasing electoral support and were having a political impact. 

She turned up a copy of Alan’s electoral State election policy speech from January 1971 and glanced over it: 

The Council for the Defence of Government Schools XE "Defence of Government Schools:DOGS" \b , DOGS,  has as its objects the promotion of the continued well-being and advancement of the government school system and active and unqualified opposition to the use of government funds for private schools.

The Council is prepared to accept the continued existence of private and Church schools but objects to their receiving subsidies. It cannot agree that schools which foster social class distinctions or religious sectarianism should receive government encouragement. This is particularly so in a period when a large number of new Australian children are being assimilated into the community and are searching for identity with that community. 

We believe that the free, secular, public school is the best place to find that identity.

Kath slipped it into his file. He might want that. The most comprehensive list of their activities to date was contained in her last annual report together with the printed newsletter. She sat back and admired the printed logo of Sandy on the ballot box. Her husband was a clever cartoonist and Alan’s file was starting to look portly. 

The phone rang: the journalist? She hurried into the kitchen and picked it up. 

A man’s voice with a pleasant lilting accent said:

Mrs. Taylor?
Yes .

Mrs. Taylor XE "Taylor" \t "See Kath Taylor" \b , you have children?’ 

Yes. 

And a dog?

Yes. 

The friendly lilt dropped several tones into a growl: 

Mrs. Taylor, cease your activities or we will get your children. We will finish them off.  ‘But first, the dog.
Kath spat back: 

Don’t you dare to threaten me. You are wasting your breath. I’m not the type to respond to threats. Pick on someone cowardly like yourself. 

Ha—maybe I’m a coward but we will get your children and finish them off if it takes one year or two years..

The phone clicked and the dial tone bored into Kath’s ears. 

The music tape had stopped. All Kath could hear was Sandy’s breathing. She looked around the kitchen, at the spotless stone bench, the new cream tiles with their floral edging, and the new range hood over the stove. She looked at the phone, the twisted coil twirling loosely below her wrist. She looked at them but she didn’t see them. 

She was in the eye of the storm. The air was growing thinner while the weight from the kitchen ceiling seemed heavier. Her mind was blank. Her mind was racing. The dog was safe, padding quietly over the carpet into the kitchen. But Kathy, walking down Broadway, and Mark and Megan, on their way home from school—and Reg, wielding a drill over some patient’s mouth? She wanted her brood around her, tucked under her wings. There had been other phone calls but this one affected her differently. 

Since when had she been so clucky? Always, probably. But panic would not protect her or her family. That was what the caller wanted. She wouldn’t give him that satisfaction. She must sit down and think. It would be unfair to worry Reg while he was working, but where could she go for help? Her mouth set in a firm line and the pupils in the blue eyes behind her dark-rimmed glasses grew large and fierce. The blood was rising into her pale cheeks.

How dare they threaten her. Sydney was not Belfast—yet. She would … she would ring Senator Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b . He was the shadow federal Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  and her Labor Party friends in the eastern suburbs said that you could trust him. Where was the card she got from him at the Kogarah demonstration? If he wasn’t in his office she knew he had a flat somewhere in Darling Point. 

Senator Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  was in his Sydney office and told her to take the matter seriously. He undertook to contact the federal police but asked her to also make a report. He suggested a telegram to the federal Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  would not go astray. Kath took his advice. 

***

An exhausted Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b  resigned as Secretary of the DOGS in 1973 and went on an overseas trip with her husband Reg. She remained a supporter of DOGS but became involved with other causes such as the preservation of Vaucluse House. She passed away in 1993. Margaret met up with many of the members from the New South Wales DOGS at Kath’s funeral, but it was not until 2007 that Margaret went to Sydney to catch the voices of those who took to the hustings in New South Wales in the period 1969-1972. Her people had their own view of historical events, yet there was substantial agreement between their memories and the documents. At the risk of repetition, she decided to let them tell their individual stories. 
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Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b .
At home in August 2007

First of all, Margaret sat down with Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b  in his Bellevue Hill home and reminisced. The widower’s home was filled with his own paintings and portraits of Kath and his children. His eldest daughter, Kathy, was Dean of Denistry at Sydney University while Megan was playing cello in a Canberra orchestra. He was keeping fit in his swimming pool, so that he could play sport with his grandchildren.

Reg was in touch with his old school, St. Joseph’s Hunters Hill, about his photograph at the grotto of Our Lady proposed for a stained glass window when he was a young, motherless boarder. He laid this out on the floor of his lounge room, together with scrap books of newspaper cuttings and copies of the posters and caricatures he had painted for the DOGS in the Bondi backyard. He confided that his ambition was to be a cartoonist, but drawing pictures did not pay the bills. His dentist surgery at Merrylands had done that.

Over a cup of tea Reg and Margaret discussed the threats the family had received as a result of their involvement with the DOGS in the years 1968-1973. Reg shrugged and remarked that the threats surprised him, but Kath contacted shadow Attorney-General Lionel Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  and it blew over. What annoyed him was the death threat against his dog. He looked up from the floor where he was spreading out his art work and Kath’s scrap books of newspaper cuttings. Margaret sat forward on the tip of the lounge to capture his voice on tape. Here it is:

That was a bit rough, but then, you hear of other cases where people will do this sort of thing. They poison the dog as a warning. This dog, our Sandy, was very dear to us. She had mothered half a dozen pups and I drove around the western suburbs of Sydney asking veterinary surgeons to help get my Labrador dog pregnant. It was difficult, but we had six beautiful pups. That was where some of my cartoons came from. There is one about the state school pupils—DOGS are born:PUPS are born. 
I never understood why people wanted to threaten us. We weren’t denying private school children an education as long as they were prepared to pay for it and the public schools were looked after. We thought private schools should be asked to look after themselves. They had the money. I was a boarder at St Josephs, Hunters Hill after my mother became ill and died. I knew something about Catholic schools, although I attended the public school at The Entrance until I was eleven. Our son Mark went to Sydney Grammar. Kathy went to Sydney Girls High and Megan went to the Conservatorium High School. We were prepared to pay for Mark. Sydney Grammar was better resourced than most State High Schools. They didn’t need State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . Neither did St Josephs.

You ask about our early involvement with the DOGS. Kath felt very strongly about the protection of the public system of education because of her childhood. Her father was a manpower officer during the war and impressed upon her the importance of education. She went to Paddington public school, the Intermediate High School and then finally into Sydney High. That was quite an achievement in those days. She went to Teachers’ College and then into dentistry. She felt that she could only do this because the opportunities were there and she wanted to protect that for children in the future. 

Most of the DOGS people I knew got together in 1968. Joyce Duncan had been involved since the early 1960’s. Some people came from Melbourne to meet us in Sydney, and the P&Cs
 in New South Wales wanted to dominate the new group. We felt it needed to be an independent ginger group. The opposition, Church school people—they were shrewd enough to be involved. They were usually represented in education matters. By 1970 though we were unified and ran a tight ship. 

We had a good committee. The executive made me publicity officer because of my ability to draw. It just fitted in very well. If there were any demonstrations then I’d be home from the Merrylands surgery by three o’clock in the afternoon and Kath would have a few slogans ready for me. 

I would lay the materials out in the back yard and spray paint the placards. I’d do the whole lot for that night. We built up our supplies of placards and big banners. We used to collect the banners from a shop in Bourke Street and spray them there. We were the original graffitists—on banners of course. We could do banners that were ten feet long and learnt to produce material that showed up well on television. We used blacks and reds and blues. It was all good fun and we ran to a tight schedule. All the planning was done by Kath, and I was one step behind her.When we took all the placards to the demonstration I used to laugh because the members sorted through them and picked out the good ones they wanted to hold. They didn’t want any rubbish you know. We had topical ones like State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  is Apartheid. It all had to fit in with the news of the day and we presented it. 

Once it all got going the camaraderie took over and it all happened. 

You ask me what I remembered of the demonstrations. Pictures crowd into my mind of the demonstrations: the Waverley XE "Waverley:College" \b  College Dip In; the two ladies in the Rolls Royce at St. Catherines, the Art Show at Monte San Angelo at Strathfield; the Rose Bay meeting, and many others. 

We were the original middle class protesters weren’t we? We were always very well dressed. We got dressed up in evening wear if that was appropriate. The men dressed in coat tails and bow ties and the ladies gave their evening dresses an airing. Our ladies were as fashionable as the wives of Gorton or McMahon XE "McMahon:William, Prime Minister" \b . One of my main memories of the ‘Waverley XE "Waverley:College" \b  College Dip In’ was you, Margaret, with a very white body in a bikini—a rather brief bikini I thought. The ladies turned up in their bathing costumes and the men in their trunks and towels for a swim in the private school pool. We had our children, dogs and picnic baskets. We were asking them open it to the public occasionally. The passing cars honked their approval but the Old Boys barred our way.We got good coverage from that. There was an article by Don Aitkin in the National Times entitled The Great Pool Push Fails but DOGS well in the Political Swim.
 And here is the poem I got published with one of my cartoons in the National Times.

BILLY BE THY NAME

Sir, may I offer a prayer on behalf of your readers on the controversial State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  issue:

Our Father which art in Canberra,

Billy be Thy name

Thy election come

Thy vote may be won

In Church where they are all praying

Give us this day our daily State Aid XE "State Aid" \b 
And forgive us our trespasses

And forgive those kids that trespass against us

Let us not into those squalid Public Schools

But deliver us from DOGS

Amen
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Underneath that is my cartoon of the then Prime Minister Billy McMahon XE "McMahon:William, Prime Minister" \b  at the end of the Waverley XE "Waverley:College" \b  College Olympic Pool. I was rather pleased with that effort. 
We didn’t just demonstrate outside Catholic schools. Although at one time the Protestant XE "Protestant" \b  
churches had supported the public schools, and opposed State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , we discovered that the churchmen left principles behind when it came to taking money for their schools. They caved in one after another. 

There was another demonstration at the opening of a wing at St Catherine’s, Waverley XE "Waverley:College" \b . Kath and a friend, I think it was Marion Hill from Watsons Bay, hired a Rolls Royce, dressed up, and were ushered in as educators from London by the security guards at the entrance. We asked the hire car people to put an Australian flag on the front. Kath waved to our demonstrators like the Queen, accepted our tart comments with a faraway smile, and passed through the gates. They carried with them a scroll wrapped in pink ribbon, and were shown to a prominent seat about three rows from the front. Halfway through the meeting they stood up, unfurled their banners which looked like simple things but said STOP STATE AID.

At that moment most of the women—not the men—in the audience, went crazy and tore at them. Our members welcomed them like the battered heroines they were at the front gates.  We didn’t know, but around the back fences the school had placed guard dogs and security men. 

There was another demonstration up at an Anglican school at Rose Bay. I think it was Kambala. The Sydney anglican Archbishop Loane had said that if the Roman Catholics had State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , they might as well accept it for their high fee schools. Stella Bath XE "Stella Bath" \b  and her sister Joyce Jones XE "Joyce Jones" 
 were dressed in beautiful black dresses with black mantillas over their faces. They were carrying a coffin symbolising the death of Anglican Church integrity. There were candles with butane gas from our lounge room on the coffin. There was a tape of my daughter, Megan, playing the funeral march on the cello, magnified and playing in the coffin. 

I can see it now. I couldn’t believe how well-dressed Stella and Joyce were for the occasion. There were these two ladies dramatising a funeral cortege. When the lights changed, they crossed the road and everyone was coming into the gates of the school for the event. I think it was the opening of a new building. They all just stood and stared. 

Our reception became a bit rougher as we got close to the federal election XE "federal election:1969" \b  in 1972. There was the demonstration at the opening of the Art Show at Santa Maria Del Monte convent at Strathfield.
 Kath and others were ejected. There was smashing of wine glasses and some of our people were roughed up. After they unfurled their banners they were thrown out by the parents and plain clothes police. Kath and the others were undeterred. They turned around and asked for receipts for their $2 entrance fee. They said they wanted to claim an education deduction for taxation purposes since the convent was a ‘charity’.
There were other demonstrations. Sometimes we organised one for every week. During election campaigns it could be several in a week. Kath and I were very weary after the 1972 election. We planned a trip overseas and although we were still associated with the DOGS, we took a less active part when we returned.  

We continued to support the Victorian DOGS in the High Court case. That case bought in the question of religion, ‘establishment of any religion’. We understood that the people who came to America and Australia didn’t want to be involved with religion in any way. It was such a powerful thing. The men who put Section 116 into the Constitution wanted to put the power back with the people and parliament and protect their democracy. Once religious men entered schooling, then churches gained further and further money and control. The men who drew up the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b  understood that. So did we. It’s a pity that only Lionel Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  understood what the original framers of the Constitution meant. 

Kath and I went down to Melbourne and sat in the High Court in Little Bourke Street to hear the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . We heard Roman Catholic witnesses in the box claiming that there were almost no religious objects in their schools. Well, you know, there were. We had the evidence—photographs of such objects. I knew anyway. I had attended a Catholic school and there were objects of religion everywhere. In fact, I helped to promote them. I was selling Art Union tickets for the School Chapel and I wanted to win that prize—that car—for my father. 

I will never forget that Archbishop, so proud at the beginning, arriving in the big black car and striding to the box. By the end of our barrister’s examination, he was sitting with his nose near the rim of the witness box, minimising the religious purpose of his schools. 
If they were no more religious than State schools, what was the difference? Why have them?  

New South Wales DOGS were always more radical than the groups in the other states. Kath’s personal view of the legal challenge was that until we had educated the judges, we would not win it. They had to be educated to understand the historical issues, and there was no point in attempting the legal challenge before that was done. In her view the way forward was always through a dramatic education of the public. She believed that in New South Wales the legal challenge was acceptable because it did not obviously rock the boat. It did not step out of bounds. It conformed, was part of the system, was legal, and didn’t call for radical action. But she always felt that the judges, through the public and the press had to be educated. She felt that radical demonstrations were the best way forward. 

We did our best to expose the inequalities between the public and Church schools, but politicians and churchmen got hold of the needs rhetoric and turned it inside out. Needs became greeds. Then the legal challenge failed and Section 116 was turned inside out.
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Reg Taylor's Election Cartoon
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Notice for Poolside Demonstration
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Ernie Tucker XE "Ernie Tucker" \b 
Interview July 2007

A few days later, Margaret met Ernie Tucker XE "Tucker" \t "See Ernie Tucker" \b 

 XE "Ernie Tucker" \b , the President of the DOGS in the years 1973 to 1978.  He walked up the steps at at the New South Wales State Library towards her, a slight dapper man with a spring in his step. They settled down to have a cup of coffee in the restaurant. Ernie was a retired English teacher and deputy headmaster and what he wanted to say was already organised inside his head. Margaret started by asking him about his early years with the DOGS. Like her, he had started teaching in the 1960’s and became involved in the New South Wales Teachers Federation. Although there was background noise on the recording, when Margaret went back and listened to the tape his voice was clear and the story line strong. Ernie’s account was precise and verifiable.  Margaret was struck with the vividness of his memories and the way they coincided chronologically with the newspaper cuttings and documents collected by Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b . Here is Ernie’s story: 

Time has laid layer upon layer in our lives since the 1970’s. Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  and I have recently retired from our educational careers and we don’t have much to do with the Teachers Federation these days. Without the documentation I thought I could only recall our days with the DOGS through slices in my memory. Then, when you showed me some of the newspaper cuttings, my memories became clear.

You asked me what kind of people we were? Where did we come from? Why did we do it? I’ll do my best on that one. I came from a socially conscious working-class family. There were connections with the building trades on both sides of the family. Both great grandfathers were builders, and both families were affected by the Wars and Depressions. 

Dad lost his father in the First World War and grew up in an orphanage when his mother went to the Queensland outback to find work as a cattle station cook. He became a plumber. Two of his brothers were seamen, and one became a carpenter. His two sisters worked as shop assistant and office secretary respectively when they could find work in the 1920’s and 1930’s. My mother’s father was an employee plumber and her brother a fireman. 

All of them experienced long periods of unemployment in the 1930’s. Both families came through tough times in the depression. 

My parents married in 1938, and I came along in 1939, the eldest of four. We followed Dad to Adelaide and Queanbeyan when he was working for the wartime Labour Commission in the Second World War. 

My mother’s family had a long connection with Methodist and Baptist churches. My paternal grandmother was very active in the Baptist church and my maternal grandmother and mother were active in the Methodist Church. I was involved in the Methodist Church until The age of nineteen. The maternal great grandparents were quite wealthy and had given a lot of money to the church. We were the poor relations and did not inherit anything. They were totally opposed to any involvement of the State with religion. State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  was a shocking thing for them when all this started. They knew about the European massacres of Anabaptists and the imprisonment of Bunyan. 

My wife, Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  came from a similar working class background. Her father was psychologically affected by his experiences in the Second World War. He was unstable and violent. They moved from Griffith to Cabramatta and then to Manly. Finally, her father bought a fibro cottage in Mount Druitt. Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  was determined and escaped a difficult family situation when she went to University. 

We both give long term thanks to a free public education that included university and scholarships.

As a university student, Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  lived on starvation money with a Commonwealth Scholarship. I was much better off financially on a Teachers College Scholarship allowance and living at home. We both studied English and History, and became English teachers. We married in 1967, after I returned from teaching in England. Both of us had strong convictions about our obligation to create a society where those who needed help got it—a traditional Australian fair go I suppose. I had studied history at Sydney University and was very concerned about the whole history of the Labor Party and unions.

Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  was at Sydney Girls’ High and I was at Vaucluse Boys’ High for our first teaching appointments, and we both became involved in the Teachers Federation. We were staff federation representatives and were later elected to the Council. Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  was elected to the Executive in 1969-1970. Earlier, at Sydney University, Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  had been the Secretary, and I the president of the Sydney University Student Teachers Association. So we started going to Teachers’ Federation Conferences at an early stage. Our mentors were the old leftists, including ALP activists and members of the Communist party. We got used to the hurly burly, heckling, put down remark that you made as witty as possible, so that you got a laugh. 

Even some of our worst opponents joined us for a laugh. 

I think that was what we were trying to do in the DOGS—get the laughing initiative. And Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b  was particularly good about things like that. Some of his signs were very imaginative and witty. The New South Wales Teachers’ Federation was generally supportive of the DOGS. We were given a free meeting room and, over the next few decades, the research officers, Nan Cooper and Anne Junor, assisted with a lot of facts and figures. 

You asked about the Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b  meeting on 10 August 1969. It was a huge meeting with buses hired by people from all over the State, arriving in front of the Town hall.  There was tremendous support with an overflow audience in the Teachers Federation hall nearby. The Federal Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  Tom Hughes, Gough Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b , and the NSW Minister for Mines Wal Fife, were on the stage. The press report made the front page of the Sydney Morning Herald: first and last time we ever managed that. 
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My abiding memory of the Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b  meeting is Alan Horton XE "Horton:Alan, President DOGS NSW" \b  and the wonderful symbolism of his lilies. They were fresh from his garden. He gave each of the politicians a big white funereal lily, and announced that the meeting was called to bury State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . Horton XE "Horton:Alan, President DOGS NSW" \b  knew that people find it hard to resist accepting something when you hand it to them. Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  Hughes was furious but stood there holding his lily as if it was going to bite him. 

Gough Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  rose like Oscar Wilde with his lily, went to the lectern, and symbolically buried any future that we had by scornfully dropping the lily to his feet after a few sentences. He was feeling confident of the federal Labor Party executive. As he strode out of the meeting, I followed him. He did stop to talk to me in the foyer. I referred him to Section 116 of the Constitution and the similarities with the United States Constitution, telling him that we were confident about the case coming to the High Court. In that typical Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  way he said emphatically:

It will fail.
He went on to say that we had no hope whatsoever with him since we were locked in the past. Gough then turned his back and moved off with a group of reporters crowding around him down the Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b  steps. 

To be positive, in those days you at least got to speak to people and clash with politicians after a meeting. Come to think of it, in those days we even had well-attended meetings. But Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  wanted to make peace with the DLP XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  and had recently been successful with the federal ALP executive on the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  issue. 

I have only a very hazy memory of the Parkes’ Memorial demonstrations. There was one at the family home at Falconbridge in the lower Blue Mountains. Parkes’ descendants were involved.
 I can remember an avenue of commemorative trees and the old house. 

Then we went to Centennial Park after his statue was blown up. We never knew who did it, but we thought it was symbolic. Parkes had given New South Wales the concept of free, secular, public schools and somebody was trying to blast Parkes, and us, back into a forgotten past. 

I was politically active soon after I started teaching in State Schools in the early 1960’s. Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  and I became activists who promoted the State-wide teachers’ strike for some time before it happened. In 1968 and 1969, the teachers in New South Wales finally started to go on strike. I did not expect to see it but the most respectable of teachers went on strike. Not for pay. We did it for our children—because of the learning conditions they were expected to suffer. 

For example, when I was at Kogarah High School XE "Kogarah High School" \b  as English Head Teacher in 1969 the students called it ‘the rathole’. The four old buildings with their tin-shed patch-ups from the Second World War were falling down around us. The walls were cracked and crumbling, the roof leaked and the electrical work was unsafe. The windows were grimy, and the whole place gloomy. Some corridors leading to locked doors reminded me of dungeons. The canteen was endearingly referred to as the snake-pit. It was an enclosed area containing lavatories, dressing rooms, assorted garbage bins, storerooms and a few garden seats.
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The upper floor of the oldest building was a fire trap. It was served by an antique wooden staircase originally built for infant children. There was a piping rail fitted a foot or so above the original cedar hand rail so that 20th century secondary students could negotiate the unlit staircase. The playground was bitumen so at least we didn’t have a lawn walked into a dust bowl. Apart from a few brave oleanders, there were few trees. 

The human factor was predictable: a preponderance of socially adept teenage girls and boys from the St. George area, some very dedicated teachers, some not so dedicated, and a few active parents. There were great differences of opinion on the staff about politics, the Teachers Federation campaigns and possible action on the condition of the school buildings, the library, and textbooks.

The students went on strike.
There was a lot of publicity. The newspapers couldn’t come to terms with mere students wanting a better deal.  The ‘evil’ teachers were blamed.  We had a Sunday picnic demonstration to which we invited the politicians. Senator Lionel Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  was the only politician who turned up to that. We noted that Menzies, who started the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to private schools with the science block building grants, was attending a fundraising dinner in the members’ dining room at the Randwick Racecourse. Among other things, they ‘needed’ a covered heated swimming pool at Frensham XE "Frensham:private girls school" \b  private girls school at Mittagong. 

Here are some of the Advertisements we put in the paper, the flyers we put in local letter boxes, and a photograph I had publishedwith an article in the New South ales Teachers Federation journal Education.  



Photograph  from NSWTF Journal, Education, 18 March 1970

We failed to awaken our local Labor party member’s interest in the school but we didn’t give up easily at Kogarah. To my surprise and pleasure, a conservative staff member whom I had previously met when we were both commanders of our school cadet corps, hit on the ploy of inviting the Minister for Education, as Colonel Cutler XE "Cutler:Colonel, Minister for Education NSW" \b  to the school. He could review our cadetcorps at the school 

Minister/Colonel Cutler XE "Cutler:Colonel, Minister for Education NSW" \b  accepted our invitation. 
The sky was overcast and it was raining. The interior of the school was even dimmer than usual. There was an extraordinary turn out of police. Talk about overkill. It was like a 2007 security guard for Bush, Howard and Company. The uniformed police ringed the bitumen playground where the cadet detachment paraded. 
The children just wanted him in the school to see the place.

After the parade Cutler XE "Cutler:Colonel, Minister for Education NSW" \b  was reluctant, but eventually agreed to inspect the school. He was genuinely shocked. He muttered something about Stygian darkness, and we asked him how he thought the students and teachers read their books. We showed him the creaking floorboards, filthy windows and fallen bricks.When two students suddenly appeared out of the dark corridors, there was a security alert. 

There wasn’t much media coverage, but that was not unusual if it was something positive for public schools. The Cutler XE "Cutler:Colonel, Minister for Education NSW" \b -Askin Government ensured there was no Ministerial Press Release. We put our own advertisements in the paper.
 
It was a successful operation.The school was put on the maintenance list and has thrived ever since. 

One of the parents at Kogarah who was in the forefront of our Kogarah demonstrations was Doug Arnold. XE "Arnold.:Doug, Treasurer, NSW DOGS" \b  He told me how, at a Parents and Citizens XE "Parents and Citizens" \b  Meeting, he stopped the Acting Principal defending the quality of the school textbook by opening a number of his daughter’s books so that their numerous loose pages fell to the floor. 

Doug became the DOGS Treasurer. We ran the DOGS campaigns on a shoestring, but Doug always balanced our books. Another parent collected aluminium cans from all over Sydney and we exhausted ourselves delivering telephone books to raise money. Doug himself was great on talk-back radio and could outwit the worst of the shock jocks. He would divert the talk-back hosts; get them off their guard; put the ‘State Aid XE "State Aid" \b ’ XE "‘State Aid’" \b  barb in his last words; then hang up the phone. 

Another event I do remember most clearly was the Fraser XE "Fraser:Malcolm" \b  visit to Maroubra Junction Girls High School.
 When I was working there, Malcolm Fraser XE "Fraser:Malcolm" \b  was Minister for Education. We managed, through letters and liberal party networks, to contact him and ask: ‘How often have you been in a public school?’ Finally he agreed that he would visit me, in an official capacity, in my school, after protocol was cleared. As a Commonwealth Minister he had no right to visit a public school without an invitation from the State Minister 

Maroubra Junction Girls High was privileged with an el cheapo gym—most State schools didn’t possess such a luxury—but this was an aluminium clad building. We had no assembly hall, so the gym was the only place where you could get the whole school together under cover. There weren’t any chairs, and if there had been, the whole school would not have fitted into the space. So, to greet Mr. Fraser XE "Fraser:Malcolm" \b , we had 800 girls sitting cross-legged, closely packed on the floor. 

He arrived in an official car—alone. He went inside the school and was quite genuinely shocked by the darkness of the old buildings and their lack of maintenance. The Principal vacated her office and he and I had a long interview by ourselves. We discussed Science and Library grants, and I took him across to the new wing where we were one science Laboratory short. He then inspected the totally inadequate library. He enquired tentatively whether this had been a Commonwealth funded library. It was. I guessed from his demeanour that this was the first public school Commonwealth funded library he had inspected. The contrast with those provided in the private schools was stark enough. The librarian and I pointed out the poor bookstocks. These were far below the minimum library standard for schools. I suggested a book grant.

Next, I asked him whether he would like to meet the girls. He said ‘Yes,’ so I took him over to the gym for the regular weekly assembly. 

Fraser XE "Fraser:Malcolm" \b  was over six feet and fourteen stone. I am about five feet seven and eight stone. The two of us were standing there with all these girls squatting on the gym floor, with upturned faces. It looked like Gulliver in Lilliput. A photographer from the Australian newspaper was present. He suggested we move into the middle of the floor and he took this wonderful photo of Fraser XE "Fraser:Malcolm" \b  standing in a sea of blue-uniformed school girls. We received terrific media coverage. Here was the heading: WHEN THE MINISTER GOES TO THE DOGS.


I can remember the 1969 federal election XE "federal election:1969" \b  and our extraordinary success. We had only just started yet we ran a very professional campaign. The DOGS had not been formally established, yet we stood 12 candidates in New South Wales.
 There was a similar number in Victoria. 
 Every house was letter-boxed, every election booth had people there all day from first thing in the morning until closing time—and we campaigned solidly throughout the day. It was really very heartening. We got tremendous support. It gave the major parties quite a shock. It was certainly reported that way. One political commentator noted that other minor parties could learn a lot from our performance.

I have very vivid memories of the 1972 federal election XE "federal election:1972" \b . Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  stood against Joe Riordan, the Labor candidate in Phillip. The Labor Party had to win this seat to gain government. After much discussion and controversy the DOGS decided to give preferences to a minor party, and effectively down to the Liberal candidate. This was the only electorate where we gave preferences, I believe. The Labor party expected to win Phillip, but we lived there and knew it would be a close run thing. The right-wing Labor members in that electorate were very angry with us, but we had the support of many ALP branch members. A reporter asked Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  how she would feel if her preferences prevented a Labor victory. She replied that as both parties advocated State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , the way to change this was to defeat candidates who stood for it and elect candidates who would stop it.  

The Phillip electorate had a wide distribution of different groups of voters. It took in the working class areas of Bondi and Randwick as well as the silver tails of Rose Bay and Dover Heights. The sitting Liberal member was Bill Aston, the Speaker of the House. The Labor Party branch had an imported candidate, Joe Riordan, imposed upon them. Some local members were very annoyed with having Riordan dumped on them. I think it was one of the first times this had happened. It has become more common. It didn’t help that Riordan sent his children to the prestigious Christian Brothers’ Waverley XE "Waverley:College" \b  College and had election posters and photos in the local paper of himself and the boys in full uniform—including straw boaters

Neither Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  nor I have ever been members of the ALP, but we enjoyed close contact with various members in the local area and the union. I remember chatting with one of the older well-established right-wing members of the Labor Party, Frank Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b , from the Secondary Teachers Association. I told him that we had possibly 70% of the Labor Party members voting for us. He sneered: 

What would that come to? 500 votes.?

In the end we got nearly 10% of the total votes! 

The Waverley XE "Waverley:College" \b  College Dip-In led into Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b ’s election campaign in 1972. They had an Olympic size pool and the local Council couldn’t afford public baths. The Bondi and Coogee surf was polluted with Sydney sewerage and the old open surf rock pools were dangerous. They were unsuitable for teaching young children to swim when the surf waves crashed over the rocks into the pools. Yet this was all on offer for public school children.

It amazes me when I look back: the daring of these demonstrations. Marching along the street we went, bright and brazen in swimming costumes, draped in towels, placards held high. The dogs and children ran alongside, eager for a swim. When we got to the College we discovered that the administration was taking us very seriously. There were some large, late model, very expensive cars parked in front of the entrance, barring our way. And then some brawny old boys from the college in their mid twenties, or early thirties confronted us. There was no way they were even going to talk about our having a dip in their Olympic size pool. They were going to throw us out then and there! It threatened to get quite nasty, but we stood back and made sure it didn’t. We were responsible for the children and dogs, and we had made our point anyway. 

I don’t recall any police presence, although I gathered from Alan Horton XE "Horton:Alan, President DOGS NSW" \b  that they were there. Other occasions, I do. They must have just stood around. I know that a lot of the passing cars honked support, and a fun time was had by all. We had very good media coverage from the radio, TV and newspapers.
 I had an interesting interview with an ABC radio person and wrote an article for the Teachers Federation Journal, Education. Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b  got me into the Herald’s Column Eight. 

That was where we first effectively used the slogan: The Schools with the Pools. I believe the outrage about the amount of money going to these wealthy schools led in part, to the Labor party Needs policy, the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  legislation in 1973, and the poor parish school mythology. There were poor parish schools used as political blackmail in the 1960’s, but there were also wealthy churches and Church schools. Now there are derelict public schools. In the past 40 years the ‘poor parish school’ mythology won out. I must admit I haven’t heard

the expression lately.

Meanwhile, the opposition was frantically looking for government schools which had pools, and discovered a few in the western regions of New South Wales where there were very high temperatures. State school parents had slaved away for years to provide swimming pools for the children. They tried to make a big thing about these schools, Nobody swallowed that—it was really specious. 

The St. Catherine’s demonstration was a bit more daring.
 This school also had a pool—a heated pool—and the media knew that we still had unused costumes, towels, children and dogs in waiting. Kath came up with the idea that she and, I think it was Marion Hill, could put on a regal act if we hired a black car and got inside the meeting. Archbishop Loane was opening a very expensive new wing and senior study block at St. Catherine’s Girls School. In the years before State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , St Catherine’s had been a very ordinary private Anglican school. It had a pretty poor reputation and nobody bothered sending their girls there. In 1972 it was awash with funds and trading on the Joan Sutherland link. She had happened to go there.  

We hired a car. Reg talked them into putting an Australian flag on the bonnet. When Kath and Marion arrived in a big black Rolls Royce, with the interior light switched on, they cheekily waved in regal fashion at the rest of us waving our placards at the gates. Our enthusiastic heckling let everybody know what we thought about the poor little rich girls who needed all these public subsidies.

Wherever there was a political meeting we would go and hand out brochures. But I have a rather horrid memory of a very nasty scene at a Labor Party political meeting at the Institute Hall in Clovelly Road. The main speaker on this evening was Bill Hayden. The hall was built for about 200 people and was filling up as we were handing out brochures at the entrance. This man came up close to me:

You have no right to be here, go away.
This is a public footpath. We have every right to be here.
Public footpath! I’ll put you into the Public Gutter!

He punched me in the face, then disappeared inside. 

There was a public phone nearby. I didn’t ring the police first. I rang one of our members, a solicitor called Jean McCoroskin XE "McCoroskin:Jean" \b . She told me how to describe what had happened. She said to tell the police that I wanted ‘to lay an information’ against my attacker. I used this term when the police finally arrived and received a very efficient response. They took me into the hall where Bill Hayden was speaking. One of the policeman and I went down to the front and said ‘Hello’ to Bill. There was another policeman up the back. Then the first policeman accompanied me as we went row by row up the hall, trying to identify this person. 

I was frightened. People were watching me rather than Bill Hayden down the front. He talked on regardless.  My eye was throbbing. There were myriads of curious faces. Even if my attacker was among them, his malice would be hidden behind closed lips and folded hands.

Just as I was about to give up, thinking, ‘Oh he has gone out the back door or into the toilet,’ I realised what witnesses say about criminal cases. You never 

forget the face. He was turned sideways, but I knew.

That’s him. 

The policeman took him outside and wrote his name and address down in his notebook. He gave the man a warning and provided me with his details. 

We contacted the Phillip Federal Electoral Council in the Labor party and said that the police had given me his name and address. Unless they disciplined this person and guaranteed that there would be no more violent incidents in the election campaign, we were going to take the case to court. They did not reply in writing, but I heard that they all wanted to bury it.No action was taken. 
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It was a shock to the system. I didn’t lose any teeth but I had a bruised and bloody face. 

The other dramatic case was earlier at Rose Bay during the Senate election campaign in 1970. Gorton was speaking. There is the wonderful photo of Kath and the dog holding the little school case at the Rose Bay Wintergarden Theatre.
 That place held about 2000 people. In those days, with informal security, Kath was able to walk the entire centre aisle down to the stage. They thought she was a blind person with a guide dog. 

We had people strategically placed doing a lot of pointed heckling. A number of us, including myself, were forcefully ejected. This was probably a good thing for our own protection, because some of the remarks from the audience were somewhat violent. When we got outside, there was one very nasty, older detective with a sneer on his face. We had seen him at a number of events. He had a very big, fat sergeant with him. He towered over me with a peculiar smile and said, 

I—could–—fall–—on—you!
He was about 16 stone and I was only eight stone, so his point was quite well made. I was naïve and laughed.


Fortunately, we became friendly with a young Special Branch detective over a number of meetings. He was a very useful contact in another demonstration at Strathfield. This was not long before the 1972 Federal election. We had winkled our way inside an art show at the Monte San Angelo convent school. Prime Minister McMahon XE "McMahon:William, Prime Minister" \b  was opening the show. 

After we had interrupted McMahon XE "McMahon:William, Prime Minister" \b ’s speech and unfurled the placards from their hiding places under our clothes, we were escorted out. Billy McMahon XE "McMahon:William, Prime Minister" \b  was standing at the microphone set in the middle of a landing on the stairs, hands on the bannisters, addressing the multitudes. He just stopped while we passed by. I said ‘Good Evening’ and he responded in a civil manner. Kath was walking with a very straight back down the stairs, and when threatened, put her head up in the air and said: 

Don’t you dare touch me!
She got to the entrance unscathed, then turned around and demanded a receipt for her $2 entrance fee.
 


When we arrived downstairs I found myself confronted with a noisy harangue from a teacher who had been a colleague in a State High School but was now an employee of Monte San Angelo. On the other side I was met by distraught protesters whose teenage children had been left inside to the tender mercies of irate private school parents. Fortunately, our friendly special branch detective was there, so I asked him to help the parents get the children out safely. He agreed to go inside with me to do this. To the accompaniment of my teacher ex-friend’s tirade, we went in and escorted the children out. So you see, we met two sides of the police. 

We were quite ecumenical about the schools we picketed and after the journalists discovered that the Taylors and others were Catholics the sectarian XE "sectarian" \b  jibe became less prominent. For example, we had another similar demonstration at the Methodist Church’s Annual Conference held in the Lyceum Theatre Pitt Street, Sydney. It was night and we set up in the usual way, outside the theatre with reg’s signs. Several of these referred to the Methodist College, Newington which had already received over a million dollars of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . We also handed out a pamphlet to those people going to the Conference. Some people agreed with our position but several insisted that Newington could not possibly have received so much aid. They were only counting per capita grants, but we were including things like loan subsidies. One man called the police on the grounds that it was election time and we had forgotten to have “Authorised by name and address” on the bottom of our pamphlet. Alan Horton XE "Horton:Alan, President DOGS NSW" \b  and I took out our pens and individually authorised each pamphlet. The police took no action. 

There was another similar demonstration at Methodist Ladies College Burwood.
 Prime Minister McMahon XE "McMahon:William, Prime Minister" \b  was opening a new science block at MLC and his wife, Sonia of the White House split skirt, was there as an old girl. The newspapers noted that she was looking brilliantly about-to-be-maternal in a modest dress in red, white and blue surmounted by a pillbox hat. Kath was assaulted by a dignified woman but I can’t recall being present at this demonstration. 
We didn’t receive death threats like Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b . But Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  and I had a lot of mystery phone calls. They were not particularly threatening, but we had some deep breathing and a sort of ‘Who do you think you are?’ type of call. I would have taken it to the police if we had been worried. We also had two robberies which were unsettling. Apart from a portable stereo nothing much was taken. But there were signs of someone carefully going through our place. There were not the typical signs of thieves like ripped out drawers and cupboards or dumped clothes on the floor. On the second occasion it was a little more disturbing as the only thing taken was my wife’s nightdress. We thought these were calling cards. On both occasions the local police were very sympathetic and helpful. They differed from the special branch Commonwealth or ASIO people who once shadowed Colette XE "Colette:Tucker, wife of Ernie Tucker" \b  in their car. They shadowed her ostentatiously, moving slowly down the street alongside her as she alighted from the bus after work and took the one minute walk to our home. 

As you know I was the President of the DOGS after the 1972 election. I was lucky to have Joyce as the Secretary and Stella Bath XE "Stella Bath" \b  helping her on the executive. Others on the executive were good with research and mail-outs. Rose Urquhart, Mr and Mrs Deacon, and Dorothy Dean did the basic jobs. Dorothy Dean did the mail out the day before her death.

I knew Stella very well, because we were both in the New South Wales Teachers’ Federation. I spent a lot of time at Stella’s place in Coogee preparing the DOGS Newsletter, and helped her sister Joyce, with Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  submissions. Joyce was a wonderfully efficient person. 

As a group we made both written and oral submissions to the Karmel XE "Karmel:Peter" \b  Committee. We got the extensive written submissions together in a week, and trawled through Peter Karmel XE "Karmel:Peter" \b ’s own South Australian Report for relevant ideas XE "ideas" \b . I remember the Tasmanian evidence on the uneconomic duplication of schools in the public sector by the Church schools. We also addressed the accountability issue. 

There was Ray Nilsen from Victoria, Marion Sturges XE "Sturges:Marion, Secretary DOGS Tasmania" \b  and George Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  from Tasmania. You were there too Margaret? We all flew to Canberra on March 21, 1973 to put our case. 
  We were treated very courteously and provided with a room to discuss our oral submission together. 

Karmel XE "Karmel:Peter" \b  was an academic-economist remaking his career as an education mandarin. He twinkled at us over his glasses, putting us at ease with a smile on his balloon-cheeked face. Jean Blackburn XE "Blackburn:Jean" \b  was his assistant and note taker. She was a well-known educationist and asked interesting questions. But the final Interim Report avoided historical issues and forced contradictions into tandem.

Some members of the Committee were interested in our duplication and accountability arguments. But Karmel XE "Karmel:Peter" \b  and Blackburn XE "Blackburn:Jean" \b  were taken aback by my suggestion that Church schools should be accountable for public money on exactly the same terms as public schools. One Committee member pointed out that this would mean that churches would have to reveal sources of revenue other than government grants. So…? The information was shrouded in complex skeins of charitable trusts, or corporations set aside for the eyes of the hierarchy and initiates alone. That issue received a hasty burial. In 1973 Karmel XE "Karmel:Peter" \b  passed the buck. He said that his Committee was not the inquisition and full accountability was a matter for the government and the Auditor-General. 

Stella Bath XE "Stella Bath" \b  and Joyce Jones XE "Joyce Jones" 
Interview with Stella Bath XE "Stella Bath" \b , August 2007.

Margaret next rang Stella Bath XE "Stella Bath" \b , the sister of Joyce Jones XE "Joyce Jones"  and the President of the DOGS after Ernie Tucker XE "Ernie Tucker" \b . She was unwell and short of breath, but spoke with Margaret for a short time. Margaret took notes as Stella’s voice wheezed reluctantly down the phone, but her pen bit into the paper as the contralto voice grew stronger and the memories flowed.

None of us is getting any younger you know. I became President after Ernie Tucker XE "Ernie Tucker" \b  stepped down in 1978, and my sister Joyce took over from Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b  as Secretary in 1973. We were very busy in the late 1970’s and 1980s, making submissions to the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  and producing a regular newsletter. 

You asked about the sort of people we were and where we came from. Our maiden name was Clout. My father was a country boy who went to the First World War and returned to become a compositor in a printing firm in the city. To misspell a word was a crime in our family. Like him, Joyce was a perfectionist with language. As you may gather there was great respect for education in our family and we all attended the public system. My mother started work as a pupil teacher and studied to become a fully-fledged teacher by the time my father went to the First World War. She took her baby, my eldest sister Grace to school with her while he was away. There was Grace, then Joyce, and myself. My brother, aged nineteen, was killed in New Guinea during the Second World War.

Joyce and I were very different. She was fair and I was dark, but there was a lot more to it than that. Joyce was older than me and could always control me with her tongue. She had a quick tongue. She loved clothes and make-up. She was immaculately groomed with thick fair hair stylishly cut and fashionable clothes. Dancing was her passion. She was not academically inclined and left school after obtaining the intermediate certificate. I was quieter, less flamboyant, and finished High School. 

My eldest sister Grace was a teacher, but I was the first in the family to go to University. I obtained a scholarship and also did teacher training. My first appointment was to a country school at Murramburrah, a local centre near Harden, mid-way between Yass and Cootamundra. That was when I realised how wasteful it was to run a duplicate school system and divide a community on the basis of religion. There were two Catholic schools at either end of the town, separating the boys from the girls. Neither of these schools was big enough to produce a sports team. That was unfair for the children. The public High School on the other hand was big enough to field a team and take part in regional sporting events, but they were deprived of companionship with the Catholic children in their small country community. 

I was next posted to Murwullimbah, then married, spent about five years with my husband in Indonesia and returned to Australia about 1953. There was an acute teacher shortage and married women were more than welcome in the workforce. 

I taught at Dover Heights Girls High and was involved in the New South Wales Teachers Federation with Ernie Tucker XE "Ernie Tucker" \b  and his wife Colette, when I joined the DOGS in 1968. In those days Dover Heights Girls High was a very good school enrolling children from a broad cross section of the community. There were a lot of Jewish girls in those days. Sadly, with the advent of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , Jewish children have withdrawn into religious schools. Our Eastern suburbs Jewish community itself is divided into Zionist separatists and liberal, community-minded Jews. I think it is a great pity when children cannot be educated in school together. But I suppose we predicted all this didn’t we? 

Back to Joyce. 

After the change of federal government in December 1972, Joyce had a lot of work to do dealing with the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  and its reports. Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b  was great on demonstrations and husband Reg was always calm and phlegmatic in the heat of battle. Joyce was the one with an eye for detail. 

There were some nasty bits. However we believed in the playground jingle that ‘sticks and stones might break our bones but words would never hurt us’. Joyce and I didn’t let threatening phone calls from sectarian XE "sectarian" \b  interests worry us when we were active in the DOGS.

Before the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  you could identify the exact amounts of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  received by Church schools. Afterwards, this became much more difficult. Hundreds of millions were paid directly to the Catholic Education bureaucracies and they diverted money according to their own priorities: new schools and secondary education. We could identify some of their schemes. The Victorian DOGS called them Bottom of the Schoolyard schemes and tried to expose them in a number of paid Advertisements in The Age and other newspapers.
. Accountability was minimal.  Joyce burrowed away. She believed in archaeology before architecture. 

She had worked in an insurance company and developed finely-honed secretarial skills. We both had children at public schools when we joined the DOGS. I lived in Coogee, and Joyce lived at Caringbah in the south western suburbs. We had a lot of supporters from that area. I was able to help on overall presentation of our submissions, but Joyce was the one for accuracy and detail. She was never faulted on detail. 

Joyce also had an eye for inconsistency and hypocrisy, alongside whiplash words to expose it. When she analysed the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  reports she realised they were written to a formula. The first part of the report was always factual, and these facts tended towards a logical conclusion that favoured the public system. When she came to the actual conclusion however, she was usually confronted by a contradiction. As we all knew, the Commission had a political job to do, and talk about equality of opportunity and need degenerated swiftly into mere rhetoric. Contradictory statements were often laid side by side in the one sentence. They were practicing the art of double-think, and expected readers to hold two contradictory beliefs in their mind simultaneously and accept both of them.  Joyce wondered whether the Commissioners thought she was stupid. She did not believe in giving the appearance of solidity to pure wind, but remained determined to find out true facts and store them up for the use of posterity. 

Then, after about 1978 there wasn’t even the rhetoric. Finally, in 1982/83 there was a dissenting report XE "dissenting report" \b  from the teachers’ and parents’ representatives, Van Davy and Joan Brown. By 1988 the federal government decided that the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  had passed its political used-by date.

Joyce dealt with the inconsistencies and contradictions. She left the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  with nothing to say. We presented our submissions to the Commission in person when they visited Sydney and these meetings were always civil, if not cordial. The members had a lot of respect for Joyce. We all thought it was significant that the Chairman of the Commission sent his final letter to Joyce, complimenting her on her contributions. 

She worked on the DOGS submissions right up to the last. She had cancer, and we believed she was in remission. She went into hospital for tests, and a few days later, she was gone. 

I miss her’.
Stella suggested Margaret look at the submission Joyce made to the 1978 Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  Discussion Paper. Margaret searched and discovered it in the archives of the Sydney University Library. Joyce wrote: 

The Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  can’t have it both ways. Either it is an independent statutory body dispensing authoritative information and recommendations, or it is a political pawn….The Commission says that funding changes have not affected essential features, but if the present trend continues, public schools will be downgraded to such an extent that they are likely to become poverty stricken charity schools. Government policies have changed but the situation has not: geographical difficulties and increasing religious pluralism have strengthened the case for public education. If it was a good case 100 years ago, it is a better case now. 

Stella was right. Joyce had style. 
Esther Corkish XE "Esther Corkish" \b 
At home in August 2007

Dear Margaret, 

It was nice catching up with you again. I am sitting here trying to remember. 

You have sent me this picture of the Sydney Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b  meeting on 10 August 1969 from the New South Wales Teachers Federation Journal. The other photocopy is a report from the Sydney Morning Herald. That was one of the few times we got any coverage. The picture is blurred around the edges but I can see the organ pipes, the group on the stage and the crowd in the hall and galleries. I think I can even make out Alan Horton XE "Horton:Alan, President DOGS NSW" \b  on the stage. The coffin is there and I can make out the banner. 

I was there but not really—well not exactly. I was outside protesting, and the Hall had filled up to overflowing. Later arrivals were sent off to the hall at the Teachers Federation by the time I got in from the cold. 

***

Esther put down her pen and clutched her breast.  It was only 11 o’clock and she was tired with irritation and pain already. The hormone tablets might keep the cancer at bay, but they would never cure it. She picked up her walking stick and hobbled uncertainly towards the bathroom, seeking to place a soft piece of tissue between her petticoat and the flesh which would now weep forever. 

Later, in an hour or two she would wash, doll herself up, put on a new face, pursing her lips for the bright lippy, walk slowly to her car, and drive down the street. The Lebanese shopkeepers in Lakemba were always friendly to her and their food was fresh. Others might talk about the Lakemba Muslims, but she got on all right with them. 

Remembering from a photograph: she hobbled back to the sunroom. There were enough photographs there. Photographs of her family and herself. On the sideboard, the walls and even pinned to the curtains. There was one when she was in England with Margaret’s sister in the 1950’s. She wished she could get back to Salisbury or even the Isle of Man to meet up with her father’s people— just one more time. 

 She was really quite pretty in those days. Her small waist was a miracle.  She had always liked her food. She still did. The waist had long since gone but her hair hadn’t really changed that much. You could have a good complexion or figure as you got older. Very few wrinkles were etched on her round, friendly face.  

Writing was too much trouble. She would ring Margaret and talk about it. 

The sunroom was the best place to be on a cold winter’s morning. She moved her chair closer to the oil heater and picked up her half-drunk cup of tea. Ugh! Luke warm and not enough sugar. The Anzac biscuit was too dry. Putting the kettle on again was a nuisance. She would wait till the Council cleaner arrived. 

Remembering was difficult. You had to be careful. It was like peeling an onion. She could see her mother standing at the sink: small and square, thin wispy hair drawn back into a bun, peeling her vegetables. She said you had to peel the onion without cutting the end with shoots in waiting. Cutting that end forced involuntary weeping. Always leave that end for last and you saved embarrassment and tissues.

Esther would try and remember the good bits. Her mother was a petite, hard-working lass from Dundee. Saving tissues was important, although they had handkerchiefs and bits of rag when she was young. After rearing her mother’s orphaned children from the age of fourteen, she turned around and had six of her own. Married  at thirty three, she and her husband got on with begatting and begetting. In the depression and war years they managed six healthy children and a kidney-brick house in the Western suburbs of Sydney.

Esther was the fourth child and youngest daughter. Her older sisters, Alice and May had died in the same year as the parents—1974. That was a horrible year: She wouldn’t go there. 

Esther had remained single, and lived in her parents’ home in Lakemba—when she wasn’t on one of her trips. She was still there, waiting in the sunroom, looking out on the garden shed her father built from bits of fibro after the Second World War. 

There was the picture of her and Margaret’s sister Edna on camels looking at the ruins of Pompei.There was another picture of them watching King Farouk’s belly dancers. King Farouk was gone, but the belly dancers danced on. 

She had always been a bit different—‘kicking against the pricks’, her mother said. Her parents saw themselves as hard-working, independent working-class. Her father was a union man. They were straight Labour Party voters. The children were sent to Sunday school but the parents avoided religious men. They had no time for the Catholic ‘Groupers’ who undermined Doc Evatt’s leadership of the Labor Party in 1954. They had strong thoughts on a lot of matters, and it was not easy to pull the wool over their eyes.  But they never encouraged her when she stuck her neck out. Her mother was always there, at the sink, with terse observations. Esther missed the terseness, not the observations. 

If anything, her parents disapproved of her extra curricula activities. Her mother said:

Olga and Edna don’t go demonstrating, and they get promotions.
Esther often wondered what her mother really thought about the education of her girls. All the girls became teachers, the boys tradesmen. Her mother said the schooling at Dundee was superior to anything her children received in Australia. Her eldest girl had gone to Teachers College but sweet, docile Alice had been forced to suffer without complaint the hardships of one-teacher schools in the country. Neither her mother nor Alice were about changing their world. 

Esther was not like Alice. She had only gone to Intermediate High School at Marrickville. She decided that she was probably a dopey kid. Unlike Alice, she was not brilliant enough for the selective High School at St. George. Still she was not stupid enough to be relegated to the domestic high school at Canterbury. She got her Intermediate Certificate then worked in a factory for five months. Her weekly salary paid for the family’s Sunday roast. 

Esther decided that this was not good enough. She fronted up to the headmistress at selective St George and persuaded her to give her a second chance. She got her chance, caught up with the other children by the end of the year and decided that she was not a dope after all. 

She went to Sydney Teachers College, but unlike Alice, refused to go to the country. She fronted up to hard-hearted Education Department officials and won that battle too. The headmistress at Lakemba Public School used to introduce this phenomenon on her staff as ‘the little girl that defied the Education Department’.
It wasn’t that she didn’t like teaching. She did. She was always happy in her classrooms, keeping good order, looking after the sad ones, satisfied when her children got their sums right—and she made sure they did, every one of them. She liked it best when they all understood each other and she could joke with them. She learnt singing from Madam Marti, and her children sang lustily with her. She was a good teacher. She knew that. So did her children. So did her head teachers. 

She tried promotion in one school, but walked away from it when she realised that she did not fit into the relevant mould or networks. She decided then that although she didn’t want to be at the bottom, she didn’t want to be in the middle either. Why be like pressed chicken in a sandwich? The danger money wasn’t worth the headaches, blood pressure and heart attacks. The networking bored her. She had no intention of tampering with the religious networks either. She had worked that one out. That was why the public system was so important.  

She looked at the documents in her hands again: the Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b  meeting. That was a long time ago. What was she up to there? That is what Margaret really wanted to know. Why did she do it? Oh yes, she felt strongly about it all. She was quite passionate really. It was great fun, even if she got butterflies in the stomach sometimes. They were all in it together. 

August 10 1969, the newspaper report said. That night she stood outside in the cold, on the Town hall steps. The George Street  traffic went by with its usual steady hum, ascending into a roar when the buses swung into the Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b  stop, disgorging protesters from the country areas. They strode purposefully up the steps until the Hall was full. Then the buses were diverted down to the Teachers Federation building in Sussex Street. She held up a poster that Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b  had given her. It was a cartoon with a picture of Whitlam, Gorton and Archbishop Gilroy. The passing crowd were friendly, encouraging her.

 It was the first time she had ever done such a thing. She didn’t want to talk to anyone. She didn’t want to look at anyone. The Press photographers were there so she held the poster rigidly, up in front of her face. She was doing as Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b  had requested her, but she didn’t want her picture on the front page of the Sydney Morning Herald. 

There was a policeman in front of her and people were milling around on the front of the steps. Someone trod on her toes, her coat fell open and a gust of wind blasted through her. She tried a balancing act with the poster, her hands, and the middle button of her coat. She failed. The poster fell over onto the policeman. He picked it up and gave her a professional smile. She stuttered her apologies, grabbed the poster and stood to attention behind her cardboard mask.

She put up with the cold until the crowd dwindled and it became obvious that she would not be able to get into either meeting place. A group of protesters clutching cardboard posters sheltered on the mosaic floor in the Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b  ante room, rubbing their hands and enjoying the relative warmth. They chatted about this and that. Some were teachers, others parents. There were one or two grandparents. Some were Liberal, some Labor, some swinging voters. Esther felt alive, excited, in the middle of things that mattered. They waited for the meeting to end. Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b , the leader of the opposition, came out early with his minders. He towered over them, striding out. He wasted no time with the protesters. Esther hadn’t seen him in the flesh before. A big, tall man, handsome in a fleshy, wavy haired, self-important way.  He was a contrast to Gorton with his poor reconstructed face, or big ears McMahon XE "McMahon:William, Prime Minister" \b  with his piping voice. 

Two of Esther’s companions, a man and wife, reacted. Esther looked at their casual clothes and listened to their broad accents and wondered whether they were ‘westies’. The man watched Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b ’s retreating figure andchatted with his wife:

Arrogant B.  He will sell out the public system for the DLP XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  preferences to get his prize.
What else do you expect? Power corrupts … smell of it corrupts absolutely. Sends his own children to private schools anyway.
He hasn’t got the Victorians with him—yet.
Don’t worry. Remember the iron rule—only rule of politics. What goes up comes down. Rooster today, feather duster tomorrow.
Perhaps it is time there were other preferences to put him in or out.
Esther agreed, silently. 

An agitated well-dressed lady, her blue rinse hair grown unruly from the winter gusts on the Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b  steps, pushed forward. It was Joyce Duncan from the Public Education Action group. She started pushing roneod sheets of information at the bystanders in the ante-room. She told them that she was 
in the Liberal Party and was not the only member worried about State Aid. Her organization had got legal advice from Edward St. John.  She waved copies at them. 

State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  contravenes Section 116 of the Constitution you know.
The middle-aged man who had been talking with his wife stepped forward and shook Joyce Duncan’s hand. He introduced himself as Doug Arnold from Kogarah. He wanted to know where the money was coming from for a High Court case: 

OK, we get ourselves a good QC and go to the High Court but  what happens if we lose? Will you put your Darling Point property on the line Joyce?
Joyce replied:

No, but the Victorians might. They have money. Some of them mighteven put  their property on the line.
Doug Arnold drew in his breath and gave a low whistle: 

It’s up to the individual, I suppose.
Esther was all ears. Why had these people been standing there holding their posters in the cold? The passers-by in the street thought they had rocks in their heads. But these people weren’t stupid. They were politically savvy and very determined—about an idea. Perhaps it was the only thing they all had in common. They believed that education should be available for all the children. Some of them had had to fight for their own education, but the opportunities had been there—just. Some were graduates of private schools and had strong feelings about unpleasant experiences. Some had come home from the war and demanded their national inheritance—entrance to the university. They all agreed that the public system was pretty good, but the buildings were being allowed to run down. If the private system was given State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  they believed that in the end, the public system would go down and their children’s opportunities gradually disappear. They disliked religious men playing blackmail politics with educational institutions, but were shy of the ‘sectarian XE "sectarian" \b ’ label. Still, as Doug Arnold said:

Call me what you like but not late for dinner. 

They all agreed that the DLP XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  preferences were the political problem and the time had come to play politics in reverse. 

Esther gathered the Sydney Morning Herald off the front lawn the next morning and opened it over breakfast prepared by her mother. The Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b  meeting made the front page, but it was reported that a policeman had been assaulted by one of the protesters. Esther thought this was ridiculous. They were the original middle-class, respectable protesters. She had seen no such thing. Then she wondered if she were the culprit. 

Esther’s memories were charging back, toppling one over the other. That meeting was just the beginning. How did they do it all and keep their jobs down? The electioneering, going out at night sticking election posters on telegraph poles, standing all day on the election booths, raising money selling pens, the protests at Waverley XE "Waverley:College" \b  College, Monte San Angelo at Strathfield, St. Catherine’s and others.  

Esther was always there. On the phone call from Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b  she’d dress up in her most respectable outfit, take her key off the hook and drive her little car to the ‘Schools with the Pools’. She didn’t always tell them at home what she was doing, but they knew. Someone had to do it. She would do it again. If she got a phone call from Kath Taylor tomorrow she would dress up in her best suit, put on the new red lippy, run the comb through her curly crop, drive off in her car and collect one of Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b ’s fun posters. Then she would stand steady on the protest line. 

She would ring Margaret.

Political Games in Tasmania 1969-1972

When Margaret turned her attention to members of the Tasmanian DOGS in 2007, she realised that most of the prominent members were dead. All that was left were her  memories and boxes of documents. Margaret herself had arrived in Hobart in mid 1971 to find a group of people meeting in the homes of  State school parents. Diana Ward, a lively housewife similar to Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b , bought together a group of people committed to the separation of Church and State XE "separation of church and state" \b  and public education. At an informal meeting held at the Elizabeth Matriculation College an elderly university lecturer, George Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b , offered to be the front man for the organisation. Marion Sturges XE "Sturges:Marion, Secretary DOGS Tasmania" \b , who was an experienced secretary of a Labor Party branch on the eastern shore, offered to be the official Secretary. George was a chunky man with a mass of white hair and bushy moustache, with a local history of battling the university establishment; and affiliation to the Labor party. The Tasmanian membership also included regional directors from the Education Department like Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b , prominent State school principals and teachers like Tas Knight XE "Knight:Tas, Member Tasmanian DOGS" \b  and Ross Butler XE "Butler:Ross, Tasmanian DOGS" \b , active parents, and members of the Labor party. A few academics also indicated interest on the sidelines. 

These people may read like a list of names on the page. They were more than that to Margaret. George Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  huffed and puffed and was ready for retirement, but he was a fighter. In the 1960’s he had battled the Sandy Bay university establishment during the infamous Orr case. This matter concerned academic independence but became murky when Sydney Sparkes Orr, the philosophy professor at the University of Tasmania, was accused of having a relationship with a student. George Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  proudly announced that they lost Orr when he died, but they won the war. The rebel academics who took on the University Council negotiated a financial settlement for Orr’s widow. They also obtained security of tenure for academic staff. 
Margaret’s husband Richard was a beneficiary of the academic freedom enjoyed in the 1970’s at this institution. 

The Orr case had not assisted Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b ’s academic career, but students and teachers in Hobart appreciated his dedication to the cause of Asian history. He was a cautious New Zealand Scot to a fault, but he knew his Taswegians. In a political stoush he tempered bombastic style with caution. When Margaret, Sydney-style, wanted to get the laughing initiative with a demonstration, George would laugh and refer to ‘an irrepressible force meeting an immovable object’.
Marion Sturges XE "Sturges:Marion, Secretary DOGS Tasmania" \b  was an older, sensible woman, an efficient secretary with a dry humour and determination to get things right. As she considered a response to official documents she would light up another cigarette, make a quiet non-committal remark, pat curly grey hair into place, then put pen to paper for a withering response. 

Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b  was a committed educational progressive from the Depression years. He was a ‘lad ‘o parts’ from Bracknall in the Tasmanian midlands, with family forebears well known in their local community. He became a Latin teacher, high school principal, and regional Director of Education. In the 1930’s, he was a member of the New Education Fellowship, and did research with the Australian Council of Educational Research. He travelled widely and obtained a Master of Education at the University of London. His thesis was on Lord Brougham, the Scottish educational reformer of the 1930s.
 He also published a biography of H.V. Biggins, the headmaster of Hobart High School.
Ross was himself an educational reformer, responsible for the introduction of senior colleges into Tasmania. He sat in his office in North Hobart and watched with thinly-disguised satisfaction as middle-class students flocked to these colleges from the private sector.

The Regional Director’s wide awake light blue eyes did not appear to blink, and his brain was constantly ticking over behind an expressionless departmental face. Yet, if anyone was passionate about the public system of education, it was Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b . Strong feelings could be read behind the face frozen in a mask when his cheek muscles tightened and a momentary flush raced across a forehead thrown into relief by a head of white hair. When his guard was down, he exhibited an irrepressible sense of humour. At a DOGS’ meeting in early November 1971, he announced that he and his Director General of Education had set up the meeting between members of the DOGS and the federal Minister of Education, the Hon. Malcolm Fraser XE "Fraser:Malcolm" \b . Bruce Ross and another member, Tas Knight XE "Knight:Tas, Member Tasmanian DOGS" \b , stood up from the table in the Battery Point dining room. George Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  started to clap in strict time and Bruce and Tas lifted their arms and saluted each other with a whoop; then proceeded to dance the highland fling. It was a Scottish dance, but there was shared Tasmanian bravado in their performance. 

Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b ’s dance partner, Tas Knight XE "Knight:Tas, Member Tasmanian DOGS" \b , was a survivor of the Japanese concentration camps in World War II. He was fiercely proud of his home state and its public education system. He used his well-oiled networks in the TAFE system to both his own advantage and that of his causes. Like Bruce Ross, he was well-travelled and reported on education systems in other countries. He was particularly impressed by the Soviet system which he had visited on a Rotary scholarship. 

The highland dancers were employed in the upper echelons of the Tasmanian public education bureaucracy. They were involved in the assessment of funding ‘needs’ in the State Education systems throughout Australia. The State Directors of Education prepared this document in the late 1960’s and presented it to the then federal Education Minister Malcolm Fraser XE "Fraser:Malcolm" \b . They also provided the report to State School Parents Organisations who used it to lobby the Labor Party. Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b  claimed that the State Directors believed the Labor Party hijacked their concept of ‘needs’ for State schools in this report when they invented a ‘needs’ policy to legitimise State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to ‘poor’ Church schools in 1973. 

Another member of the Tasmanian DOGS, Ross Butler XE "Butler:Ross, Tasmanian DOGS" \b , belonged to Margaret’s generation. He was softer voiced than the other men and honed up his political skills through the Teachers Union during the next four decades. Like Ernie Tucker XE "Ernie Tucker" \b  in the DOGS New South Wales, he rose in the ranks of the teaching profession. 

By Tasmanian standards, their Council for the Defence of Government Schools XE "Defence of Government Schools:DOGS" \b  was a large organisation. There were fewer than half a million people living in Tasmania in the early 1970’s and approximately eighty-five per cent of the children were in State schools. The social and political networks were circular and closely interlocked. Everybody either knew everybody else, or knew something about them. Long-term survivors advised newcomers that discretion was the better part of valour.

Most of the DOGS’ executive meetings were held in the dining room in Battery Point. Members sat around the polished cedar table, expostulating, planning and writing. Marion Sturges XE "Sturges:Marion, Secretary DOGS Tasmania" \b  keep all the documents—and the members—in order. Cups of tea and cakes were transported from the huon pine kitchen table in the next room.

Members of the Tasmanian DOGS were less exhuberant in their dealings with politicians and Church schools than their New South Wales counterparts. They had their own peculiar history. In September 1972 they organised a respectable demonstration at the graveside of Andrew Inglis Clark XE "Inglis Clark:Andrew" \b . They went down to the Queenborough Memorial Garden next to the Hutchins School for the demonstration and obtained substantial coverage in the local media for their trouble.
They knew that Clark, an Americanophile friend of Oliver Wendell Holmes of the United States Supreme Court, had introduced the initial version of Section 116 of the Australian Constitution XE "Section 116 of the Australian Constitution" \b . They also knew that the present Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b  was largely based on the draft constitution which Clark presented to the second 1891 Federal Convention which met in Sydney. Their press release noted that:

In Clark’s view, for a church, or for its agencies such as Church schools, to be supported by subsidies from the public treasury, was both spiritually weakening for that church, and was also a latent threat to the civil and religious liberty of all citizens. 
 
Clark based his religious liberty clause on The First Amendment of the American Constitution. The Tasmanians knew this history. They lived in it.  When Rosebank, Clark’s old residence in Hampden Road Battery Point came on the market, George Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  bought it.

As noted above, in Tasmanian society networks were useful if not essential, for survival. When members from the Tasmanian DOGS were invited on a delegation to see the Federal Minister for Education, Malcolm Fraser XE "Fraser:Malcolm" \b , at Burnie in November 1971, the Director-General asked to meet with  independent parents like Margaret and Mrs. Sturges XE "Sturges:Marion, Secretary DOGS Tasmania" \b . He briefed them. They were free to do what he could not. 

In Burnie the Federal Minister sat at the head of a large oval table,  long, horsey face in commanding pose, broad shoulders flexed upward in his designer suit. He looked down his born-to-rule nose over light-framed glasses, and, in a bored, boring voice read pages of figures massaged by ministerial advisers. He spouted facts and figures at them, but was nonplussed when the parent members of the delegation called his bluff and lobbed corrected figures back. Fraser XE "Fraser:Malcolm" \b , a man who understood figures  but not people, was reduced to begging the men on the delegation to keep Margaret, the well-briefed mother, quiet. The graduate from Geelong Grammar and Oxford University had no interest in the state of public education in Tasmania.
 Since this was a few days before his visit to Ernie Tucker XE "Ernie Tucker" \b  at Maroubra Girls’ High in Sydney, it is doubtful whether on this particular day he was particularly interested in the state of public education anywhere in Australia. He wanted to flick members of the Tasmanian delegation away as quickly as possible. Margaret felt as if she was offending his life space. She wondered whether he had ever had any dealings with a public school parent, let alone a student, before that day. All that privileged education and he didn’t know how to deal with a public school mother like herself—poor bloke.

For a time Margaret emulated Kath Taylor XE "Kath Taylor" \b  and in 1971-1972 managed a few splashes on the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  issue in the Tasmanian media. It was possible, initially at any rate, to get letters published in the Hobart Mercury and the Launceston Examiner. One such letter under her name prompted a phone call from the State Liberal Minister for Education, Mr. Mather. He wanted to see her. His secretary made an appointment for the following day. 

Mather was a Quaker and supporter of the Friends School. This was a Quaker institution supported by the Cadbury family. The Friends school was happy to take State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , although Quakers historically had a strict belief in separation of Church and State XE "Church and State" . Margaret knew this because there were concerned Quakers who had joined the DOGS. 

She was ushered into his ministerial office. A clean shaven, rotund little man with a burgher’s face, heavy dark eyebrows and hair was perched on a high-backed chair. The face was not far above his large polished blackwood desk. Margaret suppressed a smile as she arranged her skirt into the thin chair in front of him and looked down at the bulbous sides of the minister’s desk. He had been doodling on a pad of letterhead on the inlaid leather surface of the desk. She noted the old wooden filing cabinets and glass-fronted book shelves on the side of the office. Their deep brown warmth contrasted sharply with the grey metal filing cabinets and small compactus in the Secretary’s office. They failed to offset the official chill rising through the industrial blue carpet on the floor. The air conditioning didn’t help. She gave an involuntary shiver.
Margaret flexed her shoulders, sat forward on her chair, and looked across at the Minister on his raised swivel seating apparatus. She was more than happy to enlighten Mr. Mather on the strong beliefs of his religious forebears. She flicked the figures on State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  enjoyed by the Friends School across his wide table: as a Quaker did he believe that to him who hath, more should be given? 

He reqcted with a sequence of ascending clearings of the throat.They then engaged in heated discussion in his room on the top floor of the Bathurst Street Education Department building, facing north-east over Hobart. If they looked across to Newtown, they could glimpse the playing fields of the Quaker’s Friends School itself. Margaret was not unhappy with a verbal stoush. She was getting used to private school people asserting their religious or moral initiative. Mr. Mather was uncomfortable with robust discussion on this topic. He was showing her the door when she pointed out that history— let alone God—would not look too favourably upon religious men who chose Mammon over principle. He called her back and suggested five minutes silent meditation—Quaker-style. 

She returned to another chair, facing north-west. So—in the ministerial office overlooking North Hobart, with the Gothic spires of the Roman Catholic Cathedral of St Mary’s peering at her, she sat in silent meditation. She closed her eyes, listening to the hum of Hobart traffic. It gave her time to think about what to say next.  

It did no good. They agreed to disagree, and Mather swiftly terminated the interview with a limp hand shake. Margaret was inexperienced in Quaker quietism, but the religion of civility prevailed that day. She walked down the stairs, wondering how quickly she would be consigned to the shredder in the secetary’s office. 

The next day Margaret was taking her children across Sandy Bay road to their primary school, tired, frazzled and dressed in paint-spattered work clothes when she looked up to see Mr. Mather in a shining black car, waving to her as if he was the King of England. 

Private school enthusiasts did not overtly threaten anyone from the DOGS in Tasmania. That was not the Tasmanian way. Other, more effective ways of dealing with people who rocked the boat had evolved. It was an island community with close as well as closed networks. Limited employment opportunities depended upon unofficial as well as official curricula vitae.

On an organisational level, supporters from the religious school interest did attempt to take over State School parents groups. In 1976, the position of President of the Tasmanian State School Parents came up for election. At a crucial meeting the parents from the north-west and northern region managed to overcome their differences and vote together against a bunch of proxies from the south. Margaret did not find involvement with that political exercise an edifying experience, but it prepared her for harsher times in Melbourne.
DOGS members who were members of the Labor party were also placed in conflict-of-interest situations. They preferred networking to protest. This hampered their ability to take a strong line on State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  outside the party itself. The President of the DOGS, George Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b , was a member of this party. But he was also an acquaintance of the State Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b , Merv Everett. He was hoping to persuade Everett to give fiat for the High Court Challenge. The Tasmanian Attorney-General was having both political and personal problems in the period 1970-72, and was sympathetic, but unco-operative. There was a question whether he refused reluctantly. The result was the same—no fiat.

Dangerous Games in Melbourne 1969-1972

When Margaret turned to the members of the Melbourne DOGS in 2007 she could mine the memories of the living as well as the dead. This organisation had stood candidates in the 1969 Federal election, the 1970 Senate election and the State election. They had also followed the High Court case through to its bitter conclusion. Margaret was out on the hustings with members in the 1972 election. But it was when she was staying over in the Nilsen home in 1973 that she became aware of more dangerous games being played around her. 
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen’s public stance as the President of DOGS and his adherence to the separation of church and state XE "separation of church and state" \b  made him a target for religious extremists. It also attracted men and women activists with a similar world view. Marjan Jurjevic, XE "Jurjevic,:Marjan, opponent of Ustasha" \b  an immigrant from Yugoslavia embattled with a group of violent Croatian nationalists in Melbourne, was such a person. Bombs had been thrown and Serbian/Croat clashes in the streets of Melbourne echoed centuries of religious as well as ethnic conflict.
On a visit to Melbourne in mid-1973, Margaret was sleeping in a downstairs room in the Nilsen house at West Melbourne, when she was awakened at six o’clock by a young man with blond hair. He was looking down at her like a hunted animal. When he saw she was awake, he muttered that he had come to collect some of his possessions. He turned his back, and left the room. She shut her eyes. The cheekbones were too high for an English or Australian boy. Was he Scandinavian or Slav? 

Margaret thought no more about it until she went to lunch at the West Melbourne dining table that day. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  was agitated, making signs to her brother and mother and whispering something about ‘Johnnie’.  Finally, wondering whether he was one of Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s ‘lost sheep’, Margaret asked whether ‘Johnnie’ was the young man whom she saw in her bedroom that morning. There was a startled silence. She was curious and persisted. Finally, a decision was made by her hosts to trust the discretion of their guest.

‘Johnnie’ was a young Croatian man called Ivan. He was a reluctant member of a Ustasha ‘troika’who had defected. He was staying with the Nilsens until a safe house could be found for him. ‘Troikas’ were groups of three Croatian separatists who were allegedly being trained in bomb and ballistic warfare in secret locations throughout Victoria. These were the days before the disintegration of Yugoslavia, and bombs had been thrown at the Yugoslav embassy and Yugoslav immigrants in Melbourne. The Yugoslav Settlers Association and its clubrooms in Fitzroy had been the target of a number of attacks. 

Croatia, under Pavelic and his Minister for the Interior, Artukovic, had collaborated with the Nazis during the Second World War. They were held responsible for the massacre of large numbers of Serbs. War criminals from Croatia had escaped at the end of the war through the Vatican to South America and Australia. This ‘way out’ was known as the ‘Ratlines’, and is the title of a book on the subject
.  Much of the material for that book came from a Dalmatian immigrant called Marjan Jurjevic. This was stored in boxes stacked in the downstairs bedroom occupied by Margaret on the morning she looked up at the young Croatian defector, Ivan. Other materials were contained in a suitcase that Marjan Jurjevic left with Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  before he returned to a hero’s welcome in Yugoslavia in 1974. 

Marjan Jurjevic, had been a Dalmatian intelligence agent for the allies during the War. He found himself in danger from Nazi collaborators from Croatia who had also migrated to Melbourne. He had met Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  in the streets of Melbourne in 1968. She bought him home to her mother’s dinner table where he unburdened himself. He had been sued for defamation by a Croatian Catholic priest, and the case had dragged on for four years before the priest dropped the case.
 He had noticed Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s opposition to Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b ’s National Civic Council XE "National Civic Council" \b  and the religious school interest on the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  issue, and approached him for assistance. Marjan Jurjevic trusted the Nilsens and asked them to assist him in his attempts to expose the activities of the Croatian ‘troikas’ in Victoria. He wrote a well-researched account of the Ustasha or Croatian fascists in both Yugoslavia and Australia, 
 but he was having difficulty in persuading the federal police and the Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b , Ivor Greenwood, to take the Croatian nationalist activities seriously. He claimed he had also been frustrated by members of Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b ’s National Civic Council when attempting to communicate his concerns to law officers.  

Marjan lived on the 16t floor of the Carlton Housing Commission flats because he thought that was the safest place to take his wife. He was wrong. A bomb was detonated outside his residence on 6 April, 1972. He was inside with his wife. The good news about this event was a news release from Marjan and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  on the front page of The Age and a realisation by the Victorian premier, Dick Hamer, that bombs were actually being thrown. The Attorney-General, Senator Ivor Greenwood was in denial. 

The explosion did not deter Jurjevic in his attempt to warn the politicians and ASIO about the caches of weapons in Melbourne. Nor was he alone. A member of the Socialist Left of the Labor Party, Joan Coxsedge XE "Coxsedge:Joan" \b  
was concerned about the ‘Croatian’ question,  and the Shadow Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  Lionel Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  and Dr Jim Cairns M.P. took the ex-intelligence agent from Yugoslavia seriously. 

In 1973, Jurjevic worked as a pilot, guiding large ocean going liners through the treacherous shoals of Port Phillip heads. Night after night Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  accompanied him down to his job on the waterfront and met him when he came off duty. Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  Nilsen would feed him before and after he went to the wharves. As he talked the talk of her husband’s friends, she wriggled pine cones and splinters of wood into her kitchen stove. For a few moments every day Jurjevic and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  felt cosseted and safe. 

Margaret met both Jurjevic and his wife in their flat. He was a middle aged man with a thin face, bloodless complexion and a scarcity of hair. He dominated the conversation, spitting words out of his mouth at breakneck speed, answering his own rhetorical questions. 
Jurjevic said that in January 1963, when he tried to get into a Conference of the Croatian Nationalist Associations in Sydney, he received two broken ribs for his trouble. In November of that year, a parcel bomb addressed to him blew up in the post office. Death threats were a common occurrence. He had anti-fascist friends trying to contact him from overseas whom he believed had been murdered; and finally, he described in graphic detail the bombing of his own flat. He did not wave his arms or intrude upon her life space, but pointed at a chronological list of events spanning the years 1963 to 1972.
Margaret reeled at the implications of his story. He was describing a cloak and dagger world beyond either her experience or imagination.

His wife sat curled up with books on her lap. She had carried a tray with tea and home-made biscuits from the kitchen then reclined, withdrawn, in a low-slung lounge chair. Jurevic talked incessantly in his European accent, punctuating his exclamations with a finger jabbing papers on his lap. In passing he offered the information that his wife was a French teacher in a local state high school. Her luxuriant hair was drawn back, revealing streaks of grey at the temples. She was preparing lessons for the following day. Margaret made the mental note that this calm, task-oriented lady did not have to stay with her man in this dangerous place. Then she wondered why she herself was there.

Jurjevic mentioned there was also a daughter, but she was not living with her parents. Margaret felt a stab of regret. She wished she could have a friendly chat with the wife in the kitchen. She was missing her own children who, for safety reasons, were living with her family in Sydney. Jurjevic continued his story in agitated tones as his wife retreated further into her books. 

In December 1972 there was a change of government in Canberra and Lionel Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  became the federal Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b . As the Minister responsible for the agency, he paid a visit to ASIO to obtain relevant documentation on the activities of the Ustasha in Australia.
 This ‘visit’ was later promoted to the status of a ‘raid.’
In 1973, the president of Yugoslavia was visiting Australia and Jurjevic was invited to Canberra to meet him. It so happened that on that day members of the DOGS delegation were presenting oral submissions to the Interim Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b . Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and Margaret went with Jurjevic to the airport where he was met by a security man with broad shoulders and a very odd top-heavy body shape. It was only when Margaret was on the plane that she realised that the outsized jacked concealed guns strapped to the security agent’s chest.

Since the Second World War, alongside the English and the Celts, Australia had introduced members of other warring tribes into the Australian melting pot. There were memories of the Moslem overlords of the Ottoman Empire, and centuries of religious differences and bad blood between the members of the Roman Catholic and the Serbian Orthodox institutions in Yugoslavia. These tribes had been uneasily cobbled together by Tito in the Yugoslav Federation. Unfortunately, some members of these tribes carried bad blood, and worse memories to the Antipodes. Civilians had already become collateral damage in disagreements between Croatians and Serbs in Melbourne. Jurjevic and his family were lucky to be alive. 

The Serbian population in Melbourne generally wanted to integrate into the broader community. A few members of the Croatian community, with the blessing of some of the hierarchy of the Roman Catholic Church were militantly nationalist. When Yugoslavia was no more, the saddest people were those who believed a Yugoslavia possible and had intermarried. The members of the DOGS had always hoped that if the children of the warring tribes were educated in school together, centuries of cries for revenge could be thwarted and fade.

Margaret felt a sense of communal guilt and shame lurking under the surface of her own Australian identity, the unresolved blood guilt that haunted descendants of men driven by land hunger. They had vanquished the indigenes in colonial invasions, raped the land, and left a desert in their wake. She wanted to find words to sound the warning that the revival of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to sectarian XE "sectarian" \b  institutions meant the separation of children at birth, a return to tribalism, and a betrayal of the Enlightenment desire to leave Old World hatreds behind. 

CHAPTER SIX

THE ELEPHANT IN THE ROOM

State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  and the Labor Party

The dining table in West Melbourne 

By September 2007 Margaret’s brain was suffering from undigested documents. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s dinner table in West Melbourne was a welcome change from poring over old newspapers and sifting through memoirs of dying or dead politicians in the State library.
 She was tied up in strands of varied versions of wheels, deals, and decisions. Then, as the desiccated fruit fell from the trees she was confronted with obituaries.
 You mustn’t speak ill of the dead.

As she fossicked for answers to Labor Party mysteries in the documents from the 1970’s, Margaret was hearing unresolved discords in the notes of their muted litanies. For her, the internecine squabbles of the Labor party had always been impenetrable: the subject of coffee shop gossip or ideological wranglings among friends who took politics too seriously. She had other interests, and assumed that religion and politics were not proper subjects in civil Australian society. Her parents voted Liberal, not because they were interested in politics but because they considered themselves respectable members of the professional classes, a bit above their mining and farming forebears.  

As a university student she was instructed that the Australian Labor Party was the Party of the Working Class, the Party of ‘initiative’. Conservative parties on the other hand, were relegated to the role of temporary ‘resistance’.
This was hardly the political scenario confronting her in current accounts of the intervention of the Federal Executive in the Victorian Labor Party in 1970.  Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  and the federal executive were forcing the Victorians to follow the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  policy of the Conservative Government. By 2007 it was an even more topsy-turvy view of Kevin Rudd XE "Rudd:Kevin" \b ’s attempt to grab the conservative initiative from Prime Minister Howard and negotiate a church-state settlement acceptable to the Roman Catholic hierarchy. He promised to continue Howard’s funding policies which favoured private, religious schools. Rudd XE "Rudd:Kevin" \b  refused to even refer to ‘public’ schools. 

When she grew up in Sydney in the 1950’s, Margaret’s immediate family had been conservative in more ways than one. They conducted their relationships according to a strict code. Her mother shook fair girlish ringlets, opened wide her almond-shaped eyes, and wagged an index finger as she instructed her children to be ‘strictly honest’. She herself called ‘a spade a spade’. Margaret had innocently transferred this expectation to politicians and developed an allergy to political double-think. Her husband Richard accused her of being naïve, explaining that politics was about power and compromise. She understood his point, in her mind at least. She had even worked in the corridors of power and received training in the art of anaesthetised prose. But as a citizen-taxpayer, she found the exercise unedifying and resented being treated with contempt. As a humble citizen, she crumpled up ministerial media releases designed to ‘feed the chooks’.
Eventually she became a disaffected citizen, wishing ‘a plague on all their houses’.
These emotional reactions were a luxury in her research of the DOGS High Court case as she struggled through Labor Party secondary sources in 2007. She was stuck in a September 1970 quagmire , aware that, historically, she had arrived at a crucial ‘choice point’ in her story. 

***

On the evening of 17th September 2007, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  had heated up the soup for the communal table and filled it with every vegetable she could find in the Queen Victoria market. She carried in her stainless steel pots, ladles and plates and placed them at the far end of the table. Beside herself, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  was cooking for only eight around the table. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , Henry, Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b , Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b , John, Richard and Margaret helped themselves and were tucking in while it was hot. The cook was busy spooning a dish out for Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b  who was just home from hospital. His eyes smiled through his thick glasses as he poured some milk into his mug. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  had come down from the country to help Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  with Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b  and John had called in to give the patient a shower. Margaret looked around the table. Some had grey or whitening hair and spines curving over. But the eyes were bright and tongues sharper than ever. Margaret wondered whether mining the memories of the living might be more profitable than sorting the consciences of the dead. 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  served herself last, and sat down next to Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b . She helped herself to soup and was buttering a piece of bread. She curled the dainty fingers of her right hand around the knife, leaving the index finger free to point along the top. 

How are you going with our story Margaret? You know that…

She was off. At this table Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  could start three conversations going at once, then follow them all as they bolted around the plates, mugs, and pepper pot. Margaret sported a number of letters after her name but her mind, survivor of the suds of several university wringers, could only follow one argument at a time. She lived with the hope, if not expectation that arguments could be logical. She was overwhelmed by her own ignorance and felt like telling Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  to do it herself. It was difficult, but she jumped in with the soft response: 

You’re not wrong. Official historians have already had a go, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b . 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  didn’t care if her soup got cold. She was in full flight with all her pet hates—academics, politicians, time-serving priests and parsons, editors, lawyers—instinctive reactions grounded in a lifetime of experience. It was satisfying to blurt it out, but they had all heard it before. Margaret felt frustration rising into her throat. She pushed away the soup plate and rose to help herself to the main course. Both she and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  were aware that there were myriad facts darting around the elephantine memory hiding under Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s Norwegian cooking scarf and wispy white hair. Margaret needed to collect and make sense of them all. 

Margaret was being drawn into Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s emotionally-charged world. Sitting next to university research fellow Richard, she was tempted to plead charity for the much-maligned academics—restructured remnants with their teaching, administrative and marking overloads; researchers on contract, chasing grants for politically correct consultancies. She didn’t have a hope. But she was never one to reject a challenge. 

She launched into the verbal fray. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  could have her discussion, and she would have hers, even if it was a monologue. It didn’t matter if nobody was listening and it was pointless to take offence. She vaguely hoped Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  would get the message that she was responding to her proper concerns.

As Margaret projected her teaching voice she said primly that she had been reading up on the career of H.V. Evatt his nemesis, Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b , and the DLP XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  split in 1954. She announced her discovery that as early as 1923, Vere Gordon Childe XE "Childe:Gordon, historian" \b  had listed the problems inherent in the divergent interests attached to the Labor Party. For example, Roman Catholicism, with dogmas supporting private property, was essentially anti-socialistic while socialism was traditionally anti-clerical. Childe XE "Childe:Gordon, historian" \b  described Labor politicians 
 as walking a tight-rope, vacillating between the working class that put them into power, while avoiding offence to middle-class voters. In the 1920s Childe XE "Childe:Gordon, historian" \b  was a refugee academic from Queensland University who enjoyed a European career as an archaeologist. He returned home to Australia in 1957. Disillusioned about his search for an integrated, just society, he committed suicide.

Margaret had grabbed the attention of storyteller Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  . She was interested in tragic stories about underdogs—even if they were academics. Margaret pushed on. In the 1950’s Childe XE "Childe:Gordon, historian" \b  was followed by another Queensland academic called Tom Trumann. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  had heard about him. She had his book. Margaret raised her voice to the haranguing level, before Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  could take the table talk off on a tangent. She took some notes out of her pocket and referred to them. 

A fate similar to that of Childe XE "Childe:Gordon, historian" \b  awaited Tom Truman XE "Truman:Tom, historian" \b  in 1959 when he attempted to produce evidence about the relations between the Roman Catholic Church and politics in Australia. He said he hoped to start a debate on the future of the liberal democratic social and political system in his country but realised soon enough that he was like the ‘boy who poked a stick into the hive to see the bees come out —brave, but foolhardy’. He complained that some people thought it fair enough to defend the Catholic cause, but wrong to speak up for the liberal democratic one.
 He left Queensland University for Canada soon after. As far as Margaret knew he hadn’t been sighted since.

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s long hair was escaping from under the bobby pins in the Norwegian handkerchief. She tugged at the upper bib of her apron which was off centre. She crowed. 

We’re still here. We’re not leaving the country! 

Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  was busy enjoying the soup. Her hair was styled short and her designer dress from the op shop fitted neatly. She looked sideways at her identical twin, smiling proud agreement.

Margaret persisted. This was important background for an understanding of Mannix, Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b , Evatt and the 1954 Labor Party split, but for Margaret’s purposes her research was bogged down in 1970. September the 14th of that year appeared to be a watershed date for the Victorian Labor party. This was the day on which the federal executive of the Labor Party sacked members of their Victorian counterpart.  Margaret was wondering if they knew anyone involved. She didn’t stop to get an answer because this dinner table was like parliament. She had to just keep talking if she wanted to get a word in edgeways: motormouth Margaret.

She complained that she was barely dog-paddling through the many versions of the 1970 intervention of the Federal Executive in political memoirs. Was it a garroting or a wonderful reform? The ‘wonderful reform’ version was the current winner, and a group called ‘The Participants’ were knights in shining armor that saved the Labor Party and Australia.
 Margaret had spent a tedious time on all this in the libraries; was talking over Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ; and could not resist the temptation to show off and tempt Richard into the discussion.She said:
I think Australia is fast developing its own version of Whig
 history. 

Henry had been persisting with his soup. He was holding his head down close to the plate, but jerked up with a quick aside. 

Call it Whit history. 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  stopped in her tracks to hear what her usually silent brother, Henry, was saying. Richard entered the fray, trying to keep things a bit objective. 

Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  did some interesting things. More older students went to University.
John’s children were at the Victoria University of Technology in Footscray. He was standing at the end of the table, bending his preying mantis arms over for a second helping of soup. 

My  children got  a big HECS debt. I have no hope of helping them out. Me?   Struggling to hold down a job. Free education…humph!
Margaret gave up on the voices, but she heard.  

Just call private public, and Rudd XE "Rudd:Kevin" \b ’s your uncle. We all have to jump on the same bus now. 

Margaret finally remembered that she was here to trade information, so she forgot all restraint and yelled:

Just who were these ‘participants?
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  could hear three conversations at once. Like his mother before him, he sat at the head of the table, listening. He had a photographic memory for information he considered important. In staccato, his memory spat out the answers. He listed them: Dick McGarvie, the ex-Governor; John Cain, the Premier; Frank Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b , the Commissioner; John Button, the Federal Minister, Frank Vincent, the judge;  alastair Nicholson, the family court judge; Xavier Connor, another judge; Michael Duffy, Barney Cooney, Jim Kennan. Most were politicians recruited from the legal fraternity. Ray  continued
They were members of the Fabian society. You know—‘softly softly…catchee monkee…’ Don’t know where Race Matthews fitted in. Some said he was a loner who advised Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  on Education. Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  called himself Fabius Maximus and Matthews said he was Fabius Minimus.
For Margaret these names figured in the official records in the corridors of power, and blurred windows of microfiche media in the State Library. Their faces and traces had fallen out of the polystyrene document boxes Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had made available to her. She looked at the people around the table and suddenly realised that Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and his brother Henry, not to mention the twin sisters, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b , were intimately acquainted with the faces and fortunes of these people. This was their town and they could almost certainly identify the living downtown in Spring, Exhibition, Russell and William Streets Melbourne.

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had grabbed the table talk initiative and told Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  to be quiet when she interrupted him. He said he remembered the purging of the Victorian branch of the Labor party at the Travelodge in St. Kilda . Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  jumped in and said it was near Melbourne Grammar, but Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  said it was clear in his mind. The meeting was opposite the shrine. He had organised members of the DOGS and they were holding placards in support of Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b . Not everybody believed the media campaign against the then Secretary of the Victorian Labor party. Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  was still tip-toeing around the Vietnam War issue even though public opinion was running strongly against it. The Labor Party leader believed he needed the Catholic vote to gain residency at the Lodge in Canberra. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had told the other protesters outside the Travelodge Motel that Vietnam would pass, but the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  issue would never die. Not while there was a Church and a State. 

Margaret pulled him back to the specifics. What happened exactly?

On Sepember 14 1970 they sacked Bill, who was the Victorian Labor Party Secretary, along with his assistant Glyde Butler XE "Butler:Ross, Tasmanian DOGS" \b , country organiser Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  Hogg and some of the office staff.
Henry was alert. Ignoring Margaret, he jumped into dialogue with Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  Hogg has done OK since then, helping Maxine McKew beat Howard in his own electorate, but Bill….
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  gave a swift punctuation of his right shoulder.

People made choices.
Henry shrugged both shoulders.

Bill knew where all the bodies were buried….Poor Bill.
Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  seized the initiative back again. When it came to people, especially the losers, she was expert. Bill used to talk to her when she took him soup at the place she found for him in Walsh Street, West Melbourne. He worked very hard for the Food Preservers’ Union in those days and like the DOGS, had a program every Saturday morning—Par Avion—on the community radio station 3CR. But he was in financial trouble. 

The Electoral Commissioner had placed an injunction on Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  and others when they promoted optional preferential voting in the 1987 election. 
 His house and possessions had been sold to pay for Supreme court costs awarded against him. 
Nellie believed that Bill had no place of his own until his son helped him buy the house in the northern suburbs. The Electoral Commissioner was eventually forced to admit that optional preferential voting was legal, but that was no use to Bill. He lost his case and house. But Bill was very proud. His friends only discovered Bill’s plight when his furniture was listed in a sheriff’s disposal sale. 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  had later met up with the witness from the Electoral Commission in Errol Street in North Melbourne. He was retired and willing to tell her what we all suspected anyway. The political bosses in Canberra were the pressure behind that injunction in the 1987 election. But Bill was a true gentleman, always pleasant to Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b : never said a bad word about anyone that she heard. 
Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  finished her soup, and. leaning over, with dolly blue eyes tilted upwards through developing glaucoma, finally got her word in:

 Bill always said that State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  was the elephant in the room.
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had the last say. He said that for a full a full understanding of the 1970 federal intervention in the Victorian Labour Party, Margaret should have interviewed Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  before he died. But Joan Coxsedge XE "Coxsedge:Joan" \b  and Kevin Healy were also involved. They were still around. Then he laughed. The DOGS had unwittingly got caught up in the federal takeover bid. Five days after the Federal Intervention in the Victorian Labor party, on September 19, 1970, he stood as a DOGS candidate in the Chisholm by-election XE "Chisholm by-election" \b . 

When we came home that night from the polling booths we realised that we had a rogue elephant by the tail.
Was this a missing piece in Margaret’s jigsaw?

Do tell.
The Elephant by the Tail.

The Chisholm By-election: 19 September 1970.

Henry settled into a corner near the Camberwell polling booth. It was 7.45 am on Saturday morning, 19 September 1970. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had dropped him off and said he would collect him after closing time at 8.00 pm. They both understood that could mean 9.30 p.m. Henry flexed his carpenter’s muscles. Overtime was overtime. 

The Labor Party had lost the state election in May 1970, and the Federal Executive had intervened in the State Labor Party branch on September 14th. The sitting Liberal MP, Sir Wilfred Kent Hughes had died, and one of the Federal Executive supporters, Frank Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b , was standing in this Chisholm by-election XE "Chisholm by-election" \b . The mainstream media had been very supportive of the ‘purge’ of the the ‘extreme’ members of the left—supporters of traditional Labor policies, anti-State Aiders, and opponents of conscription and the Vietnam War. 

Henry made sure he was 30 yards from the door of the polling booth. He protected his box of how-to-vote cards with a towel and hid them in his lunch box. Then he draped his raincoat over them and stood up ready to catch the early morning voters. If it rained he shouldn’t get too wet if he stood under the draping branches of the large peppercorn tree. The Liberal Party workers were staking out their territory over their side of the cyclone fence entrance. The face of an eager-faced bespectacled Mr. Staley was on their cards. The thirty-one year old face of Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  looked up at Henry from his DOGS handouts.
The day was likely to be quiet. He wouldn’t have a Democratic Labor Party supporter abusing him. Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b ’s groupers were not standing a candidate and the Australia Party candidate, Andrew Morrow was friendly to the DOGS position. Frances Xavier Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  was the Labor party candidate hoping to pick up the DLP XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  voters from the last election. His worker had just arrived and was positioning himself. Henry’s hopes for a quiet day receded. He had had trouble from this guy when he in the state-wide election in May. He was giving out DLP cards then. 
Henry concentrated on the early voters walking in steady numbers through the gates. Most voters knew exactly what they wanted. He was pleasantly surprised at the number who accepted his cards with a smile. Some voters gave him a friendly wink as they requested the DOGS How to Vote cards. 

Before lunch, a large black sedan stopped just outside the polling booth gate and Frank Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  jumped out. He ignored his own worker as he came straight towards Henry. He was an energetic man in a well-tailored suit and confronted Henry in his working clothes.

We’ll be relieving you of those cards within the half hour.
The Hell you will!
Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  didn’t stay, Henry heard him announce to the world at large he was off to let Henry’s friends know they could take the day off. 

The rest of the day passed uneventfully.

***

When some of the DOGS workers gathered around the dinner table for the customary tea and cake, Henry contributed to the saga with the puzzle of Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b ’s threat. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  found the answer when she was leafing through the first edition of The Herald of 19 September 1970. There was an article on page three: ‘By-Election Injunction Refused’..

The report indicated that the Supreme Court judge, Justice McInerney missed the first half-hour of his favourite footy game because Frank Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  had attempted to place an injunction on the distribution of DOGS how to vote cards at the polling booths. The application was heard at the judge’s study at his home in Kew. Mr. Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  was represented by Mr. Richard McGarvie QC, assisted by Mr. Alastair Nicholson, barrister, with instructing solicitor Mr. W. Melzer. Evidence was heard from Mrs. Jean Melzer, secretary of the ALP campaign committee. 

The claim was that Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s how-to-vote cards could mislead voters. Preferences had not been allocated by DOGS and both Liberal and Labor voters were given a choice of their usual party preferences. Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  claimed that he had been unable to contact Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , so the defendant was neither informed nor represented in the Judge’s study that morning. Yet Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s legal rights did not appear to have been an issue. Justice McInerney refused the application on the grounds that a Parliamentary candidate had no standing to seek an injunction under the Commonwealth Electoral Act. 

The Saturday by-election was seen by many as a litmus test for voters’ response to federal intervention in the Victorian branch of the Labor party on the previous Monday. Gough Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  himself had written an open letter to the voters of Chisholm on behalf of Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b . 

…may I suggest that there is one crucial, highly topical reason for giving Frank Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  your support? During the campaign the Labor Party has been engaged in most important discussions here in Melbourne…

Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  did not have a good day. He lost the election badly to Mr. Staley, and the DOGS attracted a lot of disgruntled Labor voters. They obtained 9.13% of the vote, more than that obtained by the DLP XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  in the previous election. It seemed that Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b ’s hope that the Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  electoral result would vindicate the federal intervention of the 14 September had not been shared by the voters of Chisholm. 

The mainstream and Catholic Press noted the backlash against the Federal Intervention in the Victorian branch of the Labor Party and the strength of the anti-State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  vote in the Chisholm by-election XE "Chisholm by-election" \b .
 They also noted the 7.4% obtained by the NSW DOGS in the St. Georges River by-election on the same day.
 The Catholic Worker
 hoped that ‘in the overall picture Chisholm was too soon for the Federal intervention to have an effect’ and looked forward to the next by-election.Their hopes were not realised. In the West Melbourne by-election DOGS scored 32,000 primary votes or approximately 30% of the total vote. 

These were the early days of Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s involvement with the DOGS. He had a childlike trust in democratic processes and the Rule of Law. Sitting next to his mother at the dining table, he shook his head when he read the report on Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  and Justice McInerney. He felt incredulous, violated. How could Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b ’s legal maneuvers be possible without his being given notice of the injunction and right of representation at a formal court hearing? If Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  had won the injunction at the Supreme Court level Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  might have been loaded with heavy costs. Why did they meet  privately at the judge’s home? He turned to the press, asking The Herald for a right of reply. His written response failed to appear. 

It was not surprising that Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  felt he had unwittingly grabbed a rogue elephant by the tail. 

Labor, federal intervention and the Socialist Left

Margaret was not the only one writing about the the 1970 Federal Labor Party Intervention in Victoria in 2007. Joan Coxsedge XE "Coxsedge:Joan" \b , a former Member of the Victorian Legislative Council for Melbourne West, had just published a book entitled Cold Tea for Brandy.
 Snugly nested in the seventh chapter of this lady’s racy autobiography was the unexpurgated, unofficial history of federal intervention in the Victorian Labor Party. When describing the sea change in Labor policy on State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , Joan didn’t mince words. She wrote:

In 1967, Edward Gough Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b , a shrewd ambitious politician, seized the parliamentary leadership from the less-polished Arthur Calwell after convincing American power-brokers he was made of the right stuff...In 1970, believing he could not win the coveted top job unless he purged the Victorian ALP—a view pushed by the relentless media campaign against the branch’s ‘extreme left’ executive, focusing on branch secretary Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  and president George Crawford—Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  went for the jugular. The catalyst was state aid to private schools, opposition to which had been an important plank of the federal platform. Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  set to reverse the policy to placate the bishops and bring back the Catholic vote. He was strongly supported by a powerful in-house group called the ‘Participants’, mainly from the legal fraternity, who pushed hard for intervention into the Branch’s internal affairs. 

Margaret picked up several copies of the book at the launch on 21 November 2007 in the ballroom-bar at Trades Hall in Carlton, Melbourne. Joan was a feisty septuagenarian. With her children, grandchildren and many friends looking on, she announced that she wanted to let her untold stories about the Vietnam War demonstrations, Labor Party compromises, ASIO and South American travels have an airing.

Margaret took heart for her own enterprise. She lined up to get her autographed copy of the book, and requested an interview with the author. As she read further into Chapter Seven of the book she also established that what Joan called the ‘garroting’ of Victorian Labor on 14 September 1970 was the beginning, not the end, of the matter.

The early 1970’s were the days before well-orchestrated, carefully choreographed Labor Party conferences. The 1971 inaugural meeting of what Joan referred to as the gutted Victorian branch was held at the St. Kilda Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b . This was the first chance members had to vent their rage at the ‘entire seedy episode’ of the intervention of the federal executive in Victorian branch affairs. Joan said the members went feral. She lost her voice for a fortnight. At a second robust meeting, at Festival Hall—the scene of Melbourne’s boxing and wrestling matches—the internal voting system was changed from first past the post to proportional representation. Joan considered that this formalised the factional divide. 

There were two new groupings: the right-wing Centre Unity and the Independents who were mainly members of the ‘Participants’. But the Socialist Left attracted a large number of members and their candidate, George Crawford from the Plumbers Union, beat the Centre Unity candidate by one vote for the position of state ‘supremo’. So the Socialist Left’s man became President. 

Joan Coxsedge XE "Coxsedge:Joan" \b  felt that the early days of the Victorian Socialist Left XE "Victorian Socialist Left" \b  faction were exciting, with members working at getting important issues into the public arena. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  Hogg was the Secretary however, and by 1972 the structures were formalised into a hierarchy with competition for political positions. From 1979 to 1992, Joan was elected to the Victorian Legislative Council for Melbourne West. By the mid 1970’s, the Socialist Left, as the largest, most influential faction in the Victorian Labor Party, had attracted what Joan called opportunists and carpetbaggers. 

Margaret marked the relevant bits of Joan Coxsedge XE "Coxsedge:Joan" \b ’s book with a yellow highlighter, and a few weeks after the book launch, the two women reminisced. They sat on either side of the West Melbourne dining table, sipping the usual mugs of Twinings tea. Joan was recognisable from the photos of her as a girl in her autobiography. Her trim figure and hair, wide-set eyes and crescent moon smile had scarcely varied. Nor, one suspected had her graphic turns of phrase.The unprintable bits about various politicians were the most interesting part of their discussion, but sadly—unprintable. 

Margaret expressed interest in the careers of Joan Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  and Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b . She asked Joan if she had an explanation for the stark contrast between their individual careers in the Australian Labor Party. 

There was a reason for her interest. Joan Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  from the state school parents clubs had placed her name on the list of plaintiffs in the DOGS case, but later applied to get off it. Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b , on the other hand, rebuffed all approaches made to him to follow Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b ’s example. Hartley was cast out of the Labor Party in 1987, living the rest of his life in political exile. Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  made it to Premier of Victoria in 1991.

Joan Coxsedge XE "Coxsedge:Joan" \b  paused. She believed that Joan Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  had joined the Socialist Left faction of the Labor party in the late seventies. Margaret Willshire, the executive officer from the Victorian Council of State School organisations XE "State School organisations" \b  (VICCSO) was a close friend of Joan Coxsedge XE "Coxsedge:Joan" \b , and informed her that Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  had come into the socialist left faction of the Labor Party because she thought that it was the best opportunity to become a candidate in a safe seat. 

Margaret Willshire knew Joan Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  through the state schools parents’ organisation. They both possessed exceptional organisational and administrative abilities. Any similarity ended there. Margaret Willshire had a matronly figure, bright carrot red hair, glasses with ornamental frames, and heavy makeup that masked the lupus condition that was leading her to her death. She possessed research skills and dedicated these to her causes and friends. She was loyal to a fault. 

Joan Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  was pleasantly plump, but not matronly. She was vivacious and pretty, with dark curly hair, rosebud lips, and the capacity to attract unquestioning loyalty among her state school parents. She assisted in the organisation of large political demonstrations of state school parents, and became an accomplished public speaker in her cause.  She was attracted to the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  issue in 1971 and was prepared to become a signatory to the DOGS High Court writ. She later regretted this and attempted to have her name removed.
In 1973 Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  had been selected by the Federal Minister for Education, Kim Beazley Snr from a list of nominees as a representative of State school parents on the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b . She did not disappoint Minister Beazley or her fellow Commissioner, Father Martin, the representative from the Victorian Catholic Education Office. She claimed that this fellow Commissioner persuaded her to take her name off the High Court Challenge. 
 
Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  also organised a change in the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  policy of the National State Schools organisation (ACSSO) to reflect the federal ALP State Aid ‘Needs’ policy. Members from her parents’ clubs attended an annual VICCSO Conference with the same objective. Margaret Willshire, who at that time was the President of VICCSO noted faces she had never seen before and stepped down from the chair to speak in favour of retention of the VICCSO ‘No State Aid’ policy. The numbers fell in favour of the federal ALP policy. 
Joan Coxsedge XE "Coxsedge:Joan" \b  said that she was astonished at Margaret Willshire’s news that Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  was looking for a safe Labor seat as early as 1978. But perhaps it is best at this stage to let Joan speak for herself:

Joan Coxsedge XE "Coxsedge:Joan" \b ’s Story:
I said: but Margaret (Willshire), you’ve got to be in the party for years. Well—Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  proved me wrong didn’t she? Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  had been in the party for years, and had been on the Senate ticket but they moved his name down the list into an unwinnable position. I suppose they didn’t want him to be in the Senate with Senator Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  where he could have a much more powerful voice and raise issues. They hounded both Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  and Bill. But Bill kept on trying. He had an amazing capacity to ignore barbs and arrows slung in his direction. I spoke on his behalf when he was formally expelled from the Party at the Conference in Tasmania in 1987,
 but he didn’t fight it. He let them have it all their own way. Perhaps he was knackered.

In 1970 Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  should have been the Secretary of the Socialist Left, but he was sidelined and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  Hogg got the job. Hogg later went to work for John Singleton who was in the extreme right faction.  He disliked Bill and myself—we were the two stand-outs. Bill knew a lot about Hogg, but was reluctant to write it down.

Bill could be frustrating to deal with. He could be a bit anarchic in his habits. But we all understood him in a funny sort of way, and were very fond of him. The right-wing members in the Party hated Bill. He didn’t compromise on Labor Party policy, and was the eternal optimist. Bill’s radio program on 3CR, Par Avion, had a large following. He received recognition as a skilled journalist. He believed you had to keep a voice going by all the means at your disposal. I wish he had sat down and taken trouble to write all the things people did and when and where. At least if you have got a book it is there. You always hope there might be copies around. That’s why I did this — (patting her book, Cold Tea for Brandy)

My husband Ceds and I were mates with Bill in many ideological battles. I remember great parties at his place in Eltham. During the Vietnam War years we were having a fund raiser at his place for a draft resister. A cream-coloured Commonwealth police car was parked outside Bill’s residence, but his house was perched on top of a steep hill, so the resister got away through the undergrowth. We laughed. It was all good fun. 

That is what is missing today—laughter. It was part of our lives in those days wasn’t it? Now I don’t see anyone laughing. Pompous, powerful people can be brought undone with laughter. I can’t see Rudd XE "Rudd:Kevin" \b  laughing. I worry about people like that. 

For a while the Socialist Left in Victoria was an aberration. We concentrated on positive policies and there wasn’t much emphasis on getting parliamentary jobs. There was excitement and we believed that we were going to achieve something, but as we got bigger we found that some people on the Socialist Left ticket would get elected, then immediately retract our policies. The rank and file felt the parliamentarians let them down so badly. They had stayed with the left because they had good policies on State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , Vietnam, abortion rights, and uranium. Many felt betrayed and left the party altogether. 

Then in 1984 Hawke and the centre unity faction forced the four right wing unions back into the Victorian Labor party. With a membership exceeding 100,000, these unions boosted the Centre Unity’s factional base. The unions at the centre of the row were the Federated Clerks, Shop Assistants, Ironworkers and Carpenters and Joiners. They were closely associated with B.A. Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b ’s National Civic Council XE "National Civic Council" \b  (NCC), an organisation proscribed by the Victorian Branch. This National Civic Council was the brain-child of Archbishop Mannix, and a sister organisation to the Democratic Labor Party XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b . The DLP had split from the Labor Party, giving preferences to the Conservatives for decades. They tried to keep Labor out of office until Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  changed the policy on State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . Nine ‘pragmatic left’ unions refrained from voting at the State Conference on Saturday 20 April 1985 and the NCC unions were admitted. Alex Hutchinson from the Musicians Union played the Last Post on his clarinet when they entered the Conference on the Sunday. Some overripe tomatoes were thrown. That was when the expression, ‘Tomato Left’ entered our lexicon. 

The Socialist Left split. A few of us tough nuts remained as the ‘hard left,’ trying to maintain a semblance of Labor principles. The sell-outs were called the ‘marshmellows’. The NSW branch now controls the whole of the Australian Labor party and it is very right wing indeed. I think Lionel Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  was the last of the left in NSW. You know, he said it was just dreadful. Every time he settled one thing they would attack him on something else—very nasty. He was hounded unmercifully. So was Bill. I’ve had my share too. 

Like Ray Nilsen, I was involved with Marjan Jurjevic and his battle with the Ustasha escapees. A group of members of the Socialist Left set up a Committee for Democracy in Australia, met with Attorney-General Lionel Murphy, and gave him a swag of documents on the issue. I was also involved in the publication of two works dealing with the subject: One, Two Three, Ustasha Are We and Rooted in Secrecy. 

I only ended up getting elected after a very dirty campaign—filthy campaign! They told lies and did everything they possibly could to denigrate everything I stood for. They love to do that, the media—and they can do it so efficiently. 

Someone walked up to me the other day and said 

You know, you are really quite nice’ 

Looking back at the issue that started it all, federal intervention in 1970, it was our opposition to State Aid XE "State Aid" \b lay behind it all. And now, when you look at what has happened in the last 40 years, it’s damn hard not to say ‘I told you so’. It might have taken 40 years to achieve the decline in public education, but once governments agreed to fund private Church schools, it was a stab in the back for free, universal education. With consumer ‘choice’, user-pays, and economic rationalist policies like private/public partnerships any pretence of egalitarian ideals has gone out the window. 

If you want you know more about what happened in 1970, have a chat to Kevin Healy. He was there—inside the Travelodge on 14 September 1970.’

As they terminated the interview, and turned off the tape recorder, Margaret and Joan agreed that the won’t go away just because politicians want to ignore it. It hovers over and around the Labor Party: the ‘elephant in their room’
Kevin Healy and the Victorian Labor Party, 1970. 

The Trades Hall theatre was full to overflowing when his friends met to remember Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  in March 2006. It was eerie to see Bill, quietly lisping from a mouth skewed sideways, on the screen. Baghdad Bill was resurrected from the dead by a TV program, quietly predicting what was currently occurring in Iraq. An investigative reporter, Bill introduced his Melbourne 3CR (community radio) listeners to the Palestinian problem in the 1970’s. He paid a heavy financial and political price for this. Nor did his support of the building union, the BLF, assist his political career. He must have felt vindicated and amused when, by 2006, many of his causes had become academically respectable. Deep down, the little boy reared by a single parent father had always wanted to belong. He combined impeccable air force manners with eccentricity. His mouth was never far behind an encyclopaedic mind.

Bill had suffered a heart attack and been sent home from his Melbourne hospital, but left for Western Australia to set up an indigenous community radio station. He died suddenly of another heart attack. The possibility of a taped interview was lost. Margaret was sad that he had gone. Bill had always stuck to his principles and causes. Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b , Hawke, Beazley Snr, and the mainstream media had demonised him, but sweet-natured, air-force gentleman Bill was their problem, not the other way around. William Hartley had a story to tell, particularly about the internal politics of the Labor party in the period 1970 – 1987. Margaret had heard some of these stories. She had even been part of them. He had told her that he had been placed under extreme pressure to get off the writ for the High Court Challenge to State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . But he never wavered. A lot of DOGS members may not have agreed with Bill’s politics, but they were grateful for the choices he made. Here is a picture of him when he stood for the Industrial Labor Party in 1987. 


Like Bill, Kevin Healey was a journalist. He even worked for the Murdoch press, until both parties decided the time had come to part. 

Kevin had a vivid memory of the change in the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  policy of the Victorian Labor Party. He claimed that Clyde Holding XE "Holding:Clyde" \b , the parliamentary leader in 1970, had attempted to trick them at a crucial meeting. 

Kevin  remembered the ‘good old days’ when political meetings were well-attended and the rank and file got to influence policy. He mourned the passing of the big demonstrations of the 60’s and 70’s: the singing; the camaraderie; the battered bodies. He considered that Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  almost certainly acquired his epilepsy from the bang on the head he received at the Springbok anti-apartheid demonstrations in July 1971.  Kevin believed this had shortened Bill’s life. 
He shared stories about the anti-Vietnam days
and the use of stink bombs at a July 4 celebration for the Australian American Association at the Southern Cross hotel. Like members of the DOGS in Sydney Kevin and others dressed in dinner suits and received only a few quizzical looks from security police. Even a special branch policeman who had ‘tailed’ them many times, could not distinguish them out of their ‘demo gear’. The State Labor opposition leader and his deputy recognised them at the top of the stairs, so they had no option. They stamped on the stink bombs. The dinner was abandoned, but Kevin and his companions continued on their way to a fundraising theatre part,poetic justice caught up with them.  The smell on their shoes rendered them lepers.
On State Aid issue. Here is Kevin Healey’sstory: 

Kevin Healy’s  Story: 

In the 1960’s many of us were in the ALP because it offered alternative and principled policies. We saw it as an avenue for getting radical issues debated in the broader society. The Victorian branch’s opposition to the Vietnam war from the outset had been attacked by conservatives both in Victoria and nationally because it would ‘cost us votes’. Forget the fact that based on American lies perpetuated by Menzies and his warmongering allies we were slaughtering innocent people fighting for their freedom and independence. Ironically while federal leader Arthur Calwell—to his credit—stood firm on the Vietnam issue, our opposition was vehemently opposed by his deputy Gough Whitlam. Yet arguably this was the biggest single issue that made Whitlam prime minister. 

 We were youthfully scornful of the pragmatic right wing versions of the party in most other states, and particularly scornful of the NSW right. But in retrospect, the Victorian ALP in that brief period was an historical aberration created by the split when the right wing unions and members broke away to form the anti-communist party which became the Democratic Labor Party (DLP). These elements still controlled the party elsewhere, particularly in NSW, and eventually were re-admitted in Victoria as a consequence of the federal intervention in 1970. 

We supported the state education system and strongly opposed state aid. I personally opposed state aid after I attended a Catholic college for many years. In our matriculation year in 1960—just five years after the split—our ‘christian doctrine’ period on Fridays was conducted by Gerard Mercer. Gerard was a school captain from three or four years earlier who was a fulltime worker with the National Civic Council, the catholic dominated anti-left force behind the DLP. He would walk in every week and whip out his map of Asia with this big red arrow zooming down from China. He told me they’d be here by 1964. The De La Salle brothers also praised NCC unionists They were great Australians fighting the evil enemy. They denounced strongly any unionist to the left of Hitler. 

 I believed it outrageous that public monies should be spent on that sort of brainwashing. I always marvelled that B.A.Santamaria, the NCC ideologue, could polemicise that one of the hideous aspects of ‘atheistic communism’ was that it brainwashed dear little children then, without a blush, demanded state aid for religious schools. 

In relation to Federal intervention in September 1970 : As I remember there were four meetings that were relevant to the change in the Australian Labor Party State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  policy in the 1960’s and 1970’s. The first one began when the executive were elected in the Collingwood Town Hall XE "Town Hall:Sydney Town Hall Meeting 1969" \b . It was the Queen’s birthday weekend. At the 1969/70 Conference John Galbally was expelled from the party because of the State Aid policy. I led the debate against Galbally. Members of what were known as the ‘Participants’ supported him. Until Federal Intervention, we on the Left always had the numbers, so Galbally was expelled. 
 
The executive elected at the Collingwood meeting handled the Victorian State election. In those days the executive had the right to demand that the parliamentary party held to party policy, so the parliamentarians could not go off on frolics of their own. The media barons constantly excoriated the ‘left’ executive for its ‘interference’ in the parliamentary process by maintaining control over the parliamentary wing. For them a party executive insisting those elected to represent it should reflect its state conference policy decisions was ‘undemocratic’. 
There were 33 people in the Executive. They included George Crawford, who was the chairman, Jim Cairns who was the Vice Chairman, and perhaps Sally Johnson who was also the Vice Chairman. There were also Judy Bornstein and Beverley Genser from Richmond Council. They were strong on the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  issue. Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  was the Secretary. He was brilliant, had a very retentive memory, and was loyal to a fault. Bill had it all in his head, but he did not have a vote. Moss Cass had been replaced by Peter Redlich—a bad swap, and Ted Innes was also against the rest of us on the State Aid issue. I was on the executive, and like the majority, I was a staunch opponent of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to religious schools. 

After the 1969 June state conference the executive told Clyde Holding we wanted to see his state policy speech in ample time to approve it before the state election due in the first half of 1970. Holding was automatically on the executive as state leader. As it turned out Holding did not produce his policy speech draft until a regular fortnightly executive meeting on a Friday night 11 days before it was to be delivered. Contrary to our policy it committed a Labor government to supporting state aid. That was the second meeting.
 This executive meeting, which normally ended about 9.30 so we could get to the pub, went on until after midnight with the state aid issue unresolved. I led the attack against any form of state aid, and Holding argued it would be political suicide to withdraw the aid the Liberal government had introduced. Finally, as so often happens, the matter was referred to a committee of party officers together with Holding. They were to report to an extraordinary meeting the following Friday, just four days before it was to be delivered. That extraordinary meeting was the third meeting. 
The policy speech came back to this extraordinary meeting the next week with a phrase-out clause of the education policy— clause 23 I think. I stated that we would ‘phase out’ state aid over the life of a government. Again the meeting went into the wee small hours, and as we approved the policy phrase by phrase I moved wherever appropriate that we insert ‘phasing out’, and on each occasion Holding argued it was unnecessary because it was already in clause 23. On each occasion I withdrew my amendment.

 Then when we got to clause 23 he moved that ‘phasing out’ be deleted. I responded angrily that he was being grossly dishonest and couldn’t have it both ways, because I had withdrawn my amendments on his assurance that the phrase was already in the policy. 
You’re probably getting the impression that Holding and I weren’t all that close. 

 He conceded, and so, after many hours of heat over two weeks, the policy was finalised.  The phasing out of existing state aid was firmly entrenched. It was iterated on the Sunday at a meeting of state candidates with Holding, shadow ministers and party officers. 

 Then on the Tuesday night Holding delivered his speech without mentioning ‘phasing out’. This was not in itself a major problem, because it was a truncated version of the full policy document. But when the media produced the full document and asked Holding about the ‘phasing out’ clause he responded with ‘give me a look at that’ and denied he had ever seen the phrase. The executive must have planted it on him, he claimed. 

The media had a field day. The campaign had died at birth. The Labor Party lost the 1970 Victorian State election, and it was all downhill after that.
Why Holding  sabotaged his own campaign I don’t know. There are two most likely possibilities. 

 It may have been a long-term strategy to destroy the executive, because the ‘phasing out’ controversy was one of the major charges laid against us at federal intervention later that year, but that presumes Holding (and co-conspirators) were prepared to sacrifice his/their own chances of election. Perhaps they were.

 The other possible explanation is he believed he could not win with a ‘phasing out’ policy, but misread the damage his denial would cause. It’s hard to believe he could be that naïve. 

 We can only speculate, but the certainty was that state aid became a key excuse for intervention and the restructuring of the Victorian branch. I’ll concede, and I admitted at the time that the pre-intervention branch was far from democratic, controlled by a group of left-wing unions who made most of the decisions. A number of us drafted proposals for restructure giving real democratic control to the rank and file, but that was the last thing the interventionists wanted. 

 They simply replaced one left oriented undemocratic structure with a conservative oriented undemocratic structure aimed at wiping out policies they perceived as electoral liabilities, bums on seats in a policy free zone. 

One of the reasons given for intervention by the federal branch was the accusation that the State Executive had failed to inform Holding XE "Holding:Clyde" \b  about the ‘phasing out’ policy. 

There was a push to get Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  into office in the years 1970 to 1972. His supporters on the federal executive saw the Victorian State executive as a barrier to winning power. The left unions had numbers at the annual Conference and there were a number of key issues in contention: Vietnam; Abortion, Uranium and State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . The Victorian Party had strong policies on these matters and were accused of being the cold hand of socialism holding down the party. 

Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b , as federal leader, was against our stand on the Vietnam War. Yet it was the Vietnam War factor that helped get him into office in 1972. There was strong electoral evidence that the DLP XE "DLP:Democratic Labor Party" \b  was also losing influence. Federal Intervention was led by another group, many of them Church school graduates and supporters of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . They were known as the ‘Participants’. Some claimed to be Fabians like Gough Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  and Race Matthews.

The ‘Participants’ have enjoyed distinguished careers in the political and legal networks since the 1970’s. They were mostly lawyers: Dick McGarvie, Xavier Connor, Frank Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b , Alastair Nicholson, Frank Vincent. Many later became judges. Race Matthews was an education consultant who became a professional politician. Costigan XE "Costigan:Frank" \b  stood for Chisholm and the DOGS were involved. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  has a story about that.
 

The ‘Fabian’ Labor lawyers were a close-knit, and very able group. For example, when Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  was charged at the Springbocks campaign, the first trial resulted in a hung jury. Finally his friends went and got Dick McGarvie, one of the ‘participants’ who became Governor of Victoria, to get Bill off. That’s enough gossip. On with the State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  story:  

There was a fourth and final meeting on Monday, September 14, 1970. It was at this meeting at the Travelodge in St Kilda Road, South Melbourne that the federal executive intervened in Victorian Labor Party business. The DOGS and other groups and individuals protested outside.
It was a long day. The federal executive met in a separate room and I was sitting outside with other members of the executive. There was much to-ing and fro-ing during the day. Bill Brown and Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  were the two Victorian delegates from the Victorian Executive who went into the Federal Executive as our representatives. Brown, the Secretary of the Furnishing Trade Union, was a safe Senate-endorsed candidate. There had been trouble between Brown and Clyde Cameron. I believe it was about the ‘phasing out of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b ’ policy. There had been a heated meeting at Broken Hill and Brown got the better of Clyde. Clyde was a good ‘hater’. I suspect that intervention was in part driven by Clyde’s getting his own back on Bill Brown. 

Anyway, after the meeting Bill Brown came out. He ignored us, walked over to the phone and talked to his wife. He told her that the senate ticket was intact. Then, without speaking to any of us he walked out. He had made his choice. He was elected to the Senate and never had anything more to do with us. 

After this meeting some of us met to form the Socialist Left faction in Victoria. We gingered up the party for a while. But, as you know Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  was hounded and expelled when he tried to get the political leaders to adhere to Labor Party uranium policy. By that time we had the lib-labs and many of us felt the Labor Party was an empty shell, a plaything for ambitious pragmatists. 

Kevin had another appointment, but, as he rose to go, he delivered a parting shot. ‘State Aid XE "State Aid" \b ’was the catalyst for Federal Intervention in the Victorian Labor Party and if anything, the inequities of education funding were worse than ever. State Aid XE "‘State Aid’" \b  to private religious schools remains a problem for Labor politicians spouting egalitarian rhetoric—the elephant in their room XE "the elephant in their room" \b . 

CHAPTER SEVEN: JUSTICE AIKEN AND A CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Looking at the documents on the dining room table XE "dining room table" \b , 
7 October 2007

Margaret (to herself): 
I hope Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  has found all the relevant documents for this interview. We can spread them out on the dining table. I’ll put Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s flowers on the mantelpiece if I can find room and lay these old letters to Attorneys-General XE "Attorneys-General" \b  and lawyers in date order over here. 

I wasn’t in Melbourne until mid-1975 and the court case action was mainly in Melbourne. There were a lot of things I didn’t know about. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  kept things close and copped all the invective from the opposition and media—when they acknowledged his existence. 

I don’t know how many papers he has stashed away in those polystyrene boxes, stacked one on top of the other—pyramids of paper, waiting to be excavated. The trouble is, if the bits he wants are in the bottom layer they might tumble down on top of him. The papers he showed me yesterday are going yellow already. Some of them had the manual typewriter script. I assume Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  or Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  sat at this dining table and helped him with those. I remember Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  sitting late into the night, tip-tapping on the mechanical keys, determined to get her typing exact. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  was quick but not as accurate. I was quick but never accurate, so computers improved my usefulness. Word processors obliterated any need for the correction fluid that turned dirty grey on photostats. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s medium is figures. He is less skilful with words, struggling to link his clichés together, but when he is on top of the material it writes itself for him. He is quite different to his sister Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b . She keeps all the facts in random order. He only commits to memory what he considers useful at the time and keeps it perfectly intact forever. I hope he remembers some of the details he did not consider important at the time. If he gets on his moral high ground, he will put people off. What does it matter? Actually it does matter. What really happened does matter. I hope he will help me to communicate it.

The yellow papers, younger faces staring out of electoral material and newspaper articles are enough to make me feel old. Trouble is, I don’t feel old, just a long time in the world. Correction: I feel delicate when my tooth hurts. It started to remind me of its existence last night. I feel no ageing if I can get absorbed in a task like this.

Here he is, neck forward, back bent under all the papers. There are stacks of them and he has gone back for more. His hair needs cutting. He and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  have no regard for their appearance. I doubt they ever look in the mirror. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and Henry are quite different—neat, and sometimes stylish. He says this is the final box. His face is puckered up. I hope he is feeling all right. He would never tell you otherwise.

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  (to himself): 
There is a mountain of boxes in there, but I hope I have the main documents to show Margaret. I hope Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  doesn’t disturb us. She remembers details I never knew, but I want to communicate the ideas XE "ideas" \b . Yes the ideas: that was always what mattered. Why else would I have gone this way? Perhaps I shouldn’t have moved those heavy boxes. There is a nagging pain in my back. No matter. I’ll sit this way. Keep my chin up. On with the job at hand. 

You want the account of Court case Margaret? We wrote it up in 1981 and put it it in the libraries around Australia.
Yes, but I want the story in your 2007 voice Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . 

 I’ll refer to the booklet if I need to jog my memory. Here goes: Have you got that tape recorder fixed properly? I’ll check it…over here.
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  arranged and patted his documents. He was not so much nervous as reticent about himself. Where to start? He looked up at Margaret. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s Story: 

You were in Tasmania I think. I first met you when I visited the DOGS groups throughout Australia to discuss a legal challenge in 1971. Jack Dunn XE "Jack Dunn:VICCSO" \b  had previously kept contact with these groups. We had been to the hustings in 1969 and 1970 and in many electorates had equalled or done better than the Democratic Labour Party. A number of State and Federal politicians owed their seat in Parliament to our preferences. Moss Cass, for example, was in on DOGS preferences and later provided the radio licence which started 3CR. 

Back in 1969 and 1972, there was a feeling of urgency. People believed that we should go above the politicians to the High Court. If we had managed to get into the Court in the next year, there was a strong feeling that State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  could be stopped before it gathered momentum. We now know that the Church school interest thought the same way and were determined to keep us out of the High Court at all costs. Time was on their side. 

The religious freedom clause of the Constitution, Section 116, could not be tested if citizens did not have standing to go to the court in the first place. They had been told, again and again, that they could only get into the court with an Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b ’s fiat. There had been various attempts to get into the High Court since 1956. They had all foundered on this issue of the standing of taxpayers to bring an action. So we knew we had set ourselves an almost impossible task. 

Since 1956 the other groups had been knocked back by the Federal and States Attorneys-General XE "Attorneys-General" \b . In 1966 Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b , the then Deputy Leader of the Labor Party knew this, and claimed that the various branches of the Labor Party would not permit their Attorneys-General to give fiat.
 Attorneys-General were political appointments, and the religious school opposition had the right men in place.
 Even if the two major parties were dubious about the constitutionality of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b , they felt confident. If no-one could get to court to challenge it, why worry?

 Even if the case got to court, costs were prohibitive. But we were still prepared to have a go. Some of the conservative, Liberal voters who were members of the DOGS in Melbourne had a naïve belief that the Justices of the High Court, wise men all, would put things to rights. I suppose I felt the same way. 

Our Secretary, Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  did his own research. That was Lance, gathering books, reading, taking notes in copperplate writing. He discovered a copy of the original Parliamentary debates on Section 116 in the Australian Natives Association library. He obtained copies in their grime-covered building at the Flinders Street end of Elizabeth Street, and spent his own money publishing multiple copies of the original Constitutional Convention debates. He was certain of the legality as well as the justice of his cause. I think that was one of the first publications he produced on his own printing press.We didn’t know at that stage that the Constitutional debates would not be admissible in the interpretation of Constitutional provisions in the High Court.

The religious members, like my missionary sister Dorothy, put it all in God’s hands. They went ahead in faith. I believe in God, but I had no illusions about religious men. I have never trusted priests and parsons of any religious brand once they see the colour of taxpayer’s money. Actually I’ve since learned that even the smell of money can have a corrupting influence, even on people you took for granted as friends.

I decided to learn from Cromwell XE "Cromwell:Oliver" \b . Once I joined battle, I would keep my powder dry. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  are always game for a fight, Henry, once it was discovered he was my brother, suffered discrimination at work, but he put up with it and kept the home fires burning with finance from his pay. My eldest brother, Karl, sent money from Canada, and Mum—Mum worked over the kitchen stove and kept the food on the dining room table XE "dining room table" \b . 

The membership were generally very faithful and close friends always ready to support. We were a select group. All the same, we kept a close-knit central group for the legal challenge to avoid NCC
 interlopers. 
The final legal challenge to State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  in the High Court of Australia was launched at a public rally on 21 eptember  1971. The meeting was held in the Dallas Brooks Hall on Victoria Parade, Melbourne. We had an experienced American speaker who had been involved in a number of successful United States Supreme Court challenges to State Aid. He was the Rev. C. Stanley Lowell, a member of a group called Americans United for Separation of Church and State XE "Church and State" . Although he was staying in a motel, I had the opportunity to talk to him and discover how the Roman Catholic Church had operated in Supreme Court cases in the United States. That was when I discovered that they had used the ‘Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b ’ procedure to waste the resources of their opponents. I realised that we would have to start collecting evidence on the religious purposes of Church schools. 

As President of the Victorian Council for the Defence of Government Schools XE "Defence of Government Schools:DOGS" \b , I was expected to address the people who had crowded into the Dallas Brookes hall. I am not a polished public speaker, but nerves were a luxury knocked out of my calculations in the Children’s Home. 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  had got the family involved in this DOGS business, but when I thought about it I was committed to the ideas XE "ideas" \b  and that was it. People can let you down, but ideas like freedom of conscience, freedom of religion, freedom of speech, they never go away. I feel they are laid up in the ether, forever. I think Pop Salter thought that way too. Now Margaret, I know you say I am a hopeless idealist and I am no great reader. I only read what I find relevant but then, as you know, I read it very thoroughly. I am no philosopher either. But my belief in freedom to think, freedom of conscience—these matter to me. That belief still drives me on. 

I have noticed too that honest people don’t like liars, bullies and hypocrites who try to take away these freedoms. We inherited these treasures from people who had to suffer and fight for them. I know that much history. If you are aware of attacks upon your freedom, you should do something about it: simple as that. I don’t care much about an individual’s politics. If they have heard that drum and are walking to it, they are probably going my way. 

I couldn’t see the people gathering in the body of the hall for that 1971 meeting clearly. We were in the spotlights on the stage, but I knew it was full. There were humanists, Unitarians, a variety of religious men, rationalists, members of the liberal, labor and communist party, unionists, public school parents and teachers. I was interested in their commitment to separation of religion from the state XE "separation of church and state" \b  and the public education system. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  would have known most of them, and if she didn’t she would have sorted that out by the end of the night. She would have been gathering their family stories. Lance and others were getting a list at the entrance. I took it for granted there would be members of Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b ’s Democratic Labor Party attending as well. 

I did not think it would take nine years from that point to get to the Hearing on the Law in the Full court. I only knew that once I started I would never give up. I knew I had a low gear and a high gear with nothing in between, and nerves have never been a problem. I prepared my speech for the meeting in the Dallas Brookes Hall. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  typed it. It is a bit yellow and the typing has faded, but here it is. 

We must take up the challenge and once having put the hand to the plough not turn back. So here tonight I, on behalf of all those interested, give notice to the politicians, press, pastors and priests that certain members of the public are not going to allow this attack on the State schools and our religious freedom to go by default. This will not be an easy road: we will require all the physical and financial and moral support we can get…The preparation will be dedicated, disciplined, and determined. It will not be a hit and miss affair, for the stakes are high and the costs XE "the costs" \b  too great. Only the best methods and the best legal men with the most integrity for our cause will be used. 

No haphazard methods will be used in the execution of this challenge. What is required are men, women and money. We need to have people who are modern day Daniels. We need people who are not frightened to be smeared and smothered by the bigot blanket so often used nowadays and with so many cowering under it. Not only do we need manpower. We need money. And with this in mind I now launch an appeal fund to be used for the purpose of upholding Section 116. I open this appeal with a promise of one hundred dollars from an aged pensioner. 

That pensioner was a Miss Gartrell. Mum and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  knew her. She was 90 years of age and walked from her cottage in East Melbourne to our place on her walking stick to be the first to donate her ‘widow’s mite’. A few years later she ran away from a nursing home in which she had been incarcerated. She could not go home, but she rang our door bell and would not move from the settee in the bay window of our dining room. She trusted Mum and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  to look after her. Mum coaxed her to sit near the warm stove in the kitchen, gave her a cup of tea and a bed. My sister Dorothy took her to Kerang and looked after her. We could trust the Miss Gartrells, and felt an obligation to honour their trust in us. 

Our faith in human nature was tried by the behaviour of others. For example, there were a number of people who were prepared to go on the writ for a relator action. One of them, Joan Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b , proved a reluctant and disruptive litigant. She was a state school parent representative on the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  but went on to a meteoric career in the Victorian Labor party as Minister for Education and Premier. 

On the other hand, Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  and Wally Curran from the socialist left of the Victorian Labor party remained on the writ to the bitter end. John Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b , our pro bono solicitor, worked on the fiat problem for the relators. John had a practice near Trades Hall Carlton, and made his office available for the paperwork and photocopying during the next decade. He was a committed socialist and loyal friend. John offered his own services pro bono, and never charged us a penny. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  spent hours on his photocopier during the night hours. 

Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b  approached all the Attorneys-General XE "Attorneys-General" \b , Commonwealth and State. The Federal Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  and those of Western Australia, New South Wales and South Australia, refused fiat; Victoria, Queensland, and Tasmania asked for further information. The Tasmanian DOGS were hopeful that their Attorney-General Everett would give fiat. Their State school networks were small, manageable, and still intact. They were disappointed. Everett was sympathetic but he had enough problems without adding Archbishop Young to them. 

Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b  and I sat in the Carlton office and amused ourselves collating the replies. Western Australia and South Australia were upfront political; the rest passed the buck in a round-robin of State and federal Attorneys-General XE "Attorneys-General" \b . It looked as if the Australian High Court was not available to Australian citizens to test a Constitutional matter. Litigation was stopped before it could start. 

Just when everyone was persuaded that the religious school networks had succeeded in closing the door to the court, the Hon. V. Wilcox XE "Wilcox:Vernon, Attorney-General Victoria" , Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  for the Liberal Government in Victoria, granted fiat on 28 November 1973. There were strings attached. We later discovered that we could not go to court by ourselves, or with junior Counsel. We had to employ a Queens Counsel. But the documents were signed and the writ lodged with the High Court on 14 December 1973. 

The Victorian Liberal Government was under constant pressure during the 1970’s, from the Roman Catholic Church, the Independent school organisations, and Prime Minister Gough Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  to withdraw the fiat. We only found out about the pressure on Premier Hamer and Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  Wilcox XE "Wilcox:Vernon, Attorney-General Victoria"  from the media. His successor, Haddon Storey could have legitimately withdrawn fiat on a number of occasions. He continued it nevertheless. When Whitlam XE "Whitlam:Gough" \b  accused Wilcox XE "Wilcox:Vernon, Attorney-General Victoria"  of covert attacks on the education policies of his government, Hamer defended his Attorney-General. He said that you can’t deprive people of the right to go to court if they wanted to. He considered that elementary justice. 

The fiat matter was never finished, even when we finally got to court. The opposition never accepted our right to be standing in the High Court on one of the few human rights clauses in our Constitution, even with an Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b ’s fiat. Getting fiat was only the first hurdle. Next, we had to find Constitutional lawyers acceptable to the Attorney-General to take the case for us. Here is the list: Mr. J. McIntosh Young QC accepted the brief, but soon after left the bar for the Supreme Court. Another , K. Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  QC refused. The next lawyer, R.K. Fullagher QC was also appointed a Justice of the Supreme Court. Finally Mr. Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  QC was retained and, when Mr. A.R. Castan went overseas in 1977, we employed Jack Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  as junior counsel. 

We found ourselves in the mazes of the legal system, wandering cap in hand, around the corridors of Owen Dixon Chambers. I was amused by men in striped suits dressing up in mediaeval gowns and straw wigs, strutting over William Street at the pedestrian lights, followed by office boys pushing trolleys of papers and books. They took themselves very seriously. 

I realised I could read American Supreme Court and Australian Constitutional law cases and get the meaning of them fairly easily. So, I enrolled for Law at Monash University in 1976 and finished a few years later. By 1974 we were working with McPhee, but the case did not actually get to any kind of a Hearing in the High Court until more than four years later, on 20 November 1978. It did not reach the final hearing of the law by the full High Court until 24 March 1980.
I was unhappy at placing this case in the tender care of men who prided themselves on being hired guns. Neil McPhee QC, referred to himself in this fashion. For example, he could work on our case one day, take a brief from the opposition the next and fraternise with opposition lawyers at the legal watering holes in the city in the evening. Alcohol loosens lips and sinks ships. Still, that was the closed system in which we found ourselves.

Mind you, I think Mr. McPhee was an independent-minded lawyer, who could hold his liquor. He enjoyed working on the case. It was different from his usual run of commercial work. He certainly had little time for the religious men at the beginning, and even less at the end. I don’t think he had met many people like us. I got on all right with him. He was a bit of a lad, enjoying the stimulation of the bar to a sinecure on the bench. We chose him for his expertise in cross-examination. We suspected that the Roman Catholic Church would draw us into the quicksands of a Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . McPhee did not specialise in constitutional law, but his junior, Jack Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  had lectured in that subject and conducted thorough research into the Section 116 issue. 

We had to amend the original Writ every time there was an amendment to the Federal legislation. And then, as I mentioned before one of the relators, Joan Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  responded to pressure from the opposition and wanted to get off the writ. 

The Commonwealth Solicitor-General, Maurice Byers, also employed delaying tactics on the question of the ‘facts’ of the case. They wanted agreement on the definition of a Church school, and would not accept our definition based on 100 years of their own statements.
 Then there was discovery of documents. We would write to the Commonwealth and they would ignore us. They placed these hurdles in front of us, then turned around and blamed us for the delay. 

Chief Justice Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  went overseas and arranged for Judge Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  to take over supervision of the action on 23 February 1978. Finally, after we had taken out two summons, a formal hearing took place to consider in detail our attempt to obtain facts relating to the Commonwealth government’s administration of state aid. I believe the delaying tactics were designed to frustrate us and put pressure on the Victorian Government to withdraw fiat claiming that we could not get our act together. 

As the co-ordinator of the DOGS High Court case I was held responsible for anything and everything that went wrong. I just kept a steady course, but it was upsetting for the family and close friends to hear other people playing the blame game. Our own people were fed up. They sensed that something was very wrong in the interstices of Church, State, and the legal system. They could not understand the technical difficulties and delaying tactics which were exploited by tricky defendants, I was the nearest body on which to vent their frustration. This occurred regularly at DOGS executive and annual meetings. It only increased my determination to keep going. I realised that this could only be done by a close knit inner circle of members we could trust to sacrifice a quiet life and threats to their persons and property. 
Our suspicion that there was something amiss in the legal system was vindicated when we discovered that Justice Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b , who had been allocated to our case, had a clear conflict of interest. We had approached him when he was a QC to take our brief. He knocked us back. At a Hearing in Chambers however, the judge offered the information that, while a Queens Counsel, he had accepted a retainer from Solicitors for the Roman Catholic Church, Corr and Corr, in regard to their possible intervention in the state aid hearings. 

Ordinary people know what conflict of interest means. Mr. McPhee had a plaintiffs’ revolt on his hands.
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  passed a number of documents over to Margaret and suggested they take a break. While he was putting on the kettle, she leafed through the documents, stimulated by the imaginations of her heart.

***
The Chambers of Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b , 3 September  1978.

Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  QC (to himself): 

I feel free suspended up here on the 10th floor. Almost as good as being up the mast. I can see the legal world going up the Supreme Court steps without having to wander up to the Bar restaurant. That murder case starts at the Supreme Court today.
 It’s a good life I’ve carved out here. Pays for the ex-wife, yacht, school fees, and my dear slow lad. I think I love him best—well at least as much as my yacht. The High Court down little Bourke Street is less obvious. The Age isn’t interested in this case anyway. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen has to pay for advertisements in the papers to get any coverage at all. 

I might take the lad down to Queenscliff this weekend. He said he liked the smell of new paint combined with wet sail cloth and oil. Funny boy. He’ll make a good sailor. 

A once in a lifetime case, this: different from the corporation stuff. Companies expect to pay $5000 a day. They can claim it on tax anyway. But this takes me off the normal course. Constitutional rights—not my specialty, but I’m always game for a challenge and Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  has written textbooks on it. Sometimes I think I’m addicted. I need the cut and thrust in the court. It’s like being on the front up in Korea, minus the blood and guts. Leading the witness softly, softly, into my trap and dealing that sweet, final blow gives me a charge. Like wind in the spinnaker. 

These clients are an odd bunch all right. They really believe ideas XE "ideas" \b  and the law matter more than pragmatics—I doubt they could possibly win in this political climate. Not if my information around the city pubs is anything to go on. Still they have paid up to date and while they pay at $5000 a day, I work. I don’t mind socking a few to those holier than thou religious along the way. I won’t disabuse the plaintiffs. I doubt Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  would give up anyway. There’s nothing to lose and it could improve my reputation. The opposition are flapping around me downstairs. And Norris from Corr and Corr has approached me on another case anyway. All good contacts if I need them later. 

The religious school interest still wants to knock off the Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b ’s writ. But Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  Nilsen was right. A Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  is on the agenda. I saw potential witnesses from the Catholic Education Office in the lifts in Owen Dixon Chambers this week. It would be foolish to underestimate Ray. He has a habit of being right. 

I’ll have to keep control of this case at all costs. These clients are just too well-informed about the issues—and committed. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  would like to do it himself I’m sure. He doesn’t understand that a person who runs his own case has a fool for a client. I’ll get Marion to do the historical submission at home. They can pay her for it. That Ely stuff is too esoteric. The judges know and follow Quick and Garran XE "Quick and Garran" \b  and what they know they like. So do I. We can’t use the Convention debates as evidence of the intention of the framers of the Constitution anyway. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  goes for semantics, not history—his semantics of course. 

This lot are babes in the wood about the internal codes of our legal system. Now they want to question Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b . They can’t accept the simple fact that conflict of interest or not, you don’t question High Court judges. Not this QC anyway. If you question Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b , you could question most of them about briefs they have taken at the bar. 

I’ll threaten to quit if push comes to shove. They must understand that I’ll be doing the shoving. Can hear them coming out of the lift now. 

Come In, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , Lance, Graham. Please sit here.
That’s settled. They have those nice low, comfortable leather chairs and I just stay up here and swivel around on my big chair. I might be skinny, short, and pushing my first half century, but I can still keep ahead. Once this is over I can get up to my yacht for the weekend. Take Marion and the laddie.  Sydney to Hobart next year? 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  looks annoyed. He hasn’t even bothered to shave this morning—perhaps a few mornings. Let him get it out of his system. 
As Ray Nilsen, Lance Hutchinson and Graham Wilde sat down, the following interchange took place between Ray Nilsen and the barrister. 
Morning Mr. McPhee. Here is the Motion passed by our Executive a few nights ago. 
  We sent it to John Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b  and assume he has sent it on to you.
McPhee raised his eyebrows. 
Sack Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b ? You might like to sack me while you’re about it.
Ray didn’t blink.
The plaintiffs should not be in this impossible position. The Chief Justice should never have appointed Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  to hear any part of this case. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  (to himself):

Outrageous. We approached Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  in 1972 and 1974 to be our senior counsel and he refused on both occasions. Then he was retained by Corr and Corr for the Roman Catholic Church and others as senior counsel for the same case. 

Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  openly admitted to his conflict of interest at the hearing in chambers on 20 July  and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  are squarking like cockatoos about it. They are right but we have to take measured tread. Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b ’s behaviour is improper. We are all on a sharp learning curve about this crook incestuous system. At least we were all agreed on the motion this time. I heard on one of the networks that Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  is ill. He would be a disaster for the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . On 26 April, he said agreement on the formal definition of a Church school should not be difficult between us and the Commonwealth. But the churches want delay, delay, delay, exhaust, exhaust—go away. Well, we have finally flushed out the real opposition—the Roman Catholic Church, and their fellow travellers, into the open. They are considering leave to appear as amicus curiae. Friends of the court indeed. Well, we have found out that at least one member of the court is their “amicus”. 

Mr. McPhee is saying No, and is threatening to resign. That will put us back to square one and we might lose the fiat. It stinks. Keep your cool. 

McPhee is the best for cross-examination and if my reading of the American cases is right, the church will take us down the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  road next. The trouble comes with the presentation of the law. I am unsure of his constitutional background or commitment. Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  is best for that.

He’s a hired gun anyway. Pity we couldn’t get our own young committed barristers and develop them. The Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  forced us to get a QC. The trouble is Lance and Ian are overwhelmed by McPhee. He knows I won’t budge on this one. Conflict of interest is conflict of interest. 

Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  (To himself): 
What a big room. I can see the Supreme Court Dome and steps from this window. Tenth floor.  Dorrie would like this fancy rug. I wonder if it is antique. I rather like this bloke. He has papers everywhere—like me.  I wonder whether those bound books on the shelves are for show only. Mr. McPhee might look like a little Scotch terrier, but he seems to be big around here. He is telling us that we must not question Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b . Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  says we should. I think we should, or at any rate we finally agreed at the last meeting and we are here to tell him that. I suspect Graham is Mr. Facing-Both-Ways—weather vane man.

There must be a big case on today. The photographers are setting up their cameras outside the Supreme Court gates. Graham is looking into space over the dome. Appears expasperated. Raising an eyebrow at me? I’ll ignore it. Graham is getting older, catching up to me, I suspect. His red hair is fading into nothing on top. But his face hasn’t seen the weather like mine has. His skin looks lanolin soft—Pen-pushers get that spongy look. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s broad accent irritates him. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  is a rough diamond and his slow accent doesn’t fit here, but then, what am I? A roof painter! Well, at least I have put on a suit. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  looks like a wharf labourer. He could have shaved. But that way he gets people underestimating him. Look at Graham, not a speck of dust out of place. His shirts look starched and ironed twice over, and his brief case: shinier and bigger than Mr. McPhee’s old beaten leather one. I don’t know what he would have in it. I can see from his folded hands, black suit and smirk he likes hob-nobbing it up here. He’d have made a good undertaker. McPhee is looking at him and he has turned poker-faced… I wonder if McPhee caught the disdainful way Graham glanced at Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b .

This room could do with a brush-up. The roof painting money has been good enough to pay McPhee’s bills. Thousands and thousands, and more invoices in the pipe line after today. Still, the children are settled, five out of six of them anyway. Dorrie says she has the CWA and knitting booties, and I have the Henry George Society and this. There is a whole street of house roofs in Coburg waiting for my spray-gun. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and his family put their money where their mouth is too—Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  especially.  

Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  sure has a big voice when he raises it. His quiet voice is more worrying. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  is insisting we should question Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b . Graham is watching. It isn’t his money. Mr. McPhee is threatening to walk away. I don’t like threats, but I can’t stand up to him like Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  does. He knows his job and the legal business is a tangle beyond me. 

Graham says this will have to go back to the Executive now. He knows they will cave in and he will get his numbers there. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  is either innocent or unobservant. He can’t see how jealous Graham is of him. He is too busy thinking about the case to watch his back. I watch Graham fuming inwardly while Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  just pushes ahead, ignoring him. Graham wants to be top dog but is too timid and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  is loyal to everyone. She half knows, but I don’t think she can admit it—even to herself. 

Graham (to himself): 
Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b ’s room is not as neat as I thought it would be: such a lot of papers. I wonder what that diagram is on the wall. I like things in order. Cedar desk? Antique I’d say. I might see if I can buy a big one like that for my home office. I’d like inlaid leather on the top. That swivel chair makes him look bigger than he really is. I might go shopping for one of those too. But I would prefer the privacy of a front panel: a modesty panel for me! Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b ’s shoes are muddy, and his trousers unpressed. He is only wearing an open necked shirt and sweater. Perhaps he doesn’t think we are important enough for a suit. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  is arguing with McPhee. Ray has no idea of proper protocol. We can’t do without McPhee. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  will have to give in eventually. Serve him right. He thinks he is superior and knows more than everyone. The trouble is his brain is like a vacuum cleaner, absorbing what he wants when he wants it. Perhaps he has met his match in the legal system, even if he has got all those degrees. He has no sense of appropriate behaviour or unwritten codes. Now those rules I do understand.

I might not have made it to university, but I select and retain almost everything people say if I want. Most people are weak like jelly. Once I have their soft points I can get them to do what I will. But I can’t get to Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s underside. He just forges straight ahead and doesn’t even notice me. That’s probably just as well. Softly, softly, catchee monkey. Only I know what the monkey is. 

***

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  interrupted Margaret’s reverie with mugs of tea and ginger biscuits. He opened the large bound DOGS Minute books and pointed to the entries for July to September 1978. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , Hutchy and Graham reported back to the executive. Graham’s instincts proved correct. The executive passed a motion leaving the decision on the Justice Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  matter to Mr. McPhee. 

Nevertheless, Justice Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  did not appear again until the full hearing on the case, and was replaced by Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  for the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . 

CHAPTER EIGHT: WHO DO THE COURTS BELONG TO?

Amicus Curiae: Friends of the Court

After their tea break Margaret and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  sat down at the West Melbourne dining table for their second interview session on 7 October  2007. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was sorting through his records, attempting to give Margaret a coherent chronology of relevant events in 1978. There were many obstacles put in front of the plaintiffs and he wanted to get them in order. 

Where were we? July 1978? Oh Yes, Justice Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  appeared to be withdrawn from the case for the time being. We never found out why. By September 1978 the case seemed to be moving. We persisted through the obstacles meant to delay us. 
There was the request of Mrs. Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  to withdraw her name from the Writ; the Commonwealth’s delaying tactics, which they turned around and projected onto the plaintiffs; then behind the scenes pressure from the church interest on the Victorian Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  which we only discovered through the Press;
 and finally the search for Senior Counsel. We wondered whether we would ever get into the Court. 

The official defendant was the Commonwealth Government. Then the Church interest came out into the open. There was no agreement on the facts regarding the question of what was a Church school. If it was not a religious institution the State subsidisation or endowment XE "endowment" \b  of that institution would not involve the establishment of any religion, or, in American Supreme Court terms, entanglement of Church and State XE "Church and State" . We had American precedents and knew we would get no action unless we forced the issue of the facts. We had to establish whether the defendants were willing to demur and agree to our definition of a religious school, or whether they would force us into a long, protracted and expensive Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . 
Was a Church school a religious institution, as we had been led to believe from their documentation?  The churchmen had been spruiking the essential connection of religion to education for more than a century.
 Now we were confronted with a sudden reluctance to own up to their own claims.

It was frustrating, but we moved ahead regardless. On September 11 1978, the case was set down for a trial of the facts at the Court Registry for the next High Court sitting starting in Melbourne. The required documents were filed with the High Court registry for the service of subpoenas XE "subpoenas" \b  on September 26. Since Roman Catholic schools represented about 80 per cent of Church schools in Australia, Mr. McPhee decided to call their representatives as the first witnesses. The Anglican, Lutheran, Calvinist, Seventh Day Adventist and Jewish representatives were called later. Subpoenas were served on school principals and priests in the Roman Catholic diocese of Sandhurst in Victoria. Remember that day Margaret?
Margaret remembered it well, and interrupted Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s interview to tell her bit of the saga. Members of the DOGS thought they would at least get front page publicity on the day priests and parsons were subpoenaed to give evidence on the religious nature of their schools. She was working in country Victoria in 1978 and studying law at Monash University in her spare time. She wanted to see the evening news. So when her work was over for the day, her old two-door Volvo built like a steel tank hurtled down the Gippsland highway to law lectures at Monash. It didn’t matter if the big oil tankers hunted that day, her car drove itself. The TVs were on in the Monash student union restaurant.There was nothing about subpoaenas or the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . There was something about the death of the Pope and hypothetical poisonings. She thought it was a student joke.

After lectures Margaret drove into West Melbourne and joined the DOGS members around the Nilsen dinner table. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  burst into the room with the news. The Pope had died and the papers were full of it. As to the DOGS matter—hardly a mention. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  got them all laughing:  

They say he was poisoned but we know what happened. He got the news about our subpoenas XE "subpoenas" \b  and had a heart attack. Poor old man.  

Margaret was enthusiastic about her anecdotes, and could have talked all afternoon. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , single-minded, was more interested in the series of events he had listed on his paper than Margaret’s memories. Fingering his papers, he shared the papal poisoning story with her, waited for her to take a breath, then jumped in: 

The Commonwealth and the Church school interest wondered whether we were bluffing when we said we would keep going. They believed that we would not have the finance to go to a prohibitively expensive Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . They probably knew that the Australian Council of State School Organisations had been substantially neutralised as a fund raising body.
We still received funds from related groups but knew the Trial of Facts would cost hundreds of thousands of dollars in counsel fees alone. If we lost the case, we could be held responsible for the costs XE "the costs" \b  of the defendants as well, a double whammy. The opposition knew that none of us was a multi-millionaire.

When the subpoenas XE "subpoenas" \b  arrived at the doors of Bishops Fox and Stewart, the Commonwealth, the only defendant at that time, finally realised that we meant business. I believe the Commonwealth if left alone, might have agreed on the factual characteristics of a religious school. This would have avoided a Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . But, at the 5 October 1978 High Court Hearing the Church school interest sought leave to become a party to the action. Their senior Counsel, Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  QC, argued that the Church school interest would facilitate the action and be able to assist the court to achieve a quicker resolution of the matters of fact than may otherwise be possible.
From our side of the bar table, they had moved us into a stalemate. 

The Church school interest wanted to run the case as amicus curiae (‘friends of the court XE "friends of the court:amicus curiae" \b ’) at the same time questioning our right to be in the court. They even challenged the fiat of the Victorian Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b . We decided that it was time for the real plaintiffs to get into the act. The plaintiffs asked the then Victorian Attorney-General, Haddon Storey, to add a number of taxpayers as plaintiffs. We were going to test the High Court on the issue of Standing XE "Standing:Issue of Standing" \b , the standing of taxpayer-citizens to bring an action in the Court on a basic human right embedded in the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b : freedom of and from religion.  

To be fair, the behaviour of the Victorian Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b , Wilcox XE "Wilcox:Vernon, Attorney-General Victoria" , and later, that of Haddon Storey was the only good thing that ever happened to us in this sad, sorry saga. Wilcox XE "Wilcox:Vernon, Attorney-General Victoria"  not only gave, but resisted pressure to withdraw, the fiat. Haddon Storey not only continued the fiat. He ‘saw no objection to the amendments’.
These men chose to give us fiat and open the doors of the Court for us as citizen-taxpayers in the first place. Now we wanted to be there in our own right. We didn’t want to ever go cap in hand to Attorneys-General XE "Attorneys-General" \b  again.  

The taxpayer-plaintiffs were from Victoria, New South Wales, Tasmania, and the Australian Capital Territory. The two taxpayers from the Australian Capital Territory represented a population with a pertinent interest in the locus standi (standing to sue) issue. No federal Liberal-Country Party Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  had ever given fiat to challenge Federal legislation. 

The Hearing before Chief Justice Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  on 20 November 1978 was about two basic questions: ‘Who do the courts belong to?’ and ‘Who belongs in the court?’

I went up to Sydney for this Hearing. I waited for McPhee outside under the palm trees in front the Criminal Court building in Sydney which doubled up as a High Court when necessary. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  was hovering over us on from the bench in the old fashioned Court room. The stone Georgian building betrayed memories of the colony’s convict origins. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  appeared old, shriveled and crotchety. He resented being there. There were grander plans in process for his High Court in the federal capital. 

Legal representatives for three parties were at the bar. Mr. Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  QC for the plaintiffs; Mr. Maurice Byers XE "Byers:Maurice QC, Solicitor-General for the Commonwealth" \b  QC, Solicitor General for the Commonwealth, and Mr. Brian Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  QC,  for the Church school interest. I sat behind McPhee. He went first. After amending the original application to include recent federal legislation, namely the States Grants School Assistance Act, he indicated another amendment. Here is the transcript:

Margaret went through the transcript of the 20 November 1978 Hearing in Sydney. Her eyes were drawn to the following interchange between Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  and McPhee. She pointed it out to  Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b : 

His Honour:
What is the other purpose?

Mr. McPhee: 
The other purpose, your Honour, is to join some additional plaintiffs in the action and to make the consequential amendments necessary for that purpose.
His Honour:
Why more plaintiffs?

Mr. McPhee; 
The question of the standing of the Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  of Victoria in this action is put in issue in the defence, your Honour.
His Honour:
Can you get anyone with a better standing?

Mr. McPhee:
This application essentially, your Honour, the proposed new plaintiffs are taxpayers of various states and of the Australian Capital Territory. This application is made in the light of the decision in the United States Supreme Court in Flast v Cohen and a more recent decision in the Supreme Court of Canada in Thorssen v the Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b . In both of those cases, in the circumstances of the case, taxpayers were held to have the necessary locus standi by the court to challenge the constitutionality of the federal Acts. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  said that Mr. Byers XE "Byers:Maurice QC, Solicitor-General for the Commonwealth" \b  and Mr. McPhee had been negotiating outside the court. Mr. Byers XE "Byers:Maurice QC, Solicitor-General for the Commonwealth" \b  did not oppose the application. At the close of the Hearing the Chief Justice ordered the addition to the statement of claim of the amendments agreed to by the Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  of Victoria, but left the question of whether there was standing or not to take their place in later Hearings. The ordinary citizen taxpayers had a toe inside the door of the High Court. But did they really belong there?

The next question was the joinder of the Church schools as ‘friends of the court XE "friends of the court:amicus curiae" \b ’. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice" ’s lips, pursed ready to speak, relaxed into a half smile, as he welcomed the Church interest into his court: 

His Honour: 
Well, they are very rightly interested and, as a matter of fact, they are the real defendants in every sense of the word.
The issue of the characteristics of a Church school remained in contention. 

Mr. McPhee:
The defendants would contend that religious schools and government schools are pretty much the same sort of institutions, that is that they achieve a secular education of the same standard as a government (school) and some private schools may or may not have some religion tacked on. But it is central to our case your Honour, to prove that the whole approach of those denominations who run religious schools is quite different to that, that the schools are not designed primarily to perform a secular function at all, but are designed as part of the evangelical mission of the particular religious denomination. It is a necessary step in our case your Honour, barring all other difficulties, to prove in the end, that this money reaches a religious institution.
...that is to say, that the school is simply central to the whole of the religious mission of that religion…If I may say so, it is the assertion of those who direct those schools that the situation in which there was secular educatiobn plus some religious instruction simply would not be acceptable.
His Honour:
Oh well, I understand what you hope to prove. It seems to me you are not going to avoid a trial, if that is what you hope to prove. I have considered the papers and that sort of thing, and I cannot form questions that will meet that sort of situation. That is a matter for you. 

Mr. McPhee:
I would not, in those circumstances, have any option but to go to the trial in the matter because those matters are central to our case, your Honour.

His Honour; 
I can frame the question quite easily on the basis that I put to you that some schools have religious instruction in the curriculum and religious observances by pupils according to the particular denominational doctrine or standard, and that these courses and these observances are in some instances optional, and in some instances compulsory. I can frame that question quite easily, but I could not phrase the question that you have suggested, because I am not sure that really I follow the logic of it. 

Mr. McPhee:
I do not regrettably, your Honour, have any of the United States authorities XE "United States authorities" \b  with me. 

His Honour:
I am not worried about United States authorities XE "United States authorities" \b ….

Mr.  McPhee
I was only going to indicate, your Honour, that in those cases there have been long factual trials, and there are in those cases, starting with Everson’s case,…a summary of the findings which the court has accepted and acted on as to what denominational schools really are in terms of the aims of that denomination. 

There was a further question of law. That was whether there were any Constitutional prohibitions on the power of the Commonwealth to place conditions on Section 96 XE "Section 96:Australian Constitution" \b  grants of money to the States.
 The DOGS eventually won this argument and but even on this question Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  continued to vent his spleen. It is best to look at the transcript:  

His Honour: 
It might be too much to ask the court in the abstract to say that you could never attack an appropriation Act. 

Mr. Byers XE "Byers:Maurice QC, Solicitor-General for the Commonwealth" \b :
Whatever he wishes to say, your Honour, the statute still.. stands in its form, it is a grant to a state. 

His Honour:
Oh yes it does….

Mr. Byers XE "Byers:Maurice QC, Solicitor-General for the Commonwealth" \b : 
If my friend wants to put the case in that way, your Honour, I suppose there is nothing I can do to prevent him, so..

His Honour:
Nor you can, but you had better prepare yourself for a long road, or somebody has. 

Mr. Byers XE "Byers:Maurice QC, Solicitor-General for the Commonwealth" \b : 
It may be a question, your Honour, of whether it is a proper use of the time of this court, but that is another…

His Honour:
I cannot send it away. If I thought I could send it to another court, I would send it quite readily, but I do not think I can at this stage. I have thought about that, too. 

Margaret picked up a tattered piece of paper marking the page. She looked at an  unfinished image of a tiny judge with an enormous fly swat in his hands. Years before, in 1978, Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  had been doodling. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  ignored it. He wanted to wrap the interview up. Gathering up his papers, he said: 
If he could have, Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  would have sent us away. He was happy to have the church interest muscle in, uninvited, but he didn’t want us in his court at all.
.
CHAPTER NINE: TRIAL OF FACTS XE "TRIAL OF FACTS" \b 
The Nilsen Dining Table, 15 October 2007

Tea ceremonies are like saying grace at the end of a meal. Margaret thought it a good place to continue the saga. A small group: Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b , and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b , together with Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b , Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  sat with her around the West Melbourne dining table. They had finished their meal and were sipping their mugs of tea: Orange Pekoe and Darjeeling in the old aluminium teapot with the dripless spout. The more things had changed, the more, at this dining table, they had stayed the same. 

Margaret wanted to deal with the high point of the DOGS High Court Challenge to State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to Church schools: the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . She had attended the court on a number of days herself, and was trying to remember. Images collided as she searched for a hook to hang them on. Time had laid layer upon layer of reminiscence and what she could recover slithered through fissures down into her mind. 

Margaret was not a natural historian: an efficient gossip-gleaner like Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b . Her focal points were impressionistic. Her academic experiences had convinced her that ideals sounded best inside her head but pretentious in the open air, like quotes remembered, stored up and trotted out to impress the listener. But now she had to force herself to graduate from the Nilsen dining table to the bar table in Court Number One in the old High Court in Little Bourke Street. She recalled it on that first day of the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  in March 1979 as a warm, not unfriendly place. It was a day of celebration when DOGS members from all over the country gathered in one place. 

But what event, what person stood out? Her most vivid memory was settling into her pew behind Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and receiving a tap on the shoulder. She swung around to see the unblinking eyes of Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b  from Tasmania. He looked over at the religious men and lawyers in black, milling around the dark brown tables and pews on the other side of the court, then waved his hand at the gaily colored dresses of the women seated behind him and said: 

I promised I would be here, even if I had to walk on water to do it.
The President of the Tasmanian DOGS, a man prepared to walk across the waters of Bass Strait to this event, provided Margaret with the clue. A miracle had occurred. Against all the odds, a few determined Australian citizens had forced administrators of the longest lasting multinational corporations, skilful networkers in the corridors of power, prominent churchmen, into the Australian High Court. And these witnesses themselves were about to expose the mendacity at their ideological core. 

Day after day Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  sat on the bench with hooded eyes, like an owl, watching, listening and acting the umpire. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  sat on the edge of the pew in front of Margaret but immediately behind McPhee. The eau de cologne and other scents on the women sitting behind her mingled with the smell of industrial cleaning fluid, polish and dust in forgotten corners. The only woman she could see on the other side of the court immediately behind the numerous legal representatives of the church interest was dressed in a short navy blue dress like a nun. She was sitting next to a priest whom Margaret assumed to be the main official defendant: Father Francis Martin. The woman appeared vivacious and pleasantly efficient. Margaret wondered whether, in another time and place, they might enjoy each others’ company. 

The memories were flooding back. She was ready to check her impressions out with the memories of the others who had gone down to the High Court in Little Bourke Street in the period March to May 1979. Was that enough?

Margaret fingered a piece of Baltic amber hanging on a silver chain around her neck. She peered through it to an embedded insect caught in its death throes millions of years before. The sap of the ancient pine had retained everything it received in its soft, still liquid state, preserving what should have been digested and secreted. If she rubbed it to warmth in her palms, it would attract fragments of paper like a magnet. The amber forgot nothing and preserved the deepest-buried secrets as evidence. Margaret wanted to check her oral memories against the written evidence for her portrayal of what had happened in the 26 day Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . The court transcripts ordered and paid for at the time of the case took up one of Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s bookcases in their ageing folders. If the insects had not eaten Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s documents into dust, if she put everything together, her account might be enough for those who had eyes to see.

Margaret put down her mug of tea and turned to Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b , Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b , Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b , Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b :  

What do we remember about the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b ?
The interviewer switched on her tape recorder and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  spoke into it first: 

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  said:

I did all the photocopying, night after night, on John Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b ’s machine. The children helped me when they stayed over for school holidays. During the day I had to work and only got to court if I had a day off.  I remember the people who came and sat up in the back seat of the court when I was there. I met up with people I hadn’t seen for years. Some came down from the country, from Kerang, Koo-wee-rup and Gannewarra. I had told them about it on the telephone. They wouldn’t have known very much if they had depended on The Age.

Estelle Coleman, one of the plaintiffs on the writ was there almost every day. She rang me and kept me informed on the days I had to go to work. She was a Seventh Day Adventist whose husband had lost his high-profile public service job when he wouldn’t work on Saturdays. She was very angry that the Seventh Day Adventists XE "Seventh Day Adventists" \b  had decided to take State Aid XE "State Aid" \b . She knew her Church-State history, and let the witness from her church know exactly what she thought of him on the day he appeared. Estelle  was an older version of Joan Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  to look at, and was also involved in the women’s movements of that time. She stayed on as one of the plaintiffs to the bitter end. 

People came from interstate: Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b , from Tasmania, Chris and Joan Selnes from Queensland, and the Taylors from Sydney. Mum gave them cups of tea and Henry cooked scones and we all sat around this dining table and compared notes on the evidence of the witnesses. 

I remember Miss Hall from Nyora was flabbergasted that religious men could be so devious. There was one nun who was really clever. She wouldn’t give a straight answer to Mr. McPhee. But he used our documents and forced her to say‘yes’ to a few of them. 

Then there was the principal from Donvale Christian School—Miller. He was the only one prepared to admit that his school was religious. The Parent Controlled Christian Schools weren’t entirely happy with the outcome either. They realised that the Court took for granted the distinction between religious and secular education and considered that religious schools were not really ‘religious’ anyway. I discovered an editorial in their official newsletter, Nurture.
Stuart Fowler, I think it was, said that the Court had not recognised the principle that all life was religious. I cut it out and gave it to Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  for the scrapbooks. 

One time I had to go down to deliver photocopying to Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  before the court opened. There was this little man with black eyes pacing up and down outside the court room, talking to himself. I thought he was half crazy. It was our barrister, Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b .  

And there were all those lawyers on the other side of the court. First of all, there were the lawyers for the Commonwealth and the Church. Then, later, all the State Governments got into the act. Even the Victorian Government was on the other side. There were some Church school supporters in the court: not many. I assumed they were people in the know. Reports from the Church press were selective. The silence from the mainstream Press was deafening.  I used to go through the papers every week for my scrap books. I found the Catholic press reported religious admissions dragged out of them by McPhee. There was very little reported from the cross-examination of their own lawyers. 

I sometimes went and sat near the dark-suited men and women on the other side of the court. I was dressed in dark colours and they didn’t know who I was. There were a lot of very sober, worried people dressed in black. It was like they were at a funeral. I came home and told Mum that I thought they were busy burying their conscience.
Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b , Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s twin sister had her own peculiar memories. 
Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  said:

I want to tell the story of Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  getting into Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s car by mistake. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  drove Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and his heavy bags of documents down to the court every day then collected him in the afternoon. None of us ever had any contact with Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b . It would have been improper. But one day he rushed out of the court at the lunch break, when Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was waiting for Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . The white Rambler was new in those days, and Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  thought it was his personal driver come to collect him. He jumped into the back seat and gave Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  directions. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  said:

I would be only too happy to oblige, Your Honour, but I think you have mistaken my car for yours. I also think that you should not have anything to do with me.

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  often chuckled over that story.

We went to the court every day, and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  took notes on the religious men trying to downgrade the religious purpose of their schools. 
I used to look after Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b ’s son when he was visiting his father. He was a lovely teenage boy. They said he was disabled, but I liked him. We just roamed the city and had happy days together. The lad was very proud of his father and we occasionally sat in the court.

We returned to his father for lunch, but sometimes McPhee was too busy. He used to pace up and down in his room, or in the corridor outside the court, practising the questions he was going to ask. 

Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  handed the tape recorder to Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b . He laughed at it and gave it back. Margaret encouraged him to talk anyway, and started taking notes. 

Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b  said:

I sat next to Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b , the DOGS Secretary, when he was not out on a paint job. He said the show was worth every penny of his hard-earned money. Lance was painting roofs until he was my age: well over eighty. 

Who would have thought it possible: all those religious men in the witness box— bishops, principals, nuns, and teachers. The bishops wouldn’t say they didn’t have authority, but then they claimed they left it to the administrators, principals and teachers, and were too busy to really know what went on. It was as if all the documents we had collected were pieces of meaningless rhetoric. The spin, spinning, sent my head into orbit. And I had a good head in those days. I needed it for my acrobatics. 

I got the gist of it after a while. The religious school witnesses were trying to prove that their schools weren’t that religious at all. They were trying to tell me that I got almost as much religious instruction at my State School down in South Melbourne as the children in the local Catholic school. 

I don’t know about that. I do know that in Sunday school and the Newsboys’ Club I was taught to love God, speak the truth, and be careful with money. We had to be. After my brother died in the Second World War there was just Mum and me. The Newsboys Club in Collins Street helped me, and I got a job at the Herald Sun newspaper. I gave Mum my money and she gave it to the DOGS on our behalf.

The bishops said they had religious authority, but the school principals said they hardly saw the bishops, and religious teaching was reduced to some kind of loving kindness. Well, that may be. But what’s the difference between Church schools and public schools? Why divide the children at all?
Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  had handed the tape recorder to Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  who was sitting with a friend at the end of the table. He was happy to talk into it. 

Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  said:

Uncle Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  took me down to the court when I came to Melbourne from Kerang. My brothers and sisters got involved too. I had grown up with Nanna, and my uncles, and aunties looked after me until I was five because my parents were on the Aboriginal Mission in Western Australia. I was not supposed to survive. Uncle used to put me on his shoulders when I was little and we went to see the specialist. 

I wanted to help so I went with my older brothers and sisters to help Aunty Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  do the photocopying. We went up to a concrete building behind the Trades hall at 52 Victoria Street. I put a lot of things in envelopes. If you look under this tablecloth you will see where we put letters of the alphabet on the table for all our mail outs. I stood on the election booths when we went for elections. People liked taking material from me when I was a little boy. I remember how Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  Hawke shook my hand and took my pamphlet when Hutchy was standing against him in Wills in the federal election XE "federal election:1969" \b  of 1983. Hawke scowled when he realised what I had given him.

I went down to the court when I was older to see Uncle Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and our lawyers in the trial of Facts. I was at Kerang Technical High School then and I found it all very interesting and strange. People up in the witness box tried to outwit our barrister, who was questioning them about the religious nature of their schools. I am a Christian and I decided that these people didn’t know much about the Christ I knew. Otherwise they would have been only too happy to tell the court about Him. 

I enjoyed the talk around the dinner table at the end of each day. Those of us who had attended gave our accounts to the others who dropped in after work to hear about it.
It was getting late and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  wanted to wash the dishes. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  agreed to talk about the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  with Margaret the following day. When she arrived in the West Melbourne dining room he had spread copies of the written submissions of the Church school defendants and transcripts of the twenty-six days of the Trial of Facts, in chronological order, along the dining table. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was not shy of the tape recorder. He took it and sat down on a chair on the opposite side of the dining table to Margaret.
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  said:  

Marjan Jurjevic and our American contacts had taught me to study the opposition and their material. That was how I discovered how much the Church school operators hated me: almost as much as they hated Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b . But they couldn’t touch me. They never answered the DOGS advertisements we put in The Age and Australian because we protected ourselves with conservative statements and figures. They believed that they would break us financially. If we were worried about losing our property we would not have got involved in the first place.

Because Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b —Baghdad Bill—was one of the plaintiffs, Santamaria XE "Santamaria:Bob" \b  from the National Civic Council XE "National Civic Council" \b  (NCC) claimed we ran the case on Arab petro-dollar money. He had a fertile imagination. To ensure the case could proceed, the younger Nilsens took out another mortgage on their properties. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  provided substantial sums from his savings, Hutchy painted roofs and wrote cheques, and teacher unions, State School organisations XE "State School organisations" \b  and individuals sent donations. The New South Wales Teachers Federation was a generous and constant source of support. We paid all our costs. We never mortgaged mum’s house. She had to be protected. 

Bill Hartley XE "Bill Hartley" \b  himself never provided a penny. He had his own financial worries.  Yet he was accused of going to Tokyo and sending back most of the funds.
 Bill himself always said that the celebrated ‘Khemlani’ affair where that middle-eastern gentleman arranged to meet him to discuss the possibility of a loan for the Labor Government, was a set-up anyway.

To link the giving of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to religious or church schools with the “establishment of any religion’ clause of Section 116 of the Australian Constitution, we had to prove there was entanglement between religion and the State, or endowment XE "endowment" \b  of religious institutions. In other words, we had to prove that religious schools were part of the evangelising mission of the Church. The assertion of church control was the main reason the Roman Catholic church had withdrawn from State control and funding in the 1870’s and 1880’s. We had no reason to think their fundamental purpose had changed. The official documents were unambiguous.
 Evidence given in the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  was another matter.

I expected that the defendants would follow American precedent and attempt to minimise the religious characteristics of their educational institutions. I calculated that they would try to prove that Church schools were little more than glorified state schools with maybe a bit more religion added. The hierarchical chains of authority would be lessened or confused and Church schools depicted as discrete entities distanced from the priest or central ecclesiastical authority. Documentary evidence would be narrowed and confined. 

Following the American experience, I also expected teachers would say in evidence that they did not introduce religious aspects into so-called secular subjects. If they were prepared to disucss religious beliefs, it would be in a balanced, many-sided presentation. Administrators would also minimize or deny selection of teachers on the basis of particular religious commitment .
I was not disappointed, but we had collected current documentation as well as historical records going back 100 years, all ready for them to double-talk and deny. 

The trial was due to start on 6 March 1979. The day before, solicitors for Mrs. Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  informed John Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b  that she intended to apply for removal as a relator-plaintiff on the DOGS writ when the court met the next day.  The barrister who was representing her was the late Peter Hayes, the son-in-law of Justice Ninian Stephen XE "Stephen:Justice" \b  of the High Court in 1979. 

Joan Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b  had offered herself as a plaintiff when she started her lobbyist’s career in the Victorian State School Parent Clubs. But Beazley Senior had selected her for the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  and her administrative career was blossoming. As a Commissioner dispensing aid to religious schools and a member of the Labor Party, our writ was an embarrassment to her. She wanted out.
The Victorian Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  did not wish to consent to her application for removal but said he would leave it to the court to decide. The question was, could she take the rest of us out with her? 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  cradled his warm mug of black tea in his hands and looked over the dining table at Margaret. 

Just another obstacle to prevent us getting into court. 

Nobody opposed Kirner XE "Kirner:Joan" \b ’s application. We were happy to be rid of her.  But Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  left the question of her costs for another day. We noticed that Church school representatives in the body of the court offered congratulations when she appeared to be successful. I wonder if they gave her an undertaking on the costs XE "the costs" \b ? 

There was some minimal media coverage at the very beginning of the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . A few new chum journalists wrote feature articles. Then later, in the trial itself there was a sympathetic article in the Sydney Morning Herald.
  The reporter understood the issues and had the grace to discover that I was someone who believed that entanglement between religion and the state was no good for religion, the State or the individual taxpayer. He even decided that I was not a pathological atheist with a grudge against Roman Catholicism. He said the parade of collars and habits in the courtroom was like an inquisition in reverse, and noted that the witnesses were treading a fine line between playing-down and advertising the religious content of religious schools. That was an understatement.

The National Times 
also gave us good coverage. Their cartoons were good fun. Come to think of it, the cartoonists have usually been on our side. The priests, parsons and wealthy schools were obvious targets for them. The Age was always a different matter. The editor, Graham Perkin, told me personally that he would not offend the religious school interest. He labelled us ‘sectarian XE "sectarian" \b ’, disagreed with our cause, and declared that he would give it no oxygen in his paper. Some journalists were friendly, but their copy rarely got to print. We paid for advertisements in The Age and went to the Press Council several times. That was useless.

While the case was being heard in court, I worked night and day with McPhee, providing documents when he wanted them. He negotiated with the Church school lawyers on procedural matters. We had a say in the bishops who were called. They selected most of the principals.
 They requested that we would not call a Father Hilton Forrest Deakin XE "Deakin:Alfred" \b . I have often wondered why. 

Mum fed me during the day, and I sometimes ate chocolates in my study at night—brain-food I called it. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was always there at lunch break and the end of the day with the Rambler and his smile.  I was still studying law that year, but that was never a hassle. I was the infamous but unknown face at Monash. I was acquiring useful on the job training. Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  was the best trial lawyer at the Melbourne Bar. He was a little black Scot terrier with a phenomenal memory for detail. He always had his questions prepared and would concentrate on them—muttering to himself and pacing up and down just before going into the court. 

He never examined crossly, but quietly hunted his witness up and down the documents trying to cajole them out of their prepared procedure. He never claimed that he got anywhere. The Church school witnesses were well-briefed. His best hits were the asides. 

Permeation of the Catholic school curriculum was protracted; the sacred was separated from the secular; and the sacred, well, in the end how sacred was the sacred? Whatever it was, it was crucial for the religious school interest that it was not strong enough to make Church schools religious institutions.

The only witnesses of use to us were Mr. Miller from the Donvale Christian School, and, for an afternoon Mr. Schubert from Adelaide, South Australia. We deliberately bought Schubert over from South Australia in the morning and put him into the witness box that afternoon. McPhee got to Schubert before the other side could brief him—but only for a short time. He had pre-selected the documents he brought and the Church school barristers had access to him overnight. 


The religious school witnesses led McPhee a merry dance. On the day he was examining Father Dillon, the priest in charge of vocations, McPhee sent me out to get some documents. When I came back, Dillon had gone. I whispered:

What happened to that bloke?
McPhee muttered

I got rid of him. He was too tricky by half.
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  shrugged his shoulders and held out upturned palms. 

How can ordinary people deal with them? It was disgusting really, watching all those religious men and women working hard at minimising the evidence of the religious nature and control of their enterprise. There was really only the one, witness who was prepared to say that Church schools had religious purposes, rather than some add-on, feel-good accretion. They worked hard to portray their religious schools as glorified State schools. It was all tactics. They thought they could give us a financial stitch and break us.

But we paid all our legal costs. At the very end, Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  stretched out his paint-stained hands, shook his shirt cuffs, took his fountain pen and signed the final cheques with his florid signature. That night we looked around the meeting table at each other. Those were the last payments we would make. If the churchmen ever came to us for costs, we would go to jail. From sources inside the religious school camp, we discovered that the laity and lesser clergy wanted to pursue us for costs but ultimately the decision to leave us alone was made by the Episcopal Conference of the Roman Catholic church.
Perhaps they were worried about further exposure. We were certainly ready for a fight and McPhee would have enjoyed it. 
Margaret was taking notes, wondering about the significance of the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . She interrupted Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  to ask him whether he considered the Trial an event devoid of value, played with too much importance, or an important event played by people devoid of value. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  did not hesitate: 

The religious men had no values. They proved that principles gave way to pence. We both exposed them, and proved that entanglement of religion and the State XE "Church and State"  has disastrous effects on both parties. 

For me the case was always about the principle of forcing somebody to part with even an infinitesimal part of their property to religious organisations that they don’t believe in or want to support. It was about the most basic freedom of all—freedom of conscience. It was something out there, up in the ether I had to fight for.
Margaret reacted, reminding Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  that she believed that freedoms weren’t laid up in heaven, but grounded in people’s minds. Every generation had to articulate and fight for them. They agreed about the ‘every generation’ bit but remained at odds about the ether. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s experiences had left him somewhat sceptical about the morality of moralists. He became agitated and raised his voice: 

I’ve always said that you don’t let religious men get their hands into other people’s money. They can’t be trusted. If it is taxpayers’ money it is even worse. The churches stood to lose hundreds of millions in 1979. Now it is running at more than five billion a year, and that is just the federal direct grants. It leaves out the State grants, and tax exemptions. There is minimal if any accountability. It isn’t the ordinary people in the pews at fault. They are kept in the dark like mushrooms. It is the mendacity of the institutional men that appalls me. The institution itself appears insatiable. When Cardinal Pell says: ‘jump!’ our Australian politicians respond: ‘how high?
The public education system is under constant attack and in swift decline, and PPPs or public-private-partnerships have been introduced. I don’t believe the public system can survive integration with the church system. We predicted what has happened, but there is no joy in being right.
He quietened down, folded his hands in front of him and examined the grime that had gathered under his fingernails from labouring on Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b ’s farm. He concluded
In retrospect, I believe that the religious leaders won the case and lost their soul. So—we were right about the meaning of Section 116 weren’t we? You can’t serve God and Mammon; Unto God and Caesar; etcetera. Clark and Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  knew. The hierarchical churches never learnt and  the Baptists, Quakers and Seventh Days’ Adventists forgot.
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  paused, combing back his hair with his fingers. He appeared weary, wanting to finish the interview and be about his business.  

When you are dealing with the religious school opposition, you have to protect yourself with correct, conservative, facts and figures. Here are the documents for you Margaret. They speak for themselves. Don’t get carried away, however outraged you may feel. Keep your chin up and battle on.
Margaret looked at the wrinkles gathering around his blue eyes as he squinted at the fly buzzing towards the light in the bay window. As he reached for the fly-swat, she responded: 

Speak for yourself, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . 

Conservative facts and figures:

Margaret took notes on the correct, conservative facts and figures and reverted to anaesthetised prose. She read through the documents chronologically,  then decided to put the last, startling fact first. 

On October 10 1979 when the long endurance test, the 26 day Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  was over, senior counsel for the religious school interest told the Court that they did not consider that the facts mattered at all. 
 
Margaret then went back to the beginning of the chronicle.

The Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  in the DOGS case commenced on 6 March 1979 at 10.40 am in the High Court building at 250 Little Bourke Street, Melbourne. Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  was the presiding judge. The Trial took 26 days in court before it got to the full High Court Hearing on the Law. It involved 54 witnesses: 49 called by the plaintiffs and 5 by the defendants. The defendants, in order to avoid cross-examination of religious school witnesses, called only representatives from State Schools. Father Martin, at that time the Director of Catholic Education, attended Court most days but did not appear in the witness box. Sixty-nine per cent of the 49 witnesses called by the plaintiffs were representatives from the Roman Catholic system, although Roman Catholic schools were in fact the recipients of over 80% of federal funds. Altogether there were one archbishop. three bishops, twelve principals, four parish priests and 14 Roman Catholic Church officials. 

There were 116 documents tendered by the plaintiffs as evidence that religious schools were what they had claimed to be for over 100 years, namely religious institutions. Given that the case was about the establishment clause of Section 116 of the Australian Constitution XE "Section 116 of the Australian Constitution" \b , the DOGS plaintiffs thought the number of documents oddly appropriate. 

There were also eleven profiles, statements of facts and submissions on the facts and the law. The DOGS incurred costs of at least $5000 a day, and the opposition would have incurred costs of at least twice that amount. On the plaintiffs’ side the money came from State schools around Australia and the sacrificial giving of dedicated individuals. Although the National Council for Independent Schools XE "National Council for Independent Schools" \b  and the Rev. Father Martin had been the official representatives of the Church school interest, it was reported that the Catholic bishops had paid the legal bills for all Church school interests. 

Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b , the trial judge, did not find on the facts. There were two sets of facts concerning the religiosity or otherwise of Church schools. The plaintiffs’ Statement was based on the official face of Church schools. The Church school Defendants’ Facts were based upon their interpretation of the testimony of witnesses. At the end of the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b , both submissions were handed up to the full Court. 

The Full High Court heard the arguments on the law on 24 March 1980 on the basis of the plaintiffs’ Statement of Facts.
 At the end of the hearing on the law however, Counsel for the Church school interest indicated that if they lost on the law they would return to have the legal arguments considered on their Statement of Facts.
Chief Justice Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  referred to this as having another snail in the bottle. 

What were these ‘facts’ presented by the Church school interest? 

The written Submission of the National Council for Independent Schools XE "National Council for Independent Schools" \b  and the Rev. Father Francis Martin, presented to the court in July 1979 
after the hearing of all the Trial evidence, stated that Catholic schools were ‘schools in the same sense as Government Schools,’ their curricula being ‘fundamentally identical save that in the case of Catholic schools there are more frequent classes in religious instruction’. This religious instruction was presented as totally separated from the secular, and as being ‘about’ rather than ‘for’ religion. The old fashioned concept of ‘permeation’ of the school curriculum with particular religious values was reduced to ‘care and concern’ for students, a characteristic equally applicable to an atheist school. Lutheran, Adventist and Jewish schools were similarly presented as schools giving at least the same instruction as government schools. The 19th century concept of a Catholic or other denominational conscience indissolubly tied to a belief in church authority was undermined. The authority of the bishop was delegated down the line to administrators and principals.

In a nutshell, religious schools with a few on and off  religious appendages, were insignificantly different from government schools.
 Margaret looked at the notes she had taken. If Counsel for the Church school interest was right and Church schools were not substantially different to public schools, why have religious, fee-paying schools at all? Perhaps the churches were really about ability to pay, class, not creed. 

She rifled through the newspaper cuttings from the Church school press and discovered that the no-more-or-less than government schools position was not at any stage the face of the Roman Catholic Church presented to members of their flock. When, two years later, Church school representatives emerged victorious from the High Court an editorial in the Catholic newspaper, The Advocate XE "The Advocate" \b  Thursday 26 March, 1981, read as follows:

The Schools Case opened new areas of constitutional law and called for evidence of many kinds of schools in many places. All those defending the schools fulfilled their tasks admirably. 

 Ethical reasons prevent us naming the legal men: their best tribute is in the overwhelming acceptance of their case by the High Court. 

One of this legal team (again because of legal ethics, we cannot name him) said he could not ‘have performed effectively without the enormous goodwill and co-operation of all those involved in the action.
The editor also said the ‘witnesses were informed, articulate and most impressive’. 

Margaret looked at this editorial and wondered whether she was Alice in Wonderland. The faithful readers of The Advocate XE "The Advocate" \b  could be forgiven for thinking that witnesses were called and prepared by shy Church school lawyers who remained anonymous for ‘ethical’ reasons. 

She knew that 49 of the 54 witnesses were subpoenaed by the plaintiffs, not the defendants. She had subpoenaed an Anglican priest herself. She also knew that the witnesses had attended conferences with the defendant Church school barristers. They refused to meet with McPhee under any circumstances.
 But it was a source of some amusement around William Street when men and women in clerical attire were riding up and down the lifts in Owen Dixon Chambers. 

Margaret reminded herself that if might is right, precedent and proprieties fade, then disappear. She recalled the frustration of Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  as he dealt with his witnesses. She also remembered the disillusionment of the members of the DOGS as they realised that the judicial process had been eroded by incestuous networks operating between churchmen, politicians, and the legal fraternity. First there had been the difficulty gaining standing in the court, then they were confronted by Justice Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b , the judge with a conflict of interest. ext there had been delay upon delay leading to admission of the Church school interest into the action as the ‘true defendant’; their demand for a Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b ; and finally, briefing of plaintiff witnesses by QC for the Church school defendants.

The best entertainment in Melbourne  
That was on the serious side. Margaret also recalled that the trial took place at the end of the 1970’s, the decade of hope, and protest. The plaintiffs could still see the ridiculous side of things and laugh. Although the Melbourne populace was not informed by the mainstream media, the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  in the High Court provided some of the best entertainment available in Melbourne in early 1979. Margaret recalled the court-room drama, the tussle between barrister and witnesses, and the evening jokes around the dining table in West Melbourne.  As they sat for days listening to church men and women minimising the religious purposes of their schools, the plaintiffs wondered whether the whole exercise had turned into a big, bad, expensive joke. 

Margaret turned to the piles of court transcripts of those 26 days of open court hearings. The ink on the yellowing pages was fading but the typing was clear enough. The evidence was in the voices reproduced on the thousands of pages, but the voices themselves were disembodied; the issues abstracted and realities tortured by myriads of words. She kept reading, trying to link the words on the page to the place and the people. 

She went back to the court drama and the actors. At 10.40 a.m. 6 March 1979, Court Number One in the High Court resembled a small Anglican church in 18th century colonial style, with long wooden pews in the centre and wooden jury box on the side. The judicial bench replaced the altar, and the witness box the lectern. 

Although there was room for seven chairs on the long panelled bench on every day of the trial, Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  ruled supreme on a single chair in the middle. He was a tall man, with flushed face, crooked nose, and very deep, masculine voice. In repose his eyes drooped, but his sleepy appearance was deceptive. His interchange with the barristers revealed a mind on the alert. When he spoke he sounded like Paul Robeson. Margaret wondered whether he could sing ‘Joe Hill’. His young male associate sat in the podium beneath him, eyes fixed in concentration on a point at the back of the court. 

Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  QC and his junior Jack Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  sat to the left of the bar table with John Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b  facing both his colleagues and the audience. John’s round Macedonian face had the smile of a cagey, but not caged, Cheshire cat. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  sat in the pew behind McPhee with his father’s old Gladstone bags full of documents. He had a clean-shaven face, and hair plastered back with vaseline. His shirt sleeves had not yet been pushed up his arms, but were securely buttoned down. His suit coat was slung over the back of his pew and he was ready for action. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was Mr. McPhee’s batman, handing him exhibits when required. All those years with Arch McArdle in Ford Motor Company were paying off. The defendants were left guessing at what he had in those bags. They had given DOGS members around Australia XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  eight years to collect them. 

On the other side of the table, in voluminous robes and tessellated horse hair wigs, just below the witness box, sat the small, sprightly Mr. R.C. Tadgell QC and a tall thin Mr. M. Black QC together with a rotund Solicitor General, Mr.M. H. Byers XE "Byers:Maurice QC, Solicitor-General for the Commonwealth" \b . They were legal representatives for the Commonwealth.

They were joined by Mr. B. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  QC, Mr. K. Hayne and Mr. M. Macnamara, together with Mr. Norris from Corr and Corr for the National Council of Independent Schools XE "National Council of Independent Schools" \b , and the Reverend Francis Martin. There were also assistants to do the legwork. Sister Anne O’Brien, a handsome, efficient young woman in a short navy blue skirt, sat in the front seat as the back up person for the Father Martin Roman Catholic solicitors. It was rather crowded on the other side of the bar table. They were all very confident and busy. None of them looked like bashful, shy lawyers who for ethical reasons should not be named by the Catholic Advocate. And, although the DOGS had issued the original writ against the Commonwealth it was Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b , QC for the Church school interest who took pride of place at the bar well prepared to fulfil his role as the legal star of this courtroom drama. 

When, a few days later, the six States intervened and sent their representatives, half of the right hand side of the court accommodated flowing robes, pin-striped suits and wigs. And there was Mr. McPhee, Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  on the other side. It looked like a David and Goliath situation. But McPhee was enjoying himself, and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  kept his sling loaded. 

There were many unrobed people in colorful clothes on the plaintiffs’ side of the court. Margaret was sitting about three seats back with Lance, Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b , Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b , Hughie XE "Hughie:Kemm, member DOGS" \b  and many others. There were people from New South Wales, Tasmania and Western Australia. They turned around and peered when the first witness, Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b  from Bendigo, arrived. Margaret assumed that some of the sober faced men in black suits at the back of the court were there to give him moral support. She wondered about a bishop needing moral support. 

The tipstaff had finished rising and sitting those assembled, and the rustling fell into an expectant silence. Members of the audience were all waiting to see the witnesses, but McPhee stepped up to the microphone. It sounded as if he was presenting the case on the law, handing up Commonwealth States Grants Acts, with Amending Acts, to Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b . He spoke into the microphone, so those assembled were able to hear what was being said. 

Mr. McPhee:  
Your Honour, the plaintiffs contend that the grants obtained by the religious schools are grants to institutions which are religious institutions conducted by religious for religious purposes and that the acts providing for those grants are unconstitutional as being contrary to section 116 of the Constitution which prohibits the Commonwealth from making any law for the establishment of any religion. ..If it prohibits aid or recognition by the Commonwealth Government to any religion whatsoever it requires the Commonwealth to not prefer religion to non-religion and to remain neutral to religion in the sense that it does not provide any aid or support for religion at all…We seek to place reliance on a line of decisions in the United States Supreme Court which involved the construction of the first amendment which is very closely similar to the provisions of clause 116. 
The plaintiffs also claim that the acts are not a valid exercise of the grants power provided by section 96 of the constitution…for example, the Catholic Church sees Christian education as part of the whole of the evangelical mission of the church. Catholic education is not seen as something which is separate from the rest of the Church and to this end, it comes under the same ecclesiastical control as do all other matters relating to the Church. 

He argued from recent precedents in the Supreme Court of the United States of America that, given that Section 116 was almost identical to the First Amendment of the American Constitution, grants of aid to sectarian XE "sectarian" \b  schools were unconstitutional.

Mr. McPhee started into the evidence, handing up official documentation on the purpose of Catholic schools, indicating that he would make introductory statements on the other Church school systems when their witnesses were called. Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  objected. Mr. McPhee would have too many bites at the ‘opening cherry’. Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  ruled in Mr. McPhee’s favour. 

The first morning had gone. It was a quarter to one, and the court adjourned for lunch.

The bishop:

The theatricals commenced after lunch. An elderly Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b  from the Sandhurst diocese, Bendigo, came to the front and climbed cautiously up into the box. Once he was there, he looked down to the glass of water on its little shelf, placed his hands on the rim, and looked ready to deliver a sermon from his pulpit. He was proud of his standing with the Vatican, and ‘yes,’ he was the chief pastor of the children in the diocese, but really, he left the application of his directives to the parish priest and principals. 

McPhee leaned his elbow on the podium coaxing the witness in friendly tones. There was a verbal tussle between McPhee and the bishop on the question of making sure that Catholic children were saying the prayers laid down in his official directives. Mc Phee was patient, never raising his voice. There was nothing to be gained from being put off his game by Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  or Mr. Tadjell objecting to every second question. Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b  was leading him round the mulberry bush on delegation of responsibility down the line to priests and principals, but he had dropped in passing the fact that he sounded children out on their prayers on his ‘visitations’. Finally, Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  asked McPhee to force the issue. The plaintiffs’ QC persuaded Stewart to admit that ‘Yes,’ he did sound the children out on their prayers—but only when he got around to visiting them.

Later, under cross-examination on his school visitations, Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b  provided light relief:

Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b :
 I just go in – it is generally a bit of a joke session…I tell riddles and Sthey tell me riddles and a good time is had by all. 

Telling riddles ended the first day. 

On the morning of 7 March 1979, Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  QC rose to cross-examine Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b . He stood upright at the central podium, establishing immediate rapport with the witness. When he led the bishop into saying that his authority was directed only to the religious education department of schools however, McPhee rose to object. He used a deeper, more definite voice: 

Mr. McPhee: 
There are two grounds upon which we make this submission. Firstly, your Honour, this witness was by means of an open letter to him and an open letter to the solicitors instructing Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b , invited to attend a conference with us on terms that if they desired either the solicitors or counsel should be present and we would undertake not to pursue any matter in conference which they took exception to. 

That invitation was not accepted and it is our submission that it is not unreasonable to draw the inference that Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b , having regard to the position of this witness, has had the opportunity [of] having a conference with this witness. 

Secondly, your Honour, this witness is partisan, and I do not say that in any sense of criticism of the witness, but he is partisan, and that he is partisan emerged in an aside in the evidence yesterday when he was referring to the theologian who researched this booklet, that he said in words to this effect, it is a great pity for our case that this man is not in Australia. He used the words ‘our case’. Now this witness is partisan, I submit, not for any dishonest reasons but for quite profound reasons, namely that he has a very deep interest in the plaintiffs not succeeding in this case. It is obvious from his evidence that he …would not say anything that would give the plaintiffs’ case cause for success in this case. 

What we submit, your Honour, is that your Honour should rule in his discretion that Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  should not be permitted to ask this witness leading questions.

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  responded that he believed that Mr. McPhee had not had a conference with Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b . He also admitted that he had had a conference with the Bishop before the Hearing. 

Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  was sitting forward in languorous mode, balancing his chin on the palm of his hand. Almost imperceptibly, he swung his head to contemplate the two barristers standing on opposite sides of the central rostrum. 

Finally he decided that it was inappropriate to restrict Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b ’s cross-examination at this stage of the case. He indicated however that he would not say that Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  would not be restricted at any stage of the proceedings. The bishop, who prided himself on being an articled clerk in his youth, entered the game in a querulous voice: 

B.D. Stewart:
Well, may I ask first and foremost, am I a defendant, or a plaintiff? If I am a defendant I am being denied cross examination, why not cross-examine me? 

Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  came alive, swivelled sideways on his chair, leaned forward with studied courtesy into his microphone, and said, judge to bishop, 

His Honour: 
Well, your Grace, your position here is as a witness, so you have got to tell the truth. 

The game between Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b  and his cross-examining counsel continued. Bishop Stewart was jolly about his arithmetic when assessing how much time religious instruction, as opposed to secular instruction, was given in his schools per week. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b : 
 I think that on a sort of estimate on the amount of religious instruction which there might be in Catholic schools [it] would be two and half hours a week?

Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b : 
Well that is about what it would work out. As I said my arithmetic might not be up to date. I have been away from it for some time, but two and two used to make four. 

By the time Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  and Stewart had finished, the picture presented was that of a very busy, aged, but far from senile bishop covering 25,000 miles on the road every year. He did not have time to think about the schools in his diocese let alone supervise them. The official documents of the Roman Catholic Church tendered by Mr. McPhee were not denied, but undermined. They were irrelevant to the ‘instruction in secular subjects in the schools of his diocese’.

The issues were muddied even further when Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  led Stewart into discussion of disagreements in the church about ‘the proper way of going about religious education’
 and Stewart referred to what he termed the differing ‘betwixt’ and ‘between’ approaches. But he did want to pay tribute to the priest who was tremendously energetic in ‘seeing that the children in the state schools get their instruction’.
 Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  sat back watching him through drooping eyelids, and sat Mr. McPhee down whenever he jumped up to object. 

The bishop’s workers:

Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b ’s day in court came to an end, and so did many days following. Further witnesses managed to both confuse and minimise the line of authority between Bishops and their underlings in relation to both secular and religious education. This was the picture presented on the third day, 8 March, when The Vicar General of the Sandhurst Diocese, Monsignor Francis Peter de Campo; the co-coordinator of religious education, Father Duffus; and Sister Monica Mary O’Toole, the principal of Saint Monica’s primary school Wodonga, were called. McPhee was attempting to establish that Catholic children and Catholic teachers who could teach religious education had preferred access to Catholic schools. Their answers to his questions were equivocal. When Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  rose to lead the witnesses in cross-examination their evidence ran smoothly as a train over well-maintained tracks: 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b : 
Father Duffus, you say that you were appointed as co-coordinator for religious education in the diocese in July or August last year?

Father Duffus XE "Father Duffus" \b : 
Yes.

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
 The appointment being somewhat informal?

Father Duffus: 
Yes.

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
How much of your time since then have you devoted to your duties in that office?

Father Duffus:
Very little. I have attended a meeting in Melbourne and I have written a couple of letters; I attended one late afternoon meeting of teachers at Tatura. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
That is all?

Father Duffus:
If I sat down long enough maybe I could think of one or two other things, but there is very little that I have actually done. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
The meeting in Melbourne that you referred to was the meeting of the religious education committee?

Father Duffus:
Yes. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b : 
I understand you to say that you are not familiar with the contents of the green book, (Report to the bishops on staffing dealing with accreditation of Catholic teachers) exhibit 3? 

Father Duffus:
No

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
Father Duffus, I know that you have said that you are not familiar with the contents of the green book, exhibit 3,
 and realising that the answer may have only limited use because of your lack of familiarity with it, nevertheless are you conscious of any step which had been taken in the diocese of Sandhurst to give effect to the contents of the green book so far as relates to certification? 

Father Duffus:
The only step that I would be aware of is, apart from the documents that would have come from the Catholic Education Office, but that does not emanate from our diocese, the letter I wrote suggesting the correspondence courses that are available to teachers if they would like to use them… 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b : 
I understood you to say that you were not aware whether in fact anybody was engaging in the correspondence course?

Father Duffus:
I could not name anybody who is. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
You were asked some questions about lay teachers and their being trained to teach religion. In the primary schools, is it right to say that by and large each class has a teacher who teaches them for the whole day?

Father Duffus:
There is no primary school in our parish and I do not know how they operate that way. 

On 13 March 1979 Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  only needed to give minimal assistance to a particularly clever nun—Sister Mary Bernadette Duffy from the Convent of Mercy in High Street Wodonga. She wore a scarf over her sleek hair, walked demurely into the box and arranged her calf-length skirt. The outfit looked new. She was immaculately groomed for her day in court. 

She told Mr. McPhee that she had glanced through official documents of the Church, but was not necessarily familiar with them. She was quite happy for non-Catholic teachers to put non-Catholic points of view to students on controversial matters on which the church took a strong moral stand—contraception for example. There were very few external or internal religious symbols on the walls of her school. No rosaries were said or masses held in the school, and the non-Catholic students were free to choose whether they attended religious instruction at the school or not. McPhee asked:

Mr. McPhee:
If you had a non-Catholic teacher who had strong religious convictions but not Catholic, maybe a Seventh Day Adventist or perhaps another denomination, would you expect that teacher would refrain from expressing his own religious views to the children?

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
No. In fact it is often a very valuable resource in broadening the children’s insights into other religions or other facts….

Mr. McPhee: 
Would you look please at Exhibit B, The Catholic School? --- I have it here. Would you look please at paragraph 43:
do you see the last sentence of that paragraph; This is what makes the difference between….

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
Yes I can see that.

Mr. McPhee:
Would you expect such a teacher to seek to persuade a child that the views he held were valid and the views of the Catholic Church were not?

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
It would depend on the situation and the level of the child. 

Mr. McPhee: 
Let me put it this way: Take a doctrine that is perhaps common only to the Catholic Church, a question perhaps of the infallibility of the Pope is one matter that comes to mind. Would you expect a non-Catholic lay teacher who held the view that the concept was not valid and held very good reasons or believed he had for saying it was not valid to seek to persuade the child that the doctrine of the infallibility of the Pope was wrong? 

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b : 
Seek to persuade?

Mr. McPhee: 
Seek to persuade the child, not just simply to say: other people hold a different view?

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b : 
No. 

Mr. McPhee:
Take the next step and seek to persuade the child that he ought to relinquish any belief that he had in the infallibility of the Pope?

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
Again, I could see that being a good intellectual argument at senior level, so I do not want to say, no. I do not want him to do that because it could be quite an educational experience and in fact I think it does happen at times, and that does not worry me…

Mr. McPhee:
In the teaching of subjects such as social studies, or government, and that type of thing, do questions ever arise about which the church has taken a strong moral view? 

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
Yes.
Mr. McPhee: 
Some particular issue?

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
They do arise, yes.

Mr. McPhee: 
What sort of things do you have in mind?

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
Well, some issues of marriage, divorce, contraception could arise, be it in biology, or be it in some history, social studies areas, legal studies. 

Mr. McPhee:
When those sorts of questions arise no doubt the matter is discussed generally, perhaps the pros and cons of the situation, do you understand me; but in the school, in the end result, do you seek to have the children take up the Catholic viewpoint where the moral viewpoint is strongly held in the church? 

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
I do not think the school can really make the child take up a moral viewpoint. 

Mr. McPhee:
No? It cannot?

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
I think we would be unreal if we sought to do that. When those subjects arise, I would hope that we could give them an educational experience, a knowledge, of those subjects and of the various attitudes and values and beliefs that are about on them. I believe that is what happens in our biology, social studies lessons…

Mr. McPhee: 
Would you look please at Exhibit B, The Catholic School? --- I have it here. Would you look please at paragraph 43: do you see 
the last sentence of that paragraph; This is what makes the difference between….

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
Yes I can see that.

Mr. McPhee:
First of all, do you consider that at your school education is permeated by the Christian spirit?

At this point Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b  eyeballed Mr McPhee QC as if they had exchanged their respective roles, and practiced the art of answering a question with a question. 

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
Could I ask what you mean by ‘permeated?”

McPhee didn’t miss a beat:

Mr. McPhee:
No. I do not want to depart from the words that are used here but in what sense do you understand it to mean, that passage?

Mr Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  joined in:

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
I object to that question. The witness has not said she understood it in any sense. 

Mr. McPhee:
The witness, your Honour, has previously adopted this passage and said that not only does she agree with it but in acting as a teacher she seeks to implement it. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
With respect, your Honour, that is not what the witness said at all. What the witness said was that she agreed with it generally in that it stressed in all the educational context of the importance of the teacher. I am not reproducing this exactly but it is something to that effect, but my recollection is that the witness did not adopt it except in the terms I have just expressed.

The ‘permeation’ of the school curriculum with a particular belief had for more than a century been one of the major reasons for separating Catholic children from their fellows in the public system. It was a cornerstone in the plaintiffs’ statement of facts. This time the judge did not give in to Mr Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b . 

His Honour:
Would you reframe that, please. 

Mr. McPhee:
I will reframe it, your Honour. 

His Honour: 
So as to meet the difficulty—there is no need for a great hassle over it, is there?

Mr. McPhee:
What do you understand he meant by the word ‘permeate?’ 

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b :
As I read that sentence there I would say where the Christian spirit is present. 

Sister Duffy XE "Sister Duffy" \b  set the stonewalling pace. Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  had largely pre-selected the principals who appeared for the Roman Catholic Schools and they were generally up to her standard. 

McPhee retained strict civility from the central podium inviting, persuading, even leading his witnesses to own the official statements of their church. Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  allowed Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  to lead the plaintiffs' witnesses as he wished.  They generally outwitted McPhee. At the lunch break, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  would come across him in the private room in the court set aside near the entrance to the court for counsel. He would be pacing up and down, or around the desk and chairs or turning over his documents in acute frustration. Away from the bar table a harsh note entered his voice. The witnesses did not deny the official religious objectives outright. They were rarely so blatant. But they would qualify, re-define or make a nonsense of the written word. Their level of sophistry was getting under the skin of this ex-army man who, in addition to his legal training, valued levels of straight talking. He had attempted to keep a barrister/client relationship between himself and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , but he was starting to realise why the younger man held these religious men and women in contempt. On those days Margaret noticed that he confided in Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  as a colleague in arms. 

The Archbishop: 

On 15 March 1979, at about half past nine in the morning, there was a traffic jam around 250 Little Bourke Street Melbourne. His Grace, Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b , was arriving at the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  in his official capacity. He stepped out of his car, dressed in black suit and clerical collar. He was welcomed by his lawyers and assistants in clerical garb. He made a grand entrance, followed by his acolytes and members of the press. When called he stepped up into the witness box and was sworn in. 

In stark contrast to his most famous predecessor, the politically active Archbishop Mannix, Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b  was a friendly, uncontroversial pastor. After the battles for State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  during the reign of the imperious Mannix, and the short reign of Archbishops Simmonds and Knox, Little was an appropriate choice for the quiet extension of state aid to Church schools from tens to hundreds of millions, and eventually billions of dollars. He had clean-cut features, long eyelashes and a hairline dwindling into a noble forehead above large-lobed ears. His lips were permanently upturned. He appeared a happy soul and seemed of an age when the un-sexing of the parish priest did not matter. If you met him after church on a Sunday, he would probably shake your hand and know your name. He liked people, and he liked to be liked. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and Henry Nilsen had noted that he was a prominent supporter of the Essendon Football Club, so he couldn’t be all bad. 

This did not mean that his office was of no consequence to status-conscious men and women of the world networking their way through the corridors of power. Nor did it mean that he was ingenuous. He was an archbishop and this required deference from those on the right hand side of the court. He climbed into the witness box with a quick step, drew himself to his full height, exhibiting the royal purple below his clerical collar, took the oath on the Bible, and automatically placed his hands on the rim as if it were his pulpit at St. Patricks Cathedral. 

The plaintiffs had subpoenaed three bishops and now, this archbishop. The audience was full to overflowing and Margaret was forced to sit with other DOGS supporters in the jury box at the side of the court. They were directly opposite the reverend gentleman and could watch his face. He appeared apprehensive, swiftly licking his lips before answering some questions. 

When she went back over the court transcripts for that day, Margaret discovered that the archbishop’s evidence proved him a master of subtle equivocation. The Catholic Advocate reported that Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b  said that he would expect that a child in a Catholic school would be taught the views of the Church.
 But they selected answers to questions winkled out of the witness by Mr. McPhee, rather than those of his counsel for the Church school interest.

Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  kept objecting to McPhee’s questioning but finally, with approval from the bench, the examination of the archbishop commenced. He was less combative than Bishops Stewart and Fox, who had revelled in their performance and court procedure. His Grace was gentle and courteous as he claimed difficulty in either hearing or understanding many of the questions put to him by Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b . 

Mc McPhee:
Your Grace, it is common ground that Catholic schools in their operation pursue a number of purposes and that one of those purposes is a religious purpose, a religious purpose of the type described in Exhibit 3. I want to ask you whether the rationale of the Catholic Church having a Catholic education system is so that a child can attend a Catholic school, one of whose purposes is that religious purpose? 

Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b :
   I really find it difficult to get precisely at the point because my mind immediately goes to education and I see that as described in that book as a critical and systematic assimilation of culture.

His Honour:
When you said ‘in that book,’ what were you referring to, your Grace?

Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b :
  The Catholic School’ published by the Sacred Congregation for Catholic Education issued on 19 March 1977. 

His Honour:
Yes, that is Exhibit B.

Mr. McPhee:
Take the case of a Catholic child attending a state secondary school; does the Catholic Church take any exception to the type of secular education he receives there? 

Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b :
  If that secular education is a fulfillment of truth—where secular education may include anti-Catholic, or anti-Christian, or anti-atheist, or anti-anyone; but supposing all things being equal … the question was?

Mr. McPhee:
Take the present secondary schools in Victoria: when you say you prefer that the child go to a Catholic school, has that got anything to do with the secular teaching that is taking place at state schools in Victoria, is your objection based on anything that relates to the secular teaching in those schools?

Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b  put his head on the side and leant forward. He did not fully understand questioning designed to establish the religious reasons for Catholic schools, but said that he did not preach on the obligation of Catholic parents to send their children to such schools. When asked about religious symbols in the schools, he did not deny their existence but emphasised that the children saw them at home.

McPhee attempted to get to the crux of the case. 

Mr. McPhee:
Just one final question your Grace. We mentioned the figures before about the amount of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  and I would like to ask you this: is it ever a matter of concern to you that the extent of the Commonwealth aid, in the sense I used those words before, for the Catholic school system is such that there is any danger to the church’s independence in the sense that it may become entangled with the state, or, in part, dependent upon it?

Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b :
  It is one of the possibilities. 

At this point the barristers on the defendants’ side of the bar table became agitated, jumping up to loudly object. 

After Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  had settled everyone down, Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b  said he hoped that Australia would be like Scotland where the Catholic schools were fully independent and fully state funded.

Under cross-examination from Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b , the Archbishop launched into 1970’s style educationese. He attempted to reduce religious objectives in Catholic schools to an historical, cultural phenomenon. He had some particularly interesting things to say about the question of birth control. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
Now, say…a question of birth control …had come up. In treating the matter …would that involve the teacher expressing only the view which the church takes on that matter, or would it involve the expression of other views?

Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b :   I would think it would depend on the context and what educationally was wise, but in the treatment ultimately of the question of birth control I think the question could only be seen in the overall context of what happens in life today. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
If the question came up in the course of a religious education lesson, as I suppose it might, what would you expect then?

Archbishop Little XE "Archbishop Little" \b :   I would expect a similar approach from a teacher of religious education who exposes openly and honestly all facets of a question so that in no way could the exposition of Catholic doctrine be other than credible and freely acceptable and any restricting or deception or lack of statement of full truth would take away that credibility and therefore diminish the commitment a person freely makes to a truth, which takes a great deal of heroism to live out. 

It had been a long day. The archbishop’s head was no longer thrust back on straightened shoulders. His chin was conversing with his chest, as his voice articulated less and less clearly through the microphone. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  requested that His Grace be given leave to go to Papua-New Guinea Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  obliged. 

His Honour;
 I doubt whether the case will be over by your return. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b : 
It may stop him coming back, your Honour. 

The Archbishop withdrew. Margaret stayed back with Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and McPhee, but Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b  from New South Wales went out onto the pavement in Little Bourke Street. He said the archbishop looked disappointed with himself when he climbed down from the witness box, but appeared more confident when he stepped outside the Court and met the Press.
 

Father Tom Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b 
The evidence which proved most useful to the lawyers who compiled the written Statement of Facts handed up to the Full Court was that provided by Father Thomas Michael Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b , Director of Religious Education in the Archdiocese of Melbourne. Referring to the testimony of Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b , the Church school written submission claimed:

The majority of instruction in the religious instruction classes relates to subjects which are not distinctive of or unique to the doctrines or teachings of the Roman Catholic Church. A very significant part of the courses in religious instruction given in Catholic schools is devoted to matters which are common to many religions and another significant part of the content of religious instruction in Catholic schools relates to matters which are doctrines or teachings common to many bodies of Christians. 

Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  was perhaps the witness who caused McPhee the greatest grief. He was a pale, dark-haired functionary with receding hair. Any expression on his face was concealed behind the reflected light on his dark-rimmed glasses. He was armed with precisely articulated answers which led the plaintiffs’ barrister up blind alleys. He reduced religious education to educationese even more skillfully than his archbishop had done. Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  successfully obliterated the distinction between teaching ‘for’ and teaching ‘about’ religion. On 5 June 1979 Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  and Tadgell used McPhee’s introduction of an amendment to the plaintiff’s Statement of Facts to bring this star witness for the church interest back into the court. The court documents speak for themselves. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b , in the amendments which have been made it is suggested that pupils at Church schools attend instruction in the theology or doctrines of a particular religion as an integral part of the curriculum of a school. As…to the religious instruction which is given in Roman Catholic schools, could you say to what extent that religious instruction is instruction which is in relation to matters which are peculiar to Catholicism and to what extent it relates to matters which are peculiar to Christianity and to what extent it relates to matters which are of a more general nature than that?  

Mr. McPhee:
I object to that question, if your Honour pleases. First, I object to it on the basis that there has been no foundation for qualifying Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  to speak about what happens in all Catholic schools in this regard and secondly I object to this question being asked of this witness in the recall because questions of this nature were asked by Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  in cross-examination of other witnesses in the course of the case, and in our submission it does not arise from any amendment or pleading. 

Mc Phee was fed up. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  was re-calling McPhee’s witness, rather than calling Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  as a defendant witness. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  was getting a second bite at asking ‘leading questions’ and under the rules of evidence, McPhee could not cross-examine Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b . Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  sat on the bench above the barristers, his face expressionless as a sphinx, then ruled in Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b ’s favour. McPhee’s outrage was betrayed in his words, but not his tone of voice. If anything, his inflection was more deferential:

His Honour:
I think it reasonable in the way that this case has been conducted that Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  should be able to ask the question. You will have your opportunities to go further if you wish in re-examination, but I do not think if there is evidence which is material, this being a constitutional case, that we should be overly concerned about whether they should have been asked at some other earlier stage.

Mr. McPhee:
Your Honour, with respect, we are concerned about that course, if your Honour follows that course at large: throughout the whole of this case we have been in the position that Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  has been able to ask such leading questions as he wants of witnesses with whom he has had the opportunity to have conferences, and we have, although we have been given a degree of latitude in asking leading questions, we have never been in the position where we have been permitted to cross-examine. Now, if a situation is going to develop where Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  can lead evidence in this way to establish a case which he wishes to make in reply to our case, we will suffer an unfairness because in the ordinary course of events what Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  would have to do if he wants to produce evidence with Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  is to call him as a witness with the disabilities that that involves. Firstly, the disability that he cannot lead him, and secondly, that Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  would then be open to cross-examination and open to cross-examination at large, as any witness would be. 

Now, Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  would be able to make his case in this way your Honour. If I may say so with respect, Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  has perhaps fallen into bad habits in this case…in the sense that this is the means by which Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  has come to believe that it is a very convenient way for him to adduce evidence. Now I do not want to derogate in any way from my learned friend’s skill as a cross-examiner, your Honour, but to put at its lowest, his cross-examination has lacked the excitement and danger that the cross-examiner is normally in when all that Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  has to do is to ask a series of leading questions and derive answers that have no doubt been discussed in conference. …we submit that if he is allowed to make his case in that way, we do suffer an unfairness.

Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  still allowed the question. 

Margaret, sitting behind Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  in the court, was drawn into the legal dance drama. A confident Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  delivered a side-swipe at his opponent on the other side of the court, then continued a well-rehearsed two-step with Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  down the minimisation of religious instruction path.

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
Can you remember what the question was, Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b ? What I asked was would you tell us the extent to which the religious instruction given in Roman Catholic schools relates to matters peculiar to Catholicism, the extent to which it relates to matters peculiar to Christianity and the extent to which it is broader based than that even?

Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b :
The religious education programme in schools would be based on the guidelines, religious education guidelines.

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
Could you speak just a little bit louder, Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b , because although my learned friend did not want you to answer the question, now that you are, he wants to hear it?

Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b :
The religious education program in the schools would be based very much on the guidelines for religious education which are at primary and secondary level, and their starting point is the human condition and the place of religion in human life and so on, so that—the actual programmes would have a very significant part of them that are related to what would be common to religions as such and common to the human condition as such. Another fairly significant part would be related to Christian communities as such, and held in common with other Christian bodies, and the actual areas of specific Catholic content would be fairly much restricted to areas such as sacraments and some aspects of relationship within the Church, the Church structure. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  led Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  into the next step with a presentation of the topics dealt with at the various educational levels, establishing that the specifically ‘Catholic’ portions of the religious education curriculum were but part of 

a process of religious education that includes many aspects, none of which could be described as inculcation.
 
Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  still refused to accommodate McPhee’s objections when a report on religious education in State schools, The Russell Report, was put in evidence, and even requested Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  to address him on the status and value of official and semi-official material. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
Your Honour, we will certainly seek to discover what the answer to your Honour’s question is, but I rather suspect the answer will be an answer which will depend more on inspiration than authority. 

His Honour:
That is what I suspect. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b :
Perhaps that is not inappropriate to this case, your Honour, but if one is concerned…about the question of what general educational theory says on some subject, for example, if may be that if the matter was not in contest that the court would be prepared to go to general references on the subject without matters being proved. But where one comes as we come here to a situation in which the plaintiffs are saying there is religious instruction given in the schools and the fact that that is so stamps them with a particular character which marks them out as institutions of a kind which fall within the prohibition of section 116, we seek to say that is not so because the fact of religious education is given in certain non-government schools is not unique to them. That indeed is a character which is possessed by almost all schools in Australia and moreover it is a character which is blessed, if I can use what is an unfortunate word in the circumstances, by educational theory. Educationists regard it as appropriate that that sort of thing should happen in educational institutions. 

At this point Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  and Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  attempted to prove that in a Catholic school program there was a substantial ‘middle ground’ shared by other Christians or those merely involved in the ‘human experience’. The sacred was almost reduced to the secular. The Russell Report was admitted as evidence and the state of religious instruction in government schools rather than Church schools became the major bone of contention. The Church school interest had successfully diverted the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  away from the religious nature of Church schools to that of state schools. The only witnesses and exhibits offered to the court by the Church school interest as ‘friends of the court XE "friends of the court:amicus curiae" \b ’ related not to their own schools, but to state schools. 

At this point Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  allowed only limited cross examination by McPhee. McPhee was watching the judge carefully and was disinclined to cut across his wishes. He indicated that he merely 

wanted to explore with Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  how he saw the differences between what was happening

in religious schools and what was happening in state schools.  

Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  had been sitting upright, leaning back on his chair, eyes wide open and listening to every word spoken by Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  and Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b . He now moved forward towards his microphone and took over the proceedings:

His Honour:
There is one problem that troubles me coming out of this. It arose once before with another witness. I find it a little difficult and perhaps if I might ask the witness this question.
No-one was going to object. Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  was sitting on the bench. He had rarely interrupted the proceedings and when requested to do so had generally ruled in favour of Mr Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b . He now leaned forward into his microphone, and addressed Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b . His deep voice contrasted with the higher-pitched voice of the witness:  

His Honour
You were asked some questions about how the government school was run and the attitudes in that school and you said depending on what the atmosphere or attitudes were, that they might be described as Christian. This raises again a difficulty that I have had from time to time in understanding the evidence where if you have some characteristic which is shared by Christians and non-Christians, one describes something which falls into the overlapping area as Christian. Supposing at a school run by atheists who were professionals and in which the atmosphere was one of dignity and decency and humane values were demonstrated by the teachers, do you appreciate it would be difficult to say that that could be described as a Christian school even though the values of dignity and professionalism and so forth might also be found at a Christian school?
Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b :
 Yes.
His Honour:
I have found a little difficulty in the answer which you previously gave. Perhaps you could clear it up or counsel might clear it up?

Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b :
 I would think there is not a dichotomy between the agnostic and Christian viewpoint but there is a substantial middle ground which both would share and therefore I would find difficulty in describing a school as agnostic or Christian just on those grounds. The purpose in attempting to answer that question was that I would believe there is such a large common ground between Christian and other values that it is to my mind slightly misleading to use either of those labels.

His Honour;
That is how it struck me, Mr. McPhee. It seems anomalous to speak of a body in terms which are applicable, if you like, to another which has been described in the opposite sense; in other words, a set of values or characteristics of a school, to describe it as Christian or non-Christian, if those values are applicable to both or may be attributable to both. 

Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  had led the defendants into an ideological dead end. Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  had succeeded in exposing a false dichotomy between church and state schools, reducing the sacred to the secular and eliminating traditional differences between Church and State XE "Church and State"  systems of education. 

Meanwhile, Bruce Ross XE "Bruce Ross" \b  had slipped down to the front pews behind Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and handed him a handwritten letter, together with a photocopy. It was written on the letterhead of the National Council of Independent Schools XE "National Council of Independent Schools" \b , 330 Punt Road South Yarra and was dated 19 April 1979. It was addressed to a Father John Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b  in Tasmania. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  glanced quickly at it. 
Dear John, 

Thank you for constantly feeding me with articles….I have now visited independent schools in all States and I know that the current boom is associated with parents’ desires for something better for their children, even if that something is not clearly of a spiritual nature! Nonetheless there are encouraging signs. Our confounded High Court Writ of course causes our lawyers to make NCIS 
(and perhaps the VCEO)
 soft-pedal on the religious nature of our schools. …while I am in Canberra next month, I must try to see you for a while. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  said:

Wrong Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b . Pity!
He then turned and enquired where Bruce had got it from. 


Tasmania’s a small place.
The letter illustrated the behind the scenes tactic of ‘soft-pedalling the religious nature’ of religious schools for the purpose of the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . Unfortunately the letter was written to the Tasmanian, not the Victorian Father Doyle XE "Doyle:Father Tom" \b .

Towards the end of the trial however, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and McPhee had a slight break-through. The barristers for the Church school interest were confronted with a recalcitrant witness who believed his Christian school was a religious institution. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  and Mr Miller

It was 16 May 1979. The Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b  which commenced in March of that year had been set down for another hearing on this particular day. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  had an exciting morning. He got up early, milked his Jersey cross cow, patted her on the flanks, put her out with her calf and hosed down the yard. He went into the house to get dressed in his best suit. Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  had collected the eggs and locked the hens in the yard. He sniffed the air. Foxes had been around the home paddock. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  had listened to them keening up the Yan Yean hill the night before. 

The regular jobs were done. They could contribute fresh milk and eggs for Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b ’s bread pudding and cakes when they stayed over in Melbourne for dinner this evening. 

They were late so Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  put his foot on the accelerator and took a short cut through West Preston. Turning towards the Coburg cemetery, blue lights flashed up behind, then alongside. 

Pull over sir
Yes officer
Is there any reason why you are breaking the speed limit?
Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  rolled down the window and started to give her two penny-worth.Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was his usual calm self.

Well, officer. It’s like this. I am due at the High Court this morning and I am running late. It is a very important case and I must be there on time.
In that case sir, I won’t keep you.
That story entered the dinner table saga well before nightfall. 

When Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  finally arrived in Melbourne Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  loaded up Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s white Rambler with court documents and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  delivered him down to the court door at 250 Little Bourke Street. He then drove back to West Melbourne to park the car outside the Nilsen residence. It would be safe there. The farm might suffer, but Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  had his priorities, and a brisk walk did him no harm. It didn’t matter if he was a bit late getting to court. He had seen the tipstaff and judge’s associate ritual the first day and once was enough. He wondered about the tipstaff. He must have heard a lot more than his own rituals in this place. 

He looked up at the ceiling. It was a warm, well-wooded place, this court. The old carpenters and cabinet makers knew their trade. Even the sharp corners appeared rounded, in the 1920’s art deco way. The seats would have accommodated varied litigants over the years, quietly making their own histories as they strained to hear the whispers from bench and bar table. Well, Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was here now, doing his bit for history. He had invested in a new hearing aid. He was not going to miss a thing. 

He liked sitting a few seats behind Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  in the court. It was cool this morning, but he had put a mustard coloured waistcoat on under his coat. The straight-backed seats with their chesterfield leather cushions resembled Anglican Church pews. The cushion coverings were old, hard and cracked, guaranteed to keep you awake. 

Not that Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  needed to be kept awake. He was enjoying the entertainment of a lifetime. It was worth every penny he had paid for it. He didn’t know what amused him the most: the performance of the witnesses in the box according to the predetermined formula of their legal advisers, the persuasion and pounce of McPhee’s examination technique, or the antics of the barristers on the other side of the court. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had told him that McPhee could only examine, not cross examine the people in the box. They were the plaintiffs’ witnesses, and McPhee could only cross-examine the defendants’ witnesses. He would have to declare his own witnesses hostile if he wanted to cross-examine them, but the threat might prove stranger than the execution. 

That was the fun of it. The church men, our opponents, were our witnesses. We had subpoenaed them. John Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b ’s man had delivered most of the subpoenas XE "subpoenas" \b , but Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  had subpoened a few Protestant XE "Protestant" \b  churchmen connected with the wealthy schools himself. The Victorian ones were delivered on a single day. There were also a few served on interstate witnesses. The Pope died that day: 28 September,1978. Hardly a mention about the subpoenas in the press: surprise, surprise. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  felt he was getting his money’s worth today. He was getting more than his money’s worth. The barristers on the other side of the court near the opposition’s bar table were frantic. Just before the lunch break one of the junior barristers had rushed in. He appeared very agitated. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  thought it was Hayne, Shaw’s junior. It seemed they didn’t want the next witness called that afternoon.

Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  was bending over backwards to be pleasant to the opposition. He sat up there on the bench like a wise old mopoke, mulberry capillaries lacing his swollen, reconstructed nose, hooded eyes under the horsehair wig, civility itself in legal repose. But he was awake all right. He let them go on and on until it came to a key point. If you knew the game Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  was always on cue. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  wondered whether he was laughing at them, deep down in the diaphragm under his black robes. Given the behaviour of the witnesses, denying the central religious rationale for their schools, Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  felt Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had already proved the point, if not won the case. 

The morning’s business was over. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  went out after McPhee and Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b . As usual Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s brother-in-law was loaded with his bags of evidence. The opposition didn’t know what Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was going to draw out of those bags next. He and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  never let the bags out of their sight. 

McPhee went into the side room past the corridor octagon in the ceiling on the right. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  followed them to the corridor, but kept going out of the court. He looked up through the octagon with its minimal plaster twirls to the stained glass window at the top. The window was a square, sitting astride the octagon. The corridor could have been dark, but the two matching octagons at either end near the court room doors shed a few shards of natural light on the business transacted there. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  walked past the court entrance corridor and private rooms to the main door of imitation stone, firmly set in concrete. The Melbourne registry of the High Court was an unpretentious brick building with cast iron window frames. It differed markedly from the proud sandstone Supreme Court buildings fronting William Street. The dome, stone-flagged floors and ornate benches for red-robed judges of the State court pushed the High Court into the shade. The red brick building which housed the highest court in Australia stood in Little Bourke Street, looking up the backside of the Victorian Supreme Court buildings. 

It was time for lunch. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  wandered over to the little restaurant diagonally opposite. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  would know to find him there if he needed him. He sat down at a corner table for two and ordered a toasted cheese sandwich and pot of tea. Just as he was settling down to read the complimentary newspaper left by a previous customer, Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  felt the feathers of the opposition ruffling around the table in front of him. They had left their wigs and gowns behind, but he knew their faces well enough. They were too full of themselves and the immediate business to notice him, let alone recognise him as a fairly constant visitor in the body of the court. Their raised voices indicated they had not yet adjusted to being at close quarters to their listeners. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  smiled. He might be deaf, but not that deaf. He adjusted his new hearing aid with a benign far-away look on his face.

The Donvale man is mad
Have you tried to brief him?
Of course we have. He insists that this is a witness box, and he is here to witness to his faith.
We need more time with him.
I don’t know whether he would respond to weeks of being briefed.
How do you think he will respond to the question about the permeation of the curriculum?
He wants to talk about geography, maths and creationism.
Are you serious?
I’m very serious. If they get him in, we have to try and get him out.

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  arrived and sat next to Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b . The conversation at the next table took a different tack. 

***
Mr Albert Miller:

Principal of the Donvale Christian School

During the afternoon of 16 May 1979 Mr. Albert S. Miller XE "Albert S. Miller:Donvale Christian School" \b , the principal from the Donvale Christian School was sworn in to give evidence in the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . Margaret remembered the clean-cut back-and-sides, suited look of an evangelical Christian in possession of revealed truth. His face did not exhibit the pallor of many of the previous witnesses. He was slightly flushed, and determined to mouth every word of his oath. He reminded her of a teacher giving his pupils a spelling test. She wondered whether he had asked the barristers to pray for him in their private chambers before the court hearing. 

After establishing that Mr Miller’s school at Donvale was supported by the members of the Association for Christian Education, Box Hill, McPhee wended his way through Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b ’s objections to his questions on documentation produced by the principal himself. As the examination progressed it became obvious that this witness was responding somewhat differently to those from other denominations. 

The court was informed that the school attempted to provide its 240 students with an education in which Christian beliefs were integral to the system. McPhee presented the court and Mr Albert Miller with a pamphlet the witness had himself written on behalf of the school. 

Mr. McPhee:
Could I take you to the next page of the pamphlet please, and do you see the heading: What is Christian education? 
Mr. Miller:
Yes.
Mr. McPhee:
It says:

‘In matters of education we have commonly accepted the distinction between religious and secular education. The religious part is supposed to be the work of the church, the secular part the work of the school. The church perpetuates the religious heritage, the school the cultural heritage. The church teaches the gospel, the spiritual values and moral values of Christianity, the school teaches the three R’s, history geography, music and art. Is this distinction acceptable from a Christian point of view? It cannot be. A Christian believer is called to sanctify every section of his life, the so-called secular section as much as the so-called religious section. He is called to be religiously busy in whatever he does, he is called to serve his master in every sphere of life. The Christian educator, for example, knows that he is religiously busy in the service of Christ when he trains his pupils in the so-called secular subjects. No matter whether he teaches English literature or German history, his approach to the subject is the Christ-centred approach. He could not possibly be neutral. Where he is not for Christ, he is against him’.
Mr. McPhee:
Do you agree with that?
Mr. Miller: 
Yes.
Mr. McPhee:
I go on to the next column:

‘Christian education therefore has to deal with every subject of knowledge. Adding a few courses in religion and Bible study into a school curriculum or holding religious exercises and chapel services does not make a Christian school. Nor is it enough that teachers are members of a Christian church. Christian education requires a Christian point of view for the whole curriculum, a Christ-centred programme in every department and born-again educators in front of every class’. 


Do you agree with that?
Mr. Miller:
Yes.

Mr. Miller saw no reason to dilute his beliefs or the nature of his school. McPhee had become so accustomed to dragging information on the religious aspects of religious schools out of previous witnesses, that the judge was forced to assist him in assessing the full implications of the evidence. 

Mr. McPhee:
Mr. Miller, I appreciate that you say that all the education has a religious aspect, but apart from Bible study is there any other part of the school day that is devoted to something that is—if I may call it so—exclusively religious in nature, either study or worship or engaging in prayer or anything of that nature? 
Mr. Miller:
All classes in the school spend between five and ten minutes each morning at the beginning of the day reading scripture, praying and singing choruses and hymns. 
Mr. McPhee: 
Yes. Apart from…the Bible study is there anything else, as it were, exclusively religious?
Mr. Miller:
I hardly feel it is a witness’s place to argue about what words mean but…
His Honour:
By saying exclusively religious it is difficult, Mr. McPhee. The witness has said that all the teaching has a religious aspect, and now you are asking him what is exclusively religious.
Mr. McPhee: 
Yes I appreciate the difficulty, your Honour, but I just..?---We would say that nothing is exclusively religious in the school.
His Honour:
So you have got it both ways. Nothing is exclusively religious and nothing is …
Mr. McPhee:
Exclusively secular.
His Honour:
Excludes religion.

The lawyers on the right hand side of the court looked at each other. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  QC shook his head imperceptibly. There was little point in objecting. McPhee continued:

Mr. McPhee:
Mr. Miller, previously you said that all teaching has—the teaching of all subjects has a religious content, words to that effect, is that so?
Mr. Miller: 
‘Yes’.
Mr. McPhee:
Well, I wonder if you could give us some illustrations by taking some subjects which would be called by some to be secular subjects and illustrate what the religious content in it is when they are taught at your school. Can I take, for example, history? Can you tell us how the history teaching at your school would be different from history teaching at, say, a government school?
Mr. Miller:
History teaching in our school would be part of a unit of work. We do not teach history as a subject but we look at the historical aspect of different things, yes, and that is how we introduce children to the discipline of history. History then is part of an integrated unit of study. Would you like a concrete example?
Mr. McPhee:
Yes.
Mr. Miller:
The children would be studying transport, perhaps. Within that unit of study of transport they would begin to look at the origins of transport where it—how it was changed over the years, where it came from and how it has changed historically, which might lead them, for example, to the, say, the invention of the aeroplane in history….I would expect that the teacher in our school would show the children that what the inventors were working with during the course of history could be viewed as parts of the creation, materials that God had provided in his work of creation for them. I would expect that they would also show that these inventors over a period of time were discovering structures in the creation in the order of the creation that were put there when it was created. I expect also they would show that over time during the course of history men have been endeavouring to work with that creation and use it to serve different purposes. Those are the three elements I think that would come through in that particular view of the history of the development of the aeroplane.
Mr. McPhee:
 Are there any views of history that you would expect to be, as it were, rejected by your teachers, such as, for example, a Marxist view of history?
Mr. Miller:
Yes, I think that would be rejected by our teachers.
Mr. McPhee:
Now could I go to another subject. Take for example, geography: what is the religious aspect that would be involved in the teaching about geography?
Mr. Miller:
Again, the teachers would show the children that the earth that they were studying, as part of God’s creation, obeyed laws that He had set for it in creating it, that He sustains it, and that man—this would come more in, I guess, economic geography and human geography—that man has a task in working with it, and in that task he has a choice of seeking to be obedient in the way he manages those resources, and he has a choice either in serving God or in serving some other force or some other object. 

The heads on the right hand side of the bar table nodded sideways at each other. There was one head shaking in its owner’s hands. There was a heaving pair of shoulders. The observers on the left hand of the court wondered at the sideshow: were the defendants’ lawyers dismayed or in disbelief? Finally, Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  rose to object to Mr. McPhee’s attempt to have the Confessions of the Reformed Church admitted in evidence. 

The judge said that it was perhaps convenient to re-emphasise that the case was being conducted on the understanding that no witness had to answer questions he felt were testing his particular beliefs, and adjourned the court until the next day, Thurday, 17 May 1979. 

Mr. Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b ’s cross-examination the next morning was not unexpected. He established that the 15 or 16 of the National Union of Associations for Parent-Controlled Christian schools were autonomous, and what occurred in one school could not be taken as typical of what occurred in another. He also established the existence of approximately 2,500 pupils and 16 schools. The impact of Mr. Miller and his evidence was minimised then dismissed in a few hundred words. 

CHAPTER TEN: HIGH COURT HEARING

MARCH 24 1980

Before court conference between Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and McPhee:

They said it would not happen, but what others had tried almost 20 years before, he had done. The case was being finally heard before the Full High Court, starting today. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was moving quickly along William Street, passing the oak tree in the Flagstaff Gardens. His nose twitched sideways as he passed the blood and bone mulch ladled around the roots. It was high summer but the lawns were green. A few drops from the whirling sprinklers landed on his nose. 

He had washed, shaved, ironed his light blue striped shirt, put on the hand-tailored executive clobber from his Ford Motor Company days, tied a half Windsor knot in the Georges gold tie, and even polished his shoes. He moved swiftly for this was a high gear, not a low gear day. He sometimes wondered why he had only been given two gears. People thought he was an easygoing, laid-back, labouring man, and didn’t know about the high gear—more fool them. 

His upper body was that of a weight lifter, shoulders and chest abnormally broad, every muscle flexed for action as he focused on the crucial arguments. He had lain in wait since 1969 for this day. But his walk was peculiar. His legs did not strut, prance or click alongside the lawyers, government officials, or city office workers as he passed them at the Lonsdale Street traffic lights and walked up the steps into Owen Dixon Chambers. They were too loosely attached to his long waisted upper triangle. No, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  loped along with a lilting motion, the walk of a builder’s labourer, farmer, seaman—or hunter. It was the walk that could carry a man long, dangerous distances in a very short time. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was not into self-analysis and couldn’t watch his progress along William Street. Others could wonder at the one day wonder of his sartorial splendour. He knew his worth and today he was fired up with his place in the history of ideas XE "ideas" \b . ‘Fortune favours the Bold’ he muttered to comfort himself. 

Enclosed in his own destiny,

He loped down the centuries.

Poor Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . He had the research, the knowledge, and the ability to appear in court with the best. But on this day, in the High Court of Australia, he was dependent upon a hired gun. He was not in the United States of America Supreme Court. He did not have standing as a taxpayer litigant. That issue was on the table, waiting for ‘the appropriate case’ that would never come.  Only Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  could bite that bullet. 

***

Black Scot, Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b , was in a dark mood. As he glared across the street at the cast iron gates of the Supreme Court, his frown forced his eyebrows together.  He could shoot straight in cross-examination, but he had never professed to be an expert in constitutional law. He knew what the High Court judges would accept, and the original Constitutional debates had never been admitted as evidence. This lot were not going to set a precedent today and he was not going to put up arguments that would be shot down before he started. He wouldn’t give the opposition barristers that satisfaction. He had to work with them on other cases in a few weeks. Why spoil good companionship at their local watering hole? Honour in the bar. 

He plucked his gown and wig off the stand in the corner and looked at the heavily lined, sparse face and lips collapsed onto dentures in the mirror―the face of a hard-drinking military man. The coal black eyes were sharp as ever. He was still a lad, the Geelong College boy who preferred the exhilaration of battle in the front line to a place on the bench. He could lead a charge, but he had to be in command.

Right now he had to deal with Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . His client wanted him to put forward the American cases and the original intentions of the framers of the Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b . Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had been reading the material for years and knew that the judges would not even consider an argument if it was not put before the court. He also knew that this would make it more difficult for the judges to rewrite history. 

McPhee could see it. Chief Justice Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  sucking in his cheeks on a boiled lolly before he spat out a venomous aside. He could deal with Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice" , but Justices Stephen XE "Stephen:Justice" \b  and Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  were another matter. Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  and Jack Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack"  had put references to some American cases in the written submission, but McPhee knew the judges favoured the English material presented by the opposition. If the truth be known he didn’t disagree with them. He had persuaded his current lady friend to do the historical research, and he had what he needed. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was knocking on the door already. How would he deal with him? McPhee seized the initiative. 

Would Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  mind waiting for him over there on the couch while he robed for court.  Coffee?  No?  He wouldn’t mind if Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  put the jug on for him. No time to go upstairs to the cafe, and he had given breakfast a miss. Always did when he was appearing. Over there—thanks. This robing business takes time. 

He would stick to the pleasantries, and a low voice.

He informed Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  that he only had an hour and he wanted to get along to Jack Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack" ’s office to discuss things with him. Had he told Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  that he was getting his junior to do the oral submission on the standing of the taxpayer plaintiffs? 

If he turned sideways he could see whether his gown was sitting straight on his shoulders. Why hadn’t he noticed that the pigtail on his wig was only hanging by a thread? He had another one in the cupboard. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was a persistent bugger. McPhee wished he’d put those papers and books away. 

The barrister next informed his client that with this hearing, he had to skirt around the issues. The judges were not going to defy convention and admit the Constitutional Convention debates into court because they might be relevant to this peculiar case. They would just throw out the original intentions of Clark and Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  and get irritable. He already had a copy of that book Ray was holding out to him. The judges would only read Richard Ely XE "Richard Ely" \b ’s Unto God and Caesar if they found it relevant. 

He sighed. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had already told him about Ely’s opinion that the Quick and Garran XE "Quick and Garran" \b  commentary was tainted, and there was in fact a strong connection between Section 116 and the First Amendment of the American Constitution. Yes, he was aware that Quick had opposed Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  at the Convention, then had a second bite at history. Yes, yes. But the judges will be interested in the law, not the motives of Dr. John Quick. They wouldn’t question the Quick and Garran Constitutional Commentary. It would be like questioning the Bible and Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  wants to leave his own stamp on the legal canon before he retires.

The sun came out from behind the oil slick over the Supreme Court dome! It was warming up in Owen Dixon chambers, and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was still sweating from his brisk walk down William Street. He dragged out a tattered grey handkerchief from his trouser pocket and wiped his forehead. It was a survivor of his numerous hand-washings with football sweaters. He squinted through morning shadows falling across the grey figure of lady justice. Her right hand gripped the handle of a double-edged sword, while the left drooped chain and scales over her left knee. She was perched on her pedestal in front of the Greek columns of the Supreme Court dome. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was not into symbols. Not this morning anyway. He was too busy pulling another bundle of papers out of the top of his bag. Here it was — Flast v Cohen.
  Head down, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  sidelined a paragraph on page 4 of the American case with a red pen. He put the photocopies of the case on McPhee’s desk and patted it for emphasis, declaring that with this they could have two bites at the standing issue. 

McPhee had already looked at it and wished he could get rid of him. Give him another job perhaps. The client was on a high: red lines down the side of the paragraphs; excerpts that linked the right of the taxpayer to standing with the establishment clause? It was interesting but that was now in Jack Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack" ’s bundle.

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had found the crucial bits that linked the right of the taxpayer to standing in court with the Establishment Clause XE "Establishment Clause" \b . Given the almost insuperable problems the plaintiffs had experienced getting into court this morning, he needed taxpayer standing for future cases. 

I’ll do the next one as a taxpayer citizen!
 Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  promised himself, then turned to McPhee:

Flast v Cohen starts and finishes with the principle. It doesn’t matter whether it is a cent or a million. It’s not the amount, it’s the principle in both the American and Australian Constitution XE "Australian Constitution" \b s.
McPhree folded his arms in the long sleeves of his robe and raised his eyebrows. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  pressed on regardless.

Don’t let them get you bogged down in acts and facts.  It’s in the words ‘establishing any religion XE "establishing any religion" \b ’. Not ‘establishment’ or ‘a religion’.Trivia should not trash the principle. 

It was pushing nine o’clock. Court started at ten.  Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was in hectoring, lecturing mode, descending into alliteration. McPhee was exasperated, but confrontation was not good form with clients. It wouldn’t work with this one. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  let the bullets go past his ear. That was the trouble with idealists. They expected too much of the system while their minds outran harsh realities and lesser beings. He patted Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  on the shoulder, then said in the softened educated Australian vowels he used with his disabled son: 

Give it here and I’ll have a look at it later.
He glanced over it, but only a few lines registered. It was written in the style that attracted Justice Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b . It would not appeal to the other, black letter law, judges. Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  probably knew the case anyway. The curls on the pigtails at the back of his wig were irritating his neck. He looked sideways into the mirror on the back of his door. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  enquired:

What about the dictionaries and their meanings of Establishment? Do you want me to bring them down to the Court? I’ve got them―just in case!
The barrister plucked a grey curl from under his starched white collar. 

Don’t worry. Jack and I have covered everything in the written submission. I must be off. 
McPhee muttered to himself when he prepared for court. Those nearby could hear but rarely discern it. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had the ears of a cat.

I’m still the captain of this ship.  Now let’s see what Jack has been up to. 

Outside the door, McPhee stashed the photocopies in the side pocket of his briefcase. There they remained. As he strode down the corridor he looked back at Ray:

Meet me in the private room in the left hand corridor, leading to Court Number One. 

This is what Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had highlighted: 

MR. CHIEF JUSTICE WARREN:

Our history vividly illustrates that one of the specific evils feared by those who drafted the Establishment Clause XE "Establishment Clause" \b  and fought for its adoption was that the taxing and spending power would be used to favour one religion over another or to support religion in general. James Madison, who is generally recognised as the leading architect of the religion clauses of the First Amendment, observed in his famous Memorial and Remonstrance Against Religious Assessments that ‘the same authority which can force a citizen to contribute three pence only of his property for the support of any one establishment, may force him to conform to any other establishment in all cases whatsoever’.  The concern of Madison and his supporters was quite clearly that religious liberty ultimately would be the victim if government could employ its taxing and spending powers to aid one religion over another or to aid religion in general. The Establishment Clause was designed as a specific bulwark against such potential abuses of governmental power, and that clause of the First Amendment operates as a specific constitutional limitation upon the exercise by Congress of the taxing and spending power 

and
MR. JUSTICE STEWART, concurring

I join the judgment and opinion of the Court …that a federal taxpayer has standing to assert that a specific expenditure of federal funds violates the Establishment Clause XE "Establishment Clause" \b  of the First Amendment. Because that clause plainly prohibits taxing and spending in aid of religion, every taxpayer can claim a personal constitutional right not to be taxed for the support of a religious institution. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  left one of his heavy Gladstone bags on a leather upholstered chair by McPhee’s desk, closed the door and, leisurely lopsided, carried the remaining bag in his right hand to the lifts. He had a fair idea what would not be discussed in court. 

Did it really matter what was said? The times were out of joint. He had inherited a world that didn’t guarantee the present or future. Even the past was shifting under his feet. But he kept walking, over the William Street lights and straight down Little Bourke Street.

***

At the High Court

Margaret was standing outside the front doorof the court. She wanted to wish the plaintiffs well before going to work. It was after 9.00 am and she would be late for work, but still she waited. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  walked down Little Bourke Street towards the High Court, as his brother-in-law Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  walked up the steps and waited in the foyer. He stood on the dun-coloured carpet with Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b . Margaret hurried up the street to greet Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and promised to catch up with the news over lunch.

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  had been let off work in the office for today. She had been up most of the night photocopying for Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and was vaguely aware of the ivy latched onto the mortar between the bricks, strangling the metal window frames of the court buildings. She glanced at the dishwater sky. It could rain. She took quick breaths and got her second wind. Her light brown hair kept wisping into her eyes so she pushed it back and manoeuvred a bobby pin back into its place. She was still wearing yesterday’s dark floral dress, but had taken time out to fling some water into her eyes. The phones and books could do without her today. She only worked four days, but usually turned up on the fifth to keep things going. Her fellow worker managed to find excuses to go downtown. She was also the cleaner and tea-lady. The extra money from the cleaning helped pay the mortgage—paid off once, mortgaged twice. The second mortgage paid the lawyers while she did the donkey work. She could always get another job cleaning. Amazing that the boss had let her off this morning, but he knew how important this day was. He said he might even call down during the day himself. It was unfair that he had opposed her superannuation in favour of the other worker. 
He might get married and Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  will look after you, 

 he said 
The boss knew only she and Henry were the breadwinners. But Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had the university degrees and that was something the people in the office didn’t have. When she complained about the treated meted out to her Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  said she should not expect the world to be fair. But Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  was getting older and it was not getting any fairer. 

She would sit in the back of the court, away from Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b . It was a game they played. People were confused by the twins. Were they seeing double? Only those in the know knew the difference. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  glanced sideways at Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b , trim and ladylike in a designer dress, a hand-me-down from his older sister. The hairdresser had cut her hair to frame her face with its bright blue eyes and high colour. She had the skin of a woman half her age, and looked pretty. They would sit near the front of the court, where they could keep an eye on Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . 

Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  came bounding up the steps, spruced up in his new brown sports coat, blue shirt, trimmed moustache and hair. He had managed to find a parking space in Queen Street for his spattered station wagon with the ladders on top, then met some cronies from the Henry George and Humanist Societies turning the corner into Little Bourke Street. They walked up the narrow footpath together, exchanging news and views on council rates. Hutchy was giving them his usual political ‘burn’ about taxation —‘lease and tax the land, not the labour’. He introduced everyone as they walked into the foyer. They clasped hands and Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  chuckled as his corns greeted Hutchy’s scars. Both hands were flaked dry, with square tipped fingers gnarled by years tying ropes and bending wire. Hutchy had tried to wash away the Indian red roofing paint with turps. His palms were red raw, but nothing could dislodge the paint etched in his large arthritic knuckles. Hutchy showed Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  his state of the art hearing aid and promised each other that they would hear every word.

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was coming up the steps two at a time to join them in front of the polished registry desk. Suit coat and tie were ridiculous in the muggy weather so he draped them over the bag at his feet and allowed his shoulders to droop a little. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  waved her hand towards the legal representatives filing into the right hand side of the court. She pointed out the ex-nun
 with the handsome face helping Shaw XE "Shaw:Brian QC" \b  and Father Martin. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  had been making enquiries about her. She exclaimed loudly: 

Look at them all! Isn’t she buffed up? We can’t possibly win against all these heavyweights.
Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  tried to settle her down. 

Ssh Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ! Here we are Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b . Finally.
Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  gave his sideways smile and held out his hand. He had a message from Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b . She was looking after the young fella, who had been screaming with the wind all morning. Margaret’s excitement must have curdled the milk. They were all expected home for lunch. Hutchy pulled some hand-knitted booties wrapped in cellophane out of his pocket. His wife had knitted these for the baby. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  took them eagerly. 

The Commonwealth, States and Church school representatives 
 were milling around Court Number One, trying to find a pew close to the front without giving offence to strict hierarchies of personal precedence. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b , Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and Hutchy had to hurry to get a seat before the flapping gowns, coiled horsehair and rustling papers commandeered the best seats. Dark-suited solicitors could be distinguished from priests, parsons and nuns by the expectant expressions on their faces. This was a landmark Constitutional case, the first big one on Section 116 since the Second World War. It would look good on their curricula vitae whichever way it went. 

Low-key religious men sat in raven suits, minus dog collars, with crosses pin-pointed on their collars. They perched on the cracked leather cushions, poker-faced, eyes front, tightlipped, or bent sideways. They whispered discreetly. There was a lot of money involved in all this, hundreds, maybe thousands of millions of dollars. Despite long years of careful networking, the old establishment might yet fall out with the new. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b , Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  and Hutchy nodded to their friends as they sauntered like Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s cows down the left aisle. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  had been on the phone and there was a good turnout. She had already been darting in and out, chatting with her many acquaintances, enquiring about their families and current concerns. The muted hum of voices followed her. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  sat in his usual pew behind McPhee and Fajgenbaum XE "Fajgenbaum:Jack" , facing John Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b . 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  stood back for Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  to go into their customary seat then, leaving a space for Lance Hutchinson XE "Lance Hutchinson" \b  on the aisle, sat next to her. He was helping to pay for this, so he would watch and listen to every word, getting value for his money: 

The hum died down as the tipstaff entered, demanding a compliant court: 

All stand. 

The judges filed in, all seven of them. Big Chief little Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  in the middle dwarfed by the highest chair, his eyes small receding points, like punctuation; Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b , the new round-faced eager boy from Western Australia sat over on the far right; Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  looked down his swollen nose, long wig perilously close to revealing an expanding forehead devoid of hair. After the trial, Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  would recognise him anywhere. An unruffled Stephen XE "Stephen:Justice" \b  sat next to Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b , with maiden aunt lips pressed together in his unlined English face. Mason XE "Mason:Justice"  and Gibbs XE "Gibbs:Justice" \b  sat on Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice" ’s left. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  found it difficult to see Gibbs XE "Gibbs:Justice" \b ’ features behind black-rimmed glasses. Mason XE "Mason:Justice"  was looking down. All except Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  had rectangular shoe-box or square limey faces. Only the wigs set them apart. Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b  slipped in after the other judges. He sat looking down, concealing his peaked nose pitted with cancer. He was the judge who, according to Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b , took pleasure in the interpretation of a comma. He was also the judge who, as a barrister, had taken the Church school brief.
 
Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was enjoying himself, feeling razor edge alert. They were all standing at last. Hats were off. Do you bow? Do you nod? Who was that old woman genuflecting? Kiss their feet next. Perhaps you should salute—no way! Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  paid taxes for their salaries. He would rise, then sit and watch them. 

They looked impressive until you saw their faces under those 17th century wigs. Coiled layers of horsehair floating down to cover necks wrinkled like Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b ’s rhode-island reds. They contrasted with the curled horsehair skull caps on the barristers. These characters were wonderful material for Reg Taylor XE "Reg Taylor" \b ’s cartoons.  Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  said the Taylors were coming. Ah, there they were, several rows back. Yes they had finally made it. 
Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  could give some of the judges a few years, but his round farmer’s face wasn’t wrinkled like the some of the harrowed fields he could see up there on the bench. The show had commenced. Neil XE "Neil:Hawthorn, member DOGS" \b  McPhee XE "Neil McPhee" \b  QC for the plaintiffs went first. He had difficulty getting started. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  kept interrupting him. 

Mr. McPhee: 
If the court pleases, in this section the plaintiffs seek declarations that certain Commonwealth Acts are invalid and seek to restrain threatened payments under these Acts. 

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ
We have read the statement of claim, so there is no need to go over 

that. 

McPhee tried to explain that the matter of the facts had not been settled and the defendants were still claiming that the plaintiffs did not have standing and should not be in the court anyway. They were still questioning the Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b ’s fiat. 

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  didn’t want to criss-cross through the preliminary issues. If he could have he would have sent the plaintiffs away on 20 November 1978, but now they were here he didn’t intend to waste time. He wanted to start and finish with written submissions, but if there was to be further argy-bargy he would ask the questions and discuss the law with a capital ‘L’. Yet his questions bordered on the financial and political implications of withdrawal of State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  to Church schools. 

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ: 
I suppose all the grants have been made to the states; the money has actually been passed over, is that right?

Mr. McPhee: 
That may…

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ :
That is somewhat fundamental, is it not, because I suppose that your claim is that the states must now pay it all back?

Mr. McPhee:
No, your Honour. 

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ:
I do not understand it. If you are going to say the act is invalid, then the payments under it must be subject to challenge, and they are payments to the states. 

Mr. McPhee:
We do not make the claim that they should pay the money back


your Honour, in the statement of claim. 

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ: 
But that must be a consequence; if you persuaded us that they were invalid then somebody has got to take steps to get the money back…there are people who would be in duty bound if there has been unlawful disbursement of money. 

Mr. McPhee:
Well, Your Honour, if that be the consequence of the decision in the case, well then…

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice" . CJ;
You will live with it. All right, so long as you understand that. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  fiddled with his hearing aid. He looked knowingly at Lance Hutchinson who was writing notes in an exercise book. They were both concentrating on Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice" ’s rasping voice reverberating through the microphone as from the inside of a shell. They agreed on the subtext. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  was telling them that the religious men and their lawyers had succeeded with their delaying tactics. The clock had been ticking, the hands had turned, the machinery was running smoothly and it was too late. It couldn’t be turned back. 

McPhee seemed to be getting bogged down in Acts. The judges wanted copies of them all and Byers XE "Byers:Maurice QC, Solicitor-General for the Commonwealth" \b  from the Commonwealth couldn’t provide them. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  was irritated. Stephens civil as always, was asking for specific references. Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  leaned back in his chair, staring into space, and the others looked bored. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  wondered whether they had already made their choices and this hearing was a mere charade.

McPhee finally got to the point. The money might be made under States Grants Acts, but the State governments were only conduits. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  finally understood where he was going.  

Mr. McPhee: 
In fact the evidence, your Honour, establishes that the only step that the State Government plays is that a cheque is sent by the Commonwealth to the state in respect of a particular group of expenditure, the state raises the equivalent of that sum in a bank account at the Reserve Bank of the Commonwealth Bank and then empowers federal officers to draw cheques on that account. 

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ
 It is an Act to disperse money direct to a school?

Mr. McPhee:
Yes your Honour.
…the states are used as a mere conduit for the     passage of monies from the Commonwealth to the actual recipient—the money is easily described in that way.

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ.: 
Or is it an endeavour on the part of one government to get the kudos for what the other government does? 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was following the legal argument now, following it backwards and forwards. He may not have done all the reading but Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had talked to him about it. Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  had to have the last say, but McPhee pushed on, getting to the Catholic school at Churchill example. 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  smiled and looked at each other. They had found a few of those subsidised schools which doubled up as churches. There was another one at Corio.  Churches in brand new schools paid for with public money, bold as brass, with signposts on the street. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had got that into the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . If that wasn’t endowment and establishment of religion what was?  Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  noticed that Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b  was waking up. Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  was looking at Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b .  

Mr. McPhee:
(If) the new parish is short of funds, it makes provision pursuant to the act, for a grant for the purpose of building a school. When that school is—or more accurately I should say, seeks a grant for assistance in the erection of a building, when the building is erected, it is used from Monday to Friday as a parish school, and it is used over the weekends as a parish church. There is no secret about it, I mean, there is a sign up saying it is the parish church, it has religious symbols on it, and in that building are conducted a mass on Sundays, weddings, confessions are heard, and the parish uses the building for bingo or anything else during the week. …Now we do not contend that it is beyond the act for the minister to make a grant for a building, where that use is intended albeit that is used both as a church and a school. Because, presumably, when the building was proposed to be erected, the amount of religious worship measured I suppose by the amount of time for which the building was to be used for religious worship, fell short of being its whole or principal user.

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ:
You told me what you did not say, but what do you say about it?

Mr. McPhee:
What we say eventually your Honour about this…if you have a unitary government which provides money for a religion, to build a building which is both used as a religious school and a church, well then, we contend, that that amounts to an establishment of that religion. Establishment in a sense your Honour that we use the word establishment. 

Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  squeezed Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s hand. The trip to Geelong and the LaTrobe valley in the Rambler was worth it for Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  to get those photos of the schools used as churches. McPhee was going further to point out that once they owned the property they could sell it and keep the proceeds. 

Finally, McPhee was getting to the entanglement argument. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  and Hutchy could see where he was going. They wished Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  would give him a clear run. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  hoped Hutchy was getting that next argument down—McPhee pointed out that there was constant interaction between the State and church bureaucracies all the time. Bob noted the euphemism for the give and take between the Schools Commission XE "Schools Commission:Australian Schools Commission" \b  and the multilayered Catholic Education officials—jobs for the boys and girls. Gibbs XE "Gibbs:Justice" \b  was talking. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  couldn’t see the expression on his face behind the thick glasses. He had a soft voice. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  wished they would all speak up. McPhee was being put off his game. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  silently urged him to stand up to the judges, ‘with respect’, of course.

Gibbs XE "Gibbs:Justice" \b  J. 
How is there involvement with religion, simply by obtaining particulars of income and expenditure in respect of education?

Mr. McPhee: 
Well I do not assume, your Honour, that that taken alone might amount to excessive involvement, but it is one aspect of it...

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ:
You say this is not a grant to a State, this is a grant to a church, that is what you say. 

Mr. McPhee:
Yes.

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ:
Well, you may make that out, but you will not make it out with this detail, it seems to me that will not help. 

Mr. McPhee: 
Yes, your Honour. Then the same provision….your Honour, as to…

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ.:
Yes? 

Mr. McPhee:
So far as the following acts are concerned, the next….the same…

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ:
 Yes?

Mr. McPhee:
I would like to turn then your Honours, to the question of, as it were, how it is that we put it that the provision of moneys to a religious school can constitute establishment of any religion. 

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ:
I suppose behind that, there is the question of what the phrase means. 

Even Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  and Hutchy could see that McPhee was getting bogged down in the acts and facts. That was not where Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  wanted to go. It was as if McPhee was still embattled in the Trial of Facts XE "Trial of Facts" \b . That had always been a red herring. It was now essential to win the establishing of any religion argument first and then let the opposition muddy their own holy waters. 

Mr.McPhee:
I would like to commence again, your Honour. Our contention about the phrase for establishing any religion XE "establishing any religion" \b  is that it is a prohibition against any law which provides a recognition or support for a religion…

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  CJ: 
I suppose if you want to argue that, I can understand that. That is where we might start then. I do not quite see where we are getting to when we are going through these detailed materials. 

Hutchy’s knuckles were going white. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  silently encouraged him to press them harder, but refrain from snorting any louder. The two men sat with muscles tightened to breaking point, willing McPhee to go back to first principles, and quote from American precedents. But their barrister fell back into drawing distinctions between the different churches and schools. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  wondered whether religion at the QC’s alma mater was a joke? 

Meanwhile, Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  slid from ‘any religion’ into ‘the religion’ and finally ‘a religion’, and McPhee followed without question. Stephen XE "Stephen:Justice" \b  and Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  dragged the discussion back into the facts and acts, reducing the issue to the potential religiosity of a private school football club. Round and round their questions McPhee was forced to go.
 Stephen XE "Stephen:Justice" \b  was even prepared to go back to the Trial transcript, but Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  said he was older than his companions and prepared to risk ignoring it. 

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  was only interested in a meaning for the word ‘establishing’. The other judges followed him. Was it dictionary meanings he was demanding? Did McPhee have them handy? 

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  wondered why McPhee turned around to Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  with his hand out. He seemed to want something. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  looked into his Gladstone bag, shrugging his shoulders and shaking his head. The dictionary meanings were in the second Gladstone bag on the chair in McPhee’s room in Owen Dixon chambers. McPhee turned back. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  had his head in hands. McPhee sprung back to the rostrum, ducking and weaving through Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice" ’s punches, trying to put forward the major arguments. 

Mr. McPhee:
We would say that, if you have got a church which has a policy of children going to a religious school, you as much enhance that religious policy if you give money to their schools as you do if you give it for the support of their ministers or for the building of a chapel… 

Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  interrupted with questions about wealthy farmers choosing a local Catholic school over the government secondary school because of the tax deductions. Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b  asked about direct benefits to students.
 The question of the facts was still hanging over the plaintiffs. Were Church schools religious or not? 

The morning had gone. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  was losing concentration and Hutchy had stopped taking notes. McPhee appeared exhausted. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  packed his bag. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  and Hutchy exchanged quizzical looks and Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  hoped Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  would explain it all over lunch

***

Back to the West Melbourne dining table

Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  the husmor 
sat at the head of the table while Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  placed the chairs. The long table had a freshly laundered  embroidered tablecloth from the Norwegian glory box. It was covered with clear plastic. Everyone had their own chair, worn table mat with individualised flowers, coaster and mug. Only Ragnhild XE "Ragnhild:Nilsen" \b  had a bone china cup without saucer. Tea tasted better in bone china. She sat still, serene in the middle of the maelstrom. Her long black hair was pulled back in a bun to reveal weary black eyes in her high-cheeked Lapland face. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  smiled at his mother-in law. There were only a few streaks of grey for Nature’s chosen lady.

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  was standing at the other end of the table, cutting generous slices of Henry’s wholemeal bread and the kettle was screaming on the wood stove. Henry filled the aluminium teapot with the efficient spout. One teaspoon of Darjeeling to two of Orange Pekoe— just right. The baby looked up from his pram, and wound a tiny fist round Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ’s index finger. Hutchy adjusted his hearing aid and listened for small spaces of stillness through which he could contribute a sentence or two. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  had been skimming Hutchy’s notes and offered them to Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  put them on the mantlepiece, saying he would look at them later. Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  enquired:

How do you think it is going Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ? 
Ray pursed his lips. 
Hard to tell 
He didn’t want to upset people, but Ray felt that McPhee wanted to please Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice" . He felt the barrister should stand up to the judges and demand that they look at the words ‘establishing any religion XE "establishing any religion" \b ’ as they hung together. He believed that Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  wanted to hang the words separately and re-write the Constitution thus hanging a basic freedom of conscience out to dry.

Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  recalled how McPhee was getting drawn into definitions of establishment, and a or the religion. He knew that it was establishing and went together with any religion.

Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b ’s nose sniffed keenly for potential disaster. What happened to the second Gladstone bag? Had Ray used the dictionary meanings she photostated at Zigouras XE "Zigouras:John, DOGS pro bono solicitor" \b ’s office the previous night?

 Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  gulped down his tea and was off , darting under the first leaves drifting down from the plane trees near the Old Mint building. Nellie XE "Nellie:Nellie Nilsen" \b  was going to call a taxi….

***

Ending 
In the afternoon McPhee criticised the narrow view of the Establishment Clause XE "Establishment Clause" \b  in Section 116 presented in the written submission of the Commonwealth. He argued that it was particularly barren and historically odd if it meant the establishment of a particular religion since this had never been the case in the Australian colonies. He talked around but never directly about the views of people who spoke about ‘establishment of any religion’ at the end of the 19th century. He did not refer directly to the views of Clark and Higgins XE "Higgins:Henry Bournes Higgins"  at the Constitutional Conventions. The judges, enthusiastically, got bogged down in English and European meanings of ‘establishment’. 

Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  kept his mental agony at bay. He felt helpless, but forced himself to put on a brave face for the others. He looked up at the bench, as his eyes glazed over.He told himself to keep his chin up. 

In the beginning were the Words, but magically one word—a as opposed to any religion—was mushrooming.
 Humpty Dumpty was almost certainly right in his argument with Alice. The question was—which was to be Master—that’s all. 

He thought of Pop Salter and searched in vain for the small quiet voice. Who will be Master, Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b ?

At 4.20 pm it was the end of the first day. The matter was adjourned until Tuesday 25 March. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  dragged his bags back along William Street, tailored suit coat creased on stooped shoulders, tie drooping loose. There was no need to hurry. Low gear was enough. 

***
Back from Canberra 

Wednesday 11 February 1981

The case was lost, and almost a year later, he was home from Canberra. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  pushed open the passenger door of his 1964 blue Ford station wagon. It was jammed and he lurched out onto the dusty side road. He righted himself but left his papers in the Gladstone bag on the back seat. The rest of the family would be waiting in Melbourne, but Henry had driven him here. He went in the gate near the Plenty Road and sat down under Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b ’s oak tree. It was even older than the farm house and there were dead limbs hanging over the road. Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  sat on the splintering garden seat slats, looking without seeing the clapped out weatherboards of the outhouse. There was a cup of tea waiting on the kitchen table but he sat, leaning back into the seat with his hands clasped over his mouth. He locked and unlocked his thumbs around his nose autonomically. The old cattle dog lay with his paws over his head, chained to his kennel. 
The DOGS got publicity once the case was lost.  He had been interviewed by Michael Willesee in Sydney for his TV program the night before. But Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  hadn’t had anything since early morning when he left for the airport. 
He ambled through the home paddock and down the laneway to the Plenty river flats. The twisted willow trunks and matted curtain roots had taken over the river near the billabong, sucking up stagnant water, breaking down the banks and extending like weeds into the rich pasture land on the flood plain. There were bonfires built from dead branches and dessicated bark along the banks. The white poisoned ends of the dead trunks and stripped branches looked like animal bones. They were deceptive. If they didn’t sprout at the far flung root system or leafy twig left on the bank would rejuvenate when the floods came. Their only use was fodder in a drought. 

Avoiding a fresh cow pat Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  lay down on the couch grass between the billabong and the dry river bed. He saw the breeze. It moved over the waters in the billabong. There was no beginning and no end. 
Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  came to see what was going on. 

I’m sorry Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b .

What for?

The sacrifices people made…
Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  scratched the side wisps of hair under the woollen cap he used to protect his balding head from sunspots.

Not me. We proved the point, and fight on Try again. Fail again. Fail better.
Bob XE "Bob:husband of Sofie Child" \b  sat down on the grass next to Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b  and patted him on the arm.
Come now Ray XE "Ungel:Ray Nilsen" \b . Sofie XE "Sofie:wife of Bob Child" \b  has a cup of tea getting cold on the kitchen table. Don’t worry about my money.It was my choice and there are no pockets in the shroud.

Appendix One: Justice Lionel Murphy’s Dissent
Section 116
Freedom of and From Religion  

(The State Aid XE "State Aid" \b  [D.O.G.S.] Case [1981]

 Attorney-General XE "Attorney-General" \b  (Vic); Ex Rel Black v Commonwealth ("DOGS case") [1981] HCA 2; (1981) 146 CLR 559 (2 February 1981) 

HIGH COURT OF AUSTRALIA

ATTORNEY-GENERAL (VICT.); EX REL. BLACK v. THE COMMONWEALTH [1981] HCA 2; (1981) 146 CLR 559  
Constitutional Law (Cth) 

High Court of Australia
Barwick XE "Barwick:Chief Justice"  C.J.(1), Gibbs XE "Gibbs:Justice" \b (2), Stephen XE "Stephen:Justice" \b (3), Mason XE "Mason:Justice" (4), Murphy XE "Murphy:Justice" \b (5), Aickin XE "Aickin:Justice" \b (6) and
Wilson XE "Wilson:Justice" \b (7) JJ. 

Justice Lionel Murphy wrote: 

The plaintiffs' principal contention is that the challenged legislation is invalid in so far as it provides for financial aid to non-government schools.  

Almost all the non-government schools are what are known as "church" or "denominational" or in the United States, "sectarian" or "parochial" schools. All these have a religious element. The general picture is that as well as secular instruction each of the church schools engages in instruction in its particular religion and engages in religious observances and worship. Most of the buildings are adorned with religious symbols. The churches to which the schools are related exercise varying degrees of supervision over the conduct of the schools. The recipients of the moneys channelled through the challenged Acts are churches associated with the different religions. There was strong contention between the plaintiffs and the defendants over the extent and degree of the religious element, although in the end, much was agreed. My legal conclusions do not depend on any difference between the opposing factual claims. (at p620) 

 The plaintiffs rely upon s. 116 of the Constitution which states:

"The Commonwealth shall not make any law for establishing any religion, or for imposing any religious observance, or for prohibiting the free exercise of any religion, and no religious test shall be required as a qualification for any office or public trust under the Commonwealth".

The marginal note is "Commonwealth not to legislate in respect of religion".  

 The plaintiffs rely particularly upon that part of s. 116 known as the establishment clause which prohibits the Commonwealth from making "any law for establishing any religion". The plaintiffs and defendants have advanced opposing views on the meaning in s. 116 of the words or phrases "any law", "for", and "establishing any religion". Much of the argument involved reference to the establishment clause of the United States Constitution (in the First Amendment) which reads:

"Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof".

and also to Art. VI of the Constitution: " . . . no religious Test shall ever be required as a Qualification to any Office or public Trust under the United States". (at p620) 

7. Section 116 is very similar to, and obviously taken from, the provisions of the United States Constitution, and the prohibition added against laws "for imposing any religious observance". (at p621) 

8. The principles appropriate to construing such constitutional expressions are well recognized, even if sometimes overlooked. "We must remember . . . that it is a constitution we are construing and it should be construed with all the generality which the words used admit." (R. v. Public Vehicles Licensing Appeal Tribunal (Tas.); Ex parte Australian National Airways Pty. Ltd. [1964] HCA 15; (1964) 113 CLR 207, at p 225 , Dixon C.J., Kitto, Taylor, Menzies, Windeyer and Owen JJ.).

"any law" (at p621) 

9. The Commonwealth Government contended that s. 116 did not apply to grants or conditions on grants under s. 96, nor to appropriation laws under s. 81 of the Constitution. It asserted that Parliament could under s. 96 grant say a hundred million dollars to the States on the condition that the money was used "for establishing a religion" and could, under s. 81 of the Constitution, appropriate moneys directly for the building of a cathedral, or for the propagation of religious tracts, free of any prohibition in s. 116. I would reject these propositions. (at p621) 

10. Latham C.J. said in Adelaide Company of Jehovah's Witnesses Inc. v. The Commonwealth [1943] HCA 12; (1943) 67 CLR 116, at p 123 :

"Section 116 is a general prohibition applying to all laws, under whatever power those laws may be made. It is an overriding provision. It does not compete with other provisions of the Constitution so that the Court should seek to reconcile it with other provisions. It prevails over and limits all provisions which give power to make laws.

Accordingly no law can escape the application of s. 116 simply because it is a law which can be justified under ss. 51 or 52, or under some other legislative power. All the legislative powers of the Commonwealth are subject to the condition which s. 116 imposes."

McTiernan J. said (1943) 67 CLR, at p 156 : "Section 116 imposes a restriction on all the legislative powers of the Parliament." (at p621) 

11. The United States' establishment clause is also overriding. As Douglas J. said delivering the opinion of the Court in Zorach v. Clauson [1952] USSC 55; (1952) 343 US 306, at p 312 (96 Law Ed 954, at p 961) : "The First Amendment within the scope of its coverage permits no exception; the prohibition is absolute". (at p621) 

12. Section 166 applies to any law, whether made under s. 51, s. 52, s. 96, s. 122 or any other legislative power.

"for" (at p622) 

13. In the Australian Constitution, the phrase "for establishing" is used instead of the phrase "respecting an establishment of" used in the United States Constitution. The word "for" in this context embraces the meaning "with respect to". In The Oxford Dictionary (1901) one of the definitions of "for" was "As regards, with regard or respect to, concerning". As Dixon C.J. said in Lamshed v. Lake [1958] HCA 14[1958] HCA 14; ; (1958) 99 CLR 132, at p 141 , (dealing with s. 122): "To my mind s. 122 is a power given to the national Parliament of Australia as such to make laws 'for' that is to say 'with respect to', the government of the Territory." He went on to state that the test of whether a law was "for" the government of the Territory is whether it was relevant to that subject matter. The same applies to s. 116. If a law is relevant to establishing any religion, it is "for" establishing any religion. (at p622) 

14. The marginal note to s. 116 confirms this correspondence of "for" and "with respect to". Generally little attention is paid in the interpretation of ordinary Acts to marginal notes, although in Reg. v. Schildkamp (1971) AC 1 Lords Reid and Upjohn considered that marginal notes should not be rejected completely as aids. But here we are dealing with a constitution. The marginal notes are part of the Constitution and if they throw only a little light, that light is in favour of a broad construction which would embrace "with respect to". However, whether "for" is read narrowly, meaning "with the purpose of" or "with the object of" as the defendants contend, or as meaning or including "with respect to" as the plaintiffs contend, is not decisive. Even if the plaintiffs' view of "for" is accepted, the challenge will fail if the defendants' view of "establishing any religion" is accepted. On the other hand, even if the defendants' view of "for" is accepted the plaintiffs will succeed if their view of "establishing any religion" is accepted.

"establishing any religion" (at p622) 

15. Three meanings of "establishing" in s. 116 have been advanced. The first and narrowest means establishing one national church or religion. The second ("preferential") means preferring, by sponsorship or support, any religion over others (and therefore includes the first). The third ("separation") means any sponsorship or support of religion (and therefore embraces the first two). These meanings are therefore not mutually exclusive. The separation interpretation of the clause means that it forbids not only a national church, and any preference to one religion over others, but also sponsorship or support (including financial support) of any religion. The ordinary principle that constitutional provisions should be read not narrowly, but "with all the generality which the words admit", strongly supports the adoption of the more general reading, that is, the separation interpretation. There are other considerations which support the adoption of this interpretation. The guarantees of personal freedom against the imposition of any religious observance and the prohibition of free exercise of any religion and the requirement of any religious test should be read widely consistently with their brevity and with constitutional usage. As I said in Attorney-General (Cth); Ex rel. McKinlay v. The Commonwealth [1975] HCA 53[1975] HCA 53;  (1975) 135 CLR 1, at p 65 "Great rights are often expressed in simple phrases." It would detract greatly from the freedom of and from religion guaranteed by those clauses if they were to be read narrowly. In the same way the establishment clause should be read widely. To refuse to read the establishment clause with generality because so read it covers some of the ground covered by the other guarantees in s. 116 is to interpret s. 116 as if it were a clause in a tenancy agreement rather than a great constitutional guarantee of freedom of and from religion. It would be just as incorrect to narrow the broad meaning of free exercise of any religion because otherwise it would overlap with the clauses prohibiting imposition of religous observances and religious tests. Some laws would breach more than one, even all the clauses - for example a requirement that every candidate for office under the Commonwealth make a particular religious observance. The idea that the establishment clause should be read down so as not to overlap with the free exercise clause has been rejected in the United States (See Engel v. Vitale [1962] USSC 116; (1962) 370 US 421 (8 Law Ed 2d 601) ). (at p623) 

16. To read s. 116 as prohibiting only laws for establishing one religion or church, but permitting laws for establishing a number of religions or churches is inconsistent with the comprehensive terms of the prohibition. There is no warrant for reading "any religion" as "any one religion"; yet this is necessary if "establishing" refers only to the recognition or setting up of one national church or religion. Such a reading trivializes the section. It would allow laws for sponsoring and supporting (financially and otherwise) a number of religions (even in the most discriminatory and preferential way) as long as the laws stopped short of setting up one national church or religion. The same objection applies to the adoption of the "preferential" interpretation. It requires that the prohibition against laws for establishing "any" religion be read down so that "any" means "only one or some", instead of "every", or "all". This distorts the meaning of the section. It would forbid preference such as financial assistance to any one religion over others (and presumably to some but not all) but would permit such preference or assistance to all religions over no religion. If a law for financial support for one or more religions but not all (that is, a preferential or discriminatory law) violates the prohibition against "any law for establishing any religion", it follows irresistibly that a law for financial support for all religions also violates the prohibition. There is not the slightest hint in the words used in the establishment clause that it forbids only discriminatory or preferential laws. The preferential interpretation would convert the clause into one permitting laws for establishing all religions. This would make a farce of the section and would deny that s. 116 is a guarantee of freedom from religion as well as of religion. This reading is repelled by the emphatic use of "any". (at p624) 

17. As Latham C.J. said in the Jehovah's Witnesses Case (1943) 67 CLR, at p 123 : "section 116 applies in express terms to 'any religion', 'any religious observance', the free exercise of 'any religion' and any 'religious test'. Thus the section applied to all religions and not merely in relation to one particular religion." (at p624) 

18. "Non-preferential" sponsoring of or aiding religion is still "establishing" religion. In the 19thcentury "establishment" was not restricted to sponsorship of or aid to one church or religion, although such sponsorship or support was of course referred to as establishment. It was also understood to include sponsorship or support of all churches, and was referred to as indiscriminate establishment. In The State and its Relations with the Church Gladstone stated that "The Australian colonies have most broadly avowed the principle of indiscriminate establishment". He described endowment of Roman Catholic chaplains and ministers as "state establishment of the Roman Catholic Church" and as part of this indiscriminate establishment (pp. 269-273). (at p624) 

19. The meaning of establishment in the sense of one established church (as referred to in the United Kingdom case of General Assembly of Free Church of Scotland v. Lord Overtoun (1904) AC 515 ) is not the meaning of "establishing any religion" in s. 116 of our Constitution. In this part of the Constitution, the framers obviously looked for guidance to the United States, not to the United Kingdom. (at p624) 

20. The purpose of the United States establishment clause was clearly to prevent the recognition of and assistance to religion which plagued European countries over many centuries. The religious wars of ancient times were repeated after the Middle Ages and into modern times. In the United Kingdom the struggle between the contending Catholic and Protestant factions, with the emergence of Presbyterians, Methodists, Quakers, Lollards and many other religious groups, was a bitter illustration of the attempts of religious factions to get the assistance of the state in propagating their views and if possible, suppressing their rivals. The history has a very important economic aspect. One of the dangers of subsidizing religious institutions and granting them financial privileges (such as exemption from income tax, land and municipal rates, sales and other taxes) is that such institutions tend to become extremely wealthy, to aggrandize and to become states within a state. The corrective has often been a more or less violent seizure of the assets of the religious institutions, sometimes by the existing sovereign (as did Henry VIII), sometimes by revolutionary movements, which in many countries have had as one of their main objects the suppression of religious institutions and the seizure of their wealth. (at p625) 

21. Douglas J. refers to this in his partial dissent in Tilton v. Richardson [1971] USSC 158; (1971) 403 US 672, at pp 695-696 (29 Law Ed 790, at pp 808-809) :

"Much is made of the need for public aid to church schools in light of their pressing fiscal problems. Dr Eugene C. Blake of the Presbyterian Church, however, wrote in 1959:

'When one remembers that churches pay no inheritance tax (churches do not die), that churches may own and operate business and be exempt from the 52 percent corporate income tax, and that real property used for church purposes (which in some states are most generously construed) is tax exempt, it is not unreasonable to prophesy that with reasonably prudent management, the churches ought to be able to control the whole economy of the nation within the predictable future. That the growing wealth and property of the churches was partially responsible for revolutionary expropriations of church property in England in the sixteenth century, in France in the eighteenth century, in Italy in the 19thcentury, and in Mexico, Russia, Czechoslovakia and Hungary (to name a few examples) in the twentieth century, seems self-evident. A government with mounting tax problems cannot be expected to keep its hands off the wealth of a rich church forever. That such a revolution is always accompanied by anticlericalism and atheism should not be surprising.'

The mounting wealth of the churches makes ironic their incessant demands on the public treasury. I said in my dissent in Walz v. Tax Commission of New York [1970] USSC 107; (1970) 397 US 664, AT P 714 (25 Law Ed 2d 697, at p 727) : 'The religiously used real estate of the churches today constitutes a vast domain. See M. Larson & C. Lowell, The Churches: Their Riches, Revenues, and Immunities (1969). Their assets total over $141 billion and their annual income at least $22 billion. And the extent to which they are feeding from the public trough in a variety of forms is alarming.'" (at p626) 

22. In the United States, after deleterious consequences of aid to religion were observed in some of the states, the architects of its Constitution determined to prevent repetion there of the unfortunate experience of other countries by creating a 'wall of separation' between religion and State. (See J. Bryce, The American Constitution (1888), vol.3, pp. 465-466.) (at p626) 

23. The establishment clause was explained by Jefferson in the famous Danbury letter (to a group of Danbury Baptists): "Believing with you that religion is a matter which lies solely between man and his God; that he owes account to none other for his faith or his worship; that the legislative powers of government reach actions only, and not opinions, - I contemplate with sovereign reverence that act of the whole American people which declared that their legislature should 'make no law respecting an establishment of religion or prohibiting the free exercise thereof,' thus building a wall of separation between church and State. Adhering to this expression of the supreme will of the nation in behalf of the rights of conscience, I shall see with sincere satisfaction the progress of those sentiments which tend to restore man to all his natural rights, convinced he has no natural right in opposition to his social duties."

The co-author of the establishment clause, James Madison, in explaining his veto to a bill of Congress, stated it was:

"Because the bill in reserving a certain parcel of land of the United States for the use of the said Baptist Church comprises a principle and a precedent for the appropriation of funds of the United States for the use and support of religious societies, contrary to the article of the Constitution which declares that 'Congress shall make no law respecting a religious establishment."

(J.D. Richardson, Messages and Papers of the Presidents (1900)). The Annotated United States Constitution states " . . . the theme of the writings of both (Madison and Jefferson) was that it was wrong to offer public support of any religion in particular or of religion in general" 3rd ed. (1971), p. 912. (at p627) 

24. This interpretation of the establishment clause was well settled and accepted judicially in the United States prior to the framing of the Australian Constitution. In 1879, the Supreme Court of the United States in Reynolds v. United States [1878] USSC 141; (1878) 98 US 145, at p 162 (25 Law Ed 244, at p 249) in a unanimous judgment delivered by Waite C.J., referred to the history of the establishment clause:

"Before the adoption of the Constitution, attempts were made in some of the colonies and States to legislate not only in respect to the establishment of religion, but in respect to its doctrines and precepts as well. The people were taxed, against their will, for the support of religion, and sometimes for the support of particular sects to whose tenets they could not and did not subscribe."

The judgment later quoted the above passage from the Danbury letter, and then continued (1878) 98 US, at p 164 (25 Law Ed, at p 249) :

"Coming as this does from an acknowledged leader of the advocates of the measure, it may be accepted almost as an authoritative declaration of the scope and effect of the amendment thus secured." (at p627) 

25. Thus, an authoritative interpretation of the establishment clause had been given by the supreme tribunal in the United States shortly before the people of Australia were engaged in fashioning their own Constitution. Again in Davis v. Beason (1890) 133 US333, at p 342 (33 Law Ed 637, at p 640) the Court said:

"The first amendment to the Constitution, in declaring that Congress shall make no law respecting the establishment of religion, or forbidding the free exercise thereof, was intended . . . to prohibit legislation for the support of any religious tenets or the modes or worship of any sect." (my emphasis) (at p627) 

26. Another case prior to 1900 to which we were referred was Bradfield v. Roberts (1898) 12 App DC 453 decided in 1898 by the Court of Appeals and in 1899 by the United States Supreme Court [1899] USSC 172; (1899) 175 US 291 (44 Law Ed 168) . The Court of Appeals decision was not delivered until after the Constitutional Conventions had ended, so that despite it's being before 1900 it had no influence on the framing of the Australian Constitution. The Court of Appeals held that the Providence Hospital, to which moneys were paid by the United States Government under contract, was a secular corporation (even though operated by Roman Catholics) and that the moneys were "not a subsidy or a gift of money, but compensation for actual services to be rendered" (1898) 12 App DC, at p 471 . They stressed that "the sole question for our determination is the power of Congress and the District Commissioners in the matter of the appropriation and contract involved in the case" (1898) 12 App DC, at p 477 . The Supreme Court also did not decide the scope of the establishment clause. As the Annotated Constitution of the United States (1972) (p. 917) puts it:

"The Court viewed the hospital as a secular institution so chartered by Congress and not as a religious or sectarian body, thus avoiding the constitutional issue". (at p628) 

27. Although some United States' commentators such as Cooley favoured the "preferential" interpretation there is no doubt that the "separation" meaning of the clause as authoritatively declared in Reynolds v. United States [1878] USSC 141; (1878) 98 US 145 (25 Law Ed 244) was well-known to the framers of our Constitution. (See Unto God and Caesar, Richard Ely, pp. 93, 95-96, 99-100). This separation interpretation has been consistently followed by the United States Supreme Court from Reynolds' Case until now. (at p628) 

28. The effect of the United States decisions was properly stated by President Kennedy in 1961:

"The Constitution clearly prohibits aid to the school, to parochial schools. I don't think there is any doubt of that.

The Everson case, which is probably the most celebrated case, provided only by a 5 to 4 decision was it possible for a local community to provide bus rides to nonpublic school children. But all through the majority and minority statements on that particular question there was a very clear prohibition against aid to the school direct. The Supreme Court made its decision in the Everson case by determining that the aid was to the child, not to the school. Aid to the school is - there isn't any room for debate on that subject. It is prohibited by the Constitution, and the Supreme Court has made that very clear. And therefore there would be no possibility of our recommending it." (See Tilton v. Richardson [1971] USSC 158; (1971) 403 US 672, at p 690 (29 Law Ed 2d 790, at p 805) ). (at p628) 

29. In Everson v. Board of Education [1947] USSC 44; (1947) 330 US 1 (91 Law Ed 711) , the case to which President Kennedy referred, the Supreme Court held that neither the United States nor (because of the Fourteenth Amendment any constituent State could provide financial aid to a religion or to all religions. The Court said [1947] USSC 44; (1947) 330 US 1, at pp 815-816 (91 Law Ed 711, at p 723) :

"The 'establishment of religion' clause of the First Amendment means at least this: Neither a state nor the Federal Government can set up a church. Neither can pass laws which aid one religion, aid all religions or prefer one religion over another. Neither can force nor influence a person to go to or to remain away from church against his will or force him to profess a belief or disbelief in any religion. No person can be punished for entertaining or professing religious beliefs or disbeliefs, for church attendance or non-attendance. No tax in any amount, large or small, can be levied to support any religious activities or institutions, whatever they may be called, or whatever form they may adopt to teach or practice religion. Neither a state nor the Federal Government can, openly or secretly, participate in the affairs of any religious organizations or groups and vice versa. In the words of Jefferson, the clause against establishment of religion by law was intended to erect'a wall of separation between church and State.' Reynolds v. United States" [1878] USSC 141; (1878) 98 US 145 (25 Law Ed 244) . (my emphasis) (at p629) 

30. The minority opinions to which President Kennedy referred were even more emphatic. Jackson J. said (1947) 330 US, at pp 26-27 (91 Law Ed, at p 729) :

"There is no answer to the proposition, more fully expounded by Mr Justice Rutledge, that the effect of the religious freedom Amendment to our Constitution was to take every form of propagation of religion out of the realm of things which could directly or indirectly be made public business and thereby be supported in whole or in part at taxpayers' expense. That is a difference which the Constitution sets up between religion and almost every other subject matter of legislation, a difference which goes to the very root of religious freedom and which the Court is overlooking today. This freedom was first in the Bill of Rights because it was first in the forefathers' minds; it was set forth in absolute terms, and its strength is its rigidity. It was intended not only to keep the states' hands out of religion, but to keep religion's hands off the state, and, above all, to keep bitter religious controversy out of public life by denying to every denomination any advantage from getting control of public policy or the public purse." (at p629) 

31. Rutledge J. (with whom Frankfurter, Jackson, and Burton JJ. agreed) said (1947) 330 US, at pp 31-32 (91 Law Ed, at pp 731-732) :
"The Amendment's purpose was not to strike merely at the official establishment of a single sect, creed or religion, outlawing only a formal relation such as had prevailed in England and some of the colonies. Necessarily it was to uproot all such relationships. But the object was broader than separating church and state in this narrow sense. It was to create a complete and permanent separation of the spheres of religious activity and civil authority by comprehensively forbidding every form of public aid or support for religion. In proof the Amendment's wording and history unite with this Court's consistent utterances whenever attention has been fixed directly upon the question.

'Religion' appears only once in the Amendment. But the word governs two prohibitions and governs them alike. It does not have two meanings, one narrow to forbid 'an establishment' and another, much broader, for securing 'the free exercise thereof'. 'Thereof' brings down 'religion' with its entire and exact content, no more and no less, from the first into the second guaranty, so that Congress and now the states are as broadly restricted concerning the one as they are regarding the other."

"'Religion' has the same broad significance in the twin prohibition concerning 'an establishment'. The Amendment was not duplicitous. 'Religion' and 'establishment' were not used in any formal or technical sense. The prohibition broadly forbids state support, financial or other, of religion in any guise, form or degree. It outlaws all use of public funds for religious purposes." (1947) 330 US, at p 33 (91 Law Ed, at p 732) (at p630) 

32. Warren C.J. in delivering the opinion of the Court in McGowan v. Maryland [1961] USSC 101; (1961) 366 US 420, at p 442 (6 Law Ed 2d 393, at p 408) stated that the Supreme Court: "has found that the First and Fourteenth Amendments afford protection against religious establishment far more extensive than merely to forbid a national or state church." (at p630) 

33. In Walz v. New York Tax Commission [1970] USSC 107; (1970) 397 US 664, at p 669 (25 Law Ed 2d 697, at pp 701-702) , Burger C.J. delivering the opinion of the Court wrote: 
"The course of constitutional neutrality in this area cannot be an absolutely straight line; rigidity could well defeat the basic purpose of these provisions, which is to insure that no religion be sponsored or favoured, none commanded, and none inhibited. The general principle deducible from the First Amendment and all that has been said by the Court is this: that we will not tolerate either governmentally established religion or governmental interference with religion. Short of those expressly proscribed governmental acts there is room for play in the joints productive of a benevolent neutrality which will permit religious exercise to exist without sponsorship and without interference." (at p630) 

34. The Supreme Court has expressly rejected the proposition advanced in this case that "historically the First Amendment was intended to forbid only government preference of one religion over another, not an impartial governmental assistance of all religions." (Illinois; Ex rel. McCollum v. Board of Education [1948] USSC 27; (1948) 333 US 203, at p 211 (93 Law Ed 649, at p 659) ).

Applicability of United States Authorities (at p631) 

35. In D'Emden v. Pedder [1904] HCA 1; (1904) 1 CLR 91, at pp 112-113 Griffith C.J., one of the framers of our Constitution said:

"So far, therefore, as the United States Constitution and the Constitution of the Commonwealth are similar, the construction put upon the former by the Supreme Court of the United States may well be regarded by us in construing the Constitution of the Commonwealth, not as an infallible guide, but as a most welcome aid and assistance.

There is, indeed, another condideration which gives additional weight to the authority of the United States decisions with regard to matters in which the two Constitutions are similar. We have already, in discussing the language of s. 51 of the Constitution, referred to the inference to be drawn from the fact that a legislature has deliberately adopted in its legislation a form of words which has already received authoritative interpretation. We cannot disregard the fact that the Constitution of the Commonwealth was framed by a Convention of Representatives from the several colonies. We think that, sitting here, we are entitled to assume - what, after all, is a fact of public notoriety - that some, if not all, of the framers of the Constitution were familiar, not only with the Constitution of the United States, but with that of the Canadian Dominion and those of the British colonies. When, therefore, under these circumstances, we find embodied in the Constitution provisions undistinguishable in substance, thought varied in form, from provisions of the Constitution of the United States which had long since been judicially interpreted by the Supreme Court of that Republic, it is not an unreasonable inference that its framers intended that like provisions should receive like interpretation." (at p631) 

36. In Amalgamated Society of Engineers v. Adelaide Steamship Co. Ltd. [1920] HCA 54; (1920) 28 CLR 129, at p 146 the Court held that the United States decisions were not standards to measure the respective rights of the Commonwealth and the States, because of "common sovereignty of all parts of the British Empire" and "the principle of responsible government". Those considerations are not present here, and we are not concerned with the respective rights of the Commonwealth and the States. (at p631) 

37. Latham C.J. in Adelaide Company of Jehovah's Witnesses Inc. v. The Commonwealth [1943] HCA 12; (1943) 67 CLR 116, at p 131 stated:

"There is, therefore, full legal justification for adopting in Australia an interpretation of s. 116 which had, before the enactment of the Commonwealth Constitution, already been given to similar words in the United States." (at p631) 

38. The United States' decisions on the establishment clause should be followed. The arguments for departing from them (based on the trifles of differences in wording between the United States and the Australian establishment clauses) are hair-splitting, and not consistent with the broad approach which should be taken to constitutional guarantees of freedom. Even if the United States' decisions were set aside, the considerations to which I have referred show that the same interpretation is reached by applying ordinary constitutional principles of interpretation. (at p632) 

39. The purpose of our establishment clause is the same as that in the United States' Constitution. There does not seem to be any real doubt that if the establishment clause is construed in Australia as it is in the United States, (and if the Commonwealth's argument about the non-applicability of s. 116 to financial appropriations and s. 96 grants is rejected) then the challenged laws are unconstitutional. Section 116 of the Constitution does not assert or deny the value of religion (including religious teaching). It secures its free exercise, but denies that the Commonwealth can support religion in any way what-so-ever. The Commonwealth cannot be concerned with religious teaching - that is entirely private. Section 116 recognizes that an essential condition of religious liberty is that religion be unaided by the Commonwealth. (at p632) 

40. The argument that the aid to church schools is only of minor assistance to the religious aspect of the schools and its major impact is to aid the secular aspects is no answer to the plaintiffs' challenge. In his famous Virginia Memorial and Remonstrance against Religious Assessment, Madison tellingly explained "That the same authority which can force a citizen to contribute threepence only of his property for the support of any one establishment, may force him to conform to any other establishment in all cases whatsoever." (in The Mind of the Founders, ed. Marvin Meyers (1973), p. 10) (at p632) 

41. The fact is that under the Commonwealth laws vast sums of money are being expended for the support of church schools. The result of the capital grants Acts is that great and increasing sums are being given to churches to acquire property, which can then lawfully be used for religious purposes apart altogether from schooling. Although the States Grants (Schools Assistance) Act 1978 forbids approval of projects (for grants) "if the sole or one of the principal objects" is "to provide facilities for use, wholly or principally, for in relation to religious worship" (s. 15), this does not prevent a grant for a project as long as religious worship is not the sole or principal object, or one of the principal objects and the Act does not prevent subsequent use of the property for any purpose, even exclusive use for religious worship. The evidence showed that two Catholic parish school buildings, at Churchill and Corio in Victoria although not used wholly or principally for or in relation to religious worship, have been used for religious purposes (apart from schooling). Eighty per cent of the Catholic primary school building at Churchill in the Latrobe Valley, in Victoria was contributed by the payment of Commonwealth grants. The building is also used as the local parish church. A nearby street sign indicates that the building is a Catholic church. $127,000 of the $180,000 cost of construction of the parish primary school in Corio outside Geelong, was provided out of Commonwealth grants. Both these buildings have been used for celebration of mass for the local parish each Sunday, and for confessions eac Saturday, and occasionally for other religious services. There is nothing in the challenged Acts to restrict similar use of other property obtained with moneys given to the churches pursuant to these Acts. The effect of the Grants Acts is that the wealth of the churches is increased annually by many millions of dollars of taxpayers' moneys. They have the effect of establishing religion. As Douglas J. observed "In common understanding there is no surer way of 'establishing' an institution than by financing it" (Wheeler v. Barrera [1975] USSC 117; (1974) 417 US 402, at p 430 ). (at p633) 

42. Section 80 (trial by jury) and s. 116 are among the very few guarantees of freedom in the Constitution. In R. v. Federal Court of Bankruptcy; Ex parte Lowenstein [1938] HCA 10; (1938) 59 CLR 556, at pp 581-582 (41 Law Ed 2d 159, at p 180) , Dixon and Evatt JJ. asserted that this Court's reading of s. 80 made a mockery of the Constitution. A reading of s. 116 that the prohibition against "any law for establishing any religion" does not prohibit a law which sponsors or supports religions, but prohibits only laws for the setting up of a national church or religion, or alternatively prohibits only preferential sponsorship or support of one or more religions, makes a mockery of s. 116. Jefferson warned against this tendency. 
"Our peculiar security is the possession of a written Constitution. Let us not make it a blank paper by construction" (Jefferson, Writings (Washington ed., 1859), p. 506).
We should heed his warning.

Standing. (at p633) 

43. The defendants challenge the standing of each of the plaintiffs to attack the validity of the legislation. There are three classes of plaintiffs: the Attorney-General of Victoria who sues at the relation of a number of persons, a group of taxpayers of the Commonwealth who are resident in various States and in the Australian Capital Territory and a group of persons who are taxpayers and parents of children at government schools. I am not satisfied that any of these lack standing. (at p634) 

44. United Kingdom cases on standing are not in point. That country has a unitary system with no constitutional guarantees like our s. 116. (at p634) 

45. It is a traditional duty of the Attorney-General of Australia to defend the validity of Acts. It would be incongruous and unrealistic to hold that only the Attorney-General could challenge the validity of an Act. To require a person who is not and will not be affected by the coercive operation of an Act to obtain the fiat of the Attorney-General of Australia or of a State would put enforcement of constitutional guarantees at the mercy of political pressures exercisable through parliaments, although the purpose of the constitutional guarantees was to provide certain protections, even against parliaments. A citizen's right to invoke the judicial power to vindicate constitutional guarantees should not, and, in my opinion, does not, depend upon obtaining an Attorney-General's consent. Any one of the people of the Commonwealth has the standing to proceed in the courts to secure the observance of constitutional guarantees. Objections to wide standing have no merit. Experience in other countries, especially the United States, has shown that the "floodgates" argument is baseless, and that procedures are available to deal with frivolous challenges. (at p634) 

46. The United States Supreme Court in Baker v. Carr [1962] USSC 42; (1962) 369 US 186, at p 204 (7 Law Ed 2d 663, at p 678) said:
"Have the appellants alleged such a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy as to assure that concrete adverseness which sharpens the presentation of issues upon which the court so largely depends for illumination of difficult constitutional questions? This is the gist of the question of standing." (at p634) 

47. The conduct of the case by the plaintiffs and their presentation of factual and legal material has taken the question beyond assurance to actual demonstration of that "concrete adverseness which sharpens the presentation of the issues" referred to in Baker v. Carr. (at p634) 

48. The challenged Acts contravene s. 116 of the Constitution. As the majority holds otherwise, there is no point in my deciding whether some provisions are severable and valid, or whether some provisions can be read down so that they do not contravene s. 116. Judgment should be for the plaintiffs. (at p634) 

Appendix Two: Religious Nature of Church Schools

The written submission of the Church School Defendants presented after the 26 day Trial of Facts was entitled: The Facts proved in Evidence: Statement on behalf of Defendants National Council of Independent Schools and Rev. Father F.M. Martin. This document stated that: 
The fact is that Catholic Schools in Australia are not conducted for religious or confessional purposes.  

They also said that the aims of State and Church schools were the same; at least 90% of the content in both systems was secular and ‘fundamentally identical’; and of the remaining 10% only 1% was specifically Catholic. The ‘atmosphere’ of Catholic schools , that of ‘care and concern’ was, as Justice Murphy pointed out, common to the agnostic and atheist. Consistent with this evidence it was also asserted that classroom teachers were selected on professional and not religious grounds. 

DOGS believed that these claims were quite contrary to the aims and statements about Catholic education proclaimed outside the High Court for over a century. It is also contrary to statements made to the faithful since the High Court case. The following excerpts from documentary evidence illustrate the point. 
Excerpts from the Pastoral Letter of Archbishop Vaughan and Bishops Exercising Jurisdiction in New South Wales 1879, 

reproduced from A.G. Austin, Select Documents in Australian Education 1788-1900, Pitman UK 1963, 222-225

TO OUR DEARLY BELOVED BRETHREN AND CHILDREN IN CHRIST, THE CLERGY, SECULAR AND REGULAR AND THE FAITHFUL UNDER OUR JURISDICTION, HEALTH AND BENEDICTION IN THE LORD JESUS CHRIST

Having been convinced by many signs from many quarters that existing dangers to Catholic Education are steadily increasing so as to become absolute perils to religion, and that unfairness to Catholics is developing into absolute injustice; we, the Archbishop and Bishops having jurisdiction in New South Wales, who are responsible to God for the souls of parents and children confided to our care, deemed it our duty to meet and take counsel together regarding the present condition of affairs, so that we might then, by the authority of our united voice, instruct, warn and direct you as to  our position and your duties with regard to the education of Catholic children…
…we are bound both by the natural and the revealed law to educate children in the knowledge of God, in His love, and in His commandments. As Christians we are bound to educate them in the full revelation of Jesus Christ, and to procure for them those blessings and gifts which the Christian Church alone has the power to bestow. By the law of nature parents are bound to train their children; and by the law of Christianity the Church is bound to see that parents do their duty. And whilst Father and Mother, on the one hand, are obliged, under strict obligation, thus to rear their children from the dawning of their reason: the Church is bound, on the other hand, to complete the work which the parents have begun…Thus both parents and the Church inculcate the same class of teaching…Thus it is self-evident that education without Christianity is impossible: you may call it instruction, filling the mind with a certain quantity of secular knowledge, but you cannot dignify it with the name Education; for religion is an essential part of Education; and to divorce religion or Christianity from Education is to return to paganism, and to reject the Gospel of Jesus Christ. Thus it is that the Church condemns, with marked emphasis, those schools, and that method of teaching in which the religious element is divorc4ed from the secular. She knows that instruction is not education; and that a system of natural training from which Christianity is banished, is a system of practical paganism, which leads to corruption of morals and loss of faith, to national effeminacy, and to national dishonour…

Such, then, being the emphatic teaching of the Catholic Church, we, the Archbishop and Bishops of this colony, with all the weight of our authority, condemn the principle of secularist education and those schools which are founded on that principle…We condemn them, first, because they contravene the first principles of the Christian religion; and secondly, because they are seed plots of future immorality, of infidelity and lawlessness, being calculated to debase the standard of human excellence, and to corrupt the political, social and individual life of future citizens.. Wherefore we urge our clergy to do all in their power, in the pulpit and out of it, to instruct the people in these teachings of the Christian religion. They should not rest till each member of their congregation fully realizes the true position of affairs. They should bring before the minds of parents the terrible calamity to their children in exposing them to loss of faith and morals, and endeavour to make them feel that they could not do a greater service to religion or to the State than to upset, buy constitutional means, a system which, whilst it is a crying injustice to themselves, promises to be source of incalculable evil to the colony. Let them, moreover, warn parents, who through a spirit of indifference or worldliness, are exposing their children to proximate danger of perversion and of ruin, that they are tempting the anger of Almighty God, and that they are jeopardizing the faith, the morality, the eternal happiness of those who are too young to help themselves, and who have been confided by Nature itself to their guardianship and protection…

The State may declare, and statesmen may teach, that the secularist system is not adverse to Christianity and to the Catholic religion. But in matters of religion, are Catholics to be guided by the world or by the Church? Does not the Church know her own true interests best? Has not she had experience of centuries, in point of time; and all over the world, in point of space? Are not her professed opponents on the side of secularist education and do not her best friends range themselves upon the Christian side? And to come to facts, has the secularist system, so far as it has gone, fostered and developed a Christian spirit? Has not the Catholic episcopate, in various quarters of the world, found that its direct tendency is to quench such a spirit? What is our own experience, and that of the Catholic clergy in this colony? To their shame, it must be said, some of our people do send their children to public schools. What is the deliberate conclusion we have arrived at with regard to such children? That there is a marked difference between them and children who have been educated in Catholic schools. Their faith is visibly enfeebled, not to allude to their morality: their manners are rough and irreverent: they have little sense of respect and gentleness: they have no attraction for prayer or for the Sacraments; and promise to swell a class which is already far too large in number Our clergy look on the future of such wild, uncurbed children with grave misgivings…
Christian Education of Youth by His Holiness, Pope Pius XI, 
Published by The Australian Catholic Truth Society, Melbourne , 1927.
Neutral, Lay, Mixed, and ‘Unique’ Schools

The so-called ‘neutral’ or ‘lay’ school, from which religion is excluded, is contrary to the fundamental principles of education. Such a school moreover cannot exist in practice; it is bound to become irreligious. There is no need to repeat what Our Predecessors have declared on this point, especially Pius IX and Leo XIII, at times when laicism was beginning in a special manner to infect the public schools. We renew and vconfirm their declarations, as well as the Sacred Canons in which the frequenting of non-Catholic schools, whether neutral or mixed, those namely which are open to Catholics and non-Catholics alike, is forbidden for Catholic children, and can be a most tolerated, on the approval of the Ordinary alone, under determined circumstances of place and time, and with special precautions. Neither can Catholics admit that other type of mixed school ( least of all the so-called ‘école unique,’ with separate religious instruction, but receive other lessons in common with non-Catholic pupils from non-Catholic teachers

Catholic Schools 

 For the mere fact that a school gives some religious instruction (often extremely stinted), does not bring it into accord with the rights of the Church and of the Christian family, or make it a fit place for Catholic students. To be this, it is necessary that all the teaching and the whole organization of the school, and its teachers, syllabus and text-books in every branch, be regulated by the Christian spirit, under the direction and maternal supervision of the Church; so that Religion may be in very truth the foundation and crown of the youth’s entire training; and this in every grade of school, not only the elementary, but the intermediate and the higher institutions of learning as well. To use the words of Leo XIII: ‘It is necessary not only that religious instruction be given to the young at certain fixed times, but also that every other subject taught, be permeated with Christian piety. If this is wanting, if this sacred atmosphere does not pervade and warm the hearts of masters and scholars alike, little good can be expected from any kind of learning, and considerable harm will often be the consequence. 
Letter of Pope Pius XI on Catholic Education: read at the formal opening of the National Catgholic Education Congress  held in Adelaide and the Official Pronouncement of the Catholic Hierarchy of Australia on the Education Question,  The Australian Catholic Truth Society, Melbourne 1936. 
The Origin and Extent of the Power of the State: 
The rulers of the State, therefore, are answerable to God for the discharge of their duties…

The power of the State to make laws and exact obedience to them does not reside in the people, and cannot be conferred by them on their rulers. It is derived from God himself; it is given by Him to the rulers, chosen or accepted by the people, and remains in their hands as long as they enjoy the people’s approval…

The State and Education
The rights of parents in regard to their children spring from the marriage contract. Those rights are not created by the State; they cannot lawfully  be abridged or impeded or set aside by the State. …They precede the rights of the State, and should therefore, be respected byt it and placed beyond the reach of its arm. The State is not the master but the servant of the family. 

…One of the chief rights of parents, therefore, is the right to educate their children. It is not only a right but a duty. …Catholic parents look to the Church to define the rights and duties on which they entered when, in her presence, they werejoined by Our Saviour in the holy bond of unbreakable wedlock; and the Church has left them in no uncertainty. …She reminds parents that the purpose of their marriage is so to bring up their children that with God’s grace the image of Christ may shine in the soul of every one of them; she tells them that the school which they select is to be a place, not merelyu of intellectual, but of moral and spiritual development, and that its entire work must be animated by the spirit of the Saviour. 

Listen to the words of Pope Pius X1. ‘The mere fact,’ he says, ‘that a schools gives some religious instruction (often extremely limited) does not bring it into accord with the rights of the Church and the Christian family, or make it a fit place for Catholic pupils. All the teaching and the whole organization of the school, with its teachers, programme, and text books, must be regulated by the Christian spirit, under the maternal supervision of the Church’. His Holiness is but expressing what has already passed into the Church’s legislation. 
We give the text of the two principal laws which she has made on the subject of education; they impose a grave obligation in conscience on all Catholics throughout the world:

‘Catholic children are to be educated in schools where not only nothing contrary to faith and morals is taught, but where religion and moral training occupy first place. Parents and all those who take their place have the right, as well as a most serious obligation, to9 provide for the Christian education of their children’. ( Canon 1372.)
Catholic children shall not attend neutral, non-Catholic, or mixed schools—that is to say, any school open to Catholics and non-Catholics alike. The Bishop of the diocese alone has the right to decide, in accordance with the instructions of the Holy See, under what circumstances and with whaqt precautions it may be tolerated that Catholic children should attend such schools’. (Canon 1374). 

Observe the terms of the second law; the attendance of Catholic children at non-Catholic schools may sometimes be ‘tolerated’. This means that it is an evil which is permissible only to avoid a greater evil; that it remains an evil, no matter what arrangements may be made  to protect the children’s faith and give them religious instruction, and that, consequently, it must be terminated at the first opportunity. 
Pope John Paul 11, The Catholic Weekly, 13 May 1979, 2.

Catholic education is above all a question of communicating Christ, of helping to form Christ in the lives of others. 
Cardinal Agostino Casaroli - Papal Secretary of State 1980, quoting Pope John Paul 11, Catechesi Tradendee  69. 

The special character fo the Catholic School, the underlying reason for it, the reason for it, the reason why Catholic parents should prefer it, is precisely the quality of the religious instruction integrated into the education of the pupils.

Pope John Paul 11,  Southern Cross, 9 February, 1984, 7.

The survival of Catholic Schools is tied to the survival of the Church. The School is an essential instrument for the spreading and deepening of faith, for the expansion of Christianity and the Reign of God.
Father J.K. O’Reilly, C.M. PAPAL  DIRECTIONS, Catholic Weekly, 14 October 1965: 
On the question of whether it would be morally wrong to send the child of Catholic parents to a public school: 

There is no need to repeat what Our Predecessors have declared on this point, especially Pius IX and Leo XIII, at times when laicism was beginning to infest the public school. We renew and confirm their declarations, as well as the Sacred Canons in which the frequenting of non-Catholic schools, whether neutral or mixed, those namely which are open to Catholics and non-Catholics alike, is forbidden fpr Catholic children and can at most be tolerated, on the approval of the Ordinary (Bishop) alone, under determined circumstances of place and time and with special precautions.” Pope Pius XI, Encyclical, The Christian Education of Youth.
Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b  of Sandhurst quoted in The Advocate XE "The Advocate" \b  of 14 October 1971, 7. 

To help parents and, indeed, all concerned with the sacred trust of handing on to the children of the diocese the truths of our holy Catholic Faith, I have directed that in the final term of the present school year all pupils about to leave school will learn thoroughly the Credo of the People of God. 

Bishop Stewart XE "Bishop Stewart" \b  of Sandhurst quoted in The Advocate XE "The Advocate" \b , 11 December 1975, 9.
The Catholic Faith is not only concerned with right doing, but with right knowing. Here is the most important part of Catholic education, for we are dealing with eternal values and eternal consequences.  

Bishop A. Fox of Sale, as quoted in The Advocate XE "The Advocate" \b  of 24 December 1970 
These and others are the truths of the faith which you, the teachers in our schools, will be called upon to teach to the young children. Teach the faith, spread the faith, and above all, keep the faith.

Annual Report of Br. Peter McIntosh, headmaster of St. Bede’s College Mentone as quoted in The Advocate XE "The Advocate" \b , 9 November 1972, 11. 

Religious instruction should take its place on an equal footing with other academic disciplines, while religion should be integrated into the field of secular subjects…The pupil should be given the guidance necessary to reconcile his faith with current knowledge. It is a faith built on the intellect that will enable young people today to keep their faith in a non-Catholic, non-Christian world, where the predominant culture is non-religious.

In the discussion of novels set for study we must have recourse to our religious principles; in science also there is a place for a strong religious integration. 

Unless we are doing this we are not true to the principles we are upholding of demanding a separate education for Catholics, for they could learn the same academic disciplines in a State school. 

The Catholic School and Vocations: The Advocate 12 October, 1989, p. 7

At Emmaus College, Forest Hill: Nearly 50 members of 26 religious orders attended the college vocations day. It was reported that Pope John Paul's World Day of Prayer for Vocations Message was used in which he said that a Catholic school is mandated by the Church to contribute to the integral education of the person and the Christian. A school is charged with encouraging the seeds of vocations planted by the Holy Spirit in the souls of the young. Pope John Paul's statement outlined above was repeated at a Religious Vocations promotion 19 May 1999 at Xavier College, Kew. There were twenty five members of religious orders that attended this vocation day. Kairos, 13-20 June 1999. 

Archbishop Pell, Catholic Leader, 24 March 2002,  3. 

Our large system of Catholic schools is a wonderful asset', he said, but 'by themselves schools are often unable to inculcate or strengthen the faith when it is very weak in a family. 

Catholic Schools at the Crossroads: Pastoral Letter of the Bishops of NSW and the ACT 2007

 In this Pastoral Letter the Bishops of New South Wales and the Australian Capital Territory  …ask all Catholic educational leaders, staff and parents, as well as the broader Catholic community, to join them in recommitting to Catholic schooling in the new situation of the 21st century. And they challenge all those involved to dedicate themselves to ensuring that our schools: 

Are truly Catholic in their identity and life

Are centres of ‘the new evangelisation’

Enable our students to achieve high level of ‘Catholic religious literacy’ and practice

Are led and staffed by people who will contribute to these goals. 
‘Telling the Christian Story’  Australian Catholics,  Winter 2009,  14 ff,  Jesuit Communications Australia 
Retiring after 22 years as Executive Director of the Sydney Archdiocese Catholic Education Office, Br Kevin Canavan FMS reflects on the many changes in the landscape along the journey. 

‘…it’s improvements in the area of religious education that Br. Canavan points to when asked about his proudest achievements…

He’s also been pleased with the diocese’s Sense of the Sacred project, which aims to integrate Catholic values into every aspect of school life. This project is about recognizing that Catholic education is more than allocating half an hour a day to religious education. It’s about the entire culture of a school. 

It’s being able to have a Christian perspective in the curriculum, providing opportunities for students to pray, providing opportunities for celebration of feasts, and other things, says Br Canavan. 

‘The teachers doing legal studies, economics, geography, or English, we provide them with materials and resources to teach those courses—which are laid down by the government board—from a Christian perspective.’
Ronald Conway, The Advocate, 28 August 1980.
Because of the High Court Challenge to funding for Independent Schools mounted by the organization known as DOGS, crucial discussion of education matters in the Catholic Press was unavoidably restricted for some time. 

Niall Brennan, The Advocate, 19 February, 1981.
While the case was before the High Court, as it has been now for some years, it was almost impossible to discuss some important aspects of it…It will clear the air by enabling discussion of what the school system is about. 

Letter from R. Gregory, National Council of Independent Schools, 19 April 1979 to Father John Doyle, Tasmania.
Dear John, 

Thank you for constantly feeding me with articles. I appreciate them and I appreciate your pertinacity in the cause…

I have now visited independent schools in all States and I know that the current boom is associated with parent’s desires for something better for their children, even if that something is not clearly of a spiritual nature! Nonetheless there are encouraging signs. Our confounded High Court Writ of course causes our lawyers to make NCIS ( and perhaps the VCEO) soft-pedal on the religious nature of our schools…..

Easter greetings

Ray Gregory
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